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FOREWORD

The Proceedings represent the result of the 4™ International Scientific Conference “Contemporary Issues in
Economics, Business and Management” - EBM 2016, held at the Faculty of Economics, University of
Kragujevac, on 9" and 10" of November, 2016. The conference is dedicated to contemporary issues in
management and economics, and through the presented papers, authors have exchanged experiences and
discussed research results in the previous period. In parallel with the EBM 2016 conference, this year there
was a 14th Polish-ltalian-Ukrainian-Serbian Scientific Symposium: Contemporary Challenges in
Economics, Business and Management, which is the result of cooperation between the Faculty of
Economics, University of Kragujevac and the following faculties: Faculty of Economics, University of
Messina, Italy, Cracow University of Economics, Poland and the Kiev National University of Trade and
Economics, Ukraine. The Proceedings also present the papers of the participants of this conference.
Scientific cooperation through conferences of this type is important for several reasons. In the modern
world, which changes daily, we are faced with many challenges that impose the necessity of reshaping the
business and management strategies, as well as the ways of leading the organizations and overall economic
policy. There is an enormous responsibility on the managers and economists for the development of
economy and society as a whole, and the responsibility for researchers and scholars in this area is even
greater, since they are expected to offer new purposeful and efficient solutions and guidelines for the
development of enterprises and sustainable economic growth. The conference "Contemporary Issues in
Economics, Business and Management" has been the opportunity for researchers to attempt to contribute to
solving the current problems of economics and management, as well as to launch new issues that will be
subject to consideration and resolution in the days ahead.

The Proceedings of the Conference consists of five parts. The first part, Key Issues in Management and
Marketing, encompasses papers that refer to analysis of the key aspects of corporate social responsibility,
competitiveness, entrepreneurial orientation and strategic management, intrinsic motivation, enterprise
profitability assessment, relationship marketing, value based management, development of human resource
management, corporate finances. The second part, Globalization and Regionalization, discusses the
importance of logistic performance index, the impact of public sector on small and medium enterprises,
productivity as a factor of economic growth, assessment of the possibilities of human potential for
economic growth, correlation between economic growth and human development in Western Balkans,
informal education, effects of globalization on capital mobility. In the third part, Accounting and Business
Finance, there are papers that deal with cooperative audit in Serbia, possibilities for improving segment
reporting, influence of the legal form of the company and its size on accounting disclosures, influence of
leverage on profitability of companies in the Republic of Serbia. In the part Applied Informatics and
Quantitative Methods in Economics and Management, there are papers that are related to DEA method for
measuring efficiency of the economy of Republic of Serbia, and misuses of electronic payment systems.
The fifth section features papers presented within the Four-party cooperation symposium - 14th Polish-
Italian-Ukrainian-Serbian Scientific Symposium: Contemporary Challenges in Economics, Business and
Management. The papers are related to the international production networks, the strategic link between
intellectual capital and open innovation, knowledge management, significance of employer brand in the
employment of college and university graduates, the shadow economy in foreign trade, university
education in the era of modern challenges, business process mapping, network paradigm in management
sciences, opinion mining framework, the importance of franchise networks in economy and logistics
management for supply change.

The participants of the Conference assessed the discussions as creative, constructive and meaningful. All
papers have been reviewed, and we expect that these Proceedings will be useful to the academic,
professional and general public, and will provide a good basis for further scientific research.

Editor

Vesna Stojanovi¢ Aleksi¢






CONTENTS

KEY ISSUES IN MANAGEMENT AND MARKETING

APPLICATION OF CoRT FOR EDUCATION FOR SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE
VALUES - A CASE OF KNOWLEDGE-CUM-VALUES MANAGEMENT
Matjaz Mulej, Zdenka Zenko, Nastja MUlIe] ...........cccccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 3

DIVIDEND POLICY IN POLISH FAMILY AND NON-FAMILY FIRMS
Rober Zajkowski, Ada DOmAanSKa ..............ccooiiiiiiiiiiee s 13

AN IMPORTANT DETERMINANT OF THE SUCCESS OF
INNOVATIONS - THE COMMERCIALIZATION OF INNOVATIONS
Zdenka Dudi¢, Branislav Dudi¢, Vladimir Mirkovi€...............cccoooeiiiiiii i 21

USING THE SYSTEMS METHODOLOGIES FOR PROBLEM SITUATIONS
STRUCTURING IN PRACTICE: EVALUATING THEIR EFFECTIVENESS
Dejana ZIAtanovVic ............coooiiiiiiie e 29

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AS AN INSTRUMENT OF STRENGTHENING
COMPETITIVENESS ON THE GLOBAL MARKET
Dragan Djuranovi¢, Daniela NuSeva, Stojanka DaKic .............ccccooeviiininiininicnee e 39

CONSUMERS AS OPINION LEADERS - THE CASE OF SERBIAN MARKET
0TV (WY E: Y 6 (TP PPRRPPPTRPPRRPN 45

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN TOURISM AND HOSPITALITY:
EMPIRICAL STUDY FROM SERBIA
Vesna Stojanovi¢-Aleksié, Aleksandra BoSKOVIC................cooiiiiiiiinic e 57

ENTREPRENEURIAL ORIENTATION AND STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT
Jelena Eri¢ Nielsen, Verica Babi¢, Jelena NiKoLi€ .................ccocoeviiiiiiiiii e 69

THE PRELIMINARY RESEARCH ON INTRINSIC MOTIVATION:
COMPARISON BETWEEN PRIVATE AND PUBLIC SECTOR EMPLOYEES
Marko Slavkovi¢, Goran Pavlovi¢, Marijana Simi€..............c.cccocoviiiiiiii e 79

ENTEPRISE PROFITABILITY ASSESSMENT IN LOCAL ECONOMY
V0@t DIOIMAMOVIC .......oovvviiiiieiiiiiiieieieieieeeeeeaeaeeeaeeeaeeeeeeeseeseeeesseeseasasssases s s e s s s s s ae st s s s s s sesesesssesasesesnnnnennnrnns 87

THE ROLE OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN CREATING
SUSTAINABLE COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE OF COMPANIES
ALCKSANAEA RISEOVIC .....ooiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitieieiettteeesaeeteeesaeaeaeseeeaseseesssessssasssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnrens 101

GLOBALIZATION AND REGIONALIZATION

THE ROLE OF LPI AS AN INDICATOR OF MACROECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE: POSITION OF SERBIA.
Slobodan Ac¢imovi¢, Dusan Markovi¢, Veljko MijuSKovic ...........ccccocovieniiiinniniiece e 113

THE TRENDS IN HOUSEHOLD SAVING IN POLAND
Anna Magdalena KOrZeNTOWSKA ..........cc.oiiiieiiiiee ettt e e e e e 121



GERMAN ECONOMIC MODEL - ITS INTELLECTUAL ORIGINS
AND CONTEMPORARY CHARACTERISTICS
VIAAAN IVANOVIC .....ooeiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e sttt et e e e s e s e bbbttt teessesea s b e aeeesesssasbbbeaeeeaesssasbbbeaeneeessnnsrees 127

THE IMPACT OF PUBLIC SECTOR ON FUNCTIONING CONDITIONS
OF SMES IN SELECTED COUNTRIES OF THE EU
Ada Domanska, RODEIT ZajJKOWSKI..........cceiiiiiiiiiiieeees e 135

ASSESSMENT OF THE POSSIBILITIES OF HUMAN POTENTIAL
FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH
Tatyana lvanova, Alfiya Gafurova, SneZana ZAVKOVAC ..o eeenanes 145

INFORMAL EMPLOYMENT IN THE WESTERN BALKANS
Gorana Krsti¢, Ardiana GaShi..........ccocuviiiiiiiiie ettt s e st e e sbee e eaee s 153

DEVELOPMENT OF INDUSTRIAL CLUSTERS - THE
SPECIFICITIES AND FEATURES OF IT CLUSTERS
Slavoljub Milovanovi¢, Zivorad Gligorijevi¢, Ivana Kostadinovic..................ccocoovvvvnennnnininnnnns 165

LABOR PRODUCTIVITY AND ECONOMIC GROWTH IN
SELECTED SEE COUNTRIES AFTER THE GREAT RECESSION OF 2008
Predrag Trpeski, Marijana CVetanOSKa. ..........ccccceviiiiieieieee ettt st s 175

THE EFFECT OF GLOBALIZATION ON CAPITAL MOBILITY:
EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE FROM EMERGING MARKETS
Miroslav Djordjevi¢, Sasa Obradovi¢, Nemanja Lojanica...............cccoovviiininiininninenencseen 183

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC GROWTH
IN WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES
Ljiljana KOMTIC ..........ooooiiiii e 193

BALANCE OF TRADE AND EXTERNAL DEBT
OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
Danijela Durkali¢, Marko Savi¢evié¢, Milo§ Dimitrijevié...............cccoeniiiiniiiiinnccc, 199

ACCOUNTING AND BUSINESS FINANCE

COOPERATIVE AUDIT IN SERBIA AFTER THE ADOPTION
OF THE NEW LAW ON COOPERATIVES
Vladimir Zaki¢, Vesna Janji¢, Vladimir Tasic ..............coccooiiiiiiiiiiii e 207

MEASURING THE POSSIBILITY OF IMPROVING SEGMENT REPORTING
Ivana Medved, Suncica Milutinovié¢, Jelena Tadic€................ccccocoeeviiiiin e 213

THE INFLUENCE OF COMPANY LEGAL FORM AND SIZE
ON ACCOUNTING POLICIES DISCLOSURES
Vladimir Obradovié¢, Nemanja Karapavlovi€..............ccccccooiiiiiiii e 223

INFLUENCE OF LEVERAGE ON PROFITABILITY
OF COMPANIES IN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
Marina Jankovi¢, Dejan JOVANOVIC ............c..ccoviiiiiiiiii i e 233



APPLIED INFORMATICS AND QUANTITATIVE METHODS
IN ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT

MISUSES OF ELECTRONIC PAYMENT SYSTEMS
Nenad Tomi¢, Violeta Todorovié¢, Milena JaKSic..............cccociveiiiiiiiiiiiie e 245

MEASURING THE EFFICIENCY OF ECONOMY
OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA USING DEA METHOD
Ana Krstié, Predrag Mimovié, Katarina ZdravKovi€ ...............ccoccoooiiiiiiieeee 255

FOUR-PARTY COOPERATION SCIENTIFIC SYMPOSIUM
The 14™ Polish-Italian-Ukrainian-Serbian Scientific Symposium:
"CONTEMPORARY CHALLENGES IN ECONOMICS, BUSINESS AND MANAGEMENT”

ESSENCE OF INTERNATIONAL PRODUCTION NETWORKS:
INSTITUTIONAL ANALYSIS
Anatolii Mazaraki, ANNa DUGINETS .......c.coiiiieieiece ettt st et sre e re e nas 265

THE STRATEGIC LINK BETWEEN INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
AND OPEN INNOVATION: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
Daniela RUPO, TiNAara ADDALE ...........cccoviiiiiii et e 271

INTRODUCTION TO STRATEGIC KNOWLEDGE

MANAGEMENT - A THEORETICAL APPROACH
BoGUSZ MIKUIA ... 281

THE SIGNIFICANCE OF EMPLOYER BRAND IN THE
RECRUITMENT OF COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY GRADUATES
RENATA O CZKOWSKA ...ttt ettt e et et e et e e et e e ea et e e e et e e eaeeeeeaeneeeanes 291

SHADOW ECONOMY IN FOREGN TRADE
Tetiana Melnyk, Tetiana VYSRYNSKA ...........coooiiii e 299

UNIVERSITY EDUCATION IN THE ERA

OF MODERN CHALLENGES VERSUS EMPLOYERS

DEMANDS - THE CASE STUDY OF POLAND

Ryszard Borowiecki, TOMASZ KUSIO ......c.ccivciiiiiiciiiieiie ettt sttt st sae e 307

BUSINESS PROCESSES MAPPING FOR
IMPROVING E-SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE
Dragana Rejman Petrovié, Zora ArsovsKi...........cccooooiiiiiiiiiiiicii e 319

STUDY OF NETWORK PARADIGM IN MANAGEMENT SCIENCES
ANNA PIETIUSZKA-OTTY ..ottt sttt e st sae e neas 331

OPINION MINING FRAMEWORK AND ITS APPLICATIONS
Katarzyna Waéjcik, Pawel WoR0SZYN ... 341

THE IMPORTANCE OF FRANCHISE NETWORKS
IN ECONOMY ON THE EXAMPLE OF POLAND
| N 0 10 ) /<) 351



VALUE FOCUSED RESTRUCTURING AS A TOOL
FOR AN INCREASE IN THE EFFECTIVENESS OF
ENTERPRISE VALUE CREATION

Andrzej Jaki, Tomasz Rojek

LOGISTIC MANAGEMENT FOR SUPPLY CHANGE:
ANALYSIS OF INSTRUMENTS FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES
D. Barilla, G. Caristi, A. Puglisi, E. Saitta



KEY ISSUES IN MANAGEMENT AND MARKETING






APPLICATION OF CoRT FOR EDUCATION FOR SOCIALLY RESP ONSIBLE
VALUES - A CASE OF KNOWLEDGE-CUM-VALUES MANAGEMENT

MatjaZ Mulej *
Zdenka Zenkd
Nastja Mulej?

Abstract: The most pressing current issue is survival ahlokind, if social responsibility does not
replace the currently prevailing values that areusemg the danger of the Third World War. This
situation requires intelligence of all kinds, herneducation that develops knowledge and values in
their interdependence, having a positive impact @eeial responsibility of the included youngsters
(and their parents, teachers and others around Ya&ue to the contemporary narrow specialization
of knowledge and skills, one must work on knowlesigevalues of creative collaboration as much as
possible, too. Ethics of interdependence provitleshasis for the team to come closer to holism of
approach and wholeness of work/collaboration’s outes and responsibility for one's impact over
society. Since one must and can learn the skdiextive collaboration as early as possible, de @sn
CoRT techniques are very appropriate. Applicatibthem can support social responsibility and be a
bridge from the one-sided concept of knowledge-mament to a requisitely holistic concept of
knowledge-cum-values management.

Keywords. CoRT, Dialectical Systems Theory, intelligencapwdedge-cum-values management,
requisite holism, social responsibility

JEL Classification: 031, 035, A13, D83, 125

1. INTRODUCTION

Due to the contemporary narrow specialization avidedge and skills, which results in one-
sidedness and hence endangers humankind’'s summealmust work on knowledge and
values of creative collaboration, intelligence bfkands, and social responsibility as much as
possible, and as soon as possible, too. Ethiéetefdependencerovides the basis for the
team to come closer twolism of approach and wholeness of work/collaboratianiscomes
and responsibilityfor one's impact over society. Since one must @ard learn the skill of
creative collaboratioras early as possible, de BonGsSRT techniqueare very appropriate.
Application of them can support social respondipiind be a bridge from the one-sided
concept of knowledge management tequisitely holisticconcept oknowledge-cum-values
management

2. A BRIEF LITERATURE OVERVIEW

Literature on ‘knowledge management’ abounds, Ibetet are only two articles on the
concept of knowledge-cum-values management (Samttaal, 2014; Zlatano¥j Mulej,
2015). The concept is new, but its backgroundihethe Dialectical Systems Theory (Mulej,

! University of Maribor, Faculty of Economics anddess, Maribor, Slovenia, and IRDO Institute foe t
Development of Social Responsibility, Maribor, Stoia; matjaz.mulej@um.si

2 University of Maribor, Faculty of Economics anddiuess, Maribor, Slovenia; zdenka.zenko@um.si
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1974; Mulej 1979; Mulej et al, 2013) that speaksudlihe interdependence of knowledge and
values as components of the subjective startingitpoof any human activity, including
thinking.

3. BRIEFLY ABOUT BACKGROUNDS OF THE NEED FOR DE BON O'S CoRT -
EDUCATION FOR THINKING

Thinking is a way of knowledge management; thinkieg skill that one can learn.

Let us take some crucial thoughts from de Bono §2@tiginally 1992) about the thinking
program CoRT 1-6 showing the need for the educatioyoungsters for thinking based on
his Lateral Thinking and Six Thinking Hats that Imefs in the same book. (We will not
tackle techniques here.)

“Intelligence is a potential, which one uses bykimg. One cannot learn the thinking skills in
school [of so far, N.B. authors]. Exercise is nobegh. Information can replace thinking,
while thinking cannot replace information. Knowledgannot be as complete as to replace
thinking. Routines help, including making room fibrinking about novelties. Quality of
application of intelligence and routine dependsgaality of thinking that includes research.
Exercises can support the development of the thinkskills, if they are sufficiently
demanding, but solvable with humans’ given pruderc®wledge and information. One
point of thinking is the aim to make complex ananpiicated topics simple enough to be
open for mastering”, but without making the partstle topic self-sufficient, i.e. without
forgetting about their synergies [N.B. authors].

“In schools one teaches reactive rather than preabehavior, including thinking, while the
real life often requires proactive thinking for tpperson to go and fix open problems as
challenges rather than difficulties. Both typestloihking are necessary, none is enough.
Knowledge is neither enough, if there is no actioum, without thinking, one normally does
not have enough data and information for actiotuition helps too, but it is not enough
either. One must work with people; one must makasins; one must generate strategies
and make them reality. This includes conflicts, ftots resolving, negotiation, estimation of
potential and real outputs and outcomes and rela¢egssary changes, as well as making
contracts and fulfilling them, discovering and/@ngrating the alternatives, consideration of
several different viewpoints and their synergie tihese and similar real life features require
proactive thinking, not the reactive one only”.

“To be constructive, one must be critical rathemntthappy with the given state. But the
critical thinking is reactive: one cannot criticitee unknown future, which is tackled by the
proactive thinking. Suggestions come from the aqocsive, creative and productive

thinking”.

“Mistakes can be neither prohibited nor avoided, dansidered as new initiatives for further
critical and proactive thinking. Criticism is singplthan creation and not enough; both of
them are necessary”.

“Opposition to suggestions is the usual habit & db called democratic societies where they
understand democracy as the existence of sevelititgloparties opposing each other and
debating, fighting rather than supporting each iotinéinding a shared synergy”.

Arguments are used, but usually they tend to besaed; the word ‘argument’ reflects the
word ‘arguing’. It is about demonstrating one’s mowather than about creative problem
solving; hence arguing is helpful only as a phdsthe process of thinking and co-working.
[N.B. authors].
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“Protesting is a crucial phase, but nothing mawe, Persuasion is a crucial attribute of good
protesting; it generates the creative protesting hance creating new ideas with some
potentially beneficial consequences”.

But nobody must/may feel any final (!) need to ight, because nobody can be right from all
viewpoints that may be important and from all theportant synergies resulting from their
interactions, due to everyone's unavoidable andromar specialization. Creative
interdisciplinary cooperation is therefore crucill.can receive support from methods or
techniques such as CoRT, 6 thinking Hats’, Latéhahking’ by Professor Edward de Bono,
or our ‘USOMID’ and its combination with ‘6 thinkghnHats’ (Mulej and Mulej, 2006).

It is time for what de Bono calls ‘creative revadut’ rather than the destructive ones that
have been usual for all millennia of humankind.

“Analysis is a traditional part of thinking; it hpd thinkers to understand parts, but parts only.
Hence, synthesis of insights is equally crucialcii#ally, there is also a synthesis before
analysis, namely the synthesis of the selected poews that define the framework of the
analysis [N.B. authors]; see Mulej, 1979).

“Along with analysis action planning is crucial fohe search for solutions by creative
thinking in an interdisciplinary creative collabbom. The usual education does not cover
much action planning and proactive thinking, rattieam reactive thinking, analysis, critical

thinking, argumentation/arguing, and knowledge. #heo reason for this bad situation is the
requirement that the new idea must be logical, vhictually means matching the old criteria
of right and wrong, clever and stupid, rather thaw and creative, and surprising”.

The issue shows up, hence: what is logical? It d@p®n one’s perception that depends on
the selected viewpoint/s.

“Perception seems to be the most neglected pdhirding. Emotions, feelings and intuition
play a crucial role in the process of thinking, dnége they determine one’s values, hence how
one uses one’s own and others’ knowledge and eguiim

“In order to attain this capability, one needs taadbdiscipline in teaching and learning, in
focusing on time and topic, freedom and openneasd; ane must know, like a carpenter,
which tool is OK for the chosen purpose and workifing can be formal and/or informal”.

“There are situations in life when one wants tokhand situation when one must think,
because one faces an open issue and must tryvi® isoDne may try to change the problem
to a routine-like solution by one’s thinking, bwutine cannot replace thinking, due to the
fact that there are no totally final solution withy new open issues”.

“There are three kinds of thinking: occasionalcdssion-related, and applied.

* The occasional thinking tackles daily experiencesl aelated activities, such as
meeting with people, shopping, etc.

» The discussion-related thinking focuses on reseanyuing, discussing, reflection
etc. in meetings such as conferences, sessions bweetings, etc.

* The applied thinking tackles a concrete situatiequiring thinking on choosing,
decision making, planning, strategy formulationitiative, chance, problem, task,
dispute, etc.”

“Good thinking can become a habit or be appliegharpose, which helps better. Focusing on
a chosen topic is essential for the topic to becosiséble and exposed. Training and
experience support one’s development of one’s thqngkills”.



“The human brain is a self-organized system (ioemlex entity, not the idea about it, N.B.

authors) that enables the incoming information rganize themselves into routine patterns.
Hence, ratio has its own behavior. One can intexyémough, to use this natural behavior
with more success to attain one’'s own goals. Omedeavelop tools for directing the focus

and structure of thinking. In addition, trainingncéelp one in generating one’s routine
patterns that are more efficient than the natunaso All these things help one develop the
thinking skills”.

“The basic elements of the thinking skills include:

» The approach: how to tackle thinking.

* The principles: principles directing humans towgowd thinking.

* The habits: the automatized routines.

« The basic operations: the basic procedures of ithgnk

» The tools: one practices the use of tools and tie#s in a planned way.

» The structures: patterns of thinking as framewaifka more convenient behavior”.
“The good approaches include:

» Everybody must, may, and can think.
» Thinking is a skill that one can learn.
* | consider myself a thinker.
* | am permanently growing better in my thinking.
* Thinking may require a purposeful effort.
* One can often simplify things that seem complex.
* Make a single step ahead.
» Delimit your thinking from your ego. Watch it objely.
» The purpose of thinking is not to make you alwaghtr
» Listening and learning are crucial for thinking.
* Be modest; good thinkers are not arrogant.
* Thinking should be constructive rather than negativ
» Research the topic, rather than argue about it.
« The opposite party usually says something usdfygu discover it.
» Persons with different views are usually right destheir own viewpoints.
« We are capable of creativity and we have new ideas.
* Do not fear testing new ideas.
In every moment of thinking, some alternativesg@ssible you have yet not thought of them.
» Even if you feel right, do not be dogmatic”.

Obviously, CoRT addresses human intelligence, bagtip the intellectual one, by speaking
about thinking much more than about feeling. Hemaans, though: “Emotions, feelings and
intuition play a crucial role in the process oftking, because they determine one’s values.”

Let us, hence, now brief kinds of intelligence;tlage several rather than a single one.



4. BRIEFLY ABOUT KINDS OF INTELLIGENCE

There are several kinds of intelligence: intellatttemotional, spiritual, social, physical
(Sarotar Zizek, Vajnged'i¢, Mulej, 2016). Let us quote about them to adch®intellectual
one that we have tackled so far.

“The emotional intelligence (EQ) is a prerequisite that triggéng intellectual abilities,
because it gives them meaning and highlights thexperts define the concept of emotional
intelligence as one's ability of observation, ustinding and monitoring of one's emotions
and the emotions of other people, separating tliem €ach other, and the knowledge to use
these findings to influence the work and guidant®me’s coworkers. Some persons talk
about emotional intelligence as a social skill mgkis humans happy with ourselves and in
relationship with others. The emotional intelligenaddresses human emotional needs,
initiatives and real values”.

“The spiritual intelligence is the intelligence that allows ug theepest purpose of life, its
highest values, meaning and deepest motives. &girmtelligence is the way we use our
process of thinking when we decide and when wéhohgs that we think are worth doing".

"In order to create wealth (spiritual capital), aimiresults from the purpose of life, life values
and the basic meaning of life, we must have a stamgaurpose of life and its values and the
sense of the basic meaning of life (spiritual irgehce)”.

“The spiritual intelligence as the inner life of mdiand spirit as well as their links with the
wider world, and as the ability to deeply underdttire existential issues at multiple levels of
consciousness and awareness, and as the soul, ishtioh lifeblood of creative evolution”.
“Spiritual intelligence is intelligence of the sopulihich comes from the heart and the
universe. This is the intelligence, which lets askie and solve questions of meaning and
evaluate whether a way is better than another dhetfiffers from religion”.

“The physical intelligence is a primary intelligence of the hgi organisms based on the
sensitivity and responsiveness to the energy figlénjoys support of the nervous system,
which is its biological extension. The physicalelligence serves the individual to adapt to
changes in his/her environment and is actuallyaesible for maintaining the good condition
of the organism and its consistent operation.”

“The social intelligence (SI) is physical intelligence and séwity in relationships, which is
complemented by one’s mental awareness and thigyatoilcontrol and design one’s own
behavior. The notion that effective leadershipbswt having powerful social circuits in the
brain, prompted researchers to extend the concepmnwtional intelligence, and they
comprised a more relationship-based construct - sith@al intelligence. Sl is a set of
interpersonal competencies built on specific neanaluits (and related endocrine systems)
that inspire others to be effective. Sl is alsodhdity to get along and to cooperate well with
others; it includes an awareness of situationsthadsocial dynamics that can help a person
achieve his or her objectives in dealing with ashéfralso involves a certain amount of self-
insight and a consciousness of one's own percepéiod reaction patterns.”

“While some authors have tried to stretch the eomati and social intelligence to let them
have the same meaning, it was pointed out that #mey two distinct dimensions of
competence, although the social intelligence isassp, but complimentary to emotional
intelligence. Social intelligence is mostly undefluence of the environmental factors and
emerges from one’s past experiences with otherlpdopone’s environment; therefore, the
verbal and communication skills are very importemtone’s high social intelligenc&ocial
intelligence turns out to be especially importantiisis situations”.



5. INTELLIGENCE IN RELATION WITH THE CONCEPT
OF KNOWLEDGE-CUM-VALUES MANAGEMENT

Intelligence of all kinds is obviously a human igtiite that humans can learn, have from birth
and implement. E. de Bono’'s methods (lateral tmgki6é Thinking Hats, CoRT) can be
helpful. We can consider them the tools of knowkedganagement, because they are about
thinking, but the Six Thinking Hats tackle emotipnso. Hence, they can help humans to
reach beyond knowledge management that addressegtibnal intellectual intelligence
alone. This difference matters: this limitation raalkknowledge management more one-sided
than the concept of knowledge-cum-values managerftanitar et al, 2014; Zlatandyi
Mulej, 2015). The latter concept is new, but it€kgaound lies in the Dialectical Systems
Theory (Mulej, 1974; Mulej 1979; ..; Mulej et aQ23) that speaks about the interdependence
of knowledge and values as components of the stiNgestarting points of any human
activity, including thinking. See Tables 1 — 5 (tletails in English see: Mulej, 2013).

The notion of the dialectical system is visiblelable 1.

Table 1 Definition of a system and a dialectical systenDST

A system is at the same time:

1) From the viewpoint of the mathematical formalism: a round-off whole, i.e. a network with any/no
content; and

2) From the viewpoint of its content: a partial (one-sided) picture / representation (mental and/or
emotional) of an object, which one considers / deals with from either a selected viewpoint or a number or
even a system (i.e. a network of interdependent viewpoints that differ from each other and are therefore
complementary to generate a synergy) of viewpoints.

Thus, a system is holistic, formally, and one-sided, in content, at the same time.

A dialectical system is a system (formally) of all essential systems (in content) presenting the same topic /
object from different viewpoints, which are therefore interdependent and interactive; they make a

synergy.

Table 2 Relation between reality and holism/realism aflam consideration of it

Level of realism of

Level of

Viewpoints of

Components taken

Relations taken in

consideration of simplification of consideration in account in account in
the selected topic | consideration taken in account consideration consideration
Existing object to None All existing All existing All existing

be dealt with

Dialectical system | Small —requisite All essential All essential All essential

viewpoint system

specialization and
modeling aimed at
clear presentation

specialization and
simplified to be
clear

One-viewpoint Big due to Single — selected by | Selected inside the boundaries set by the
system specialization specialization selected viewpoint
Model of the one- | Big due to Single — selected by | Selected inside the boundaries set by the

selected viewpoint and shown in a
simplified — modeled way

Total / all
viewpoints system

None All existing, which is impossible to attain

individually or in a normal-size team

All existing

The essence of the concept of the dialectical systnd related law of requisite
holism/realism and wholeness is well expressed bBigy\2005: 388, quoted in Mulej, 2013),
although she leaves open the question of viewpaalscted and thereby determining the
boundaries of study: “The goal of holistic studyh to look at ‘everything'. Instead, it is to
make a decision about what is relevant to the staily what is not and to know and
understand why those choices were made. The baasemiterests affect the choice of what is
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likely to be included and excluded (i.e. what ighie system as opposed to what is relegated
in the environment of the system).” What Wilby sdflolistic, we call requisitely holistic, to
be precise and clear. Mulej added methods to makeetquisite holism doable (Mulej, 1979
and later).

Why is the requisite holism important? There aierdcsts and practitioners attempting to say
that their discipline offers the only unique andfying basis for dealing with systems. They
do not speak of worldview, which Bertalanffy dobat of professional/scientific disciplines.
Can they be right? Yes, in their own perspectivsy ttan. Can they be sufficient for holism?
They can be so rarely. Nobody can be really, béally, holistic: teams can perhaps be
requisitely holistic with interdisciplinary creaéco-operation.

Table 3 The selected level of holism and realism of comnsitilen of the selected topic
between the fictitious, requisite, and total holiand realism

< >
Fictitious holism/realism Requisite holism/realism (a dialectical Total = real holism/realism (a
(inside a single viewpoint) system of all essential viewpoints) system of all viewpoints)

Table 4 Interdependence of values, culture, ethics, antheore. VCH

Individual values (interdependent with &~ Culture = values shared by many; habits making
knowledge) them a rounded-off social group

T x 2
Norms = prescribed ethics on right and & Ethics = prevailing culture about right and wrong in
wrong in a social group a social group

Table 5 The law of hierarchy of succession and interdepeceleapplied to the work
procedure in general

-» Outer influences, preconditions, circumstances & ones’ own knowledge-cum-values =
-> Perceived influences, preconditions, circumstances =
-» Definition and development of starting points as a requisitely holistic system -

The outer starting <> The subjective starting points for the given case: <> The outer starting points,
points, 1. Values and other emotions (what for? preference) part 2: objective / outer
part 1: objective / outer 2. Knowledge on contents (what & why?) possibilities

needs 3. Knowledge on methods (how & why?)

4. Talents etc.
The dialectical system of essential viewpoints =
- The selected viewpoint/s >
-» Selection of the perceived objective needs & the perceived objective possibilities
-» Selection of the preferential needs & the corresponding possibilities
-> Definition of (well, i.e. requisitely holistically, grounded, not merely desired!) objectives:
What do we want (with good reason/s)? =
-> Definition of tasks system/s: What do we have to do in order to attain objectives? -
-> Definition of work procedures for every task: How must we proceed to perform? -
-> Operation: performing all the tasks according to procedures prescribed/foreseen -
-> Results comparable to tasks, each of them contributing to attainment of objectives -
-> Influence over the foregoing phases of the process where needed
(Returning to the beginning of the entire process, or a phase of it, as appropriate) -

In other words: thinking, learning of thinking, atehaching for human behavior, including

thinking, must aim at requisite holism that incladeterdependence of all parts of the starting
points, including the one of knowledge and valu@therwise, the resulting action may be
dangerous because of one-sidedness (all way tritam, global crises, and world wars). On

this basis, Dejana Zlatandviand Matjaz Mulej (2015) stated: “Knowledge-cumuesd
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management is not the same as knowledge managemealues management. It is a more
synergetic and holistic concept that implies intgehdence between emotions and ratio.
Knowledge-cum-values management presents a ndlwatisufficiently researched area. If
one, though, enters ‘knowledge-cum-values managemere.g. Google, the response is
much poorer than for knowledge management. This magn that professionals outside
some soft-systems methodologies leave aside therdepiendence of the values and
knowledge. If, though, somebody has learned to tstmith a gun, does his or her choice of
the target — e.g. a piece of paper or a human emtkepn knowledge or on values? Obviously,
on values, but not exclusively: values do not exisseparation from knowledge, but in
interdependence enabling interaction. Emotionsratid, the left and right brain hemisphere
are interdependent. Hence, knowledge managemertaget knowledge as the rational part
of human personality without tackling values, seegly only. In the practice of labor
relations, education etc. one tackles values byvatodn in order to activate knowledge and
creativity, and one develops knowledge in ordesrtbance ambitious values”.

Next: “So far we discussed individual knowledge agement and individual values
management. But, eventually the influential persomalues grow to a group’s accepted
culture, and to the prevailing ethics, once acakjrtea community or society; this process
makes ethics become rules of the community or §gceven an international one, in the
process of VCEN (Mulej, Potan, 2007, quoted after Mulej et al, 2013). Proceslunf
knowledge-cum-values management may need to changefo include group dynamics,
mass psychology, marketing communication, politipabpaganda, public media, school
books, etc., as its tools. Though, these tools@aehing beyond our scope here; they could
make an interesting field for potential future EsH”.

The level of holism of approach depends cruciallybmth the objective, i.e. outer starting
points (outer needs and possibilities), and thejestibe starting points; they are
interdependent, too. See Table 5.

The outer starting points can mostly be detectetlimifuenced to a limited degree only, e.g.
by marketing (creating new needs and hence markejs,of new mobile phones) or new
scientific discoveries turning innovations appliedpractice (creating new possibilities such
as cars, airplanes etc. in transportation).

The subjective starting points of humans can recaifluences by education that generates
knowledge and values, i.e. the intellectual, emmatip spiritual, social, and physical
intelligence - in interdependence.

Behind, e.g. conflicts, protesting and oppositiamg agreement reaching there are emotional,
spiritual, physical and social intelligences, toot the intellectual intelligence alone. This fact
brings us to the issue of values, culture, ethia$ @orms and their circular influence, again
(Mulej, Zenko, 2004). Thus, one must replace thacept of knowledge management for the
concept of knowledge-cum-values management in dadattain more, or even the requisite,
holism in one’s approach and wholeness in one’saonés.

The deeply rooted and unavoidable narrow spectaizaf the contemporary professionals is
naturally bound to their interdependence. Soiis fielation to the interdependence of humans
as individuals, nations, regional and supranatignalipings that need to attain their requisite
holism for the contemporary humankind to survivee($or details e.g. Hrast et al., ed., 2015;
Lebe and Mulej, ed., 2014; Mulej, ed., 2013; Mukgj,, 2014; Mulej and Dyck, ed., 2014;
Mulej et al., ed., 2016). Therefore the global wmsicof progressive enterprises, the ISO
International Standards Organization, European teic. supporsocial responsibilityas an
informal systemic behavior, based omerdependenceind aimed at requisite holism of
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human behavior for humankind to find its way owinfr the current very dangerous global
SOcio-economic crisis.

6. CONCLUSION

CoRT may be seen as a methodology of educationosting of attainment of requisite
holism of human behavior that is not limited to whedge, but addresses knowledge-cum-
values management (education can be seen as dicsgew of management). CORT may
hence be applied as the entry to the process édpittTable 5 to lead to the requisite holism
depicted in the Table 3 by influence over the VC@ldble 4) in order to come as close as
possible to holism depicted in Tables 1 and 2 byliagtion of all five intelligences. See
Table 6.

Table 6 Impact of CORT on human socially responsible bebrayy knowledge-cum-values
management

*CoRT - education = knowledge-cum-values management - process of human work based on the
subjective starting points = VCEN of social responsibility = requisite holism = success by knowledge-cum-
values management in practice of former students impacted by CoRT = interest in CoRT*

P.S.1.: The process of developing all five inteliiges and the effort focused on requisite
holism can receive a meaningful support from otimethods of creative collaboration, for
example: USOMID, 6 Thinking Hats and similar, white reported elsewhere (e.g. Mulej et
al., 2013).

P.S.2.: This process would also receive a meanirsgfpport from the exercise of social
responsibility; this is the responsibility of evene for one’s impacts on society, i.e. people
and nature. We reported on this elsewhere, tooMetgj, Dyck, 2014; Mulej et al., 2016 a, b,
c; Mulej et al., 2013, 2014; Lebe et al., 2014; @8akl., 2015).

P.S.3.: The success of this process importantlemtép on personal features, expressed by
‘the requisite personal holism'. We report thielsere (eg. Sarotar Zizek et al., 2014 a, b, c,
d, e).
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DIVIDEND POLICY IN POLISH FAMILY AND NON-FAMILY FIRMS

Robert Zajkowski*
Ada Domanska?

Abstract: Dividend policy is continuously one of the mairbjeat of survey in area of corporate
finance. Most of study are directed to attributediety between various group of companies and their
specificity. In this paper the comparison analysiarea of dividend policy among Polish medium and
big size family and non-family businesses were drde aim was to show the difficulties related to
approach of measurement of dividend payout ratidsreover, it was proven that there are
discrepancies between subjective decelerated faciod statistically confirmed causes of dividend
policy. The results confirm that dividend payowgasons are vast field for different survey and stil
open field for new findings that allow to boost kexdge of this part of corporate finance.

Keywords: dividend policy, family businesses, agency theory
JEL Classification: G 35, G31

1. CONCEPTSOF DIVIDEND POLICY FORMATION

The dividend policy is currently one of the mosiaal aspects of finance management in the
company. Since first study of Lintner, who consatkrthe relations between dividend
payment ratios and company’s efficiency and whanwa that business entities pursue to
keep a fix level of dividend expenses because theect better company’s valuation on the
market (intner, 1956) Later on the concept was detailed by Walter amdd@Gn models.
Simultaneously over decades a few most prevaleatrigs were developed that try to clarify
the mechanisms of dividend payments. With Irreleeaof Dividend Policy Theory the rate
of payments does not affect the company’s valuaudms valuation is dependent on the rate
of return and risk. Thus changes in dividend expsmly shift the structure of profits share
among dividend and company’s market valuatiBrigham et al. 2011)In opposition to the
irrelevance theory the Bird-in-the-Hand Theory vi@snulated which claims that investors
prefer to have dividend payments ‘now’ instead sotvior more risky capital gain&éown, et

al. 2007) The signal theory suggests that dividend paymseitd a positive impulse to the
capital market and investors who are refer to thredasted company’s performances. The
purpose of dividend payments is to make awarettieatompany expect to achieve positive
economic effects and net cash flows | n the fuf@eattacharya, 1979)According to the
taxation system in most countries dividends areegaly taxed higher than capital gains. This
observation was a springboard to formulate the Heeferences Theory. Investors, who
prefer lower tax-payments will chose shares of camgs that accumulate profits ant they
will count on low taxed capital incomes. Thereftihe market capitalisation of companies
that pay lower dividends increases (Litzenbergealet979). Dividend policy, in most the
cases, is explained by the Agency Theory as awbath mitigate various types of agency
costs fensen at al.1976; Easterbrook,1984; Holder a®@8)l Nowadays agency conflicts are
recognised as a main determinant of profit managemolicy (directions of profit allocation
inside and outside companyehmid et al. 2010; Michiels et al. 201%)s well quoted above as
less prevalent theories provide some useful genesights into formation of dividend policy.

! Maria Curie-Sklodowska University in Lublin, Potrrobert.zajkowski@umcs.lublin.pl
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On the one hand, and equally important, one shmddgnise specificity of dividend policy
that is established under particular circumstan©esthe other hand, not less substantial is to
identify the actual factors that mould a level ofidend payments in practice. Hence, the aim
of this paper is to present similarities and diesrges in dividend policy among Polish family
and non-family firms that represent medium andsiig companies.

2. THE SPECIFICITY OF DIVIDEND POLICY IN FAMILY FIRMS

As mentioned above agency conflicts are most fretipeecognised as a theoretical concept
used to describe dividend policy. In family firmgeacy conflicts may be located in various
areas. These should occur in places typical fon eampany such as: owners and managers,
main and minor shareholders, shareholders andtoredor in the areas dedicated only for
family business, e.g. the discrepancy between faghireholders and other family members
who are respected as a family ‘alders’ but who db play any role in organisation (non-
shareholders, non-managers, called as family arsid Villalonga et al. 2015).While
investigating family firms one should take intonsaeration that often owners of the
company (shareholders) simultaneously perform menmegoles. Double presence of family
members in a company should have an alleviated dmpa classical agency conflicts
between principals and agentan§ et al. 2000) Lower tension would be transferred in
dividend policy as a decrease of payments (Roz682; Gugler, 2003; Michiels et al. 2015).
On the one hand specificity of family businessasquestion, affects other kind of agency
conflicts. Hence, higher dividend payments are usaditigate the discrepancy among minor
and dominant shareholders who expect stable amaintvidend payments (De Cesari,
2012; Pindado et al. 2012). This is often conreeetgh such ordinary reasons like the needs
to cover costs of living and family maintenanésakov et al. 2015)One may distinguish at
least a few other sources of tensions in familyirmsses related to dividend policy. For
instance, differences might arise between membéarswould like to build up their private
property and business-minded members; discrepanbefsveen generations, owners
performing managerial roles (and gain managerialilpges) and ordinary owners.
Additionally, one other thing should be taken intmsideration, e.g. the independence of the
family firm that is connected with lower propensity float shares on the stock market.
Family firms that seek for investment capital withdhanding over a part of company’s
control to outsiders, will obviously prefer a higHevel of profit accumulation. Irrespective
of the reasons that cause tensions in family fimshe area of dividend policy, relevant
management of profit allocation may alleviate vasi@gency conflicts (Michiels et al. 2015).
The question can be raised whether family firms theed a number of potential reasons of
agency conflicts spend more or less than non-famikinesses to mitigate them?

3. PROBLEM FORMULATION

The available analysis in most case studies refensarily to listed or big-size corporations.
According to the study conducted by Dick and Painst, there is no abundant and clear
evidence whether family businesses expect a lowhigher part of their profits in a form of
dividend (Pernsteiner et al. 2013; Dick, 2015).phevious study, Pernstainer presented the
conclusion that medium-size family businesses instAa pay lower dividend rates

® The Data used in the paper were collected withatidwal Science Centre project no. 2012/07/B/HS4380
“Corporate governance, ownership structure androfin@ncial issues of family enterprises in Polasmd
Austria - a comparative analysis.
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(Pernsteiner, 2008). Similar findings were presegmig analytics from McKinsye&Company,
who claimed that family businesses pay relatively tividends because reinvesting profits is
a good way to expand without diluting ownershipigsuing new stock or assuming big debts
(Caspar et al. 2010). In turn, other researchemetathat listed family firms in Switzerland
are willing to pay more than non-family busines@isakov et al. 2015). The results of the
study in the Euro Zone, proved that because of-greiserating mechanism applied by family
firms outside Anglo-Saxon countries (which is a smguence of lower protection of minor
shareholders in those countries), family businedsgsbute higher and more stable dividends
in relation to non-family firms (Pindadoa et al1a().

In the literature there are a lot of publication$,those one part confirms and the other
negates a higher rate of dividend payment in farfiitpys although it seems that there are
more publications presenting higher expenses raflyafirms. Nevertheless, the situation is
still blurred and it is a good starting point tather study that could become a building block
which supports one or another part of current keogé. Hence during the study the
following research hypothesis were formulated:

H1: Polish medium and big size family businessdgexe lower level of dividend payment
ratios than non-family ones.

H2: Needs in area of investment influence neghtithes level of dividend payments.

H3: Risk exposure shape the dividend spendindhignway that the higher risk, the lower
expenditures.

H4: The impact of company’s owners play one ofrtiest crucial role as a dividend payment
factor.

H5: Businesses both family and non-family seekeep stable level of annual expenditures in
form of dividend.

The solution of the main problem drown above bddsvn to the analysis of various aspects
of dividend policy in Polish medium and big compamiThe survey covered 758 medium and
large companies that represented all industrie®rdoty to the Industry Classification
Benchmark (ICB). During an analysis process wrong é&ack of data were further on
excluded. The examined companies were dividedtimbogroups by usage Substant&amily
Influence ratio (SFI) introduced by Sabine Klakie{n, 2000)

4. THE SPECIFICITY OF DIVIDEND POLICY IN FAMILY FIRMSAND
CONTROVERSIESRELATED TO DATA INTERPRETATION

The structure analysis shows that the surveyed aarap prefer rather to accumulate profits
than spend them in a form of dividend. In 2013 ofly9% of non-family businesses and
49.6% family firms declared they pay dividends f@iénces are statistically significant
p=0,05). A year earlier an adequate percentagehedad1.0 % and 50.3% respectively and
was also significant. The differences mentionedvabodicated that to some extent more
medium and big size Polish family businesses paideinds. This conclusion goes in line
with the view presented in the previous sub-chathtat there are more results of the survey
confirming higher levels and ratios of dividend peants in the group of family businesses.

In the group of family businesses paying dividemsthe examined period, the highest
percentage (22% in 2012 and 19.8% in 2013) decldredatio of spending in interval 1-
10%. Among non-family businesses those were domitrat allocate from 90 to 100% of
their profits to dividend, although only a sligleéss number of business entities and in
consequence percentage retained dividend paynmters mainterval above 0-10% (Table 1).
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Table1l Percentages of companies paying the followingd@ind ratios

. . Family firms Non-family firms
Ratio of dividend payment
2013 2012 2013 2012
more than 0-10 19.8% 22.0% 18.5% 18.5%
11-20 12.2% 11.6% 15.3% 15.3%
21-30 17.4% 17.3% 12.1% 12.9%
31-40 5.2% 6.9% 6.5% 4.8%
41-50 14.0% 13.9% 10.5% 12.1%
51-60 5.2% 3.5% 4.8% 3.2%
61-70 3.5% 4.6% 2.4% 3.2%
71-80 4.1% 4.6% 5.6% 4.0%
81-90 1.2% 0.6% 3.2% 3.2%
91-100 17.4% 15.0% 21.0% 22.6%

Source own study.

Other combinations of dividend payment ratios aoohganies’ shares are also presented in
the table above. The study did not provided enaagtience whether there are any relations
between dividend payments ratios and the struatimmpanies (inside-group regularities)
which could be termed as something like a distrdmutWhereas the significant similarity of
structures between family and non-family firms weentified (intergroup resemblance).
Depending on the measure taken, similarity waseaeli from 75.85% to 91.38% in 2012

and from 78.77% to 93.10% in 2013 (Table 2).

Table2 Similarity of dividend payment structures amongilst and non-family firms

Type of similarity coefficient (Malina, 2004) 2012 2013

Base on Jeffreysa-Mattusita coeficient 0,9138 10,9310
Based on Bray'a-Curtisa coeficient 0,7585 10,7877
Walesiak Coeficient 0,8055 0,8328
Based on Minkowski metrics 0,8604 0,8850

Source:own study

Further studies showed noticeable problems witla daterpretation. The sample taken to
calculate the dividend payout rate may crucialfuence the directions of interpretation and
therefore the final conclusions. If the calculaticare based only on the companies that paid
any dividends (non-payers were excluded), it becewident that in the years 2012-2013
non-family firms spent on average 45% (each yeérjheir profits, while family firms
transferred from 39% to 42% (calculations of maimidind payment rate were based on
middles of the intervals of distributions paymentstes). These differences turned out to be
statistically significant (p=0,05). Hence, it leamdsthe conclusion that Polish medium and
big-size family firms allocated less part of thegiofits to owners/shareholders.

Yet, by contrast, whether the relevant figurescaleulated for samples as a whole (included
non-payers), quite a different picture emerged ttimumbers. The average dividend rate for
family firms achieved 20% in 2012 and 21% in 20M&n family businesses at the same
years spent 18% on each period (differences weteststally significant p=0,05). Thus, in
this case it could be concluded that on averagelyfdinms transfer more profits to their

owners.

The conclusion drown above is central for undeditayy that only by choosing a research
sample could the results be extremely different.a&sumed in this paper a more relevant
approach is to take into consideration only thas@manies that paid dividend (payment rate
above 0). Such an approach seems to be less nigjeadd the final calculations are
independent of the collected data. Furthermorejiminate the influence of differences in
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structures among dividend payers and non-payeesaéh group of the surveyed companies.
Hence, the ultimate conclusion is that Polish medand big-size family companies actually
pay dividend expressing lower payout rates. Subm#tuit provides another argument to
animated debate that supports a thesis relatedwer| propensity to payout profits for
owners/shareholders in the group of family busiegss

The next step of the survey was to assess fadtatsrtould dividend policy in each group of
companies. Both family and non-family businessedicated that needs in the area of
investment expenditures are the most crucial reasgioat impact the amount of dividend
payouts. Such interrelations were confirmed by 48Pdamily and 55% of non-family
businesses (Table 3).

Table 3 Main determinants of dividend iy

Indicators Family firms Non-family firms
(percentage of (percentage of
attesting) attesting)
Annual dividend payouts are dependent on demand of the company 48 55
in the area of investment finance
Annual dividend payouts are focused on the needs of the owners for 35 34

finance liquidity
The higher risk exposure the lower are annual dividend payout is 41 46

Much attention is put to maintain a stable annual dividend payout
rate

24 25

Source:own study

A huge impact on dividend policy was exerted bk Bgposure. This opinion was expressed
41% family and 46 non-family firms. But in respeot this factor some ambiguous
interrelation should be noticed. On the one hais&, affects the level of dividend payments,
and on the other hand, dividend payout ratios may a role of a current and long term risk
indicator of the company (Sharon et al. 2005). &fw@e, the decrease of dividend payouts
corrects the current liquidity. It could be per@zvas a negative signal for various groups of
stakeholders. In particular, may have effect omrtitcredit conditions and be the reason of
the grow of credit costs. Therefore, in particdacumstances dividend payout ratio may be a
consequence of risk exposure and simultaneoustyay raise finance risk of a company.
Finance liquidity of owners, as a crucial reasordiefdend policy, was declared by similar
percentages of the companies (35% family businessds34% of non-family businesses).
The results seem to suggest that the pressurerdrewio get some transfers from companies
is one of the important, though not most substhnt#ctors of dividend policy and may
influence some chosen aspects of company’s finarasegement.

The least numerous groups of companies and thegpefoentages declared rather low extent
of propensity to keep stable transfers to their ensishareholders (24% family businesses and
25% of non-family businesses). It turns out dowat tividends were used rather as a tool in
company finance management than the sturdier acltamgeable factor.

The final analyses were focused on statistical iomation whether the views presented by
company’s representatives go in line with compariyéhaviour in the field of dividend
payments. In the models, dividend payout ratioggaea role of a dependent variable, factors
analysed above performed as independent varialdeadditionally chosen controls were
introduced to the equations. Relevant models ofessgon confirmed that both family and
non-family businesses needs in the area of findigedity were substantial factors of
dividend policy (Table 4).
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Additionally for family firms the maintenance of stable dividend payout ratio was a
significant factor of dividend policy. The regremsianalysis showed that in opposite to de
declaration and conscious indications of the repriadives that risk and investment resources
are main factors of dividend policy in fact colledtdata bring forward other aspects. It
occurred that more crucial are need and expectatadnthe owners than company as a

business entity.

Table4 Models of regression - dividend payout ratiosfastors of dividend policy

NFB FB
Enumeration Dependent - dividend payout ratio | Dependent - dividend payout ratio
2012 2013 2012 2013
Constant 15,430 -3,685 21,570 2,786
\%
Annual divide.nd payout.s are depend.ent on demand of 1,603 806 -313 069
the company in area of investments finance
Annual dlvu.iend pz?youts afe .fo.cused on the needs of 7,43* 7,95+ 6,23* 5,53+
the owners in a of finance liquidity
The higher risk exposure the lower are annual dividend 2,787 1,197 2,044 2371
payout
Much is struggled to keep stable annual dividend 081 _835 2,62%%* 2,55+
payout rate
Controles
Companys’ age -,172 -,137 ,160 ,197
Assets (log) -4,029 -1,969 -3,736 -2,481
Sales revenue (log) 4,358 5,594 -,516 ,210
Employment (log) -6,702 -4,375 -8,522 -3,182
Sector (1-industry; 2 other) 2,226 ,013 -1,401 -1,522
R 0,331 0,331 0,378 0,338
R Square 0,110 0,11 0,143 0,114
Adjusted R Square 0,076 0,076 0,116 0,086
R Square Change 0,110* 0,11%** 0,143* 0,114*
F 3,273* 3,264** 5,319* 4,069*
N= 249,000 248 297 294
* p=0.001; **p=0.01;*** p=0.1

Source:own study.
5. CONCLUSIONS

Dividend policy is still one of the key aspectstioé comparison analysis between family and
non-family firms. Unfortunately the analyses pravidclear evidence that ultimate

identification of similarities or discrepancies $$ill on going. The ways of hypothesis

verification presented above only confirm that ¢hex no simple answer who pay more and
what the reasons of payments are. During the dygpthesis H1 (Polish medium and big

size family businesses achieve lower level of éindlis payment ratios than non-family ones)
can not be confirmed because of the interpretaifdhe data and measured similarities in the
level of spendings. Hypothesis H2 (needs in areavastment influences negatively the level
of dividend payments) was not confirmed by linesgression models in both family and non-
family firms. Subsequent hypothesis H3 (risk expesshape the dividend spendings in this
way that the higher risk, the lower expendituregilswot confirmed by linear regression
models in both family and non-family firms. Next,means hypothesis H4 (the impact of
company’s owners play one of the most crucial esle dividend payment factor) was totally
confirmed in both groups of companies and the hggbthesis H5 (businesses both family
and non-family seek to keep stable level of anmxgenditures in form of dividend) was

confirmed in the group of family firms.
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As indicated above, on the one hand the directmnmterpretation are dependent on the
choice of a sample. This particular way of datiection can provide various results. On the
other hand, a question could be raised how to megsarticular aspects of dividend policy?
This requirement seems to be especially crucialvthe picture of dividend policy presented
by representatives of a company as their subjegiew do not corresponded with the pretty
hard results obtained thanks to statistical angalysicould be concluded that this situation is
still vague although conclusions based on regrassiodels seem to be more accurate than
ones base on subjective declarations.
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AN IMPORTANT DETERMINANT OF THE SUCCESS OF
INNOVATIONS- THE COMMERCIALIZATION OF INNOVATIONS

Zdenka Dudi¢*
Branislav Dudié?
Vladimir Mirkovié®

Abstract: In recent years innovations have gained in imance. They play a crucial role in business.
Small and medium enterprises in the Republic obi8eare currently struggling with various
problems, but there are also the companies whiate lgpod products but not a good communication
with the market. Even though they can provide gwoducts or good services, these companies lack
customers. A lot of small and medium enterprisaeskfufail and disappear from the market due to
inadequate profit. Therefore, it is not enough take an innovation, but more importantly, to
commercialize it and present it to the market dmel dustomers. Marketing is a very important factor
and a link between companies and customers. Huidal to gain the clients' trust and attract thém
buy a new product or use a new service. There amynwvays to commercialize innovations. The aim
of this paper is to examine the current statusefrharket in this regard.

Keywords: Commercialization, Innovation, Small and mediunegrises, Profit

1. INTRODUCTION

Creating new products or services is the imperdivecompanies in order to develop and

survive in the turbulent and demanding market.dbmpany already has a product or service
with which the customers are satisfied, but maleshranges in its business, it means that it
does not listen to the market and the suggestimaiscome from the clients, thus risking its

position in the market. Creating a new productyiseror process that would attract new and
keep existing customers is a very challenging,dithe same time, a risky task. Nowadays
customers have very sophisticated requirementsaanitle array of products on the market,

but they are willing to pay more if those innovafgdducts bring them greater benefits. This
is the part of the market where companies can gaiompetitive advantage, because if their
products stand out in the sea of similar producteovices, they will guarantee success.

2.LITERATURE REVIEW

Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) havestiielxible and quick to react, since the
monopoly position of big companies can be an alestihat hinders their way to new clients.
New products or services created by well-known camgs find new clients more easily.
However, the market today, although very dynamioyiges countless opportunities to all
who offer a good product or service. Cooperatiotwben SMEs and large enterprises
increases profit for everyone. In his work Kotl@0Q8) states that each year more than
16,000 new products are presented to potentiabmests and only 25% of those products
manage to find their way to customers, while in #rel, only 10% is accepted. The
companies that created those products have ensuhtinuous profit from their sales.

! Fakultet tehrilkih nauka, Trg Dositeja Obrad@a 6, 21000 Novi Sad, e-mail: zdenkadudic@yahoo.com
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Development and design of new products represemiagpr cost and risk for all the
companies that innovate. However, regardless opéneentage, companies must continually
improve their operations in order to develop andnpote their new products and services.
Hence marketing is a very important business faébora company, an important link
between development activities and design of newadywts and finding new clients.
Marketing is increasingly gaining in importancejsitimportant in the process of developing
new products, but also in monitoring all the at¢i®a of research and development sectors. A
product is anything that can be offered on the etadnd it need not be a tangible good.
Therefore, innovation can be innovation of produasrvices or processes. In his work
Schumpeter says that innovation is the introduatiba new product of unknown quality on
the market.

In their book the authors Kotler and Armstrong (208uggest that those who create a new
product evaluate it on three levels (Figure 1, seuKotler, P., Armstrong, G., Principles of
Marketing, 9th ed. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle Rilew Jersey 2001).

Augmented peoduct

Figurel Three Levels of Product

Source: Kotler, P., Armstrong, G.

The first level is the core product, and it showsatva customer actually buys. It is important

to define benefits that the product will provide fotended customers. The second level is
called the actual product; characteristics, quadityle, name and packaging of the product are
defined here. This level should develop and fufécondary criteria of the new product, and
then offer additional benefits and services tontiedelivery, credit, warranties, services and
more. This is all very important for customers. Thied level is the global market where the

competition is the greatest. Successful compamesease the performance of products in
order to attract more clients, but by doing soythave additional costs. This is where the
biggest challenge for marketers begins: to persnadepotential customers and keep the old
ones.

The challenges faced by enterprises when creatingva product are known as the new
product development process (Kotler, 2000) witthestages (Figure 2): a new production
and strategy marketing, creating ideas, checkingasd business analysis, product
development, market testing and commercializatica rew product.
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/ The New Product Development Process ‘\\
Clocd @
Mc;_g;g)_ |. New Product Strategy
- 2. ldea Generation
d 3. ldea Screening
CT 4. Business Analysis

=—— 5. Development

6. Test Marketing

7. Commercialisation

'\\ 8= 8. New Product b,

Figure2 The eight stages of a new product
Source: Kotler, P., Armstrong, G

Marketing department must be included in all theigit stages in order to successfully find
customers for a new product or service and to gaair trust. When a company has a good
product and achieves success in terms of profits, constantly compelled to listen to the
market, because there are countless companie® imé#nket that are ready to copy such a
product, but also to offer a lower price. Therefotige continuous introduction of new
products is very important for companies if theyntwi survive in the market. As the author
Berman (1997) states in his work, new productsimortant because they encourage and
sustain sales growth, generate higher profits,irecu lot of time to develop, influence the
technological development of a company and medbmer needs. The authors Dalrymple
and others (1990) state that companies that intrest money in development of new
products gain a huge advantage over companiegtitate them. However, there are limiting
factors that influence companies not to innovatd #mse are: lack of adequate ideas,
division of the market due to strong competitiogstrictions and standards defined by the
government, a very expensive development procemsk bf financial resources for
implementation of ideas, shorter product life, avitiers. But when a good product is
developed, it is important to create a good prelary marketing strategy, which should
consist of three stages. In the first stage, tlsbauld be a description of the size, structure
and behavior of the target market, a plan how tbaseroduct / service, market share and
projected profit in the first few years. The secatdge of the strategy should contain the
planned cost of the product / service, but alsodis&ibution plan and budget, which will
foresee the marketing activities related to themmioon of new products / services. The third
stage should focus on a strategy of long-term sahelsprojected profit, and marketing mix
strategy as well. Marketing mix is a combinatiorcohtrolled marketing tools that businesses
use to make a profit in the market and to increzsles. These include a product, price,
distribution and promotion, but contemporary aushadd a long-term customer satisfaction,
environmental protection and control of rationas w$ resources. This marketing mix has two
goals: communicational - to find customers for & nqoduct / service, and operational - to
create the conditions to make a profit. Both olyest are intended to familiarize customers
with the new product / service, and to create arelés the mind of customers to buy the
product or use the service.
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3. INNOVATIVE ACTIVITIESIN THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA DURING THE
PERIOD 2010-2014.

A number of world authors state that the only wiagt tSMEs can survive and thrive in the
market is to introduce new ideas into their busshesw products and business processes (De
Jong, Marsili, 2006; Wagner, Hensen, 2005). Innowvats a strategic tool for companies
whose goal is to survive in the market and imprthar competitiveness (De Jong, 2004;
Laforet, Tann, 2006). SMEs remain under a greanional and technological control of large
corporations because they are inferior to themeimms of technological innovation of
products and processes (Harrison, 1994).

Every two years a report on the innovative actgitof companies is published in Serbia, and
according to the survey conducted by the Statis@ffice, innovative enterprises are those
businesses that introduced innovation of prodsasyices, processes in the given period, as
well as innovation in the organization or marketimghich are the guidelines proposed by
Oslo manual (OECD, 2005). The research resultsdreated in Table 1.

Tablel Companies ranked by size, innovation and actwvitie
for two periods from 2010-2014.

. Total (nun.'nber od Innovators (%) Without innovations (%)
. Time enterprises)
Enterprises iod
perio 2010-2012 | 2012-2014 | 2010-2012 | 2012-2014 | 2010-2012 | 2012-2014
(vears) (1 Period) (1l Period) (1 Period) (Il Period) (1 Period) (I Period)
Small 9057 13863 40,8 37,4 59,2 62,6
Medium-sized 2264 2253 55,0 52,7 45,0 47,3
Large 520 543 66,2 68,1 33,8 31,9
Production 4122 4865 48,7 40,6 51,3 59,4
Services 7719 11794 42,4 40,4 57,6 59,6
Total 11841 16659 44,6 40,5 55,4 59,5

Source: Based on the data obtained from the site wwwggiatrs accessed on 14 August 2016 (report no.285.
XLIIl, 28.11.2013, no. 276. LXV, 10/22/2015)

As Table 1 illustrates, in the Republic of Serhiahe period 2010-2012, service companies
were more innovative. The same applies to the ge@i012-2014, which means that
manufacturing companies do not innovate enough.fatkeis that most new businesses that
open in this market are based primarily on theiserindustry or trade, and there is a very
small number of new production companies. Thisaesdealso led to the conclusion that the
size of a business entity is an important, if n&eg factor for innovative activities in Serbia.
Two-thirds of large companies are innovative, gdliglover a half of medium-sized ones,
while only one third of small enterprises are inatbve. Perhaps the reason for this is that
large companies have their own centers for reseanchdevelopment and more financial
resources to follow market trends. Most non-impleted innovations/non-innovative
companies in this study are from the territory d® Xojvodina, up to 58.6% in the first
observed period, whereas in the second period 62f686mpanies did not innovate in their
business.

According to the data from Table 2, the situatiensimilar in both periods; there is
approximately the same number of companies thalviame in products and processes, while
the highest number of innovations are introducedoiganization and marketing. Large
companies introduce product and process innovatbotise same time as well as innovations
in organizing and marketing, about 40%. From thésia it can be concluded that smaller
companies have fewer innovative activities. Thuseey small number of SMEs introduce
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innovations in their business. Companies that suplelctricity, gas and steam are usually the
most innovative in this market. Those who have msao@e innovations in their business
usually place them on the national market, but naor@ more of them turn to the European
market, too.

Table2 Types of innovation according to size of entegsis

Innovation of a Innovationofa | . Aban.doned_ Organization Marketing
. . innovation / still . R . R
product/service business process . innovation innovation
ongoing

Enterprises 9 = 9 = 9 = 9 = 9 =
o o o o o o o o o o

o~ o~ o~ o~ o~ o~ o~ o~ o~ o~

= ~ ) ~ o ~ ) ~ ) ~

- - - - - - - i - -

o o o o o o o o o o

N o~ o~ ~ ~ o~ o~ o~ o~ o~
Small 17,6 18,5 15,8 17,4 5,3 9,6 28,0 21,9 27,3 21,2
Medium-sized | 29,6 27,8 27,5 31,2 14,6 13,4 41,3 37,9 36,3 35,8
Large 43,3 39,4 38,8 43,1 23,1 32,6 50,2 47,1 43,3 37,9
Total 21,0 20,4 19,1 20,2 7,9 10,9 31,4 24,9 29,7 23,8

Source:Based on the data obtained from the site wwwogtairs accessed on 16 August 2016 (report
285 - XLIlI, 28.11.2013, no. 276. LXV, 10/22/2015)

The availability and distribution of the Interngitomotion and connectivity all over the
world, not only facilitate business today, but atseate bigger pressure on businesses and
increase competition in the market. A new technickgrevolution brings fundamental
innovations in the production and disseminatiomédrmation. Information has become key
resource. These are the times of digital economgrevinnovation in business is necessity.
According to the author Castells (Castells, 1998, most important structural result of the
impact of information and communication technolsgie the network, i.e. the network
society. A research conducted on the competitiveenéshe countries is published every year
and the situation on the list constantly changegheé latest report of the World Economic
Forum (WEF) on the competitiveness in the field information and communication
technologies (ICT), the Republic of Serbia is rahk&th out of 139 countries (Table 3).

Table3 Competitiveness in the area of information and mamication technologies for

2016
2016 .
2015 Change compared to Group (which economy
Country (rank of 139 . .
. (rank of 143 countries) the previous year a country belongs to)
countries)
Singapore 1 1 No changes developed economy
Finland 2 2 No changes developed economy
Sweden 3 3 No changes developed economy
Norway 4 5 +1 developed economy
Slovenia 37 37 No changes developed economy
Macedonia 46 47 +1 Developing country
(Europe)

Montenegro 51 56 +5 Developing country
(Europe)

Croatia 54 54 No changes Developing country
(Europe)

Serbia 75 77 2 Developing country
(Europe)

BiH 97 No data ) Developing country
(Europe)

Source:Based on the data obtained from the site www.mueficorg accessed on 15 August 2016
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Table 3 shows that the most developed economidseoivorld do not change their rank, and
thus the rankings remain almost identical for yeangapore holds the top spot as it has
become the center of the world economy, and BurandiChad are at the bottom of the list.
When it comes to world powers, the United Statemmked 5th on this list, while Germany
only 15th on the list of competitiveness in ICT.cAcding to the World Economic Forum
Global Competitiveness Report for 2015, Serbia maged 94th on the list, which included
140 countries, and it got 3.89 on the Global Coitigehess Index (GCI), which ranges from
1 to 7. In comparison with 2014, GCI value for Saris reduced for 0.01, which combined
with the results of other countries led to the wmged position on the list. Switzerland
continues to hold first place with the highest G@lue (5.76), while Guinea with the lowest
GCI value (2.84) ranked last in 2015. Singaporia ithe second place and the US the third.
The biggest change among the top ten countrieb®tidt was recorded by the Netherlands,
which moved from the eighth to the fifth place & tist in 2015, while Germany ranked
fourth (the fifth place on the list in 2014).

4. CONCLUSION

Serbian economy is at a turning point. The tramsiprocess, the ongoing reforms and EU
accession talks are only some of the challengetingaahead. In order to strengthen the
economy and economic growth it is necessary togthen and revive the manufacturing
sector. The reforms that should improve and repinggluction are vital, and only then comes
the commercialization of products on the marketer€his a great competitiveness on the
market and large companies have a strong markesingpaign to promote their new products
because digital economy works in their favour. Big should not be an obstacle to small and
medium-sized enterprises because they can get theince in cooperation with large
companies. Large companies diversify their openatio developing countries, as is the case
with the Republic of Serbia. They take SMEs asrtBappliers and subcontractors. SMEs
only need to listen to the market, to be flexibtel & have innovative ideas.
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USING THE SYSTEMSMETHODOLOGIESFOR PROBLEM SITUATIONS
STRUCTURING IN PRACTICE: EVALUATING THEIR EFFECTIVENESS

Dejana Zlatanovié®

Abstract: Growing complexity and diversity of management [mols imply a need for holistic
approach to problems solving and decision-makindier&fore, management problems in
contemporary enterprises should be observed antbegp as the management problem situations,
namely the systems of problems. Hence, the vasggstems approaches to problem solving, i.e.
systems methodologies for problem situations siringy have been developed. Despite the fact that
systems methodologies are widely used in practiceumerous and various areas, there are some
difficulties in assessing their effectiveness. Adiogly, the paper explores the key issues in a#3gs
the effectiveness of using the various systemsoawtigies and highlights the key contributions of
systems methodologiespplications. Taking into account that differeppaoaches for evaluating the
effectiveness of systems methodologies have begimgdished, a conceptual framework for
evaluation that brings together the context, pugsosnd performance of systems methodolbgies
applications is presented in the paper.

Keywords: holistic approach to problem solving; problem stioas; systems methodologies for
problem situation structuring; systems methodolgigi@pplications; evaluation of systems
methodologie'seffectiveness

JEL Classification: M10, M21

1. INTRODUCTION

Global economic circumstances, resulting in indrepsomplexity of contemporary business
environment, require new creative approaches tblgno solving and decision-making. Due
to ambiguity and uncertainty, along with complexitlynamics and interactivity, as key
characteristics of management problems in conteanpoorganizations, they should be
researched as management problem situationss isgesgstem of real management problems.

In conceptual framework of systems thinking, prablsituations are researched in the way
that systems ideas are used to enable appropriateynged thinking about real world
problems, i.e. to provide decision-makers with appiate theoretical and methodological
support. Creative dealing and managing the probdéoations imply using the different
systems methodologies for problem situations atrugg (Jackson, 2000; Jackson, 2003;
Petrovt, 2004). Despite their numerous applications ircfica, one can ask how to evaluate
the effectiveness of using the systems methoddomiepractice? Accordingly, the paper
deals with different approaches in assessing tfeetefeness of systems methodologies and
introduces the framework for evaluation that brirtggether the context, purposes and
performance of systems methodologiagplications. Respecting the potentials of ushgy t
systems methodologies for problem situations atrugg in contemporary organizations, the
purpose of the paper is to point out the differ@mproaches and difficulties in evaluation of
effectiveness of systems methodologies.

In accordance to research subject and purpos@aiher is structured as follows. Firstly, the
key features of systems methodologies for probletmatons are briefed. Then, some
characteristics of using the systems methodolomgigsractice as well as areas of systems
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methodologies applications are emphasized. Finally, the key d@ssin evaluating the
effectiveness of systems methodologies and muttiedssional framework for evaluation that
links context, purposes and performance of systenethodologie’s applications are
presented.

2. BRIEFLY ABOUT SYSTEMSMETHODOLOGIES FOR PROBLEM SITUATIONS
STRUCTURING

Systems methodologies can involve, connect, andsxpdifferent perceptions of the
researched problem situation, as the basis forrgéng the consensus in action or facilitating
negotiation. In fact, systems methodologies forbfgm situations structuring can be useful
and should be employed if they: accommodate difteqgerspectives, function through
interaction and iteration, generate valid probleormiulations and action implications
(Rosenhead, 1996; Mingers & Rosenhead, 2004). @gstmethodologies for problem
situations structuring do not only strive to pravitbr mutual understanding, but also help
decision-makers in obtaining the "broader pictwrlich offers new insights into the problem
and possible solutions. Some of the issues dealsysfems methodology include the
following (Midgley, Cavana, Brocklesby, Foote, Wodd Driscoll, 2013): What worldview
and which aspects of problem should be includethénanalysis and decision-making, and
which should be excluded? What are the differeabl@m perspectives and which values and
assumptions support them? What interactions withe organization, and those with the
relevant environment, lead to desired or undesisdits?

Systems methodologies possess the ability to atielguaodel the problem situation so that
participants in a given strategic decision-makingcpss can clearly identify the problems and
issues. Each methodology is suitable for a padictype of task and is not universally

applicable (Von Winterfeldt & Fasolo, 2009). Becaws a large number of different systems
methodologies, one possible approach to systemisoahaibgy systematization is the System
of Systems Methodologies (Jackson & Keys, 19&ystem of Systems Methodologies
enables responding the following question (Pet;,02010, 362): Which problem situation

can be managed by which systems methodology? Thetled choice of the methodology

should be based on findings derived from SSM, rathen determined by it. One can say that
SSM is a result of overall development of systelasking and management science in the
second half of 20th century (Figure 1).

The classification of systems methodologies preskfity the Figure 1, and supported by
appropriate systems metaphors as well as diffettetiby various systems paradigms, shows
that each systems methodology can be successfplied to one problem situation, but not
to another. In addition to this, of relevant impoite is to emphasize that one systems
methodology can be applied to the problem situaisrdominant, but it can be applied as
supportive to another problem situation. For insganOrganizational Cybernetics is a
dominant methodology in complex-unitary problemuaiions, but it can be applied as
methodology that supports, for example Soft Syst®rathodology, which is appropriate for
complex-pluralist problem situations.

3. USING THE SYSTEMSMETHODOLOGIESIN PRACTICE

Systems methodologies, based on different paradigmissupported by different systems
metaphors, are very frequently used in practicas T demonstrated by numerous case
studies published in various journals and booksyels as by different empirical researches

30



of

using

the systems methodologies in practice. researching the different

methodologies/methotlsuses among respondents from different scientifieas (the
respondents from technical and natural sciencesl@r@nant, with only 9% of respondents
from social sciences), Munro & Mingers (2002) ob&al the following results (Figure 2):
According to the sample structure, quantitative hods, such as statistical methods,
mathematical programming and simulation methodspawst widely used. Regarding the soft
systems approaches, Soft Systems Methodology isnthet frequently used, and using the
scenario analysis, influence diagram, Delphi tegh@iand cognitive mapping, follows it. In
addition to this, applications of System Dynami®ble System Model and Strategic Choice
are corresponding to the sample structure.

The increasing divergence in values,interests, power
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Figurel The holistic theoretical-methodological and praatapproaches to managing the

problems in organizations

Source:Petrovt, S. P. 2013.

Since management problems in enterprises can piedotly be researched as complex-
pluralist problem situations, it is important to @masize that Cybernetics, i.e. Organizational
Cybernetics as contemporary functionalist systepmsaach to management, has contributed
the most to researching the complexity, i.e. to glem problem solving (Zlatanadi 2015,
33). Also, System Dynamics has contributed to me$@ag the causal, i.e. feedback structures
of complex systems. Recently, Complexity Theory hagnificantly contributed to
researching the complex problems. Mingers & WhR2810Q) presented a review of case
studies and areas in which the above-mentionedadelbgies are most widely used. These
are the following: supply chains, production, imf@tion systems, sustainable development,
etc. (Mingers & White, 2010, 1149-151).
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Figure 2 Usage of different methodologies/methods
Source:Adapted fromMunro, I. & Mingers, J. (2002), 373

On the other side, soft, i.e. interpretive systeapproaches has mostly contributed to
researching the pluralist problem situations. It alsout the group of interactive and
participatory approaches which are appropriatesitoiations characterized by multiple actors,
multiple perspectives, incommensurable and/or ednfg interests, prominent intangibles,
and key uncertainties. In addressing such situatibe most complex is framing the problem,
l.e. defining the context and issues constitutimg problem. Soft systems approaches offer
support in such situations through modelling andugr facilitation in order to stimulate
dialogue and deliberation about the problem domand reach shared understanding and
joint agreements with respect to it. AccordinghygftSSystems Methodology, Interactive
Planning, Strategic Assumptions Surfacing and hgstan be singled out as the most widely
used soft systems methodologies (Mingers & Whitd,2 Zlatanov & Mulej, 2015).

Soft systems approaches impact on problem situatgtructuring have been extensively
researched (Joldersma & Relofs, 2004; Mingers, 20dihgers & White, 2010, Paucar-
Caceres, 2000; Paucar-Caceres, 2009; Paucar-Ca26ddys Rosenhead 2006; Mingers &
Rosenhead, 2004). Their impact can be measurduelpllowing variables: experiences with
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the method/methodology; attractiveness of the néthethodology; participantperceptions

of effectiveness of the method/methodology; researcperceptions of effectiveness of the
method/methodology (Joldersma & Relofs, 2004, 6%part from the above-mentioned,
their contribution and popularity are researchedh®synumber of their appearing Web of
Scienceor Scopusan/or number of appearing in certain journalshsasEuropean Journal

of Operational Research, Journal of Operational é&ash Society, Interfaces, Omega,
Operations Research, Management ScidMiagers, 2011; Paucar-Caceres, 2010). Although
these researches demonstrate that soft systemsaapps are significantly used, one can also
observe that these uses are not geographicallerdisg, i.e. that the uses of soft systems
approaches are especially concentrated in someragug areas, such as Great Britain
(Mingers, 2011; Paucar-Caceres, 2010).

Respecting the above mentioned, one can concluamtedifferent systems approaches are
widely used in different areas of managing the eontorary organizations, such as: business
strategy formulation, knowledge management, projeenagement, information systems,
quality management, etc. (Mingers & White, 2010)hefefore, using the systems
methodologies is increasing and the applicatiores different, which can, in some way,
confirm their effectiveness. However, there areeraiugh evidences how successful they are
as well as whether some methodology is more sultdgbsn other. Also, it is not so clear
how systems methodologies should be evaluated #wad i& the purpose of such evaluation.
It can be because systems methodoldgiess are observed as complex interventions which

produce changes and actions at both the leveldiwidual and the level of system (White,
2006, 842).

4. HOW TO EVALUATE SYSTEMSMETHODOL OGIES FOR PROBLEM
SITUATIONS STRUCTURING?

Popularity, as well as the fact that systems maetlogies uses are repeated, can be some
evidence of their effectiveness. But, the questienif the contribution of systems
methodologies can be measured more rigorously déggs of whether the uses/disuses of
methodologies are compared or different system&odelogies are mutually compared. This
is not so easily to response, since there arerdiffeviews. On the one side, there is a view
according to which effectiveness of using the @ertaethodology cannot be significantly
measured. It further implies that validation ofeeftiveness and successfulness of systems
methodologies must be theoretically and philosadhicbased (Mingers & Rosenhead,
2004). In fact, systems methodologiesntribution to Operational Research/Management
Science (OR/MS) development must be considered filgoretical perspective (Jackson,
2006). Accordingly, one can emphasize that theegystmethodologies development may be
observed as some progress within the System oemgsMethodologies which create a new
paradigm in tackling the management problems irtezoporary enterprises. Also, the new
metaphors, which significantly differ from the dorant metaphor in traditional OR/MS, are
developed. Respecting the above, systems thinkipgpasted by systems methodologies,
showed the path which OR/MS should follow. Further® systems methodologies
contribution can be considered from methodologipaint of view, since they enabled
numerous useful modeling tools and techniques &tack 20006). For instance, root
definitions and conceptual models of Soft Systenethiddology (SSM) are designed in order
to make explicit the implications of different umsandings of researched problem situation
in enterprises.
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On the contrary, Mingers & Rosenhead (2004) sugtiest a methodology should not be
evaluated only by the theory that underpins it, lopptomparative validation through formal
experiment. This point of view arises from the ogife philosophical postulates on which the
various systems methodologies are founded. Thisthdur implies that the
method/methodology can be isolated from the contexthich it is applied as well as from
the users, and then it can be compared with othetheds/methodologies in controlled
environment (Mingers & Rosenhead, 2004). Neverdsl¢he point of view according to
which every single application of the systems methagy in real world is unique event
prevails. It is necessary to notice that some nutlugies, such as SSM, are more
sophisticated, and thus their application requar@sore active participation and commitment
of participants which can lead to significant orgational changes. For example, the role of
participant in debate about some opposite views (Ebate about business strategy in crisis)
cannot be simulated. In addition, the success plya the certain methodology cannot be
judged by anyone other than client themselves g¢kperienced the process and the results.
Even then, these judgments are mostly imprecise cuaditative (Mingers & Rosenhead,
2004).

Generally speaking, the two positions around thmatkeabout the evaluation of the success of
systems methodologies can be singled out (Whit®62@843). These are positivist and
interpretative point of view. Positivist point ofew seeks to gain insights into specific goals
and results as well as to use formal frameworksuded on quantification of systems
methodologieseffectiveness. On the other side, according terfmetative point of view, the
claims, facts and figures have meanings only if gam insights into complex worldviews,
interests and preferences of the participantsstaikeholders.

In order to avoid the above-mentioned polarizatednviews about the evaluation of the
success of systems methodologies, White (2006 88Z6-suggests more pragmatic approach
by which we identify the more significant reseatisBues and examine which evaluation
method can address such issues. In favor of tigsoaph, one can emphasize the following:
Above all, it is not possible to include all sitioais, expectations and interpretations in only
one evaluation process. Then, analysts do nofyustvays such diversity, which means that
evaluation will not lead to final, genuine assessimBragmatist approach acknowledges that
analysts are self-interpretive, purposeful beiringg interpret the value of their activities and
actions as contingent, complex, controversial asknending. In fact, the task of systems
methodologies validation is to understand howhim given context, different meanings and
values produced by different actors fit into braaftamework in which the interventions is
realized. It is not about that all words which @ags are interesting or about that any claim
which can lead to conclusions about what is red/itmw and whit what effect, should be
rejected. The stance on evaluation of successstéisys methodologies is that what actually
needs to be changed in order to avtpdradigms wdror conflicts regarding various multi-
methodological approaches.

The challenge is to develop a framework which wooddable to deal with complex and

dynamic nature of systemic interventions. In factis necessary to develop an approach
which supports not only locally meaningful evaloas, i.e. evaluations of those affected by
certain intervention, but also it should be ablegémerate data for longer-term quantitative
comparisons of methodologies. This new framewsniresented by the Figure 3.

The key benefits of this framework for evaluatidrsoccess of systems methodologies are as
follows (Midgley et al, 2013, 150): Firstly, by encouraging the explanatof the context-
purpose-methods-results relations, this framewodviges the more detailed set of concepts
and guidelines than any other in the literatureertHit incorporates a questionnaire that can
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support both locally meaningful evaluations andgkemterm comparisons between methods,
thereby giving us the potential to move beyondeditieer/or debate that has characterized the
literature in recent yedrs

PURPOSES
Key purposes pursued by decision-
makers and stakeholders (including
hidden agendas where suspected)

Key information about context: e.g.
boundaries, values, participants,
perspectives, relationships, institutional/
organisational drivers and barriers.

Researcher Identity Issues
Information about how researchers are
seen by others and themselves, and
why.

Key purposes pursued by researchers
which may or may not be the same as
for other stakeholders.

OUTCOMES
Key information about intended,
unintended and anticipated outcomes, and
relevant stakeholders' perspectives on

Intended, unintended and anticipated
outcomes for the researchers

Researcher Identity Issues
Information about how researchers are seen

by others and themselves, and why.

Key purposes pursued by researchers which
may or may not be the same as for other
stakeholders.

OUTCOMES
Key information about intended,
unintended and anticipated outcomes, and
relevant stakeholders' perspectives on

OUTCOMES
Key information about intended,
unintended and anticipated outcomes, and
relevant stakeholders' perspectives on

Researcher outcomes
Intended, unintended and anticipated
outcomes for the researchers

Researcher outcomes
Intended, unintended and anticipated
outcomes for the researchers

'

Figure3 Conceptual framework for the evaluation of systenethodologies for problem
situations structuring

Source Midgley et al, 2013. 146

Concerning the limitations, we can identify theldaling limitations of presented framework
(Midgley et al, 2013, 151-152): Within the context of a specifge of a method in a single
intervention, the scope for the researcher is tmdaunwelcome conclusions, for example by
exaggerating the effect of an aspect of context wes outside his or her contrthereby
missing shortfalls in either the method or his er bwn skill set. Longer term comparisons
of methods using the questionnaire present antithegation of this framework, and it comes
from the observation that there is a strong moveradmocating methodological pluralism or
combined use of systems methodologies. On the osliide, comparing the set of
methods/methodologies and identifying their streagind limitations is a relevant basis for
combining the systems methodologies. It is alsipdes to compare the success of the set of
methods/methodologies with another set of the nusttmeethodologies. Since there are not
similar questionnaires with which this questioneagan be compared, the validity and
reliability of the questionnaire have not beenddstet, and this is a serious limitation of this
framework. Furthermore, another limitation is retatto the inability of standard metrics.
Finally, no one group of researchers will be abledllect sufficient data on its own to enable
the robust, longer term comparison of methods.

Despite the difficulties related to evaluation atsess of using the systems methodologies,
one can specify their strengths, limitations, opyaties and threats. These are the following
(Rosenhead, 2006, 763-764):
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Strengths:

» analytic basis for handling subjectivities and eliéince;

» recognition of the existence of a client system;

» acceptance of the significance of uncertainties;

» enabling participation and group formulation of lgeams situations.

W eaknesses:

* inability to concentrate on nonroutine situationisibits institutionalization;

* unpredictability of outputs;

* non-transferability of the workshop experience canse implementation problems;
» limited scope for evaluating the effectivenessystems methodologies.

Opportunities:

* enabling the analytically-based procedures in widanagement arena;

» offering the possibility for accepting the workshbpsed approaches by potential
clients of organization;

» extension of clientele to non-managerial groups,
» improving the quality of public debate on policy.
Threats:

» base of skilled practitioners is limited;
» age profile of key originators and proponents othuds is not favorable;
« difficulty in 'tamingd the wicked problems,

Taking into account extreme complexity and divgrsaf management problems in

enterprises, we can conclude that individual usgystems methodologies can hardly enable
holistic handling the all aspects of researchedblpra and their interrelations. In such

circumstances, it is much better to use a rangeus#ful, but often controversial

methodologies/methods. Accordingly, we can concludat combined use of systems
methodologies represents a relevant research area.

5. CONCLUSION

Managing complex, dynamic and ambiguous problemasdns in enterprises implies using
various systems methodologies for problem situatistructuring. Supported by different
systems metaphors and differentiated by varioutgesys paradigms, systems methodologies
are widely used in practice, but their successffsrdntly evaluated. Accordingly, there are
different approaches to evaluation of success sfesys methodologies. If the evaluation is
based only on the empirical results, this cannotatestrate overall effectiveness of systems
methodologies. Therefore, evaluation of systemshat#tlogies should include three key
aspects: theoretical, methodological and applieativ addition, researching the effectiveness
of systems methodologiesises should involve some issues of which the sscod a
methodology depends. Accordingly, of relevant imt@oce is a new framework for
evaluation which links context, purposes and pemforce of systems methodolodies
applications.
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The contribution of the presented research is ¢tftein a study of important issues in the

contemporary systems science which have not bepropately addressed by academic

community in the Republic of Serbia, and which @alated to using systems methodologies
in practice and evaluation of their success. Adogig and taking into account the above

mentioned geographical dispersion of using theesystmethodologies, one can emphasize
that systems methodologies are not widely usedterprises in the Republic of Serbia. Thus,

one should point out the following important lintitan of the research. Presented framework
Is not applied to enterprises in the Republic abe i.e. the questionnaire arising from this

framework is not distributed to enterprises in Republic of Serbia. Therefore, studying the

possibility for applying the systems methodologiregnterprises in the Republic of Serbia is

a relevant research area for future research.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AS AN INSTRUMENT OF
STRENGTHENING COMPETITIVENESS ON THE GLOBAL MARKET
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Daniela NuSeva®
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Abstract: The process of globalization emphasizes the complexity of ethical issues, because the
impacts, obligations and responsibilities towards the environment and society are often contradictory
in different countries. Specifics of laws, customs, norms and standards, impose the need for companies
to define codes of conduct that will guide them in resolving ethical dilemmas. The implementation of
corporate social responsibility represents a big challenge for company management, on the one hand,
but also a necessity, on the other hand, because it contributes to reducing risks and increasing
opportunities for business success. It improves corporate reputation, profitability, employee
motivation, customer loyalty, etc., and leads towards a sustainable competitive advantage on the
global market. Therefore, the ethical behavior must be integrated into the corporate value system and
must represent a significant part of the corporate business strategy.

Keywords: corporate social responsibility, business strategy, CSR codes, globalization
JEL Classification: M14, M31

1. INTRODUCTION

Companies must consider the consequences of their business activities and take responsibility,
not only at the company level, but also in the wider environment. They should not be guided
exclusively by their interests, but must perceive the impacts of their operations towards the
society and the environment. They should behave in accordance with the principles of
sustainable development, and ensure the satisfaction of the needs of the present generations
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

Companies should operate in a way to maximize their profits and shared value for their
owners and stakeholders, and the society as a whole, in the same time preventing and
reducing the negative impacts. They must find a way to ,,reconcile their private and public
interests, and be successful and good ,,citizens* as well. To achieve these goals they need to
undertake various activities, mostly on a voluntary basis. The society in accordance with its
norms and value system determines the framework of the company, and therefore frameworks
differs in different societies.

2. THE IMPORTANCE OF CSR AND CSR CODES

There are many terms which are used to describe the concept of corporate social
responsibility (CSR), such as corporate responsibility, corporate citizenship, corporate
philanthropy, corporate ethics, sustainable development, etc. Consequently, there are many
definitions explaining this phenomenon.

! Faculty of Economics in Subotica, University of Novi Sad, Serbia
2 Faculty of Economics in Subotica, University of Novi Sad, Serbia, dnuseva@yahoo.com
® Faculty of Economics in Subotica, University of Novi Sad, Serbia



The World Business Council for Sustainable Development put forward that corporate social
responsibility “is the continuing commitment by business to contribute to economic
development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as
of the community and society at large” (The World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, 2015).

The European Commission in 2001 defined this term as “a concept whereby companies
integrate social and environmental concerns in their business operations and in their
interaction with their stakeholders on a voluntary basis”. The Commission redefined it in
2011 as “the responsibility of enterprises for their impacts on society” (The European
Commission, 2011). This new definition highlights the need for companies to integrate (in
collaboration with their stakeholders) responsibilities and concerns about the social,
environmental, ethics, consumer and human rights, into their business strategies and
activities.

The United Nations Industrial Development Organization points out it is “the way through
which a company achieves a balance of economic, environmental and social imperatives
(Triple-Bottom-Line-Approach), while at the same time addressing the expectations of
shareholders and stakeholders” (The United Nations Industrial Development Organization —
UNIDO, 2015).

CSR means ethical behavior of companies, i.e. the integration of social, environmental and
economic standards in their system of values and culture. Key CSR issues include economic
(reputation, market share, supply chain, eco-efficiency, risk management, etc.), social (human
rights, responsible marketing, working conditions, economic development, etc.) and
environmental issues (climate change, bio-diversity, product stewardship, etc.). These values
are then involved in the business activities of companies and presented in their business
strategies and policies. In addition to the specific CSR Codes adopted by individual
companies, there are a global CSR Codes developed by various international organizations.

CSR Codes have a special importance in the business strategy and policy. They represent
formal rules with which the company defines the way it expects and demands to be adressed
ethical issues. They can be simply formulated in the form of the basic rules of acceptable
behavior, such as regulations which employees must comply. But they can be also more
complexed, in the sense that they define the company's basic values and represent a guide for
employees in resolving moral and ethical dilemmas. They are a good method for
multinational companies to manage regulatory risk, as a potential alternative to public
regulation and social risk, as an answer to civil society’s demand for more responsible
business (Levis, 2006, p. 51).

Some of the most frequent issues related to CSR Codes are: conflict of interest, receiving and
offering gifts, confidential information protection, discrimination, sexual harassment, bribery,
stealing by employees, companies™ property use, etc. CSR Codes can not provide an
adequately solutions for every ethical situation or problem, because many ethical dilemmas
are too complex, so it is necessary to consider many different alternatives and potential
compromises. In order to provide instruments that will help employees to assess these options
and bring appropriate decisions, many companies organize trainings and consultancies. That
way, employees can practice application of ethical values in hypothetical or imaginary
situations, so they can easily and successfully apply them in real situations.

CSR Codes and trainings are of a great benefit to employees in recognizing and solving
ethical issues, but company must establish a structure which will ensure successful
implementation of solutions. It is very important management of the company to show that is
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dedicated to the implementation of the defined value system and to coordinate its behavior
with it.

3. THE CHALLENGES OF THE CSR IMPLEMENTATION IN THE DEVELOPING
COUNTRIES

Although the issue of CSR is very important in the developed countries, the fact is that the
processes of globalization highlighted the need for its implementation in the developing
countries too. Cheap workforce and inputs encouraged multinational companies to dislocate
bulk of their business activities, primarily the manufacturing processes, in the developing
countries such as China, Vietnam, Indonesia, Bangladesh, Honduras, etc. Outsourcing has
enabled companies to reduce costs, increase productivity and profits, and strengthen their
global competitive position.

On the other hand, outsourcing of global production in developing countries has been an
important source of employment generation (Barrientos et al., 2011, 319). Many of the new
jobs have been filled by women and migrant workers who previously had difficulty accessing
this type of wage employment, and they have provided new sources of income for poorer
households.

Strong competition among producers led to a difficult working conditions and emergence of
numerous sweatshops, characterized by child labor, exploitation of workers, low wages,
working conditions that do not meet minimum standards, etc. One of the decisive moments in
the implementation of CSR was the discovery of Nike’s sweatshops in Indonesia in 1991.
Although the company has been exposed to public criticism, it initially refused to take
responsibility for abuses committed. The company made a turnaround in its business policy in
1998, by running a huge number of CSR initiatives. It managed to change the negative public
perception of its brand, and represent a good example of how CSR implementation can
influence and strengthen the competitive position on the global market.

Not only Nike, but also other well-known companies were carrying out similar activities, such
as Victoria’s Secret, Disney, The Gap, Adidas, Puma, Converse, Marks and Spencer, Ralph
Lauren, Levi’s, etc. They are using the savings in costs primarily for aggressive marketing
campaigns. Very often public figures who cooperate with them, for example, as promoters of
a certain brand, are associated with an unethical behavior as well. The name of the famous
presenter Kathie Lee Gifford is still a symbol of exploitation of child labor, because in 1996
was discovered that in the production of Kathie Lee Gifford collection of the retail chain Wal-
Mart were involved children 12 and 13 years old. Unfortunately, although the discovery of
cases like these significantly influenced combating child abuse, there are still reports about
children being slapped and beaten, sometimes falling down from exhaustion, forced to work
12 to 14 hours a day, and even some all-night 19 or 20 hours shifts, and often working seven
days a week, for wages as low as 6 % cents an hour (National Labor Committee, 2006).

The lack of state regulation and institutions, activist groups, NGOs, etc., in developing
countries, further aggravate the situation. Dilemmas also arise in situations when lower
standards and regulations are applying by the same company in the developing countries in
comparison to higher standards and regulations they must comply in the developed countries.
Consequently, the various forms of commercial exploitation and questionable business
activities, such as corruption, bribery, misuse of company’s assets for political purposes,
secret agreements which fix prices, insider information, lack of trade unions, etc., are
common. Moreover, in certain countries they are accepted practice without which it is
impossible to do business.
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Great scandals and publicity influenced the launch of a number of actions with the purpose of
reducing these abuses. Many companies which have been subject to criticism have become
very active in the fight against unethical behavior. Great tragedies have led companies to
voluntarily accept more rigorous production standards and to comply them, regardless of that
the law in developing countries do not compel them. They have agreed CSR Codes to prohibit
child labor and forced overtime work, provide appropriate health and safe working conditions,
promote establishment of trade unions, determine minimal wages, etc.

On the other hand, there are claims (Choice Argument for Sweatshops) that sweatshops
workers choose to work in sweatshops and that fact is a strong evidence that they believe that
working in sweatshops is their best available alternative (Zwolinski, 2007, p. 695). It would
be morally wrong to third parties to ban, boycott or legally regulate sweatshop labor. The
Choice Argument seeks to shift the burden of proof onto those who wish to regulate
sweatshop labor (Kate’s, 2015, 192). It does so by forcing critics of sweatshops to specify the
conditions under which it is morally permissible to interfere with sweatshop workers choice.

4. CSR AS A CORE BUSINESS STRATEGY

Companies today think about CSR as a way of creating reputation and value in consumer
eyes. Market shares of companies which incorporate CSR in their business activities grow,
and consumer loyalty to their brands is more pronounced. In the past, consumers usually
based their purchasing decisions on price and product quality. Contemporary consumers are
well-informed with plenty opportunities to choose between different products. They are more
awareness about the social and environmental impacts of their decisions.

A lot of surveys show that they have nicer opinion about the companies that support solving
social and environmental problems. In fact, contemporary consumers expect companies to
behave in a socially responsible manner. They are more sensitive to negative CSR
information than positive CSR information, even when negativity is born of omission. More
specifically, all consumers react negatively to negative CSR information, whereas only those
most supportive of the CSR issues react positively to positive CSR information. Therefore,
managers need to be particularly cognizant about the hazards of being perceived as socially
irresponsible (Sen et al., 2001, p. 238).

CSR affects company’s market value partially through the mediator of customer satisfaction.
Customer satisfaction plays a significant role in the relationship between CSR and firm
market value, and a proper combination of both CSR initiatives and product-related abilities is
important (Luo et al., 2006, p. 13).

Waste reduction, recycling, rational use of resources and energy, etc., reduce company’s
operating costs and improve its profitability. Investments in education, health, culture, sport
or prosperity of local communities, improve not only company’s image, but they strengthen
employee’s motivation, confidence and sense of belonging. The company is identified as a
good employer and is more successful in recruiting and retaining quality staff. Such
investments help company to be identified as a good neighbor as well, and to develop close
relations with the community. Governments, especially in developed countries, take various
steps in order to raise awareness and encourage companies to behave socially responsible.

CSR is no longer a moral issue, but a core business strategy and an instrument of achieving
and strengthening competitive position on the global market. CSR should not be an add on
company's policy. It should be integrated into its governance structure and strategy (Goel et
al., 2014, p. 51). Therefore, it is a common business practice for companies to publish
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voluntary reports about their CSR initiatives and achievements. They include annual
sustainability reports, press releases, conference presentations, social media postings, etc.

It is not surprising that 83% of the 250 largest global companies in 2012 by the Fortune
magazine’s list, state that they have developed a CSR strategy. The most commonly cited
opportunities of social and environmental change they identified are:

¢ Innovation of new products and services - 72%j;

e Strengthen brands and corporate reputation - 51%;

e Improving market position/growing market share - 36%;
e Cutting costs - 30%, and

e Improved access to capital/improved shareholder value - 12% (KPMG International,
2013, p. 15).

The most commonly cited risks of social and environmental change identified are:

e Reputational risk - 53%;
e Regulatory risk - 48%;
e Competitive risk - 45%;
e Physical risk - 38%;

e Social risk - 36%, and

e Legal risk - 21%.

5. CONCLUSION

Unethical behavior of multinational companies caused various tragedies, illegal operations
and abuses. Considering their financial power and diversification of production and
distribution network, challenges of implementing CSR in developing countries are certainly
complexed. But as a result of negative publicity many companies were forced to redefine their
business strategies and policies and to take responsibility toward the environment and society.

Ethical behavior does not include only respecting the law, but also the values, norms and
interests of the society in the home country and abroad. It implies a proactive approach in
identifying, adopting and responding to ethical challenges. Many companies formulated CSR
Codes and included them in their business strategies and policies as a uniform rules of
conduct for their employees when moral and ethical conflicts and misunderstandings arise.

Companies must adjust their operations in order to eliminate or mitigate risks, on the one
hand, and to create and increase chances, on the other hand. As opportunities and risks of
social and environmental changes grow, CSR must become an integral part of the company’s
business planning and risk management. The company must assess the potential financial
impacts of these opportunities and risks on its operations and market value. Well developed
and implemented CSR contributes establishing close relations with all the company’s
stakeholders, especially with its employees, suppliers, clients and local communities.
Relations with stakeholders are intangible and impossible to be copied by the competition, so
they can provide a sustainable competitive advantage and a strong competitive position on the
market.
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CONSUMERS AS OPINION LEADERS - THE CASE OF SERBIAN MARKET
Drazen Marié*

Abstract: Contemporary marketing environment is characteribgda noticeable trend of growth of
investment in the company budgets for promotioth aisimultaneous decline in the return on these
investments. The reason for this phenomenon camselea in the fact that modern consumers
increasingly express a loss of confidence in tliermation they receive from companies’ traditional
marketing communications. Such information inclualdy the positive and embellished aspects of the
products and services which companies offer tontheket. Consumers today have the most trust in
other consumers - called opinion leaders - as sesiraf information about products and services
offered on the market. Those consumers are vegifepby the fact that they are seen in the eyes of
other consumers as quite similar to them, compldteinest, experts in certain fields in relation to
products which are intended to buy, and highly tkd Advice, tips and recommendations of
consumers - opinion leaders - largely shape theclpase decision-making process and consumer
behaviour in general. A relatively small numbercompanies, especially in the emerging economies
and markets, fully understand these market chaagdsact in accordance with them. The paper aims
to point out the necessity of a detailed researicthe phenomenon of consumer opinion leadership,
the possible methods and techniques for identifinadf opinion leaders and their specificity, amd t
determine whether there is a statistically sigmifit relationship between consumers’ age and the
product categories in which opinion leadership snifested on the market in the Republic of Serbia.

Keywords: opinion leaders, consumers, word of mouth, age
JEL Classification: M 31

1. INTRODUCTION

For a number of decades, marketing theory and bssipractice have been attempting to
explain all developments on the market throughghem of interactions and relationships
between competing businesses, and through intenscéind relationships of these businesses
with consumers on the market.

The current marketing environment and businesghgedire characterised by a diametrically
changed view, in the sense that an increasingtaiteis paid to contacts and relationships
established between consumers themselves on thetn@he opinion accepted nowadays is
that individual consumer behaviour on the markegirtchoices and decisions on the purchase
and use of various products and services are netstrdined by these consumer interactions.

It is a known rule, which is almost accepted as aket law in all industries without
exception, that satisfied consumers are the béstsef products and services on the market.
The reason for this claim lies in the fact that itidividual — current consumer — who spreads
information about a business and its offer of patgland services through interpersonal word
of mouth communication, in the eyes of other pat&éntonsumers, has a high level of
credibility and trust, and thereby influence, faormm than this credibility and influence is
ascribed to marketing messages sent to the maykmidinesses.

The reason for such behaviour of potential and eceabumers is in the fact that they find it
very significant that these individual consumergriost cases are already possessed of the
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experience of purchase and use of products anecesmwhich are the subject of the purchase
decision, but also because their word and suggestige to their sincerity, have a much more
specific weight than any commercial advertisem&hey have no direct material interest in
the sales and success of the company’s productsamites on the market, so that potential
consumers see these specific individuals as the rel@ble way of reducing the risk related
to the purchase of a product that has a very dmegjliency of purchase.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Individual consumers, possessed of a higher lelz&howledge about product and services,
and about producers and suppliers thereof, arereefd¢o as opinion leaders. An opinion
leader is a consumer who in most cases, but netssadly, is the first to buy or use a certain
product or service, but it can be any person wirdhgence on other consumers is significant,
i.e. if other consumers consider them significant.

Marici¢ (2011, p. 277) defines an opinion leader as astpemwho is often in a position to
influence others’ attitudes and behaviour. A leadea person who informs, persuades and
encourages other consumers. It is personal infornflalience which is based on appropriate
knowledge (of products and services) and trustclvidan, in communication with other
people, lead to a change in their attitudes and\ebrs”.

Hanna and Wozniak (2009) also point out the needidtnguish between several concepts
related to the personal influence of one consumearther. It is necessary to distinguish
between opinion leaders who informally influence theliefs, attitudes and behaviour of
others, and agents of change who include indiv&laalorganizations — political, religious, or

simply businesses, which actively and formally wishinfluence and change human, i.e.
consumers’ attitudes, behaviours and beliefs bectney have some kind of personal interest
for it. On the other hand, the so-called shoppiats @re individuals who spend time with

their friends and acquaintances during their shappips and give them information, support
and encouragement, expertise etc. Surrogate siwppeiindividuals whom consumers, due
to lack of time, knowledge or something else, eegtigperform all activities necessary to

make a decision and complete the purchase.

Van der Merwe and Van Heerden (2009) deal withitentification and possible use of
opinion leaders, and point out that individual aomgrs who really feature as opinion leaders
in a specific area due to their expertise and lvéiig, believe themselves to be opinion
leaders for other areas as well. The authors atabksh the correlation between individual
perception of one’s own leadership and other comssinperception, that is, in most cases,
when individuals believe themselves to be opineeaders, and other consumers view them
identically.

Stokburger-Sauer and Hoyer (2009) seek in thegareh to discover what it is that moves

consumers to word of mouth communication and behavin the sense of taking over the

role of leader opinion and market maven. Compaitiege two groups of consumers that are
mutually similar, the authors highlight a key diface - opinion leaders are much more loyal
companies’ consumers than market mavens; thetbheggfore, a strong correlation between
opinion leadership and loyalty. Opinion leadersesgg@cross various product categories.

Lyons and Henderson (2005) research opinion lehgens the online environment and point
out that this phenomenon is characteristic for lmrtine and offline consumer environment.

Either independently or in cooperation with otharthars, Solomon (2011) devotes a
significant part of his research to individual comers who are possessed of respectable
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knowledge of products and services on the markelttlat is why their opinions, evaluations,
advice and criticism are taken by other consumeatls the utmost level of reliability and
truthfulness. These individual consumers are opinieaders who influence purchase
decisions of other consumers on the market. Theoaudlentifies some of the characteristics
that may point to the fact that opinion leaderthimenvironment (p. 399) are:

e socially active,

* narcissistic,

e engaged in popular culture,

» active readers of specialized magazines and joarnal
» follow and display fashion trends.

Keller and Fay (2012) point out that the growthnterest of marketing science and practice
in word of mouth communication has also led toghmwth in research into a particular group
of consumers who generate and spread it, and whenauthor refer to as ‘influential’, and
who correspond to the role of opinion leaders. @bthors point out their conducted study
TalkTrack, which encompassed over 35,000 respoadearito included over 4,500 opinion
leaders, and argue that consumers who generatperdgenal communication shape public
opinions, and contemporary businesses must focuthe@se consumers and integrate them
into their marketing strategies, otherwise they milt be able to achieve the necessary levels
of marketing efficiency and effectiveness. Influahtconsumers are those who more
frequently seek and forward further informationead, and recommendations among other
consumers, whether they are asked to do by othesucoers, or that they do it of their own
initiative. Some of the findings of the study are:

* 13% of the population of the USA aged 13 to 69ani@ion leaders (about 30 million
people);

*  90% of word of mouth communication occurs offline;

* an opinion leader realizes 184 word of mouth comations in a week, which is
70% more than the average consumer;

e opinion leaders daily generate about 4.5 bulliderpersonal communications in the
USA;

* 51% opinion leaders advise daily other consumeiwthere and now to buy;

* 80% recommendations are related to food, 61% teremiment, 61% to drinks, 60%
for shopping, 53% to technical goods, 53% to spanis recreation, 50% to health,
49% to personal care, 47% to tourism and travély & cars, etc.

Aral researches the social impact in the procesdiftiision of a new product where he

identifies opinion leaders and the main agentefdocial epidemic brought on by the new
product. A high level of persuasiveness is the attaristic of every opinion leader, so that
companies must apply word of mouth marketing, previously identify and integrate these
consumers and interpersonal communication that themerate, into their marketing

strategies.

The concept of opinion leaderships was also de#it and received a significant contribution
by Schiffman and Kanuk (2004, p. 500), who identifyessentially with interpersonal

communication and define it as a process in whichndividual — opinion leader — affects
informally the attitudes and actions of other induals, whom they call opinion seekers or
recipients. The authors characterise this type edétionship and interaction between
consumers as non-commercial and independent andeaealised by means of various,
increasingly electronic media, rather than jusefteface contact.
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Mowen (1995), Carl (2006), Van der Merwe and Varetden qualify those consumers who
influence other consumers, their behaviour andhmage decisions by means of interpersonal
communication as opinion leaders. Although theyestartain characteristics, such as higher
levels in relation to other consumers, in the seissngagement in the product, information,
social activity, social status within the same abstratum and class, and innovativeness, the
authors emphasise that there is no causal relaipmetween these characteristics and real
manifestation of opinion leadership.

Marketing theory and practice include numerousngits to establish the characteristics of
consumers opinion leaders, and a large numberudiest have been conducted to this end,
but the results of these studies have a very spmatitical value. The only thing that was

confirmed by these studies is the fact that a tedanilarity between consumers opinion

leaders can be found if they are researched ant/saxaby product categories. The

identification of opinion leaders is extremely cdex and uncertain. An aggravating

circumstance of using opinion leaders on other wowss is that the former act mostly

locally, in their own social setting, which is wiilye range of their influence is relatively

small.

Hanna and Wozniak (2009, p. 468) point out that tnimssinesses, in their intention to
substitute ineffective and inefficient traditionatlvertising to a certain extent with the
interpersonal influence of opinion leaders, havarger number of identification techniques,
but in most cases use only four:

» sociometry — asking members of a social group quest

» self-appointment — individuals are asked whethey tregard themselves as opinion
leaders;

« main informer — individuals are chosen who are méga to know best whether there
are and who are opinion leaders within a group;

» objective method — artificial creation of opiniaaters where individuals are targeted
who are estimated as having leadership qualities tlzen the latter are encouraged in
various ways to spread their influence on othersaoarers, and then to make it
beneficial for the business.

Valente and Pumpuang (2007, p. 883) gives a sggmifi contribution in his research to the
efforts to identify opinion leaders and proposes, addition to the four above, more
techniques of identifying opinion leaders, such catebrities, self-selection, selection of
human resources, positional approach, judgemeaut&irg, snowball method, etc., but these
are more or less all derived from the four basithods.

Marketing literature and practice do not say whiebhnique of identification of opinion
leaders is the most effective, nor is it suggestedhich situations it would be desirable to
use some of the above mentioned identificationrtiegtes. All of this confirms the thesis that
the entire issue of opinion leaders, their idecdifion, and especially use in a business’
marketing strategy, is one of the most complex samdabusiness management and decision
making.

3. METHODOLOGY

The survey conducted in order to confirm or rejdet hypotheses set in the study is a
segment of a complex project of research into thenpmenon of the impact of opinion

leaders on consumer word-of-mouth communicatiopunchase decisions in the Republic of
Serbia. The study uses a research method in the dbistructured personal communication,
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I.e. questionnaire, whose dissemination and regpogtsieval was conducted predominantly
through the Internet — 80.2%, and personally — %9r@spondents. The survey aimed at
accomplishing the set research goals and confirmingjecting the defined hypotheses was
conducted from March until June 2016 on a definedtifed sample of 488 respondents.
Stratification was performed by gender, respondesg® and education levels. The data
gathered by means of the questionnaire were predelsg appropriate mathematical and
statistical methods, with the application of stated SPSS software, as follows:

» Parametric tests:
* Normal distribution - testing the hypothetical pootion value of the basic set,
based on the sample;
* Analysis of variance, i.e. ANOVA dispersion ana$ysiith 1, 2, and 3 samples:
* t-test
* Levene’s test

The questions from the questionnaire that was usd tested by Cronbach’s alpha method.
The main idea behind this idea is that the measisteument that has more variables can be
regarded as reliable if all the variables exprdss same method but slightly differently.
Cronbach’s alpha is 0.738, which points to highernal consistency, i.e. questions in the
questionnaire stand in positive mutual correlation.

The scale applied in this research was used by¢Ma@il4), and consists of 30 items, but,
due to paper length limitations imposed by the ewerice, this paper only presents a number
of items, i.e. statements aimed to confirm or rejee defined hypotheses. The items are
arranged with a Likert scale of offered reply opso

Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree Strongly agree

1 2 3 4 5

Ho: Manifestation of opinion leadership among eoners depends on their age - the older
and more experienced consumers in the Republiced§i& are more prone to seeing
themselves as opinion leaders in comparison witlhnger consumers.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Question 21.l regard myself as someone whom acquaintances oftask for advice
and opinion, i.e. | give shopping advice to othemore often than | seek it.

Table 1 Structure of respondents’ answer according to age

Question 21 1 2 3
up to (3(3 years % 31-4(5 y)/ea rs % 46-6(5 y)/ea rs %

fully disagree 23 5..5 8 | 12.8 / 0.0
partially disagree 38 9.2 15 | 23.8 2 18.2

Valid neutral 124 | 29.9 6 9.5 5 45.4
partially agree 166 | 40.1 24 | 38.1 4 | 36.4

fully agree 63 | 15.3 10 | 15.8 / 0.0

total 414 1100.0 63 (100.0 11 |100.0

blank / 0.0 / 0.0 / /

Total 414 1100.0 63 (100.0 11 |100.0
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As p-value is higher than 0.05, it is concludedhwthe probability of 95% that there are
statistically significant differences between ageups as regards question 21.

If p-value is under 0.01, the differences are HIQHKktatistically significant. As the
difference is statistically significant, a post-rest is conducted!

Table 2 ANOVA

Sum of squares df Mean square F Sig
. Between groups 19.526 2 9.763 8.945 .000
Question 21 —
Within groups 1648.109 1510 1.091
Total 1667.635 1512
Table 3 Post-hoc Tukey test
Dependent variable (1) Age2 (J) Age 2 Mean difference (I-J) Std. error Sig.
2.00 322 .082 .000
1.00
3.00 .279 .148 143
1.00 -322° 082 .000
Question 21 2.00
3.00 -.043 .164 .962
3.00 1.00 -.279 .148 143
2.00 .043 .164 .962

The application of post-hoc Tukey test enablescimggithe existence of a statistically highly
significant difference in answers, between the grop to 30 years (1) and group 31-45 years
(2). It is noticed that the group up to 30 year} @ives significantly higher grades in
comparison with the other two age groups when #megwer Question 21, that they regard
themselves as someone whom acquaintances oftdoraattvice and opinion, than they seek
it. This structure of responses can be partiallplared by the youth and energy of the
youngest respondents, to whom self-confidencetisn@bstacle.

Question 11Most often | GIVE ADVICE to other consumers wher making
decisions on the purchase of TECHNICAL GOODS AND PRDUCTS THAT
ARE COMPLEX FOR USE

Question 1Most often | GIVE ADVICE to other consumers when m&ing
decisions on the purchase of PRODUCTS THAT REPRESENSTATUS
SYMBOLS

Question 13Viost often | GIVE ADVICE to other consumers when making
decisions on the purchase of PRODUCTS THAT | DO NOBUY OFTEN
Question 1Most often | GIVE ADVICE to other consumers when m&ing
decisions on the purchase of PRODUCT OF HIGH VALUEAND HIGH PRICE

Table 4 Structure of respondents’ answer according to age

. 1 2 3

Question 11 up to (3(3 years % 31-4(5 \)/ears % 46-6(5 \)/ears %
fully disagree 45 10.7 8 11.4 2 17.3
partially disagree 38 9.2 6 9.8 2 17.3
Valid neutral 108 26.1 6 9.8 1 9.6
partially agree 147 35.6 28 44.6 5 46.2
fully agree 73 17.7 15 24.5 1 9.6
total 411 99.3 63 100.0 11 100.0
blank 3 7 / / / /
Total 411 100.0 63 100.0 11 100.0
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. 1 2 3
Question 12 up to (3(3 years % 31-4.53 3/ears % 46-6(5 \)/ears %
fully disagree 55 13.1 16 25.6 1 9.1
partially disagree 52 12.6 8 12.7 / 0.0
Valid neutral 167 40.3 8 12.7 7 63.6
partially agree 108 26.2 31 49.0 1 9.1
fully agree 30 7.3 / 0.0 2 18.2
total 412 99.5 63 100.0 11 100.0
blank 2 .5 / / / /
Total 414 100.0 63 100.0 11 100.0
. 1 2 3
Question 13 up to g(z years % 31-4(5 \)/ears % 46-6(5 \)/ears %
fully disagree 150 36.2 83 45.1 3 27.2
partially disagree 62 15.0 42 22.8 / 0.0
Valid neutral 95 22.9 25 13.6 3 27.2
partially agree 76 18.4 20 10.9 4 36.3
fully agree 29 7.0 14 7.6 1 9.3
total 412 99.5 63 100.0 11 100.0
blank 2 .5 / / / /
Total 414 100.0 63 100.0 11 100.0
. 1 2 3
Question 14 do 3(O?god % 31-15?god % 46-é5?god %
fully disagree 34 8.3 11 17.6 3 27.2
partially disagree 52 12.6 14 22.2 / 0.0
Valid neutral 99 23.9 8 12.7 5 45.4
partially agree 160 38.6 24 38.0 1 9.3
fully agree 65 15.7 6 9.5 2 18.1
total 410 99.1 63 100.0 11 100.0
blank 4 9 / / / /
Total 414 100.0 63 100.0 11 100.0

As p-value is higher than 0.05, it is concludedhwtte probability of 95% that there are
statistically significant differences between ageups as regards question 11.

If p-value is under 0.01, the differences are HIGHktatistically significant. As the
difference is statistically significant, a post-hest is conducted!

The application of post-hoc Tukey test enablescirggithe existence of a statistically highly
significant difference in answers, between the grop to 30 years (1) and group 31-45 years
(2). It is noticed that the group up to 30 year} @lves significantly higher grades in
comparison with the other two age groups when tegwer Question 11 about GIVING
ADVICE to other consumers when buying TECHNICAL GD® AND PRODUCTS THAT
ARE COMPLEX FOR USE, which means that consumersmiddle age, i.e. mature
consumers, feel much more confident in their kndgk and judgement of technically
complex products when buying, so that they actpasian leaders to other age segments of
consumers, to whom they offer advice when shoppfdg. the other hand, the oldest
consumers significantly more often seek advice tbkioconsumers when buying technical
goods and products that are complex for use, wbarhbe explained by the fact that these
consumers cannot follow trends and technologiaabwations in products on the market, and
that, in view of their age they seldom see thenesein a situation to give advice to others.
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Table 5ANOVA

Sum of squares | df |Meansquare| F Sig
_ Between 1099 | 2 5.498 [3.755 [024
Question 11 groups
Within groups 2197.903 |1501 1.464
Total 2208.898 |[1503

Table 6 Post-hoc Tukey test

Dependent variable (1) Age2 [(J) Age2| Mean difference (I-J) esrtr(i.r Sig.
1.00 2.00 -.202 .095 .087
ion 11 3.00 272 171 .250
Question 11. oo %00 202 095 | 087
' 3.00 474 .190 034
3.00 1.00 -.272* 171 .250
2.00 -474 .190 .034
Table 7 ANOVA
Sum of squares df | Mean square F Sig
. Between groups 3.876 2 1.938 1.537 |215
Question 12 —
Within groups 1895.070 1503 1.261
Total 1898.946 (1505

The structure of respondents’ answers to Questmefjarding GIVING advice to other
consumers when buying products representing STA$Bbols, p value is not lower than
0.05, so that it is concluded with the probabildf 95% that there are no statistically
significant differences in the behaviour and repbé respondents viewed by age, so that post
hoc test is not performed.

Table 8ANOVA

Sum of squares | df Mean square F Sig
Question 13 Between groups 28.044 2 14.022 7.939 |.000
Within groups 2659.830 |1506 1.766
Total 2687.874 1508
Table 9 Post-hoc Tukey test
. . Std. .
Dependent variable (1) Age2 | (J) Age2 | Mean difference (I-J) orror Sig.
2.00 324 105 | .006
1.00
3.00 -.430 .188 .058
1.00 -324 105 | .006
Question 13 2.00 =
3.00 -.754 .209 .001
1.00 1430 .188 .058
3.00 =
2.00 .754 .209 .001

The application of the post-hoc Tukey test enalplescing the existence of two highly
statistically significant differences in respondestween groups up to 30 years (1) and group
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31-45 years (2) and between group 31-45 yearsn@)gaoup 46-65 years (3). It is noticed
that the group up to 30 years (1) gives signifisahigher grades in comparison with the age
group 46-65 years (3) when giving answers to Qoesiti3 on GIVING ADVICE to other
consumers when buying PRODUCTS THAT ARE NOT BOUGEFTEN, that is of low
purchase frequency, which means that younger comsugsee themselves as opinion leaders
and generate interpersonal communication with otbesumers. On the other hand, what is
interesting is that the oldest consumers also lsemdelves as opinion leaders and give high
grades to the statements that they give advicetiier® when they buy products of low
purchase frequency, which further implies that iest careful and most rational buyers of
this category of products are middle-aged consumers

Table 10ANOVA

Sum of squares df | Mean square F Sig
Question 14 Between groups 44.833 2 22.417 [16.257 .000
Within groups 2066.954 1499 1.379
Total 2111.788 |1501

Table 11 Post-hoc Tukey test

Dependent variable | (I) Age2 | (J) Age2 Mean Difference (I-J) Es:r(j).r Sig.
2.00 4200 .093 | .000

1.00 =
3.00 .626 .166 .000
1.00 -420 .093 | .000

Question 14 2.00

3.00 .206 .184 .503
3.00 1.00 -.626 .166 .000
2.00 -.206 184 .503

The application of the post-hoc Tukey test enallescing the existence of two highly
statistically significant differences in respondestween groups up to 30 years (1) and group
31-45 years (2) and between group up to 30 yeatgaoup 46-65 years. It is noticed that the
group up to 30 years gives much higher grades nmpeoison to both age groups 31-45 years
(2) and 46-65 years (3) when answering questionot4GIVING ADVICE to other
consumers when buying products of HIGH VALUE ANDGH PRICE, which means that
the youngest consumers see themselves as the mmstekigeable, so that they feature as
opinion leaders to other consumers and give adde@ when buying products of high value
and price. This can be partially explained by th@uth and know-it-all feeling of these
consumers.

The basic shortcomings of the research could bacestito the fact that making general
conclusions based on a single study is not fullialoée, regardless of the size of sample and
structure of the instrument. The electronic questéore and its software solutions can cause
confusion in respondents, especially mature respaisdwho are not versed in information
technologies. Due to the width of the questionnafras many as thirty questions, there is a
danger of respondent fatigue, where answers t@inequestions are given by inertia or
replies are of neutral character.
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5. CONCLUSION

One of the dominant characteristics of the contemargobusiness setting is the dramatic
decline of consumers’ confidence in all forms o¥fexdising and marketing communication in

general, so that they increasingly turn to infoiprasources that do not have this commercial
dimension, above all, to friends and family. Inengonal word of mouth communication has
a greater impact on creating opinions of consurteensroducts and services in comparison
with other forms of communication.

Individual consumers, possessed of higher leveknoiwledge about products and services,
and their producers and suppliers, are referred topinion leaders. These individuals in most
cases already have the experience of purchasingsang the observed products and services,
and therefore their word and suggestion, due tw #wecerity, have a much greater specific
weight than any other commercial advertisement.yTih@ve no direct material interest in
sales and success of the company’s products andeseon the market. The potential buyers
see these specific individuals as the most relialalg of reducing the risk of wrong purchase
decision.

Opinion leaders emerge in situations when otheswarers seek products and services to
buy, when possibly trying out and evaluating thpseducts and services, before making a
decision to buy them. Opinion leaders are veryroftensumers who help the introduction
and acceptance of new trends and behaviours amahieet, so that they are often regarded as
trendsetter. It must also be emphasized that hatakumers are equally susceptible to the
personal influence of opinion leaders. The mostcapitble to this influence are the
consumers who are otherwise oriented to othersiiopj because for certain reasons they do
not make independent purchase decisions, and nesuoeers without experience in the use
of products and services. Opinion leaders spealtatdoat was bought, why, how, and how it
is used. In this manner they direct the meaningsttand attention of other consumers, i.e.
followers. Characteristics that opinion leadersspss are different for different market and
culturological setting, as well as for differentogduct categories, and here are, above all,
expertise, social networking, charisma, energy, etc

It is important to note that consumers opinion &addo not fit into stereotypes about
material wealth, high education and hierarchicaifan and social status. Most of them are
well off, but do not range among the better ofattrof society; most of them are educated,
but do not range among the most educated acaderoliescof society; most of them are at
high hierarchical positions, but not the highesasWopinion leaders do not essentially differ
in comparison to other consumers that they infleerBusinesses must be aware of the
existence of these consumers and direct their miagefforts to them aiming to achieve
business success. The phenomenon of businessdeadet generally present on the market;
its potential and real effects on the growth of ifalsales of a company are extremely large,
but it is still an insufficiently researched pheremon which is difficult to use and control
within the company. All the current attempts atlging the strategy of use of opinion leaders
did produce results, but these results in mostscdisenot match companies’ expectations and
forecasts.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN TOURISM AND HOSPITALITY:
EMPIRICAL STUDY FROM SERBIA

Vesna Stojanovié¢ Aleksi¢!

Aleksandra Boskovié?

Abstract: In this paper, we analyze the level of social responsibility, including its basic dimensions, in
the tourism and hospitality enterprises in the Republic of Serbia. The main research goal is to stress
the importance of the concept of corporate social responsibility (CSR) and to determine the level of
development of specific dimensions and aspects of corporate social responsibility in the domestic
travel agencies and hotels. Specific goal refers to identifying the differences between hotels and travel
agencies in terms of CSR. Therefore, we provide an insight into the most developed aspects, such as
responsibility to the community and customers, within the external dimensions, as well as those
aspects where more attention should be paid, such as environmental protection and CSR disclosure.
We did not find significant differences between hotels and travel agencies in terms of CSR.
Consideration of the social responsibility in tourism and hospitality from this perspective represents
an original approach to research and derived findings have multiple theoretical and practical
importance.

Keywords: corporate social responsibility, tourism and hospitality, sustainable business, environment
JEL Classification: M14, M21, A13, Z32, 131

1. INTRODUCTION

Academics and practitioners are devoting a lot of attention to defining the CSR, but there are
still a lot of different perspectives and sufficient consensus has not yet been reached.
Generally, CSR practices are considered those voluntary firm actions designed to improve
social or environmental conditions (Mackey et al., 2007). It is important to understand that
CSR refers not only to the respect of the law in the relevant fields (e.g. human rights,
environmental protection), but also the activities that exceed that limit and have a voluntary
character. Although this topic is very popular, when it comes to tourism and hospitality
research, it is still relatively new and causes increasing interest. Enterprises in tourism and
hospitality need to seek a balance in the satisfaction of the many different groups that affect
and are affected by tourism initiatives.

In addition to the multiple benefits for the stakeholders, CSR is of immense importance for
the companies themselves in tourism and hospitality due to extreme competition in this
market, which is especially pronounced in the modern era, when the freedom of movement of
people is at a high level. Application of the socially responsible activities is a prerequisite for
sustainable operation of modern enterprises (Post et al. 2002, according to Nicolau, 2008, p.
990), but it is also an area in which there are a number of chances for differentiation, which
contributes to creating more value for customers and winning their trust. CSR activities can
create a positive reputation and enhance employees' commitment and morale (Brammer et al.,
2007; Porter & Kramer, 2002, according to Kucukusta et al. 2013).

! Faculty of Economics University of Kragujevac, vesnasa@kg.ac.rs
2 Faculty of Economics University of Kragujevac, aboskovic@kg.ac.rs



In this paper, we analyze the level of social responsibility, including its basic dimensions, in
the tourism and hospitality enterprises in Serbia. The main research goal is to stress the
importance of the concept of corporate social responsibility (CSR) and to determine the level
of development of specific dimensions and aspects of corporate social responsibility in the
domestic travel agencies and hotels. The specific goal refers to identification of the
differences between hotels and travel agencies in terms of CSR.

This paper, thus, contributes to the literature about CSR and tourism and hospitality by
providing empirical evidence about the level of CSR, including its main dimensions, in
domestic tourism and hospitality industry. Results and findings indicate strengths and
weaknesses in this field and point out significant suggestions to owners and managers of
hotels, travel agencies and other tourism organizations in Serbia in order to improve their
corporate social responsibility, which is important not only because of contribution to society,
but also because it affects their competitiveness in the market.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1. CSR dimensions

Corporate social responsibility is usually regarded as an organized set of activities that
include adequate way of behaviour towards the external environment. However, it is
important to take into account the responsibility of the company toward its employees.
Namely, since there are internal and external stakeholders, we can identify two key
dimensions of corporate social responsibility: internal and external corporate social
responsibility, both encompassing different areas (Figure 1).

r N *Employees (human rights, occupational )
safety, security, human resource

Internal CSR development etc.)

*Responsible management of natural
resources

7
\

VAN

( ) + Customers

» Competition

External CSR * Business partners

» Environmental Protection
. y + Community )

Figure 1 CSR dimensions
Source: Author's adjustment according to Commission of European Communities, 2001

Internal CSR actually represents the responsibility of the company to internal stakeholder, and
is therefore the most important aspect. According to Green Paper, internal CSR includes four
areas: human resources management, occupational health and safety, adapting to change and
management of natural resources in production. A need to attract and retain skilled workers is
a challenge for the modern enterprises. Relations between management and employees must
be clear, precise and fairly determined, and all phases of human resource management must
comply with the legislation (Commission Of the European Communities, 2001). However,
responsibility to employees may not be limited to respect for the legislation, but can include
ethical and philanthropic aspects. It is very important to create pleasant working environment
and atmosphere, where employees are treated as human beings and not as manpower. In a
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capitalist society, this is difficult to achieve, due to the high level of competition and the
requirement that enterprises, i.e. their employees, must meet in order to gain and maintain the
competitive position. However, employee satisfaction is a segment that cannot be ignored.
The benefits that are realized as a result of employee satisfaction are numerous and are
reflected in the increased commitment to the organization and productivity, better
performance, reduction of employee turnover, increased work effort and orientation toward
the goals. At the same time, research shows that the most relevant aspect of job satisfaction
are social, which refers to interpersonal relationships with colleagues and managers, as well
as the need to develop, which are associated with the promotion and recognition (Stojanovi¢
Aleksi¢, et al, 2013)

In the context of internet social responsibility, concept of ethical leadership is extremely
important. Stojanovi¢ Aleksi¢ (2008) points out that human behaviour, and thus the behaviour
of a leader can be classified in three crucial domains. The first domain is codified by law, in
which the standards and rules are laid down in legislative norms and grounded in the judicial
system. Domain of free choice represents the other extreme in which behaviour is not
regulated by any standards, and individuals enjoy complete freedom of choice. Between these
two areas is a zone of ethics, which is a very sensitive area. The decisions about what is moral
and what is not, in relation to employees, bringing the leader a selection of appropriate
alternative depends on his conscience. In this situation, the leader is facing a great challenge,
which includes harmonization of personal needs and the needs of the group or organization.
Personal development of employees is an important issue in the context of internal CSR.
Contemporary economic flows lead to the development of the knowledge economy in which
intellectual capital plays a key role. Knowledge appears as a new factor of production, the
basis of the development of service sphere, while human capital, ICT and innovation become
the main sources of competitive advantage and economic growth (Draskovi¢, 2010). Hence,
the importance of knowledge management and continuous investment in the improvement of
human resources is immeasurable. It is very important that companies invest in employee
development, by regularly organizing trainings and taking care of their skills and abilities.
Adequate training reduces the possibility of errors and unnecessary costs and makes
employees more confident. In addition, management should ensure that all employees have
equal opportunities for training and development.

External CSR is directed to a wide range of stakeholders and involves several areas of
responsibility. The initial stage of external accountability is related to the environmental
protection. Characteristics of the environment are changing and its pollution is inevitable in
modern times. People’s needs are constantly evolving, so their activities significantly disrupt
the functioning of ecosystems. This problem is especially important for large companies and
corporations, mainly within the energy and petroleum industries, which have a high potential
for pollution of water, air and endangering human health. As for the tourist and hospitality
organizations, it is important to take into account the protection of the environment, but their
options are reduced mainly to participation in various activities for environmental protection
through sponsorships, donations and other marketing activities. Responsibility to customers
relates to adequate way of communication with clients, characterized with high transparency.
Companies are expected to provide products and services, which consumers need and want in
an efficient, ethical and environmentally aware manner (Commission Of the European
Communities, 2001). This aspect also includes: building lasting relationships with clients,
understanding their needs, providing superior quality and safety. Responsibility to the
community directly relates to participation in the humanitarian activities, sponsorship of
cultural and sporting events, funding educational projects, donations to health and social
institutions, scholarships for young talents and other assistance to members of the community.
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Also, as a part of external CSR, organizations need to be aware that their social performance
affects all actors within the supply chain, such as partners, suppliers, and competitors.

2.2. CSR in tourism and hospitality

The importance of CSR in the field of tourism and hospitality is immense, and it largely stems
from its impact on the clients’ trust. Nicloau (2008) argues that trust is essential in tourism,
since this market is very information-sensitive and the degree of tourist’s uncertainty is
notably high due to the inherent characteristics of its purchase and consumption. People
cannot try services in advance, they have to move in person from their origin to the
destination in order to consume the services and they do not know what they will eventually
obtain when getting to the destination. In order for a tourism firm to make their clients aware
that uncertainty does not exist in its service provision or at least it has been diminished at a
minimum, it may seek for such CSR activities, as it makes them trust the firm in greater
extent. People may rely on the existence of CSR actions as they might reasonably think that
taking care of society implicitly means taking care of customers.

Adopting a strategic approach to CSR is of particular importance for the tourism and
hospitality organizations, since the CSR can be used as a way of differentiation in the market.
Calveras (2015) argues that strategic CSR is often related to the willingness of consumers to
pay an extra price for a product with CSR attributes, analogously as it happens with the
quality premium that many consumers are willing to pay. He provides empirical evidence that
higher quality hotel establishments will tend to implement more CSR strategies.

For tourism, especially the hotels, because they consume significant amounts of natural
resources, Environmental Management System (EMS) is an extremely important area of
business. It represents management system that includes an organizational structure, planning
activities, responsibilities, practices, procedures, processes, and resources for developing,
implementing, achieving, reviewing, and maintaining an environmental policy according to
ISO 14001 standards (Chan, 2011, pp.3-4.) The importance of investment in environmental
protection is emphasized by the results of a survey, conducted in Hong Kong, which show
that the environment, as a dimension of CSR, represents one of the factors which have the
strongest predictive power in explaining visitors’ preference to stay, willingness to pay,
perception of service quality, and brand image (Kucukusta et al., 2013).

However, despite its multiple benefits, smaller hotels usually do not adopt EMS, probably
because it requires a lot of effort and significant engagement of various resources. Chan
(2008) identified several main barriers for EMS implementation in small and medium hotels,
such as: lack of knowledge and skills, implementation and maintenance costs, lack of
motivation and professional advice, and outcome uncertainty, but also suggested some ways
of overcoming these barriers, including working with other SMHs or different “green”
organizations. Also, research shows that hotels often implement environmental strategies
under the influence of big tour operators, who even demand in some cases EMS monitoring
through relevant performance indicators (Ayuso, 2006).

When it comes to the basic motives for the implementation of CSR in tourism, studies
indicate the dominant role of altruistic motives, although competitiveness factor is also very
important (Garay & Font, 2012). Despite the lack of evidence about the relationship between
CSR and financial performance of companies in general, the resultd of studies conducted in
the tourism industry suggest some positive correlation between investment in CSR and
financial performance, particularly in the hotel enterprises (Garci’a Rodriguez & del Mar
Armas Cruz, 2007; Kang et al., 2010). Therefore, it is possible that financial incentives play
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an important role in encouraging socially responsible activities of hotels and other enterprises
in tourism and hospitality.

3. DATA AND METHODOLOGY

The study was conducted in the territory of the Central Serbia in 2016. As an instrument for
data collection, we used an adapted questionnaire that consists of 30 questions. The starting
point for creating questionnaire are empirical studies conducted by the Turker (2009), Dam &
Scholtens (2012), Oh et al (2011) and a questionnaire of Serbian Chamber of Commerce.
Adapted structure of the questionnaire is the result of authors’ original scientific approach,
according to a defined subject and objectives of the research. The first part of the
questionnaire includes questions on key dimensions of social responsibility that the
respondents should answer, based on the assessment to what extent they agree with the
statements, using a five-point Likert scale. General information about respondents were
collected via five questions that make up the second part of the original questionnaire, and
relate to gender, age, position in the organization, years of service and level of education.

Data analysis was performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 20.0.
Reliability of a scale was assessed using Cronbach's Alpha coefficient, which amounts to
0,890, indicating a high degree of reliability, since the questionnaire consists of 30 items. In
order to test the level of CSR in the sample, and to compare the level of the various areas of
social responsibility, we calculated the measures of descriptive statistics, mean and standard
deviation. We considered the internal and external CSR, whereby the external CSR was
decomposed into several dimensions, namely: responsibility towards cusomers, environment
and community. As a particularly relevant aspect, we analyzed the CSR disclosure.

The sample consisted of ten organizations (5 hotels and 5 tourist agencies), including 20
respondents, managers and employees, equally distributed by companies. Structure of the
sample is presented in the Table 1.

Table 1 Structure of the sample by the characteristics of respondents

Type of company Frequency Percent
Hotel 10 50,0
Tourist agency 10 50,0
Gender

Male 10 50,0
Female 10 50,0
Age

18-25 1 5,0
26-35 8 40,0
36-45 4 20,0
46-55 4 20,0
56 and more 3 15,0
Years of service

Up to 2 years 1 5,0
3-5 2 10,0
6-10 5 25,0
11-15 2 10,0
16-25 4 20,0
More than 25 6 30,0
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Position in the company

Top management/CEO 4 20,0
Middle management 5 25,0
Operational management 8 40,0
Employee 3 15,0
Education

High school 4 20,0
College 6 30,0
University 10 50,0
Total 20 100,0

Source: Authors
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results of empirical research point to the middle level of development of the internal CSR in
tourism and hospitality sector in Serbia (Mean = 3,45), indicating there is a certain level of
responsibility to employees, but also open opportunities for further improvement. It is
significant to point out that the respondents largely agreed with the statement: “Working
conditions that do not harm the health of employees are guaranteed in our organization.”
Thus, we can conclude that health and safety policies are consistently applied. On the other
hand, the flexibility regarding the balance between life and work is an area that should be
improved (Mean = 1.53), since the overloaded employees may develop dissatisfaction which
lead to performance degradation. Some of the possible ways to solve this problem are flexible
working hours and introduction of systems that allow work from home.

Table 2 Internal CSR

N | Min | Max | Mean Std.Dev.

Working conditions that do not harm the health of employees 20 3 5 4,50 ,889
are guaranteed in our organization.
We regularly measure employee satisfaction through concrete | 20 1 5 3,30 1,418

methods and constantly take steps to improve their
satisfaction.

In the past 3 years, we employed persons belonging to 20 1 5 2,35 1,755
vulnerable groups (persons with disabilities, minorities,
persons older than 50 years etc.)

We offer solutions to employees regarding the balance 20 1 5 2,50 1,573
between life and work (for example, flexible working hours,
the ability to perform certain tasks from home instead of the
office, etc.).

We invest in human resource development by regularly 20 2 5 4,00 ,858
organizing trainings for employees and we care about
developing their skills, as well as their personal development.

Employees are expected to achieve real and attainable goals, 20 1 5 4,05 1,146
with adequate reward system.
Internal CSR - total 20 2 4 3,45 ,686

Source: Authors

Responsibility to customers represents a very important aspect of the business, which has
attracted the attention of many researchers in the field of tourism and hospitality. The results
of the study show that respondents rated the liability to customers with the high grades (Mean
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= 4,36), compared to other aspects, whereby the highest agreement is observed with
statement: “We provide clients with detailed information on the characteristics of the services
as well as guidance and terms of use” (Mean = 4,90), although other activities are not far
behind. This result might indicate the market orientation of tourist organizations and a high
level of awareness of the importance of customer satisfaction in the modern environment.
However, future studies should measure the attitudes of customers regarding the same
statements in order to derive more objective conclusion about this aspect of CSR.

Table 3 External CSR - Customers

N Min | Max | Mean | Std. Dev.

The quality and safety of the product / service is guaranteed by 20 1 5 4,25 1,251
using any of the international quality standards (1SO, HACCP,

etc.).

We provide clients with detailed information on the 20 4 5 4,90 ,308

characteristics of the product / service as well as guidance and
terms of use.

We maintain a long-term relationship with each client and we 20 1 5 4,00 1,124
regularly receive feedback.

Appeals and complaints made by clients are seriously considered | 20 3 5 4,70 ,571
and resolved in the short term.

We regularly measure customer satisfaction through specific 20 1 5 3,95 1,191
methods.

Customers - total 20 3 5 4,36 ,530

Source: Authors

Environmental protection reached an average score of 2,95, indicating a medium to low level
of this aspect of CSR in tourism and hospitality organizations. Although the companies tend
to adopt international standards in the field of environmental protection (Mean=3,15) and to
use the energy rationally (Mean=3,75), their effort in using recycled materials and investment
in other environmental protection activities could be improved.

Table 4 External CSR - Environmental protection

N | Min | Max | Mean | Std. Dev.
Our company has adopted at least one of the international | 20 1 5 3,15 1,755
standards in the field of environmental protection (1ISO14001
EMS, 1SO 14064 GHG, etc.).

We have taken measures to ensure the rational use of energy. 20 2 5 3,75 1,070
We have taken measures to reduce waste. 20 1 5 3,40 1,142
We use recycled materials. 20 1 5 2,20 1,361
In the past year we have participated in some of the actions | 20 1 5 2,25 1,517
aimed at protecting the environment.

Environmental protection - total 20 2 5 2,95 ,933

Source: Authors

The average score for responsibility towards the community is 3,66. This result indicates the
medium level of awareness about the importance of investment in various activities aimed at
improvements in the local community. In addition, the obtained data show the highest level of
investment in supporting sports (Mean = 4,50), immediately followed by humanitarian actions
(Mean = 4,45), while there is the lowest score for actions aimed at the poverty reduction
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(Mean = 2,65). As can be observed, there are chances for tourism and hospitality
organizations to improve their responsibility to community.

Table 5 External CSR - Community

N | Min | Max | Mean | Std. Dev.
In the past year our company has organized or participated in | 20 2 5 4,45 ,826
some of the humanitarian actions.
In the past year our company has organized or participated in | 20 1 5 3,40 1,847
some of the actions with the aim of contributing to culture.
In the past year our company has organized or participated in | 20 1 5 3,30 1,750
some of the actions with the aim of contributing to education.
In the past year our company has organized or participated in | 20 1 5 4,50 1,277
some of the actions with the aim of contributing to sport.
In the past year our company has organized or participated in | 20 1 5 2,65 1,496
some of the actions with the aim of contributing to poverty
reduction.
Community - total 20 1 5 3,66 1,010

Source: Authors

The degree of transparency or publication of information on CSR is low, with an average
score of 1,53, which indicates the absence of effort in this field, but also significant
opportunities for improvement. The application of international sustainability reporting
framework, defined by the world's leading organizations in the field of sustainability, Global
Reporting Initiative (Global Reporting Initiative - GRI) is estimated to 1,15, which is
extremely low. The respondents are not even familiar enough with the reporting system triple
bottom line (Mean=1,20), which contains guidelines or principles and standards for reporting
on economic, environmental and social performance and effects, as well as the appropriate
methods for their measurement. (Global Reporting Initiative,
https://www.globalreporting.org/Pages/default.aspx , 04.02.2016.). Somewhat better result
refers to the average mark 2,25 for the statement Our company publishes a report on all
aspect of CSR, which is still low, but slightly higher comparing to other statements in this
aspect of CSR.

Table 6 CSR disclosure

N | Min Max | Mean Std.Dev.
Our company publishes a report on all aspects of CSR. 20 1 5 2,25 1,333
Our company publishes a special report on the environmental | 20 1 3 1,50 ,688
protection.
We are familiar with the reporting system triple bottom line 20 1 3 1,20 ,523
and we apply it.
Our company applies GRI sustainability reporting framework. 20 1 3 1,15 ,489
CSR disclosure - total 20 1 3 1,53 ,561

Source: Authors

This aspect is important because previous research has shown that reporting on social
responsibility leads to multiple benefits for the company, such as the impact on the value and
financial performance (Carnevale et al. 2012).

In order to explore whether there are statistically significant differences in CSR aspects
between hotels and travel agencies, Mann Whitney U test for measuring the differences in
arithmetic means of two independent sub-samples is applied. This non-parametric test is
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chosen because the analysis showed that the variables do not follow a normal distribution, and
a sample is relatively small. The results showed no statistically significant difference (p>
0.05) with regard to CSR between the hotel and tourist agencies (Table 7).

Table 7 Mann Whitney U Test - Differences between hotels and tourist agencies

Internal CSR Customers | Environment | Community | CSR disclosure
Mann-Whitney U 42,500 49,000 35,000 29,500 47,500
Wilcoxon W 97,500 104,000 90,000 84,500 102,500
z -,571 -,077 -1,141 -1,560 -,196
p ,568 ,939 ,254 ,119 ,844

Source: Authors
5. SCIENTIFIC AND PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

The scientific contribution and originality of the work lies in highlighting the significance of
corporate social responsibility in the tourism and hospitality management, observing the
problem from a different perspective compared to the previous research. This way, the
existing theoretical knowledge in the field of tourism and hospitality, especially in terms of
social responsibility, is supplemented and substantiated with the relevant empirical evidence.
Also, the insights into most developed and underdeveloped CSR dimensions can serve
managers for directing their future activities, in order to further develop and promote CSR
practise, as a way to differentiate in the market and achieve better business results, but also as
a way of giving back to society.

6. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

The inevitable limitations of the study can be identified. First of all, the use of descriptive
indicators has its drawbacks, so obtained knowledge should be strengthened in future research
by using the more reliable statistical indicators. Another disadvantage stems from the
limitations of the survey, as a technique for data collection, primarily from the subjectivity of
respondents. As new knowledge always lead to new relevant questions, the results of this
study also encourage new ideas. In future research it would be interesting to analyze the
specific reasons why managers engage in some fields of social responsibilities and neglect
others and to investigate the influence of CSR activities in tourism and hospitality on various
organizational and financial performances. Since the sample was drawn from limited region,
the research could be extended in order to derive more general conclusions.

7. CONCLUSION

The theoretical part of the paper answered the basic aim of research, which refers to
emphasizing the importance of CSR in the tourism and hotel industry, while empirical study
contributed to reviewing the level of development of certain areas in the context of internal
and external CSR in hotels and travel agencies in Serbia.

The study showed that there are no significant differences in terms of engagement in the field
of CSR between hotels and travel agencies. The most developed aspects of CSR in domestic
tourism and hospitality industry refer to Customers and Community. It can be assumed that
investments in this areas are most profitable and lead to the most noticeable benefits for both
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hotels and the travel agencies. These findings are consistent with the results of some previous
studies (e.g. Inoue & Lee, 2011).

The results show a low level of investment in environmental protection, which is
characteristic of organizations in this sector due to various reasons that have also been
discussed in previous research (Chan, 2008). CSR disclosue is extremelly low and requires
more education and motivation of owners, managers and employees in tourism and
hospitality.
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ENTREPRENEURIAL ORIENTATION AND STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT
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Abstract: Entrepreneurial orientation has been built on #ssumption that it is possible to identify a
set of strategic processes representing foundafion all entrepreneurial initiatives in the
organization, including innovation, risk propensigutonomy and proactive behavior. In this paper
we argue that entrepreneurial orientation will rétsm enhanced competitiveness only if accompanied
with adequate support from strategic managemerd.rain idea of linking the strategic management
and entrepreneurship is an attempt to get moredhgh insight about value creation process and
attaining competitive advantage, when new businvesdgure inside of organization is established.
Hence, we elaborate on nature of entrepreneuridgermation concept and relation to strategic
managementprovide critical discussion, highlighting the cdamsnts and reflecting about possible
avenues for future research

Keywords. Entrepreneurship, Corporate Entrepreneurship, @®g&c management, Entrepreneurial
orientation

JEL Classfication; D21, M10, M13, L26

1. INTRODUCTION

The research of entrepreneurial activities in tihganization has significantly evolved in
recent decades. During eighties, according to dantimarrative, it was impossible to act
entrepreneurially inside bureaucratic organizatiostructures. In the nineties, due to
information technology revolution, numerous compartiave redefined business philosophy
and recognized the human resource management ad tireekey determinants of sustainable
competitive advantage. Subsequent years of dowmgsiaind restructuring have forced
companies to adjust organizational culture and an#®entrepreneurship and innovation as
key values. Beginning of twenty-first century is period of reassertion and definite
confirmation of the importance of entrepreneurinitiatives for achieving competitive
advantage. Even though there is certain level afedainty and risk about the potential
influence entrepreneurial activities might haveasganizational development, their absence
in a long run will most likely lead to deterioraticf competitive position. Organizations
embracing and encouraging entrepreneurial actsvitiea systematic manner gradually attain
substantial improvements. Internal, i.e. corpoemtiEepreneurship is regarded as a framework
for constant change and innovation in organizaticereating an effective response to
competitive challenges. Guth and Ginsberg (1990)inted out that “corporate
entrepreneurship involves two types of phenomeogorate venturing, defined as the birth
of new business within existing organization, anttategic renewal, referring to
transformation (or revitalization) of organizatiotmsough renewal of the key ideas on which
they were built."
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2 Faculty of Economics, University of Kragujevac, bi@kg.ac.rs
% Faculty of Economics, University of Kragujevadklic@kg.ac.rs



Entrepreneurial orientation has been built on gsumption that it is possible to identify a set
of strategic processes representing foundation albrentrepreneurial initiatives in the

organization, including innovation, risk propensitgutonomy and proactive behavior.

Proactive behavior and risk propensity directlyluahce the nature of innovation, either
through adaptation or generation (Perez-Luno, Wild, & Valle Cabrera, 2011). This is

highly relevant concept within the entrepreneurshim strategic management, and very
popular, too, with more than a one hundred resestraties conducted in last decade.

Topics such as innovation, growth, strategies,ass ventures management, organizational
transformation, are in the field of entrepreneysstbut strategic management as well;

therefore these two disciplines are in close imtéva. Strategic management is focused on
attaining and maintaining competitive advantageileMentrepreneurship is promoting search

for sources of competitive advantages through potsgiyprocesses and market innovations
(Kuratko & Audretsch, 2009). Both strategic managetrand entrepreneurship are devoted
to new ways of value creation that will shake cotitipe arena.

Considerable research efforts have been made iridlie of entrepreneurship, indicating
statistically relevant interdependence of entrepueial orientation and organizational
performances (Ireland & Webb, 2007; Barringer & &lorn, 1999; Covin & Slevin, 1986,
1989; Hult, Snow, & Kandemir, 2003; Wikilund, 1998/ikilund & Shepherd, 2003, 2005).
Significant research direction investigates the antpof entrepreneurial orientation on
organizational performances depending on type ratesiies, environmental turbulence, and
other moderators (Dess, Lumpkin & Covin, 1997; Bayer & Bluedorn, 1999; Covin, Green
& Slevin, 2006). Although most researchers clainatticompanies with entrepreneurial
orientation have enhanced performances, some aub®ieve that this interdependence is
moderate (Lumpkin & Dess, 1996; Zahra, 1991), wide of them found no connection
whatsoever (George, Wood, & Khan, 2001). Howeegehstantial research gap is still
present, previous studies do not have sufficiemtceptual foundation, lacking adequate
empirical evidence and verification, therefore liertresearch efforts are necessary (Pfeffer &
Sutton, 2006).

Therefore, we hypothesize that entrepreneurial ntateon will result in enhanced
competitiveness only if accompanied with adequatgsrt from strategic management. In
other words, if top managers provide systematioeragement for innovative and proactive
employees, in a long run this approach will stréeghmarket position and organizational
performance. This assumption has not been fullyiecafly corroborated, but it is intriguing
enough to be a starting point for our research.

This paper aims to contribute to entrepreneurskgpature in several ways. First, it aims to
shed new light on entrepreneurial orientation cphesd its’ main aspects. Second, deeper
insight in theoretical considerations based ontexdture review in the field is provided,
regarding the influence entrepreneurial corporatgative might have on strategic process.
Paper contributes by revealing new standpointsareding knowledge base and filling the
research gaps. Practical implications might be used guideline for managers and
practitioners aiming to take advantage of employeesrepreneurial potentials, providing
better understanding of this complex phenomenon.

The paper is structured as follows. Initially, weoyade theoretical explanation of mutual

interaction between entrepreneurship and strategitagement. Afterwards, we elaborate on
nature of entrepreneurial orientation concept aagsal influence entrepreneurial orientation
is having on strategic management.e Whrovide critical evaluation and discussion,
highlighting the constraints and reflecting aboosgibleavenues for future investigation
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2. ENTREPRENEURSHIP AND STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT -
COMPLEMENTARITY AND DISTINCTIONS

The main focus of strategic management is to hejprozation attain competitive advantage.
The favorable market position (Porter, 1985) ad aglvaluable resources, rare, difficult to
imitate or substitute (Barney, 1991) are the musjuently mentioned sources of sustainable
competitive advantage. Entrepreneurship, on therdtand, is more closely focused on the
innovation of products, processes and markets ypeitDougall, Covina, & Dalton, 2002;
Lumpkin & Dess, 1996; Sharma & Chrisman, 1999)ther identification and exploitation of
opportunities as the foundation for new value ¢ogatShane & Venkataraman, 2000).

Independent small entrepreneurs are effective emtitying opportunities, but far less
successful in building a sustainable competitiveitpmn. Large companies, conversely, have
a better chance in achieving competitive advanthgethey are less capable to identify new
trends and developments. Different companies h#fereht starting positions, but some of
the challenges they are facing on daily basis anencon. We can notice at least three points
of interaction between strategic management ance@m@neurship. The first one refers to
organizational performancesas the crucial dependent variable and the cemd@t of
research in both discipline€reating value and growtlis second factor, fully compatible
with achieved performances, reflecting the impdcemrepreneurial ventures on economy.
The last one is turbulent environment. Deregulatioglobalization, technological
discontinuities and changing preferences impose mewirements in terms of management
strategy and market re-positioning. Entreprenelwadivities inside the organization setting
should be addressed in a strategic manner. New eptued framework, strategic
entrepreneurshiphas been built through combination of differespects of entrepreneurship
and strategic management. Strategic entreprenpuishencompassing in the same time
seeking for new concepts, ideas and opportunitiesigh entrepreneurial activities, but also
exploring potential sources of competitive advaatdgough a strategic management process.
It is important to point out that both of those geeses are necessary for value creation,
neither one of them iper se enough. Entrepreneurship and strategic managemrent
complementary disciplines, but their domain is afiént (Ireland, Hitt, & Chirmont, 2003).
Each one of them has its own intellectual platfand scope, these are two independent
directions that interact and communicate. Figurshbws the interface between strategic
management and entrepreneurship. Large companmegitbitom entrepreneurship (A) (e.qg.
through corporate entrepreneurship), but also fretimategic management (C) (through
improved business performances and enhanced vatugh&reholders). Small and medium
companies as the result of entrepreneurial a@®iijB) have significant benefits from
strategic management (D), too, through the growith ianproved performances. Therefore,
entrepreneurs should be supported and encouragell anganizations, regardless of their
size.

The basic purpose of linking the strategic manageraed entrepreneurship is an attempt to
get more thorough insight how new value creatioocess is going on, when new business
venture inside of organization is set. Strategictregmeneurship involves taking
entrepreneurial activities with a strategic persipec Companies capable of identifying
opportunities, but unable to take advantage of tbemnderstand their potential for creating
value, are jeopardizing their own future prospe@snilarly, companies with currently
favorable competitive position, but without newadeare exposed to increased risk, possibly
leading to deterioration of previously created ea(lreland et al., 2003). Research studies
within small (Figure 1, D) or large business (C)fpenances resulting from strategic
entrepreneurship are insufficient, representingetioee propensive area for further research.
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Figure 1 The entrepreneurship-strategic management ineerfac

Source:Meyer, Neck, & Meeks, 2002, p. 34.
3. ENTREPRENEURIAL ORIENTATION

Entrepreneurial orientation refers to the orgamiretl processes, activities and decisions
leading to new venture creation (Lumpkin & Dess9@)9 While new venture reflects the
contentof entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial orientatiescdbes theprocessof business
creation. It refers to strategy formulation apptoapplied by key decision-makers (Rauch,
Wikilund, Lumpkin, & Frese, 2009), based on theremteneurial potential within the
organization. The entrepreneurial orientation cphcenables organizations to be alert,
promptly reacting to change in demand/technologgnsing the market trends, identifying
opportunities and launching new ventures (Lumpgiogliser, & Schneider, 2009).

Entrepreneurship is traditionally perceived asratividual initiative leading to development
of new business, positively affecting economic giownd new jobs creation. Relatively
recently the focus shifted toward corporate entrepurship as a mean of growth and strategic
renewal, initiated by employees or business unithimv established companies (Guth &
Ginsberg, 1990). Even though entrepreneurial cateart partially corresponded to the
traditional perception of entrepreneursadter egoof the company, but it is at a same time
more comprehensive because it describes the eatreymial processes on the level of entire
organization. This is a strategic approach withcemtual domain covering not only activities,
but also the behavior and attitudes of top managéme

Numerous researchers have embraced an approadhablyigdefined by Miller (1983),
analyzing entrepreneurial organizations performanocefriendly and hostile environment.
"Entrepreneurial strategic attitude" was measured scale ranking the companies as a more
or less entrepreneurial, depending ionovation, risk propensityand proactive behavior
(Miller, 1983; Covin & Slevin, 1989). Over the ysarconsiderable knowledge regarding the
entrepreneurial orientation has been accumulagskdon measuring instrument also known
as "Miler/Covin and Slevin scale". Aside from exigt three, the scale has been extended
with two more dimensions, autonomy and competitiggressiveness (Lumpkin & Dess,
1996). However, the research studies have beesddonn initial three dimensions.

Schumpeter was the first one emphasizing the irapoé of innovativeness for
entrepreneurship, describing economic process eftiee destruction, based on new
combinations of resources accelerating the evalutdd economy (Schumpeter, 1934).
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Innovativeness reflects the willingness of the argation to make a detour from existing
practices and support the development of new id@gserimentation and creative processes
that might lead to new products, services or teldgyimprovements. Until recently, the
focus was mainly on technology innovation and adednproduction processes, while more
recently increased attention is paid to social wation.

The main factor distinguishing entrepreneurs franpleyees willingness to risk their job, in
other wordsrisk propensity(Cantillon, 1734). Business activities are closalated to risk,
regardless if it is a relatively safe investmentgovernment bonds or bank deposits, up to
highly risky investments in new ventures. Risk mogity is traditionally attributed to
individuals, not to organizations. The result wdee tdiscrepancy between individual
employees willing to and resistant organizatiord @ice versa, risk-taking organizations with
individuals unwilling to initiate or implement inmative ideas (Lumpkin & Dess, 1996).

Autonomy provides the freedom, flexibility and opportunitg initiate entrepreneurial
activities (Lumpkin et al., 2009). It is the paramo for taking advantage of unutilized
potentials of organization, identifying opportuegi outside the core competence and new
venture development. Entrepreneurial initiatives fiequently driven by employees acting
autonomously in relation to the formal subordinatsystem, often positioned on lower levels
of hierarchy. They represent new energy and proWidsh impetus by problem solving
beyond the cognitive and organizational patternsga@izations must engage more to
encourage these efforts, providing more space daodiag potential entrepreneurs to step
outside of the given organizational framework anheé testablished norms. Independent
thinking and free action arspiritus moven®f new value creation (Burgelman, 2001). If
corporate entrepreneurship is integral part ofrifaen strategy, entrepreneurial behavior and
autonomous actions are encouraged by the highesageaal levels. This means that the
essential determinant of entrepreneurial orientatiithe organization is not only a number of
new products/markets, but the adoption of entreqaureship as style of doing business
internally.

Autonomous strategic behavior is equivalent toegrgneurship in organization, as it referrs
to new combinations of available resources. ltesrfsom the current structural context and at
the operational level represents the base for ahdimovation (Burgelman, 1983a, 1983b).
Autonomy is often viewed as a hierarchical-type starction, that is, different levels or
degrees of autonomy depending on the types ofrectio decisions. It is possible to identify
so-called.structural autonomy ("autonomy of means") (Bouchard, 2008gbéing problem
solving with self-determined means (within givesaerce constraints). By contrastrategic
autonomy ("autonomy of goals") (Bouchard, 2002¢refto the extent to which a group has
control over ends, i.e., its goals. It enables aj@ns outside normal organizational
constraints in addressing what it will accomplisid ehow it will achieve its objectives.
Viewing autonomy on a hierarchical scale, strategitonomy would possess a superior (or
higher) position relative to structural autonomyutédnomy from the entrepreneurial
orientation perspective refers primarily to strategutonomy. The autonomy degree is
positively correlated with knowledge creation, sfam and application. As autonomy
becomes more strategic, ways of sharing and exehafhdknowledge multiply, fostering
entrepreneurial behavior and orientation. Insugfitiresearch attention has been payed so far
to autonomy, percieved as a prerequisite, but noessential ingredient of entrepreneurial
behavior.

Proactive bahaviorefers to action in line with the perceived needsarket changes. Being
proactive means searching for new opportunities emor less distant from the core
competence, pioneering in the new products laugchas well as a strategic withdrawing
from declining markets. Entrepreneurial organizatstrives to be a leader, not a follower of
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the market (Lumpkin & Dess, 1996). Lieberman andniomery (1988) have pointed out
the advantage gained by the pioneers, by takingradge of the information asymmetry in
the market, to make valuable contributions andbdéistacustomer loyalty. Proactive behavior
is closely (co)related with innovation, especialligen it comes to new product launching.

4. INTERDEPENDENCE OF ENTREPRENEURIAL ORIENTATION AND
STRATEGIC PROCESS

Entrepreneurial orientation is reversibly and irmsaply interdependent with the strategic
process, representing its complementary part, hetresult. The strategic orientation is
dependent on innovation and organizational learrasgthe common points of both strategic
management and entrepreneurshHimovating should become a basis for a systematic
strategy renewal, and innovation should rely ondbee competence, directly affecting the
competitive advantage (Ireland, Hitt, Camp, & Sextd001). Entrepreneurial activities are
necessary to promote creativity and spontaneus vimhaand strategic to provide a
framework for these activities (Ireland et al., 2D(Entrepreneurially oriented companies act
proactively, intensively scanning environment aldstantly processing a large amount of
information. Thus, entrepreneurial orientation egfe knowledge acquisition domains
through exploitation and experimentation, and bexothe starting point fayrganizational
learning The more company gets entrepreneurial, the nmmlenés to promotion of learning
and sharing a common vision (Wang, 2008). Entreqargal organizations learn much faster
and better than others, partly because their adetisiaking process is founded on extensive
knowledge base (Covin et al., 2006). Recent rebesdirows that entrepreneurial orientation is
positively correlated with experimental learningit lan inverse U-shaped relationship with
acquisitive learning has been identified (ZhaoHoon Lee, Bo & Chen, 2011).

The type of organizational structure is matchethtomain strategy. If entrepreneurship and
innovations are embraced as strategic directionsrganization than structure should be
appropriate. Open communication channels and it process information specific to
organic organizational structure, contribute to amging the knowledge base as the
foundation for decision making process. Relyingiotuition andsoft information enables
management to act spontaneously, demonstrate tendenentrepreneurial initiatives and
improve capability of strategy adaptation. In castr autocratic management style is
characteristic for mechanistic structure, embodiedstrict adherence to procedures and
control mechanisms. These companies exhibit a $tigtiegic reactivity and entrepreneurial
orientation only if management decides to promot®vation and the necessity of embracing
the change (Green, Covin, & Slevin, 2008).

Covin and Miles (2007) argue that companies wittregmeneurship embedded in main
strategy will most likely outperform other orgartioas, in the long run. Organizations
strategically implementing corporate entreprenaprstend to have clearly defined
entrepreneurial goals. Higher importance is attddbestrategic in regard to financial aspects
of the new venture, since the financial projectjaithough significant, are highly uncertain,
while the strategic aspects, e.g. capacity buildisiglls, technology are much easier to
predict. Strategies that favor innovation and neadpct development are associated with
entrepreneurial orientation, while strategies basedosts and incremental improvements are
typical for established organizations striving t@intain a competitive advantage (Dess,
Lumpkin, & McGee, 1999). Porter claims that entegf@urial orientation is more closely
related to differentiation, then costs leaders@igyanic structure corresponds with innovative
differentiation; marketing emphasis is on new pridhigh quality, very high R & D and
production flexibility. Porter argues that diffetextion requires creativity, engineering and
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marketing skills, while organizations implementiag costs leadership, mostly machine
bureaucracy type of structure, highlight controfpgess skills, efficient distribution and
structured set of organizational skills.

Burgelman (1984) states that the theory of typ@s@if organizations and of strategic process
can be applied to the combination of corporateepnéneurship and strategic management.
Entrepreneurship represents a key dimension fossiflang ventures todefenders,
prospectors, analyzeendreactors(Table 1, Miles i Snow, 1978).

Table 1 Types of organizations

Type of organization Main Features

- Narrow product/market domain

- Top managers are product experts

- Focus on improving efficacy of existing operations

- Do not search for the external opportunities

- Continually search for the new opportunities

- Creators of change for competitors

- Innovations-oriented

- Underestimate the efficiency of exixting operations and resources

- Operate in both types of product/market domains: proactive and stable
- Require top-managers' ability to perform in strategies in different models
- Lack of consistent strategy-structure relationship

REACTORS - Make adjustments only under environmental pressure

DEFENDERS

PROSPECTORS

ANALYZERS

- Unable to react effectively to the changes

Source:Miles, & Snow, 1978

Defendersseek to create a stable business domain by defgedisting products/markets and
making ongoing progress through reliability andoefty of existing operation®rospectors
take an active approach scaning the environment emdinually looking for new
products/markets opportunitieAnalyzersare systematically trying to be more innovative
then defenders, but they are more cautious andctsee In reality, this is the most
complicated strategy for implementation, as it ines a dual focus, increasing the production
efficiency and simultaneous new products/marketgeld@ment. It is believed that the
prospectors and the defendors are two extremels,amilysts in betweeReactorshave the
lowest ranking in terms of entrepreneurial oriéotat mainly because this is the last option
when all three previously mentioned strategies. falhe main difference comparing to
defendors and analyzers is the type of organizatiearning they rely on. They havily invest
in new technologies, ideas, markets, so they agagad in generative learning and act as
industry pioneers. Defendors mostly rely on adaptiearning, focused on existing
products/markets within current business domairalysts are in the middle, often described
as imitators, but when the chance arises they npgitede prospectors. Thus, the impact
entrepreneurial orientation might have on orgarnal performance through organizational
learning is significantly influenced by the strategrientation, with strongest interdependence
in the most proactive companies (Wang, 2008).

5. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

There is no sufficient conceptual nor theoreticalnidation for studying entrepreneurship
within the organizational setting. Both strategiamagement and entrepreneurship have a
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unique evolution and represent dynamic fields suiigle to change and adaptation to a
turbulent competitive environment. Research in tieédd of entrepreneurship have been
traditionally identified with small and medium-sizewhile strategic management was
focused predominantly on large companies, leaiogdands of new ventures founded every
year within organizational context academicallyleetgd. The quest for new opportunities is
raising a series of issues on the theoretical aadtipal level, but limited knowledge is

making the creation of internal environment favéedor entrepreneurial initiative even more
challenging.

Innovativeness, risk propensity and proactive bihmaare significant dimensions of
entrepreneurial orientation, but not the only ddesides, this approach is not comprehensive
enough to explain other types of entrepreneuridiab®r. Entrepreneurs may be very
cautious and risk-averse depending on circumstariResearchers have not been able to
propose so far effective methodology for managiis§g of starting a new venture within
organization, therefore it remains prospective dmafuture research. Another thing is,
sometimes companies can achieve more by imitattiger than innovating. Entering new
market may be the result of not so risky acquisitim terms of innovation. Attempts to
restrict entrepreneurial behavior to anecdotal gptasmwhen all three dimensions are high,
leave out of the sight a number of other optionsotal of five dimensions the entrepreneurial
orientation is based on may have different comimnat depending on the opportunities
organization is seeking (Lumpkin & Dess, 1996)other words they can vary independently
of each other, depending on the context.

Recent research studies (Wales, Monsen & McKel2& 1) explore whether or not an
entrepreneurial orientation can be approached rdiffey in organizations and how. Until
now, researchers assumed that, as an organizagbeabmenon, entrepreneurial orientation
equally permeates all hierarchical levels and dmgdional units, without proper empirical
verification corroborating this view. From vertiqagrspective, the researchers raise the issue
of the employees’ entrepreneurial contribution, buén though entrepreneurial orientation
can not be used for individual level analysis. Fbis purpose parameters have been
developed in cognitive psychology. Future studie®rmdrepreneurial orientation will focus
not only vertically and horizontally, but also thgh different stages of organizational
development.

6. CONCLUSION

Entrepreneurship is increasingly acknowledged a®féettive way of exploitation of the
internal organizational potentials and buildinguatainable competitive position in the global
market. Adoption of entrepreneurial orientationoisgoing process Yyielding results in the
foreseeable future, overwhelmed by a number of imicéies. Therefore, the entrepreneurial
orientation should be reflected through the visiand strategic processes inside the
organization.
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THE PRELIMINARY RESEARCH ON INTRINSIC MOTIVATION: COMPARISON
BETWEEN PRIVATE AND PUBLIC SECTOR EMPLOYEES
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Abstract: Improving productivity, while realizing cost efficiency reduces the use of motivational
instruments that are based on financial incentives. In such circumstances, HR managers use
instruments to encourage intrinsic motivation of employees. This is of particular importance for the
public sector in the Republic of Serbia in which employees' wages are at the same level for several
years. The aim of the paper is to identify differences in internal motivation among employees in the
private sector and public sector employees. In relation to the testimony of the observed results of the
research showed that there is a statistically significant difference in all items except the domain of
influence success or failure at work to private life. The practical implications of this study suggest the
need for adaptation of motivational instruments depending on whether they are employed in the
private or public sector.

Keywords: Intrinsic Motivation, Public Sector, Serbia
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1. INTRODUCTION

Foreign direct investment realized in Serbia in the past few years in the real sector is
significantly associated with two important features: 1) investment in labor-intensive
production, which mainly meant hiring employees with skills and competences appropriate to
manual labor, and to a lesser extent engaging talents with specific knowledge; and 2)
relatively low compensation for this kind of work, generally not higher than the official
average at the republic level. Such a tendency has been largely followed by domestic
companies that build their competitive advantage through price competitiveness, which
creates increased pressure on the minimization of all costs, including costs relating to labor.
Bearing in mind the dominance of companies on the domestic market and the impossibility of
a rapid change of the business model in the short term in a given environment, the need to
analyze the factors affecting motivation of employees arose.

Companies use variety of tangible and intangible factors to stimulate human behavior towards
a certain goal, i.e. direct it towards achieving a satisfactory level of work performance. The
existence of certain visible rewards, such as salary and numerous compensation schemes,
certainly motivate people towards achieving certain objectives, but achieving long-term
motivation in the case of limited financial resources, and, therefore, long-term viability and
stability of the organization, requires the use of certain intangible incentives, in order to
develop intrinsic motivation in employees.

It is believed that a person is motivated from the inside if there is a sense of personal
satisfaction, resulting from the performance of an activity, not because of some tangible
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reward (Deci, 1971). Taking into account the above, the organization can use appropriate
combination of intangible factors, such as the provision of additional training, giving
recognition and feedback, employee involvement in decision-making, as well as appropriate
design of tasks to make them more challenging, to create such a working environment that
will positively affect psychological satisfaction and the level of intrinsic motivation of people.
It is believed that employees in the public sector are characterized by a higher level of
intrinsic motivation (Lewis and Frank, 2002) compared to employees in the private sector,
who are primarily driven by some visible, primarily financial rewards. This level of
motivation is important because the results of certain jobs in the public sector are difficult to
measure and, therefore, reward, but also due to the fact that certain visible rewards are at a
low level, insufficient for proper initiation of human behavior towards achievement of the
desired level of performance.

The process of globalization involved the Republic of Serbia in the contemporary global
economic activity, so that bad results, growing problems, and decline in performance in the
private and public sectors are typical for Serbia as well. Given the importance of intrinsic
motivation to achieve results, inadequate compensation, and lack of budget funds, employers
and public administration must have adequate awards and mechanisms to raise the level of
intrinsic motivation of their employees, to thereby achieve cost-efficiency and improve
productivity. That type of motivation will produce positive effects on job satisfaction and,
therefore, performance, at the same time reducing employees’ need to leave the organization
(Alonso and Lewis, 2001).

The main objective of this study is to determine the degree of intrinsic motivation of
employees in public and private companies operating on the territory of the Republic of
Serbia. The importance of the work is reflected in the fact that so far no study of this type has
been conducted on the territory of Serbia, so that theoretical and practical results obtained can
serve as a basis for further research, but also as practical ideas that companies can apply to
improve motivation of employees, as well as business performance.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Public sector in most countries is a key economic actor, since it provides a wide range of
products, services, regulates economic activity of companies and households, and distributes
large amounts of revenue generated by national policies (Tonin and Vlassopoulos, 2015).
Proceeding from the above, but also from the fact that human resources are a key source of
competitive advantage of an organization, employees in the public sector can have a big
impact on the daily lives of people, so it is, therefore, reasonable to expect that they will do
their job well (Palma and Sepe, 2016).

Successful performance of activities of public interest implies adequate human resource
management strategy, with particular emphasis on the motivation of employees. There is a
large number of approaches to motivation, but the focus is mainly on intrinsic motivation,
relating to the performance of those activities that are inherently interesting and create
satisfaction, and extrinsic motivation, relating to the performance of certain tasks leading to a
certain reward (Ryan and Deci, 2000). Intrinsic motivation is associated with psychological
rewards that people get from the task at hand, but also with making better decisions in work
and a number of factors, such as cooperation, job satisfaction, and good results (Tekin and
Erturk, 2014).

Numerous studies have shown that employees in the public sector, compared with employees
in the private sector, are characterized by higher level of intrinsic motivation in the workplace
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(Cowley and Smith, 2014). Intrinsic motivation of employees in the public sector is often
determined by altruism, i.e. people’s needs to help others, prosocial motives (Bozeman and
Su, 2014), content of work, responsibility, learning possibility, desire to participate in the
decisions of public importance, need to realize power (Raudeliiniene and Meidute-
Kavaliauskiené, 2014), need to serve people and country (Liu et al. 2012), or, simply,
activities that provide people with a sense of inner satisfaction (Lindenberg, 2001). This level
of motivation is particularly important for the provision of certain public services, such as
health and education, where individual efforts of people are difficult to measure and reward
(Francois and Vlassopoulos, 2008).

Working in the public sector is often seen as a calling, a sense of responsibility, and less as a
job, since it is about providing services to the society, so that the importance of work and
pleasure arising from proper performance of work makes employees in the public sector
primarily motivated intrinsically (Houston, 2000). These employees are more prone to
compassion, equality, justice, need to help others (Raudeliiniene and Meidute-
Kavaliauskiené, 2014), civic duty, sacrifice, etc. Proceeding from the above, it can be said
that the motivation of employees in the public sector is a multidimensional structure,
associated with three motives: instrumental, value-oriented, and identification motives (Kim
and Vandanebeele, 2010). Instrumental motives refer to all the reasons why someone wants to
work in the public sector, while identification motives apply to all entities that employees
need to serve: an individual, organization, local government, and so on. Finally, value-
oriented motives include everything that a person receives at work in the public sector, and
this is, starting from the concept of intrinsic motivation, primarily the sense of fulfillment and
personal satisfaction resulting from job performance.

Unlike employees in the public sector, characterized by a higher level of ethics and intrinsic
motivation, employees in the private sector are in most cases triggered by some extrinsic, i.e.
visible motivators. Employees in private organizations place greater emphasis on job security,
work efficiency, and external rewards, such as higher salary, status, promotion, and humerous
other benefits (Houston, 2000).

Although intrinsic motivation, as an endogenous part of human connection with the task, is an
important form of human motivation, there are still tasks that do not provide motivation from
the inside, such as some jobs in private and profit-oriented organizations. Certain extrinsic
motivators, such as, for example, salary and promotion, are deliberately based on the achieved
performance, in order to know whether employee deserves them (Pate, 1978) and to make
them invest higher level of effort. It is clear, of course, that, in the private sphere, there are
jobs that motivate from the inside. Such jobs are characterized by challenge, responsibility,
decision-making ability, getting feedback, learning possibility, as well as adequate salary and
adequate visible rewards. In other words, it is likely that a combination of intrinsic and
extrinsic motivation is most common in practice (Amabile, 1993). Cowley and Smith (2014)
find that employees in the public and private sectors share interest in salary, as an extrinsic
motivator.

Studies have shown that intrinsic motivation produces a large number of positive effects, both
for the individual and for the organization. As a product of intrinsic motivation, employees
are loyal to the company and achieve higher levels of productivity (Bhuvanaiah and Ray,
2015), have greater job satisfaction (Raza et al., 2015), better communication with colleagues
(Quigley and Timon, 2006), which ultimately leads to better results throughout the
organization. Bearing in mind the importance of public services to society in a country, as
well as the noticeable trend of decreasing efficiency in the public sector over the past few
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years (Raudeli niene and Meidute-Kavaliauskiené, 2014), jobs in the public sector should be
designed to encourage intrinsic motivation of employees and, thus, achieve multiple benefits.

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The given theoretical framework provides a starting point to explore the degree of motivation
of employees in the public and private sectors. The study involved employees in private and
public companies in the Republic of Serbia, with the full sample consisting of 59 respondents.
Respondents were randomly selected, regardless of the characteristics of the position they
occupy in a given organization. The selected organizations, according to owners, i.e.
founders, achieved satisfactory business performance.

Data collection among employees was conducted using “face-to-face” interviews, of an
average duration of 15 minutes. Of the total number of employees who participated in the
study, there were no invalid questionnaires, so the statistical data processing and analysis
included 59 questionnaires, i.e. employees. The sample included 30 respondents employed in
the public sector, while the remaining respondents, or, more precisely, 29 of them, were
employed in the private sector. Approximately the same ratio of respondents in the public and
private sectors allowed for mutual comparability of results obtained.

By analyzing the structure of the sample, it was found that there were: 1) 53% of men, 2) 47%
of women. In terms of age, the total sample consisted of: 1) 15% of employees aged 20 to 30
years, 2) 32% of employees aged 31 to 40 years, 3) 27% of employees aged 41 to 50 years, 4)
25% employees over 51 years. In addition, the data obtained on years of service in the current
organization pointed to: 1) 19% with up to 2 years of service, 2) 14% of those with work
experience of 2 to 5 years, 3) 39% with 5 to 15 years of service, 4) 29% of those with work
experience over 15 years. Bearing in mind the level of education of employees, it is possible
to structure the sample as follows: 1) 32% of those with primary or secondary education, 2)
14% of respondents had college education or some form of specialization, 3) 54% of
respondents completed university education. Based on employment contract of respondents in
the analyzed organizations, the sample consists of: 1) 83% of those employed on a permanent
basis, 2) 15% of those employed on a fixed-term basis, 3) 2% of temporary employees. The
study included executive managers, sales staff, professional staff, external associates, and
managers or heads of organizational units that are well acquainted with the subject of
research.

The questionnaire, which was specifically designed for this research, included questions in the
form of statements with a five-point Likert scale of (dis)agreement. The aim of questions thus
posed was to determine the attitudes of employees and their motivation with the help of
statements constructed to adequately cover different types of factors relevant to the
motivation of employees.

Statistical analysis used SPSS 13 software package.
4. FINDINGS

In order to determine whether there is a difference in intrinsic motivation of employees in the
private and public sector, statements relating to intrinsic motivation were used, which are
presented in the following text:
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IMO: Intrinsic motivation
IMO 1 If you achieve above-average work performance, you have the possibility to improve and make
progress.
IMO 2 Organization sufficiently invests in education and training of employees.
IMO 3 Organization in which you work gives you a sense of security.
IMO 4 There is room for the expression of creativity and innovation.
IMO 5 You are familiar with the values, goals, mission, and vision of the organization.
IMO 6 At your disposal is enough time to perform the tasks.
IMO 7 Work tasks and responsibilities are precisely and clearly defined.
IMO 8 Line manager takes care of your needs and helps you solve problems.
IMO 9 Success/failure at work affects your private life.
IMO 10 You regularly receive accolades from your superior for the results achieved.

In order to check the reliability of the above statements, Cronbach’s alpha coefficient was
calculated. The obtained value of 0.907 indicates a high level of internal consistency of those
statements.

Table 1 Cronbach’s alpha coefficient

Items Cronbach’s alpha coefficient of 0.907 Mean Stand. dev.
IMO 1 If you achieve above-average work performance, you have the 3.10 1.637
possibility to improve and make progress.
IMO 2 Organization sufficiently invests in education and training of 3.73 1.243
employees.
3.71 1.218
IMO 3 Organization in which you work gives you a sense of security.
3.29 1.451
IMO 4 There is room for the expression of creativity and innovation.
IMO 5 You are familiar with the values, goals, mission, and vision of the 3.88 1.190
organization.
IMO 6 At your disposal is enough time to perform the tasks. 3.64 1.283
3.58
IMO 7 Work tasks and responsibilities are precisely and clearly defined. 1.192
IMO 8 Line manager takes care of your needs and helps you solve 4.00 1174
problems.
IMO 9 Success/failure at work affects your private life. 3.49 1.369
IMO10 You' regularly receive accolades from your superior for the results 578 1.415
achieved.

Source: Authors’ research

In order to test the existence of differences in the level of intrinsic motivation among
employees in the public and private sectors, t test statistics was calculated.

The test results show that there is a statistically significant difference in the degree of intrinsic
motivation among employees in public and private companies in almost all observed
statements. A statistically significant difference in the degree of intrinsic motivation is not
there only for elements that relate to the impact of success or failure at work on the private
life of the employee.
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Table 2 Results of t test of degree of intrinsic motivation of employees
in public and private companies

Items Mean difference P value
IMO 1 1.970 0.000%**
IMO 2 1.076 0.001***
IMO 3 1.177 0.000%**
IMO 4 1.739 0.000%**
IMO 5 1.454 0.000%**
IMO 6 1.039 0.001%**
IMO 7 0.630 0.041**
IMO 8 0.610 0.045**
IMO 9 -0.085 0.814
IMO10 1.315 0.000***
Note: p<0,001***; p<0,05**;p<0,1*

Source: Authors’ research
5. CONCLUSION

In conditions of the dynamic environment, in which the influences of various interest groups
and factors intersect, the concept of human resource management gets a completely different
dimension, which is why employees are an essential resource that is the most difficult to
manage. In the long term, employees with their knowledge and skills are a tool for achieving
competitive advantage, so the need arises to invest efforts to adequately direct employees
towards the fulfillment of their tasks.

For years it has been known that human activity does not manifest itself on its own, but as a
result of intrinsic motives and external stimuli. The challenge facing modern organizations is
to determine the optimal motivation strategy and dominant factors that stand for essential
drivers of appropriate employee engagement at given positions. Starting from the underlying
hypotheses and based on the research conducted, it is possible to draw conclusions about the
motivation of employees in the public and private sectors in the Republic of Serbia.

Data obtained by interviewing 59 respondents showed that there is a statistically significant
difference in the degree of intrinsic motivation of employees in the public and private sectors.
The instruments used for the purpose of motivating employees clearly vary when analyzing
current practice in these two sectors, which confirms the often opposing views of employees
on motivation in a given workplace.

Justification for the absence of statistically significant differences when analyzing the
problems of the impact of duties on the private lives of employees can be found in features of
our national culture. Commonly recorded impact of business success or failure on the family
atmosphere may be the reason for not accepting challenging and stressful work tasks, for
whose inadequate performance rest of the family suffers. Such a mood of our citizens can be
seen in both the private and the public sector.

In addition, the obtained results can be used as a guide in improving organizational
performance of the public sector in the Republic of Serbia. Management is given the
recommendation to make efforts to create a suitable environment for competence
improvement and development of employees, as well as appropriate ground to encourage
creativity and innovation in solving tasks. At the same time, one must not omit clear
definition of tasks and the time span in which it is necessary to realize them. The results
presented and suggestions given may serve to create a suitable atmosphere that will contribute
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to raising customer satisfaction, and, therefore, the motivation of employees, which will
inevitably have a positive impact on the business success of the organization.
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ENTEPRISE PROFITABILITY ASSESSMENT IN LOCAL ECONOMY
Violeta Domanovié*

Abstract: In market economy, profit is the comprehensive and the most important indicator of
company'’s efficiency. A successful performance system is a set of performance measures that provides
a company with useful information in order to manage the activities undertaken in the company. The
information retrieved from the performance measurement systems must in turn be accurate, relevant,
timely accessible for the persons who need it. Furthermore, performance measures must also be
designed to reflect the most important factors influencing the efficiency of the different processes that
could be found in the company. Designing of such a performance measurement system is a difficult
task and what can be considered as the optimal performance measurement system will also differ from
case to case. The paper is focused on financial measures and especially profitability measures. The
paper investigates whether the private enterprises in local economy, which are the most successful
regarding the net income in previous period, have been also successful regarding the return on assets
(ROA) and return on equity (ROE) in the last three-year period. The research results show that it is
not a case.

Keywords: profitability, return on assets, return on equity, private enterprises, local economy.
JEL Classification: M10, M21

1. INTRODUCTION

In today's business environment, which can be described as complex, heterogeneous, dynamic
and uncertain and unpredictable, those companies that generate growth and development
could survive. This means, that companies must simultaneously be both effective and
efficient. The effectiveness and efficiency are inevitable assumptions of growth and
development of the company. In contemporary literature in economics and management, it is
becoming increasingly used the term performance of the company. The term performance is
multidimensional and expanding the effectiveness and efficiency of the company. Verweire,
K. and L. Van Den Berghe believe that organizational performance is defined as the value that
an organization makes using the productive assets in comparison to the value that the owners
expect to get (Verweire & Van Den Berghe, 2004).

Namely, it is possible to speak about the performance of effectiveness and efficiency, as well.
Accrued costs (expenses), for example, are one feature of the process of resource use - the so-
called the performance of investments. From the process of utilization of resources, as a result
there are some use value - products and services. The volume of production, the volume of
services provided, sales volume, revenue and profit, are natural and financial results (effects)
resulting from the process of resource use. It is wrong to identify with the performance results
of the company. Results (effects, impacts) in qualitative and quantitative terms use the
performance of resource. In addition, the concept of performance of resource use is complex
and involves a wide complex of other economic performances, between which are
performance effectiveness and efficiency of resource use. Thus, a term performance is the
broader concept than effectiveness and efficiency.

Namely, it is possible to define them in financial terms (e.g. the market value, profitability),
operational (efficiency, effectiveness, the number of output, quality of products or services,
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etc.), marketing (e.g. customer satisfaction, the number of customers retained for a certain
period) and other (Verweire & Van Den Berghe, 2004, 6).

The quality of the enterprise economy, though last, is not the least important component in the
system of enterprise economy. On the contrary, all of the aforementioned components are
studied and measured in the function of measuring the quality of enterprise economy.
Enterprise economy quality is a control instrument of the degree of application of economic
principles and indicates whether and to what extent the company is complied with economic
principles in its transformation process. True, the concept of quality economy enterprises can
be used for different purposes and with different meanings. This is due primarily to
differences in the respective definitions of phenomena and processes whose quality is
determined by differences in essence of the same concept (Domanovi¢, 2009, 69-70).

Quantitative expression of the quality of the economy is business success (Grozdanovi¢ &
Sekuli¢, 2006, 33). Business success is contained in the relationship between the results
achieved and the investments made. However, as the results and investments are
heterogeneous, hence the partial expressions were derived. These partial expressions compare
homogenous terms of results with homogeneous terms of investment which provides a clearer
insight into the quality of the enterprise economy. These partial expressions are: productivity,
economy and profitability.

Profitability is the last, but the most important expression of the efficiency and it includes all
components and factors influencing the productivity and economy, as well. Thus, the subject
of the research is the profitability of the selected private enterprises in local economy. The
basic research goal is to examine whether the most successful enterprises concerning one
profitability measure, could be also the most successful enterprises concerning some other
profitability measures. Hence, the starting hypothesis is the most successful enterprises
concerning the net income would be the most successful enterprises concerning the return on
assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE).

The paper is structured in the following sections. In the first next section, there is a theoretical
background on performance measurement, generally, and profitability measures, especially.
Then, research materials and methods have been explained. In the next one, the results are
presented and discussed. In the last section, the conclusions are finally derived, where is taken
the validity of the starting hypothesis. Also, there are highlighted the research limitations and
proposed the direction of future research.

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Performance measurement and performance management have been the actual and
widespread research area in the field of business economics and management and
management accounting for more than two decades. There have been numerous discussions
among researchers and practitioners in domestic and foreign literature, as well. Generally,
each business activity and business process has impact on some kind of company’s
profitability. In market economy, profit is the comprehensive and the most important indicator
of company’s efficiency.

Kennerly & Neely (2003) considered the strategic performance measurement, which could be
defined as a system of measurement and reporting, which quantifies the degree at which
managers achieve defined aims. Performance measurement implies the fortification of
responsibilities, making of decision on improvement and alignment of operation activities and
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resources with the strategic aims. The planned activities would be understood better and there
would be a clear communication of the expectations at all organisational levels.

The very important issue is what kind of performance system might be considered as a
successful one in a contemporary business environment (Paranjape, B., Rossiter, M., Pantano,
V., 2006). Performance measures must be designed to reflect the most important factors
influencing the productivity of the different processes that can be found in the company.
Designing of such a performance measurement system is a difficult task and what can be
considered as the optimal performance measurement system will also differ from case to case
(Tangen, 2005).

Performance measurement systems would differ from one company to the other, depending
on their specific and unique needs. Also, performance measurement has been evolving
throughout its history respecting not just the needs of a specific company but also specific
features of the business environment (Taticchi et al, 2010). Tangen (2005) classified
performance measurement models into the following groups: traditional performance
measures, such as ROI, ROE, cash flow and labour productivity; multidimensional
performance measurement models that include financial and non-financial measures, as well,
and the most advanced models, which consider the needs from all relevant stakeholders.

In the modern business environment, traditional measures of profitability are becoming
inadequate for assessing corporate strategy. Despite numerous criticisms of traditional
accounting criteria, it still has - and will have - a central role in the life of the company.
Whatever their limitations, they are too associated with legal and regulatory side of the
business to be completely replaced with new approaches. Depending on whether the
profitability is measured at the company level, business activities, organizational units with
the status of profit centres, individual products, groups of products, there are profitability
measures of enterprises, business activities, division or factories, products or product lines,
respectively ( Pokrajci¢ 2002, 347).

The most commonly used indicators of the viability of this approach are (Drake & Fabozzi,
2012, 122-123):

« Operating return on assets as the ratio of operating income to assets and results from
the enterprise’s investment in total assets. This profitability measure is useful for
comparing enterprises’ profitability when they are in the same line of business.

« Return on assets (ROA) as the ration of net income and total assets.’
« Return on equity (ROE) as the ratio of net income to shareholders’ equity.

« Return on common equity (ROCE) as the ratio of net income available to common
shareholders to common shareholders’ equity.

« Return on invested capital (ROI) as the ratio of income from operating activities, less
related taxes to invested capital.

Domanovi¢ & Bogicevi¢ (2015, 271) points out that some authors consider ROI as a
summary indicator, which includes return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE). On
the other side, there are authors, which point out that ROE is not a manifestation of ROI, but
an independent parameter. Bogicevi¢ & Stojanovi¢ (2014, 460-461) discussed about financial
measures in narrow and broader sense. The narrower meaning is that financial indicators

2 In the paper, return on assets (ROA) is calculated as the ratio of operating income to assets. This is because of
the fact that operating income is the broader concept and involve costs of borrowed capital. The argument is
that the total assets is funded not by shareholders' equity, but by borrowed capital also.
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should be based only on enterprises’ results, i.e. only profitability measures. In the broader
sense, financial measures should include profitability measures, liquidity, solvency and
business activities.

What is characteristic for all profitability measures, both at the enterprise level and at the level
of business activity, it is a fact that all those partial measures expressed the efficient use of
capital and resources. In order to eliminate the disadvantages of these partial indicators, there
was introduced a synthetic model, which integrated the profitability measures of enterprises
and profitability measures of business activities, such as DuPont model. Thus, the rate of
return on total assets might be obtained when the profit margin is multiplied with turnover
coefficient of total assets.

However, the existence of accounting profit does not necessarily mean the existence of cash
as inevitable presumption of liquidity of the company. For this reason, it is necessary to
converse the income in receipts and expenditures in cash outflows. The amount of cash may
be calculated as follows (Palepy et al, 2004, 5-23):

Working capital from business activities
* increase (or + decrease
* increase (or + decrease)

« increase (or + decrease) in other current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents
« increase of + (or - decrease) in short-term liabilities

* increase of + (or - decrease) in other current liabilities, excluding debt capital.

Bearing this in mind, and the economic importance of holding cash at a certain point, it is
possible to conclude that the cash yield is more realistic benchmark of the yield power. One
of the most popular indicators based on cash flow is the rate of return on investments cash
flow (CFRO - Cash Flow Return on Investment). Is obtained as the ratio of cash flow from
business activities and invested capital. In theory, CFROI and economic value added, give the
same answer for economic profit. However, these metrics in practice vary for several reasons.
Economic Value Added expresses economic profit in monetary units, and CFROI is the
metric, which measures the expected rate of return in the life of the existing assets of the
company. In contrast to the economic value added, CFROI uses gross cash flow and gross
capital investment and the resulting internal rate of return is measured in real terms rather than
in nominal terms.

Unlike the internal rate of return, which measures the expected yield of cash flow based on
prospective investments, CFROI is, on the other hand, a historical measure. There are several
important steps in assessing the CFROI (Bartley & Madden, 1999; Grant, 2003, 189; Young
& O'Byrne, 2000, 383-388):

« calculate the average life span of existing deductible assets,

« calculation of real gross cash flow (adjusted rate of inflation)

« calculation of gross cash investment,

« calculation of the amounts net book assets (land and inventories)
« calculate CFROI (or internal rate of return).

In order to assess the effectiveness of the company on the basis of this indicator, a comparison
is made with the average cost of capital. This difference is called net yield and can be positive
or negative. If it is positive, it means that the created value and, conversely, if the difference is
negative.
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3. METHODOLOGY

The research was conducted by collecting data on the most successful private enterprises in
local enterprises and selecting a sample of 5 leading enterprises regarding net income. In the
first step, there is presented the list of the most successful private enterprises in the local
economy - Kragujevac. In the second step, there are presented the data on relevant indicators -
operating revenue, sales, operating income, net income, total assets and capital value. All data
were obtained from the available business reports published by Serbian Business Registers
Agency. In the third step, the relevant indices of return on assets and return on capital are
calculated in order to measure and evaluate the enterprises’ profitability.

ROA was obtained as the ratio of operating income/operating loss (from Income statement)
and total assets value (from Balance sheet). Because of the lack of the total assets value at the
beginning and the end of the year in 2015, it was not possible to calculate an average sum of
the total assets in 2015. Thus, in order to calculate ROA, it is used the total assets value at the
end of the each year. ROA can have a positive or negative value in dependence on whether the
company achieved operating income or operating loss and it shows return/operating loss on
100 dinars of assets. ROE was obtained as the ratio of net income/net loss (from Income
statement) and total equity (from Balance sheet), which represents a balanced expression of
shareholders’ equity, retained profit, unrealized losses from securities and loss. The research
follows the trend of ROA and ROE in the last three-year period 2013-2015. Dynamics of ROA
and ROE will be observed via fixed base and chain indices which will be obtained as ratio of
ROA and ROE in the current year and value of ROA and ROE in the previous year.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Industry of City of Kragujevac in the second half of the twentieth century was largely related
to the operation of large economic systems in the metal complex, such as Grupa Zastava and
Filip Kljaji¢. Significant capacities were found in the food-processing industry (IM Crvena
zvezda, Zitoprodukt, Mladost Dairy), textile industry (22 December, Diork). Key export
programs were cars, weapon and galvanized chains. The largest decline in industrial
production was in 1991-2000. years because of the dissolution of the former SFRY and
international economic sanctions (Strategy of the sustainable development of City of
Kragujevac from 2013 to 2018).

Thus, the industry of City of Kragujevac, which has been export-oriented, almost completely
lost the market. The industry of transport equipment up to 1990 in total industrial production
accounted for 65%, and in the metal with even more than 90%. In the coming years, the metal
complex, with manufacturers of transport equipment, reduces production by more than 10
times, and the capacity utilization in the sector has fallen below 10%. A smaller decline in
production was achieved in the production of clothing production (3.5 times), production of
large upper skin (5.1 times), production of fresh meat and pasteurized milk, while the
program of defence industry (Zastava Arms) reduced by 2/3 compared to the former volume
(Strategy of the sustainable development of City of Kragujevac from 2013 to 2018).

In 2001, there was a restructuring of the Group Zastava, so that a whole series of independent
companies appeared, such as Zastava Arms, Flag Tapacirnica, Flag Forge, Zastava Elektro
(Raca), Flag Tools, 21 October, Zastava and other machines, while in the rest of the group
Zastava vehicles Zastava cars, Zastava trucks and transport home. Table 1 provides an
overview of the most successful local private enterprises according to the rate of net income
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(excluding the PUC, banks and insurance companies) in 2012 (Strategy of the sustainable
development of City of Kragujevac from 2013 to 2018).

Table 1 Survey of the most successful local private enterprises according to the net income
(except public utilities, banks and insurance companies) in 2012

Firm Business Activity Number of employees Net income in dinars

Agromarket Wholesale 244 542.172,000

Nikom Production of parts and 59 127.627,000

accessories for vehicles

Prizma Production of orthopedic 62 109.391,000

appliances and other
equipment

Senal Wholesale auto parts 69 92.139,000

Forma ideale Furniture production 1150 90.030,000

KG-Uzor Plumbing, heat and air 18 83.903,000
conditioning system

Sumadija sirovine, | Wholesale of waste and 12 67.190,000

konsalting usluge i scrap

transport

Vulovi¢ transport Urban and suburban 91 64.218,000

passenger land transport
Drustvo rolling-CO Specialized wholesale 12 49.954,000
trade
Trgovina 22 AD Retail sale of clothing in 20 48.798,000
specialized stores
Nova Sicilijana Hotels and similar 37 45.568,000
accommodation

GSG Group Plumbing, heat and air 1 44.617,000
conditioning system

OBI DOO Construction of 73 41.663,000
residential and non-
residential buildings

Izgradnja R DOO Construction of 6 40.325,000
residential and non-
residential buildings

Braca Popovié Specialized wholesale 75 38.564,000

trade
ST prevoz DOO Freight transport 44 37.720,000

Source: Serbian Business Registers Agency. According to the Strategy of the sustainable development
of City of Kragujevac from 2013 to 2018

There are shown the data on operating revenue, sales, operating income, net income, and total
assets at the end of the year and capital value for the five most successful enterprises in Table
2, Table 4, Table 6, Table 8 and Table 10. There are calculated ROA and ROE values for the
selected enterprises and their dynamics in the last three-year period as well. Dynamics of
ROA and ROE values are calculated by fixed base indices and chain indices (see Table 3,
Table 5, Table 7, Table 9 and Table 11). Finally, Table 12 shows dynamics of ROA and ROE
values in the last three-year period for the whole observed enterprises sample. Dynamics of
ROA and ROE values has been also shown graphically for the each enterprises, separately
(Figure 1-Figurel0), and then for all enterprises together (Figure 11 and Figure 12).
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Table 2 Drustvo za proizvodnju, promet i usluge Agromarket DOO KG
(Company for production, trade and services Agromarket)

In 000 din.
Year Operating Sales Operating Net Income Total Assets Capital
Revenue Income
2013. 13 365.809 13 293.608 1717.370 1142.950 9594.981 5 332.619
2014, 14 133.814 14 026.387 1885.478 859.992 9 873.390 6 343.971
2015. 15 436.557 15 273.965 1886.521 1 408.706 12 281.410 8 066.553
Source: Serbian Business Registers Agency. http://pretraga2.apr.gov.rs/pretragaObveznikaF |/
Table 3 ROA and ROE values for AGROMARKET
Year ROA (Operating Fixed Chain ROE Fixed Chain
Income/Assets*100) Base Index (Net Income/Capital*100) Base Index
Index Index
2013. 17,89 100 / 21,43 100 /
2014, 19,10 106,8 106,8 13,56 63,28 63,28
2015, 15,36 85,86 80,42 17,46 81,47 128,8

Source: Author’s calculation
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Figure 1 ROA values for Agromarket
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Figure 2 ROE values for Agromarket
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According to the data presented in Table 3 for Agromarket enterprise, it could be concluded
that ROA was higher in 2014 by 6,8 percentage than in 2013, and lower in 2015 by 14,14
percentage than in 2013, and by 19,58 lower than in 2014. ROE was lower in 2014 by 36,72
percentages than in 2013; in 2015 by 18,53 percentages lower than in 2013, but by 28,8
percentages higher than in 2014.

Table 4 Drustvo sa ogranicenom odgovorno$c¢u za proizvodnju, promet i posredovanje
Nikom doo Kragujevac (Limited Liability Company for production, trade and mediation)

In 000 din.
Year Operating Sales Operating | Net Income | Total Assets Capital
Revenue Income
2013. 1362.291 1 358.284 126.950 77.574 1422.425 903.889
2014, 1253.001 1248.612 44.806 80.755 1 805.069 984.644
2015. 1 486.068 1 463.665 61.646 74.287 1989.923 | 1058.931

Source: Serbian Business Registers Agency, http://pretraga2.apr.gov.rs/pretragaObveznikaF I/

Table 5 ROA and ROE values for NIKOM

Year ROA (Operating Fixed Chain ROE Fixed Chain
Income/Assets*100) Base Index (Net Base Index
Index Income/Capital*100) | Index

2013. 8,92 100 / 8,58 100 /
2014, 2,48 27,80 27,80 8,20 95,57 95,57
2015. 3,10 34,75 125 7,02 81,82 85,61
Source: Author’s calculation
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Figure 3 ROA values for Nikom

According to the data presented in Table 5 for Nikom enterprise, it could be concluded that
ROA was lower in 2014 by 72,2 percentages than in 2013, and lower in 2015 by 65,25
percentages than in 2013, but higher by 25 percentages than in 2014. ROE was lower in 2014
by 4,43 percentages than in 2013; in 2015 by 18,18 percentages lower than in 2013, and by
14,39 percentage lower than in 2014.
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Table 6 Prizma preduzeée za proizvodnju, spoljnu i unutrasnju trgovinu, medjunarodnu i
unutrasnju $pediciju, jednoc¢lano drustvo sa ograni¢enom odgovornoséu, Kragujevac
(Prizma enterprise for production, foreign and domestic trade, international and domestic
freight forwarding, one-member limited liability company)

In 000 din.
Year Operating Sales Operating Net Total Assets Capital
Revenue Income Income
2013. 674.723 603.255 87.679 80.622 1103.479 945.038
2014, 717.411 623.801 96.351 101.094 1171.746 | 1011.131
2015. 704.564 580.846 47.086 65.719 1190.814 | 1041.890

Source: Serbian Business Registers Agency, http://pretraga2.apr.gov.rs/pretragaObveznikaFI/

Table 7 ROA and ROE values for PRIZMA

ROA (Operating Fixed Chain ROE Fixed Chain
vear Income/Assets*100) Base Index (Ne'g Base Index
Index Income/Capital*100) | Index
2013. 7,95 100 / 8,53 100 /
2014. 8,22 103,4 103,4 9,99 117 117
2015. 3,95 49,7 48,1 6,31 74 63
Source: Author’s calculation
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Figure 5 ROA values for Prizma

Source: Author
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According to the data presented in Table 7 for Prizma enterprise, it could be concluded that
ROA was higher in 2014 by 3,4 percentage than in 2013, while in 2015 lower even by 50,3
percentage than in 2013, and lower by 51,9 percentage than in 2014. ROE was also higher in
2014 by 17 percentages than in 2013, while in 2015 lower by 26 percentages than in 2013 and
by 37 percentages than in 2014.

Table 8 Drustvo sa ograni¢enom odgovornos$cu za proizvodnju trgovinu i agencijski
marketing Sanel, Kragujevac
(Limited Liability Company for Production, Trade and agency marketing)

In 000 din.
Year Operating Sales Operating Net Income Total Assets Capital
Revenue Income
2013. 1342916 1336.074 35.590 46.253 1015571 781.277
2014, 1 379.308 1367.156 31.926 44,465 1 094 866 817.842
2015. 1622.957 1610.756 42.254 57.446 1174 052 863.687

Source: Serbian Business Registers Agency, http://pretraga2.apr.gov.rs/pretragaObveznikaFI/

Table 9 ROA and ROE values for SANEL

ROA (Operating | =*€4 | Chain ROE Fixed | cpain
Year Income/Assets*100) Base Index (Ne'g Base Index
Index Income/Capital*100) | Index
2013. 3,50 100 / 5,92 100 /
2014, 2,92 83,4 83,4 5,44 91,9 91,9
2015. 3,60 102,9 123,3 6,65 112,3 122,2

Source: Author’s calculation

Source: Author
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Figure 8 ROE values for Sanel

According to the data presented in Table 9 for Sanel enterprise, it could be concluded that
ROA was lower in 2014 by 16,6 percentage than in 2013, while in 2015 higher by 2,9
percentages than in 2013, and by 23,3 percentages than in 2014. ROE was lower by 8,1
percentage in 2014 than in 2013, while in 2015 higher by 12,3 percentage than in 2013, and
by 22,2 percentage than in 2014.

Table 10 Preduzece za proizvodnju i promet namestaja Forma Ideale doo Kragujevac
(Company for production and trade of furniture)

In 000 din.
Year Operating Sales Operating Net Income | Total Assets Capital
Revenue Income
2013. 6 457.804 2570.101 628.558 383.457 4 840 924 2 298 046
2014. 6 614.852 2 684.482 614.877 403.664 4 891 797 2504 113
2015. 7 138.087 2 799.223 638.444 441.231 5372 658 2 835 831

Source: Serbian Business Registers Agency, http://pretraga2.apr.gov.rs/pretragaObveznikaF1/

Tabela 11 ROA and ROE values for Forma Ideale

Year ROA (Operating Fixed Chain ROE Fixed Chain
Income/Assets*100) Base Index (Net Base Index
Index Income/Capital*100) | Index
2013. 12,9 100 / 16,7 100 /
2014, 12,6 97,7 97,7 16,1 96,4 96,4
2015. 11,9 92,2 94,4 15,6 93,4 96,8

Source: Author’s calculation
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According to the data presented in Table 11 for Forma ldeale enterprise, it could be concluded
that ROA was lower in 2014 by 2,3 percentages than in 2013, while in 2015 lower by 7,8
percentages than in 2013, and by 5,6 percentages than in 2014. ROE was also lower by 3,6
percentages in 2014 than in 2013, while in 2015 lower by 6,6 percentages than in 2013, and
by 3,2 percentages than in 2014.

Tabela 12 ROA and ROE values for observed enterprises sample

Firm 2013. 2014, 2015.

ROA ROE ROA ROE ROA ROE
Agromarket 17,89 21,43 19,10 13,56 15,36 17,46
Nikom 8,92 8,58 2,48 8,20 3,10 7,02
Prizma 7,95 8,53 8,22 9,99 3,95 6,31
Sanel 3,50 5,92 2,92 5,44 3,60 6,65
Forma Ideale 12,9 16,7 12,6 16,1 11,9 15,6

Source: Author’s calculation
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According to the data presented in Table 12 and concerning ROA values, it could be observed
that during the last three-year period, Agromarket was at the top level. Then, it Forma Ideale
comes, although it was the last one in this sample, respecting the net income in 2012. In 2013,
Nikom is at the third place, but in 2014 and in 2015, Prizma is at the third place. In 2013,
Prizma is at the fourth place, and in 2014 and in 2015, Sanel is at the fourth place. Finally, in
2013, Sanel is at the last place, and in 2014 and in 2015, Nikom is at the last place.

Concerning ROE values, it could be concluded that during the last three-year period,
Agromarket was at the top level in 2013 and in 2015, while in 2014, Forma Ideale was at the
top level. In 2013 and in 2015, Forma lIdeale was at the second place, and in 2014,
Agromarket was at the second place. In 2013 and in 2015, Nikom was at the third place, while
in 2014, Prizma was at the third place. In 2013, Prizma was at the fourth place; in 2014,
Nikom was at the fourth place and in 2015, Sanel was at the fourth place. Finally, Sanel was
the last one in 2013 and in 2014, but in 2015 Prizma was the last one.

5. CONCLUSION

Profitability as the last, but not least important and the most comprehensive term business
success and efficiency of the company measured and expresses the reproductive capacity of
the company.

In the modern business environment, traditional measures of profitability are becoming
inadequate for assessing corporate strategy. Despite numerous criticisms of traditional
accounting criteria, it still has - and will have - a central role in the life of the company.
Whatever their limitations, they are too associated with legal and regulatory side of the
business to be completely replaced with new approaches. Profit is the comprehensive and the
most important indicator of company’s efficiency.

But profit is not a valid profitability measure in absolutely sense. Contrary, only in relative
sense, as a ration, profit could be a valid profitability measure. In that context, profit is
compared with assets, capital or invested capital, and only then we could say whether the
profitability is increasing or decreasing in the observed period.

The research results deny the starting hypothesis, that the most successful enterprises
regarding the net income would also be the most successful regarding the profitability
measures, such as return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE). It happened that the
enterprise, which was the last one in respect to net income in 2012, was at the mere top level
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concerning ROA values and conversely, the enterprises, which were at the mere top level
concerning the net income, got last or penultimate place concerning ROA or ROE values in
the last three-year period.

The research has its limitations. In order to calculate profitability measures, it is important to
use an average sum of the assets or equity, but it was not possible to calculate in 2015 since
there was no data for the assets at the beginning of the year. Thus, ROA was calculated with
the total assets value at the end of the year. Further, the sample is too small. There are 16 the
most successful enterprises in 2012 regarding the net income, but for this purpose because of
time limitation, it was selected the first five enterprises. Finally, in order to rank the most
successful enterprises, it is not enough to consider just ROA and ROE, but also some other
financial measures and non-financial measures, as well.

In future, the research should span over more enterprises and it should be considered more
financial and non-financial measures in order to rank the most successful enterprises in local
economy. Thus, more realistic survey of the most successful enterprises in local economy
would be provided.
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THE ROLE OF SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN CREATING SUSTAINABLE
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE OF COMPANIES

Aleksandra Ristovié?

Abstract: This paper presents Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) as a factor in creating a
sustainable competitive advantage. The actuality of problem area emphasizes the significance of
Corporate Social Responsibility as an important aspect of the third pillar of sustainable development
and its role in modern business. The operations in this way should be seen as an instrument for
achieving a long-term sustainable competitive advantage, not as a popular trend in which companies
improve reputation in the short run. Research results based on literature review show the influence of
social responsibility concept application on strengthening the brand position, improving the corporate
identity, image, and reputation, the positive impact on employees and reduction in business operating
costs.

Keywords: sustainable development, corporate social responsibility, competitive advantage
JEL Classification: M14

1. INTRODUCTION

The modern world is significantly facing with the needs of global, shared responsibility for
development according to the needs of humans and nature, and the understanding that the
planet Earth should be preserved for both present and future generations in an acceptable
manner. Sustainable development has become one of the key elements in the development
policies formulation and implementation. It implies the harmonization of economic, social
and environmental demands (Nadi¢, 2012).

It is necessary to bring into balance the three pillars of sustainable development (Giddings,
Hopwood & O'Brien, 2002): an ecological dimension related to the rational use of natural
resources, reducing environmental pollution, etc. (Hafner, 2009), then the economic
dimension founded on principles of coherence between economic development, production
capacities, and resources, and finally social dimension that refers to social relations, respect
for human rights, achieving social welfare, transparency of social activities, etc. Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR) is an important aspect of the third pillar of sustainable
development.

CSR is a concept that is still developing and for which there is not yet precisely defined a set
of specific criteria that determine what it encompasses. Although there are different
definitions of CSR, all of them agree on one thing — company should take responsibility for
the impact of its business activities on stakeholders, community, and the environment, in
order to voluntarily contribute to society welfare with these activities. This is yet another step
further than what is prescribed by legal regulations (Veljkovic&Petrovi¢, 2010).

Weber (2008, p. 249) systematized and presented a large number of scientific research about
the connections between CSR and business performance, and about benefits that company has
from adopting and developing socially responsible practice. Therefore, there are five basic
categories of benefits: a positive impact on corporate image and reputation; a positive impact
on employees’ recruitment, motivation, and retention; operating cost reduction; increase
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revenue as a result of increased sales or market share, and risk reduction during new
investments of the company.

Kotler & Li (2005, p.3) distinguish six key benefits of investing in socially responsible
business: increasing sales and market share, strengthening the brand position, enhance
corporate image and influence, boosting opportunities for attracting, motivating and retaining
employees, reducing operating costs and increasing attractiveness for investors and financial
analysts. In accordance with the key benefits of social responsibility, the purpose of this paper
Is to analyze the role of CSR in creating a sustainable competitive advantage of the company.
Based on defined problem areas the research aim is to reach scientifically valid, theoretically
based, socially relevant and practically useful knowledge about the influence of CSR concept
on company’s competitive advantage.

In the paper will be tested a general hypothesis: The concept of CSR is an instrument by
which we can achieve a sustainable competitive advantage of enterprises. According to that,
paper consists of the three sections. The first section emphasizes and explains the essence and
importance of CSR. The second part highlights the benefits of socially responsible business
practice and it influences on sustainable competitive advantages creation. Finally, the third
part presents conclusions and recommendations for competitive advantage improvement
based on CSR concept.

2. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY - THE ESSENCE AND IMPORTANCE

Economic globalization, liberalization of world trade and economic integration in the
international market, allowed access to previously inaccessible markets. In such globalized
economy, corporate sector continuously gains greater power and influence not only over the
commercial but also over the wider social sphere. The result is an increased pressure and a
growing public interest in the topic of corporate responsibility and transparency in business,
which eventually formed CSR concept that goes beyond the narrow goal of increasing sales
and short-term profit maximization and highlights the commitment of companies to
coordinate their operations with the needs of society and environment.

In an effort to contribute to the community in which operates, company need to be involved in
social problems solving in accordance with own capabilities, to offer a matching contribution
through its investment in environmental protection, to provide the education and scholarships
for different groups of citizens, to protect human rights and ensure the social construction of
the necessary facilities, to improve the conditions for the preservation of health, etc.
(Veljkovic&Petrovi¢, 2010).

By this concept, companies integrate the community and environment interests into their
operations and affect the interest groups on a voluntary basis. This term highlights three
essential characteristics. First, CSR includes environmental issues. Second, CSR takes into
consideration not only the interests of the company members (shareholders) but also different
interest groups (stakeholders). Third, CSR is a voluntary concept (Arsic, 2011, p.45-52).

Socially responsible behavior is a desirable long-term marketing and business orientation of
the company. Its essence is in operations that reach much more than what is prescribed by law
and includes the idea that a reactive attitude to social problems should be replaced with
proactive, voluntary and preventive activities, so to prevent limited resources wasting on
removing the consequences of illegal and unethical behavior (Veljkovic&Petrovi¢, 2010).

CSR is the concept of corporate governance that maintains a balance between economic and
social objectives for the sake of “establishing higher standards of living, while keeping the
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profitability of the company, for the people in and outside the company" (Cadbury, 2000;
Hopkins, 2005). Business success in the global economy is related to the adaptation and
appreciation of current challenges and trends. According to the above mentioned, we can
conclude that for the creation of sustainable competitive advantage is crucial management’s
perception of social responsibility as an activity that creates value for the company and the
local community, instead of being an expense.

CSR is a concept by which organization that adopts it, consciously and voluntarily surpasses
primary function of gaining and distribution of profits and tends to have a positive impact on
its working, social and natural environment. Corporate Social Responsibility represents
awareness of the new position and importance of organizations in a global society and
liabilities arising from them.

This concept represents the company's commitment to the internal and external public to
contribute to better quality of life for employees and their families, the economic development
of local communities, national economy, and the whole society. Being a socially responsible
company does not mean only to fulfill a legal obligation but also involves investment in
human capital, environment and relations with the stakeholders. Organizations are not only
responsible for the profit that they make in front of shareholders but also in front of
individuals and groups affected by profit in any way. Organized public more frequently and
more effectively forces the organization to operate with more responsibility regarding the
local community and the whole society, to have more sustainable behavior towards nature and
more humane attitude towards employees.

CSR takes into account the interests of various social groups and brings benefits to society
(mitigation of different problems) and to enterprises (by creating a sustainable competitive
advantage). Thanks to that and due to the presence of numerous global social and
environmental problems, CSR concept is becoming more and more acceptable. But since this
is a relatively new concept, there are various approaches in its conceptual definition and
methods of application (Ivanovi¢ & Puki¢, 2011).

Socially responsible behavior of enterprises can be motivated by the law, consumers or other
stakeholder requirements. Integration of legal, moral and ecological principles within the
business processes and strategies does not mean minimization of the economic significance.
On the contrary, involves the consideration of these liabilities from the perspective of the
wider social benefits.

Porter and Kramer (2004) point out that besides the direct contribution of CSR to enterprises
competitiveness; there is an indirect return impact through the community. As the economy
and society are interconnected and conditioned elements, one element development positively
influences on other and vice versa. For example, if companies are helping educational system
improvement of a particular society, they will improve educational structure, which in turn
will increase the performance of their business thanks to the supply of qualified labor.

Good impressions and benefits from investments in socially responsible business practices are
related to the way in which company communicates with customers and other target groups
and partners. Such communication requires understanding their perceptions of this concept.
Therefore, for an adequate communication program creation, the emphasis must be on an
effort to evaluate the significance that this concept has for customers. Informing customers
about the company's activities for the benefit of the community is an essential part of a
planned and systematic approach to this concept.
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3. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AS A WAY OF CREATING A
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE

There are different benefits of socially responsible business practices among companies that
operate in developing countries and large international companies. Transition countries
benefit from reduced operating costs, while the multinational companies benefit from
reputation advancing, strengthening the brand value, improving motivation and retention of
employees. Key benefits of socially responsible practices are: strengthening the brand
position, improving the corporate identity, image, and reputation, the positive impact on
employees and reduction in business operating costs.

3.1. Strengthening the brand position

In conditions of higher competition and market saturation, companies need to find a way to
demonstrate their uniqueness, innovation, differentiation, and care for stakeholder’s interests.
Over time there have been various methods and communication strategies of socially
responsible activities among which are, branding based on the positive impact on health,
causal, and environmental marketing. By applying these strategies, companies inform the
public about its business, brands, initiatives and efforts to solve the problems of the local
community. As Tepavac&Kosti¢-Stankovi¢ (2014) suggest connecting the brand with the
responsible operations leads to numerous benefits, including the strengthening the company’s
brand image, products, and services, which can lead to better business results, loyal customer
base, increased customer satisfaction, good reputation, increased demand for products and
services.

Pornpratang, K., Lockard, D. W. and Ngamkroeckjoti C. (2013) considered that corporate
social initiatives generate many advantages for the companies, which are expressed through
loyalty and consumer confidence, a positive attitude toward the brand, increasing profits, the
negative publicity prevention, brand re-purchasing. That raises the question whether the
consumers who buy the products of socially responsible companies concerned about the
environment. Research results indicate that consumers will prefer to buy the products of
companies that have socially responsible behavior and care about the environment because
such products have a positive effect on the image that consumers have of themselves.

According to the research of Elen, PS, Web, DJ, and Mohr, LA, (2006), there is a connection
between CSR and consumer attitudes. So it is important how consumers perceive the motives
of companies to engage in the implementation of CSR, i.e. Companies can be involved in this
activities because of their own profit interests or because of concern about the community in
which operate. The positive perception will have a positive impact on consumers' purchase
intentions.

In order to achieve brand differentiation over the competition, an enterprise should improve
living conditions and solve problems in the community in which it operates through designed
social initiatives and efforts, like donating large amounts of products to charitable
organizations, creating new jobs, donating cash or other funds for different projects, employee
volunteering, educating members of the community. Since the brand is a term without we
could not imagine a successful, well-known company, particular attention must be paid to its
creation. If consumers believe that the company is socially responsible, it is likely that they
will be loyal to its brand, regardless the similar competition product, because famous brands
go a step further and provoke emotional responses from their consumers. These emotions
create a connection between the consumer and brand and according to them the real
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difference between successful and less successful brands can be distinguished. Consumers
have paid increasing attention to the emotional, psychological and sociological aspects of the
brand image, overcoming issues of functionality and rational benefits which have the product.
All this greatly facilitates making purchasing decisions and encourages greater interest in
certain products.

According to the research of Garriga & Mele (2004), ,,Investing in philanthropic activities
may be the only way to improve the context of the competitive advantage of a firm and
usually creates greater social value than individual donors or government can.” Burke and
Lodgson (1996) pointed out that when philanthropic activities are closer to the company’s
goals, they make a larger contribution to the firm than others ways of donating. We can see
this through an example of a telecommunications company teaching computer network
administration to students of the local community.

So, CSR can lead to strengthening the brand position if consumers relate the brand and
humanitarian activities or social goals that the company supports. What can particularly
contribute to these initiatives is the allocation of earnings from the brand sale to certain
humanitarian actions (Kotler, Lee 2003, 16). Due to this reason, socially responsible
corporations much easier gain confidence and attract new customers, while customer’s loyalty
brings sustainable competitive advantage.

3.2. Improving the corporate identity, image, and reputation

Each company has an identity, image, and reputation. As Margulies suggested (1997, p.66)
corporate identity refers to how the organization perceives itself and how it wants to be seen
by stakeholders. The identity of the company is the sum of all the ways in which it presents
itself to the general public. The image of the company is inseparable from its identity.

The corporate image refers to the way in which the organization is perceived by stakeholders.
It results from the interaction of the experiences, impressions, beliefs, and feelings that the
public has of the company. Therefore, the image is the result of experienced and not actual
quality of the company. This psychological creation determines business or market behavior
toward the company’s product or services, changes very gradually and can be positive or
negative. It must be properly designed, properly directed, and continuously managed.
Through the corporate image, the company has to present to the general public what its scope
of business is, what it stands for, what are its products and economic indicators. According to
Ljubojevic & Ljubojevic (2010), the ideal situation is when the corporate image is identical to
the corporate identity.

The word reputation is conducted from the Latin word "reputance™ that means to assess, to
judge, to observe. Contemporary research of elements that influence the success of companies
shows a growing interest in the intangible values. Reputation with intellectual capital and
organizational assets makes that intangible asset. It can be neither bought nor recovered, but
can be lost in an instant. Reputation is integrated by the three intangible values: characteristics
(what the company actually is), identity (what the company claims to be) and image (how
other perceives the company). The essential elements of company’s reputation are reliability,
credibility, trust, and responsibility.

According to a study conducted by Fombrun and Van Riel (2004) the coefficient of reputation
consists of six categories by which the public explains reasons of good company's reputation:
emotional judgment - liking, admiration, and trust in the company;products/services - high
quality, innovation, reliability and cost-effectiveness; financial result - profitability, low
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investment risk and confidence in further growth;vision and leadership - market opportunities,
great leadership, and a clear future vision; working environment - a well-run company,
excellent workplace 'opportunity’ and good employees; corporate social responsibility -
supporting good outcomes and general well-being, responsibility to the environment and the
community and maintaining high standards in the way it treats people.

In one of the most frequently cited studies conducted by Sen and Bhattacharya (2001), one of
the key conclusions is that the company's reputation in the eyes of the consumers is more
sensitive to negative information related to CSR than a positive. In the research all consumers
have reacted negatively to the information that the company uses children as labor in its
production facilities, while only part of consumers responded positively to social initiatives
that company has conducted and only those who were personally interested in that topic,
while the others were neutral.

The local community expects from businesses to recognize and accept responsibility for the
social and environment protection in which they carry out their business activity. Corporate
philanthropy can improve the identity of the company and establish a reputation as a company
that serves the common good. In this way, the company can differ from other companies and
have a better-positioned image, i.e. reputation in the eyes of potential users. Hillman & Kerim
(2010) point out that the corporation is obligated to establish and maintain relationships with
primary stakeholders.

The reputation of one company is an invisible, but significant element of business strategy. A
positive reputation is specific immaterial company's asset. The company may have a
reputation as a socially responsible company if it takes into account the realization of wider
social objectives and interests. Therefore, the reputation can be seen as a key resource.
Reputation can be extremely valuable, rare, and difficult to copy and in this sense
irreplaceable, providing a unique competitive advantage of companies (Pordevié¢, 2008, p.36).

After examining the literature sources following benefits from the reputation can be
systematized (Gruning & Hung, 2002): higher market share; reduce in marketing and
distribution costs; the possibility of a premium charging; the possibility of survival in difficult
times; higher employee productivity; the ability to attract and retain talent and investors;
provide access to new markets; and ensure greater media coverage. Reputation has paramount
importance for all stakeholders. According to the research of Saeed & Arshad (2012), there is
a positive relationship between CSR and reputation of the company. A positive individual
perception of the firm’s CSR activities has the significant influence on creating a positive
reputation. Moreover, reputation is the part of the company's market value. That is how the
company can be treated as a responsible citizen. Also, CSR activities will increase the
corporate image of the organization in the eyes of its stakeholders.

Positive corporate image and reputation increase the value of company’s stocks which boosts
the attractiveness to new investors who want to invest in companies that are less exposed to
social, ethical and environmental risks, rather than in those that do not adhere to a certain
standard of living and social environment. Companies that have adopted concept and in this
way built a positive corporate image and reputation, provide competitive advantages and
better access to capital that might not otherwise be available.

3.3. The positive impact on employees

The participation of some company in socially beneficial initiatives has a positive impact on
employees, managers, and those who are yet to be employed, in respect of their attracting,
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motivating, and retaining. The reason for this is that employees besides the salary, job
descriptions and opportunities for promotion are increasingly estimating companies based on
CSR. This way is much easier for the company to recruit high-quality and competent staff.

Creating a safe and secure work environment that suits employees and meeting their needs,
provides a greater degree of understanding companies’ goals by employees and reduces
conflict between individual and company aims. Such company will be positioned in the group
of best employers, who conduct their business with higher productivity and profits, better
sustainability and competitiveness, lower fluctuation and greater loyalty of the workforce.
Because of the increased commitment, motivation, and employee satisfaction the company
will achieve an advantage over the competition in the long run. The costs of re-recruitment
and workforce training will be reduced as a result of workers loyalty which additionally
creates the same outcome.

According to a study conducted by Brammer, Millington & Rayton (2007) about the
relationship between employees’ attachment to the organization and employees’ perceptions
of CSR, it has been determined that there is a positive correlation between CSR and its impact
on attracting and retaining staff motivation. Also according to them the contribution of CSR
is important equally as the job satisfaction of employees.

According to Weber (2008), CSR has a direct impact on employees to be more motivated due
to a better operating environment, or due to participation in various CSR initiatives such as,
for example, volunteer programs. Similarly, the company's CSR activities have a positive
impact on the company's attractiveness to potential employees.

Employees are major stakeholders of companies (Green Paper, 2001). Brekke and Nyborg
(2008) conduct that ‘green’ firms can recruit motivated employees who are a team oriented
and that they will provide a long-term performance for the company. Turban and Greening
(1997) also propose that CSR can attract good, qualified employees. High level of CSR can
also reduce costly employee turnover (Portney, 2008).

CSR can improve the productivity of employees in different ways. According to the Delmas
& Pekovic (2013), adoption of environmental standards might increase employee’s
identification with their firm and result in enhanced labor productivity. Second, the adoption
of environmental standards is related to organizational changes, like the implementation of
employee training programs and higher levels of interpersonal interactions, or greater
employee engagement, which may result in increased productivity. Training can lead to more
efficient workers, and interpersonal contacts can help employees to engage in knowledge
transfer and leads to innovative ideas that improve productivity. Interpersonal contacts can
also promote employees' satisfaction and motivation, which in turn lead to increased
productivity. It is very important what investors and potential future employees believe the
firm’s true CSR level is (Crifo&Forget, 2014).

Companies that have socially responsible behavior towards the community in which they
operate will influence their employees to be more devoted, especially if they live in the same
environment. Besides that, employees will be more innovative, productive and more
enthusiastic when they perform their duties, and all of that will increase the quality of
products and company’s services. In this way, employees can also be motivated to acquire
new skills and encouraged to find innovative ways not only for costs reduction but also for the
identification and exploitation of new profit maximization possibilities.
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3.4. Reduction in business operating costs

In the field of environmental protection CSR includes production process, based on activities
that use renewable sources of energy, raw materials, and material that are less harmful to the
environment and that observe the standards of organic production and waste management.
Such companies are using more efficient production system, less energy and do not pollute
the environment. Recycling and products and raw materials reusing are also an important way
of environmental protection. With the aim of minimizing the negative impact on the
environment, companies are also using an innovative, modern technology.

Another subject of intense discussion in studies about sustainability is cost reduction. Epstein
and Roy (2001) argue that an increase in efficiency may occur as a result of the material
changing during the implementation of sustainability strategies. Further, improving contacts
with certain stakeholders such as regulatory authorities, results in time savings and provides
wider access to capital in conditions of greater investor sensitivity to issues of sustainability.
Cost savings may also occur as a result of tax exemptions or reduction of other obligations
which are guaranteed by the state in exchange for the promotion of CSR (Schaltegger, 1998).

If company develop positive relationships in the community, that will contribute to achieving
tax advantages and decrease the amount of regulation, because the firm will be perceived as
CSR member of the society (Caroll & Shabana 1, 2010). According to the research conducted
by the Fortune (2003), 73% of respondents emphasize that “cost reduction” is one of the three
most important reasons for making organizations more socially responsible.

Socially responsible business operating in the area of environmental protection is aimed at
reducing waste, reusing materials, recycling, water and energy savings, reduce operating costs
and increase revenue from grants and allowances, which they receive as a result of
implemented corporate social initiatives. Another area of potential cost reduction is free
advertising, thanks to increased publicity. Large positive publicity due to the implementation
of some important social initiatives represents pure profit for the company concerning costs
and benefits.

By reducing operating costs, the company generates a significant advantage over competitors.
The lowest costs in the industry give the company privileged status: the possibility to set
lower prices than rivals and achieve greater market share or profits than its competitors.

4. CONCLUSION

Through this paper, the general hypothesis has been confirmed. CSR concept can enable the
company to achieve sustainable competitive advantage through strengthening the brand
position, improving the corporate identity, image, and reputation, the positive impact on
employees and reduction in business operating costs.

The scientific contribution reflected in highlighting the essential elements of corporate social
responsibility i.e. the operations in this way should be seen as an instrument for achieving a
long-term sustainable competitive advantage, not as a popular trend in which companies
improve reputation in the short run.

CSR is a concept by which companies integrate the interests of the community into their
business. There is a growing number of successful companies that are trying to fully
understand the complex relationships between the business world and society and to involve
public welfare in their decision-making processes. The paper indicates the importance of
companies participation in solving the problems facing humanity, their employees,
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consumers, or suppliers. Investing in community improvement creates long-term benefits for
both the organization and society and achieves more stable and predictable company
operations.

The use of CSR concept in the management of the companies is significant for achieving
competitive advantage. In order to reach that target, companies should develop a variety of
methods and strategies for communicating socially responsible activities. By applying these
strategies, the company informed public about its business, brands, initiatives and efforts to
solve problems of the local community. So, if the company is perceived as CSR firm that will
lead to better business results, create a loyal customer base, increase consumers and
customers satisfaction, and retain good reputation, etc. As a final result, the company will
have a competitive advantage over its competitors.
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THE ROLE OF LPI AS AN INDICATOR OF MACROECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE: POSITION OF SERBIA

Slobodan A¢imovié?
Du$an Markovié?
Veljko Mijuskovi ¢

Abstract: Improving the cumulative logistics performance on a micro level represents the core of
global economic growth and competitiveness strengthening. That is the reason why the creators of
economic policies worldwide have recognized the logistics sector as one of the key bearers of
economic development and devised the logistics performance index (LPI) as its indicator.The aim of
this paper is to perform an in-depth analysis of the LPI, as an indicator of macroeconomic
performance, focusing on its most important aspects. These aspects include the review of key LPI
components (customs, infrastructure, ease of arranging shipments, logistics services quality, tracking
and tracing, timeliness) and its general importance; the methodology setting for LPI measurement;
and finally the review of latest LPI results for Serbia. Results obtained from this analysis should serve
as a set of guidelines for improving the national logistics system, and in due course, general
competitiveness of the Serbian economy.

Keywords. Logistics performance index (LPI), macroeconomic indicator, competitiveness, World
Bank, Serbia.

JEL Classfication: M20, M21, M29

1. INTRODUCTION

In the era of general globalization, shortening pobduct life-cycles and ever growing

intensive competitive relations on the global marlagistics has defined itself as a strategic
source of competitive advantage (Mentzer et alQ120Freight-forwarders and transporters
have become the core of the current wave of glpatidin: they simplify the complex process
of connecting companies, suppliers and consumemn$ecu under the term space internet
(Ballou, 2004). The access to space internet is fog all countries, but in a great deal
depends on the quality of their infrastructurewadl as the effectiveness of their policies and
institutions (Kam et al., 2003).

The improvement of logistics performance represémscore of the economic growth and
competition strengthening. The creators of econoputicies around the world have
recognized the logistics sector as one of the legrdrs of economic development (Bozi
Ac¢imovi¢, 2014).

For that reason, the governments of different atesitemphasise the effectuation of
numerous measures and projects with the aim toliymiade and transport, with the aid of
the World Bank and numerous other development agenBut, the lack of performance
indicators needed to compare and estimate thetilmgyisutcomes, significantly hardens the
efforts of governments and private sector to idgntie obstacles which may be encountered
on the global market (Lambert, 2008). Due to sudtate, numerous global experts, under
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the patronage of the World Bank, have started wasdeindicators which shall allow the
estimate and comparison of logistics performancadiidual states. In such a manner, the
first report on state logistics performance wasi@e in 2007, under the titl@onnecting to
Compete 2007: Trade Logistics in the Global Economy - The Logistics Performance Index
and Its Indicators. This report was created as a result of more @00 individual grades of
logistics performance and it has 150 countries edrdnd graded within it. Since 2007 up to
now, in every two years, the World Bank has pulgiislihree more reports on country
logistics performance. The rule of the Bank isdorg out a research during every two years
concerning the performance of individual countrgistics system and to publish those
results in the upcoming ,,Connecting to Compete‘orep(Arvis et al., 2014).

2. LPI COMPONENTS AND IT'S GENERAL IMPORTANCE

The Logistics Performance Index- LPI representstaractive benchmarking tool developed
by the World Bank, which serves to measure thectffeof logistics performance in
individual country supply chains. The LPI helps wcwoies to identify challenges and
possibilities which they encounter while managiogistics, but also to point out the manner
in which performance of those countries can be avgd (Acimovié¢, Mijuskovi¢, 2015).

The data needed to calculate the LPI are gathei@daw on-line survey filled out by
professionals doing business in the logistics se@toe survey is comprised of two parts. The
first part refers to the qualitative assesment hed state of basic categories of logistics
performance, i.e. the LPI indicators of chosen taes where the survey participants are
located. The second part is formed of questionkhvdemand giving quantitative data and
qualitative assesments on logistics performancbeeotountry where the participants work.

Based on these two groups of data, two types of ihéicators are formed (Arvis et al.,
2014):

* The international LPI- it demonstrates the imajethe general state of logistics
performance on the level of the global market,régon, group of countries formed
on the basis of the same income.

« The domestic LPI- it demonstrates the state efltigistics sector at the level of an
individual state, it identifies the possible wealk$ of the supply chain and it points
out the possibilities of their ellimination, i.e.high segments of the supply chain
could be improved.

Within the first issue of the repo@onnecting to Compete: Trade Logistics in the Global
Economy, the individual country logistics performance amealyzed based on seven
performance components, while today the estimataade only based on six components.
Namely, the domestic logistics costs have beenuded from the analysis. Therefore, the
components of logistics performance which are a®alyfor the needs of forming the LPI are
(Arvis et al., 2014):

» Efficiency of customs and accompanying procedursgedd, simplicity and
predictability of formal procedures);

e Quality of trade and transport infrastructure (adailway and information
technologies);

* The ease of arranging pricely competitive inteorai shipments;

* The competitiveness and quality of logistics sesictransport, freight forwarding,
customs intermediation;
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* The possibility of tracking and tracing the shipren
* The shipment timeliness.

Customs . Timeliness
Iafrastruciars .___—— total if.l-l.',l!i'll.t‘ il Ease of arrahging shipmenis
performance

Cruallty of logistlcs irnln-\ d \’ lraty ng and iracing

Macro (input) Micro (output)
level level

Figure 1 Basic components of the LPI
Source: Arvis, J., Mustra, M., Ojala, L., Shepard, B. dhdSaslavsky (2014).

As can be seen in Figure 1, six key LPI componeats be divided into two main level
groups:

« The macro areas which can be improved by changigglations and procedures, that
include the main supply chain inputs: customs,astiucture and quality of logistics
services;

* The micro areas which include timeliness, easardnging shipments and shipment
tracking and tracing.

The LPI uses the standard statistical techniquesotwert the gathered data into a unique
indicator which can be used for comparing countriegions and groups formed based on the
level of income. Approximately 1.000 professionfiism 125 countries have participated in
LPI research carried out at the end of 2013, withresults presented in the forth issue of the
World bank report on logistics performance entittéohnecting to Compete 2014: Trade
Logistics in the Global Economy, The Logistics Performance Index and Its Indicators (Arvis

et al, 2014).

The LPI represents an excellent indicator of laggsperformance of the host country of
Foreign direct investments (FDI) and an ideal bematking tool while choosing a location
for different business activities. This is one loitain reasons why the states have focused on
their LPI rank rather than on precise improvement$eir logistics performance. As a part of
their strategic development plan, some countrie® leaen published a targeted height of LPI
value and LPI rank. In order to improve their attreness, countries have focused on
projects in numerous areas which could improve el position (Ojala, Queiroz 2004).

However, it can not be said that this is the cdregtitude. Namely, the quality of logistics
performance of a country is much better describetdsbresult compared to other states, than
the very rank on the World Bank list. Countries ethhave a similar level of performance
can have significantly value ranks of LPI, whichpiarticularly expressed with countries of
middle or low income (Daugherty, 2011).
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The LPI gap which appears when the actual coun®lyrank is different from the expected
rank based on the level of its income, also steetee connectedness between logistics
performance, trade and FDI. Those countries whichnthnage logistics efficiently and
effectively have bigger advantages from global@ati(Leenders and Johnson, 2000).
Countries which achieve a higher level of logistmerformance, more often have better
integrated global value chains and more easilg@ttthe export-oriented FDI (Monczka et al.,
2006). Bearing in mind that trade and FDI are thg &annels for international knowledge
spreading, a badly developed logistics sector caerrupt the country approach to new
technologies and know-how and thus contribute ¢wislg down the growth of economy
productivity (Hannon, 2009). Opposite to that, ttegle growth creates increased demand for
efficient logistics, obliging the creators of ecamos policy to approach the reform
effectuation in order to facilitate the trade besis (Daniels et al., 2002).

Countries which are highly positioned on the LRt,lialso tend to have a much diversified
export. Countries which record an increase in tragenerally have a higher LPI rank
compared to the expected one. For example, a gowvith a positive LPI gap of 0,5
experiences 2 percent more of commerce spreadipgycent more of annual growth or 40
percent more of varied export then some other cpuatich has the same level of income.
The supply chain improvements significantly conitéto the competitivness by reducing the
transaction costs (Oliver and Weber, 1982). Atdamme time, the diversified economy tends
to improve its logistics performance (Axelsson aMgnstra, 2002). Countries which tend to
achieve more gain from globalization, must identifg key aspects of logistics performance,
especially in the sense of their influence ontodbmmpetitiveness (Murphey et al., 1993).

3. THE METHODOLOGY SETTING FOR LPI MEASUREMENT

The first part of the LPI survey offers informatiarich represents the basis for calculating
the international LPI. Every survey participant ksathe six most important components of
logistics performance onto eight foreign marketou@ries which have their logistics
performance graded, are the most important tradimgracountries (export/import) for the
country where the survey participant is locatedievine very country selection is by chance.

For countries which do not have the access to ¢he the selection of eight most important
countries is based on neighbor countries whichiHfercountry where the survey participant is
located represent some sort of bridge connectinvgtit international markets. The precise
method of choosing the group of most important tees is different from country to country
and depends on the very characteristics of the staere the respondent is dwelling (Areis
al, 2014).

Grading the logistics performance of selected aoesis performed by filling out an on-line

questionnaire. The very mechanism of filling ou¢ gurvey and summing up the obtained
data has not changed a lot since the first reportadues of LPI. The report from 2012 has
brought about one significant novelty, and thahis introduction of the USR approach. The
survey has been devised in such a manner thatstiynelies on specialized methodology of
choosing the participant countries based on a lagjeme of trade among countries. The
USR approach enables countries with smaller tradenve to find themselves on top while

making a selection.

Based on the rules valid while choosing the supayicipants, and which are presented in T
Table 1, the on-line survey mechanism forms a groftigountries for every participant

individually. After 200 surveys, the USR approashincluded into the process of country
selection. For every new participant, the USR séletsanswer of the country which has been
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chosen by chance, but with a weighted probabiityile the weights are used in order for the
sampling to evaluate towards a unique probabikecisely, the country is chosen with the
probability of (N-ni)/2N, where nstands for sample of state size, while N is the sizthe

total sample.

Table 1 Methodology of country group selection for thetgpants of LPI survey

Participants from
country group with low
income

Participants from
country group with
middle income

Participants from country
group with high income

Participants from
countries which have
access to the sea

Five most important
countries-export partners
+

Three most important
general partner countries

Three most important
countries-export
partners

+

The most important
country-import partner
+

Four freely chosen
countries, one from
each area group:

a) Africa

b) Eastern and Central
Asia

c) Latin America

d) OECD and Europe

Participants from
countries which do
not have access to
the sea

Four most important
countries-export partners
+

Two most important
countries-import
partners

+

Two bordering countries

Three most important
countries-export
partners

+

The most important
general partner country
+

Two bordering
countries

+

Two freely chosen
countries, one from
each area group:

a) Africa

b) Eastern and Central
Asia

c) Latin America

d) OECD and Europe

Two randomly chosen
countries from the list of five
countries-most important
export partners

+

Four freely chosen countries,
one from each area group:

a) Africa

b) Eastern and Central Asia
c) Latin America

d) OECD and Europe

+

Two randomly chosen
countries from the combined
groups of countries a,b,cand d

Source: Arvis, J., Mustra, M., Ojala, L., Shepard, B. andJaslavsky (2014).

While calculating the LPI, a method called the A& of main components-PCA is used, in
order to reduce the data dimension. While calauigthe LPI, the input data for the PCA are
the answers obtained for 10 to 15 questions,Heentean of all obtained answers on questions
on logistics performance of a certain, chosen aguiihe weight factors are presented within
Table 2.

In order to obtain a comparable value of the iragamal LPI, a normalized result of every of
the six original indicators is multiplied by the igkt factors, and then those values are added.
The weight factors represent weight values of basimponents of logistics performance
which participate in the calculation of the interaaal LPI.

Bearing in mind that the weight factors are simitarall six indicators, the international LPI
is roughly close to the average value of the odaljindicators. That is the reason why there is
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such a high degree of comparability of the obtairesdllts in all four issues of the report on
LPI values.

Table 2 Weight factors of international LPI

Component Weight
Customs 0.40
Infrastructure 0.42
Ease of arranging shipments 0.40
Quality of logistics services 0.42
Tracking and tracing 0.41
Timeliness 0.40

Source: Arvis, J., Mustra, M., Ojala, L., Shepard, B. dhdSaslavsky 2014
4. THE LATEST LPI RESULTS FOR SERBIA

Since the issue of the first report of the WorlchBan logistics performance, Serbia is its
part. Unfortunately, although the professionalsrr8erbia regularly participate in the survey
carried out by the World Bank for the needs of tiegort, it cannot be said that the expert
public in Serbia pays adequate attention to tha dantained within them.

Within the first report, Serbia was ranked at ti&"place, with the value of LPI index of
2.28. In the following issues, Serbia has improviesdlogistics performance, i.e. it has
recorded bigger and bigger value of LPI and a higifd rank. The results of the latest LPI
from 2014 are shown in Table 3.

Table 3 LPI results for the region and Serbia for 2014

+— @ 3 [oTs]
i3 £z 2| 38| ¢ £ 3
S| @ 2c5 o | = s 29
SE| g9 | B3 E| & g3 |&sp. | 89|82 | s g 2
s38| 22 | s€8| vl eS| emE| 22| e o8| ©7F
Sg| ¢ | e | g | ez |92 g2| gL S| &8
s8| 25 |sgs| 28| 28|25 28| 28| 2¢| &€
Country S5 | 2= | =88 | 33| TE|355 |35 |ZE|3E| 55
Hungary 33 [346 |789 297 |3.18 |3.40 333 |382 |406 |40 T
Slovenia 38 [338 763 311 |335 |3.05 351 |351 [382 [34 &
Romania 40 |[326 |724 283 |2.77 |332 320 |339 [400 |54 T
Bulgaria 47 [3.16 |69.1 275 | 294 |331 3.00 |28 [404 [36 &
Croatia 55 |[3.05 |658 295 |292 |298 3.00 |311 (337 |42 &
Serbia 63 |[296 |629 237 |273 |3.12 3.02 |294 355 |75 T
Montenegro | 67 2.88 60.1 2.83 2.84 3.15 2.45 2.76 3.19 120 T
B&H 81 |[275 |56.0 241 | 255 |278 273 | 255 [344 |55 %
Macedonia | 117 |[250 |48.0 235 | 250 |238 251 |246 [281 |99 B

Source: Arvis, J., Mustra, M., Ojala, L., Shepard, B. dhdSaslavsky (2014).

As can be seen from the previous table, Serbiatlaigved the best results compared to other
regional countries which are not the members o&te On the other hand, Serbian logistics
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performance are much weaker compared to regionattdes which are a part of the EU.
Bearing in mind the excellent geographic positiboan be concluded that Serbia is not using
well enough its advantages, although the resuth f2é®14 is much better compared to 2007,
when Serbia was positioned as on the™@Bce of the LPI rank list. It is obvious that the
logistics system is being reformed, but unfortulyate quite a slow and insufficient manner.

The thing that worries the most is the pace ofrmfowhich is too slow in the segment of
customs activities. As can be seen in Table 3herfart dealing with customs business,
procedures and regulations, Serbia is positionedhen118' place, which is a downfall
compared to previous report of up to 20 positismgpartially seen, the reform of the customs
business is something which needs huge money meess. That is a hard and complex task,
but up to now, Serbia has not had enough will,rdasor the financial funds to carry out that
task to the end.

5. CONCLUSION

The analysis within the paper has shown that thestics management and its accompanying
activities do have a multiple effect. On one hahdt effect can be seen on a micro level, i.e.
the level of individual companies and company gepwgs part of a wider supply chain, and
on the other hand, on the macro level, as well.

The macro level impact is directly visible via \ars indices which use the most important
logistics elements (for example, infrastructurestoms procedures, procurement etc.) in the
process of their creation. The basic focus of taeied out analysis is on a specific index-
LPI.

The effectuated research has shown that LPI, whah two forms (the domestic and the
international one) is used to grade a country basea score given for the performance of its
6 main logistic components later comprised in atex The research has also indicated that
even though this index is measured for Serbia amgl Score is getting better, there are no
direct improvements based on the grades of the cnergs. Within the following period, a
serious government initiative is needed in ordemuse the LPlI measurements as a good
benchmark to improve the "bottle neck” areas awcdesse the quality level of total logistic
performance of our country and all its entities.that manner, in due course, the general
competitiveness of the Serbian economy shall algwove.
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Abstract: On the basis of economic theories it is proved that saving play significant role in economic
growth. That is the reason for governments interest in them. The article presents the state of saving in
Poland against the situation in the European Union and the Euro area. The conclusion is that
although saving in Poland is correlated with saving in the EU its growth rate and structure should be
improved. It is acknowledged by the Polish government as stated in long-term devel opment strategies.

Keywords. Saving, Financial Assets, Household Finance
JEL Classification: E 21, O 16,

1. INTRODUCTION

In 2010 the European Committee adopted the docuikenbpe 2020. A strategy for smart,
sustainable and inclusive growth’. In this documdinére where implemented several
objectives the main aim of which was to help thedpaan Union in fighting the existing
economic crisis. In order to ensure that theseatibgs will be achieved the EU - as a whole
and every country separately - established a seidafators. The indicators are in five areas:
supporting employment growth, raising funds ingdsin the Research and Development
sector, fighting against climate change and engueimergy sustainability, improving a level
of education and fighting poverty as well as soeddlusion (Europe 2020). At least two out
of five areas of activity require a stabile finaacsystem and access to long term secure
funding. As many economists admit the best fundandong term development are domestic
saving with household saving in particular. Therefdhe aim of this paper is to present the
state of household saving in Poland against stnaih the EU and the Euro area. It is
hypothesised that Polish household saving is toallsim ensure stable development for the
Polish economy and its structure as well as otharacteristics allow to state that it is not a
secure and stable factor in Poland.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

According to the Harrod-Domar model, to accompiésbnomic growth, there are two factors
required: labour and capital.Capital is essentialrfvestments and simultaneously the growth
in investment leads to capital accumulation. Thedehcassumes that economic growth
depends on the policy of increasing investmentufihout saving acceleration.

The explication of this growth model was the reskegublished in 1956 by R.Solow. In his
traditional growth model there is such an amountayital per one employed in which the
economy is determined as the one of a steady Stheelabour and capital can grow to the
same extent which leads to steady economic growtle. capital growth results from the
growth in saving. The same goes for the ‘new gromthdels’ of Romer (1987) and other
researchers. They claim that higher saving brimgsigaa higher rate of growth (Carroll Ch.D,
Weil D.N. 1994).
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As it is proved on many occasions by the princigleboth classic economics and the works
of J.M.Keynes in stable economy saving is equaht@stment and consists of private part
and public one. The most stable and almost alwaggipe is private saving mainly this one
of households.

Recognising the importance of saving for economrowgh, the Polish government
incorporated accelerating of household saving idifferent programmes and long-term
strategies of development. The two most importemBaategi aRozwojuKraju 2020 (Country
Development Strategy 2020) amblska 2030 (Long-term Country Development Stategy
2030) In the first one there is the area No 2 distingaish ‘Competitive economy’. Its
realisation is divided into several goals, one ohich is No Il.1 ‘Strengthening
macroeconomic stability’ and part of this is ‘Inaséng the rate of saving and investment’.
The Polska 2030 strategy goes even further because in order toeeehits goals some
indicators and their minimal expected values axedi And in the area of improving the
competitiveness and innovation of Polish econoneyetare two indicators related to saving.
The Polish government declares that up to the 2880 the gross saving rate (as a % of
GDP) will strive up to 22% and the ratio of actizecounts in the third pillar of the pension
system in relation to the number of people employéldstrike from 3.3% in 2010 to at least
50% in 2030.

3.METHODOLOGY

In order to accomplish the aim of this paper acdedata was collected and analysed. They
were provided from the databases of OECD, EurestdtGUS (the Polish Central Statistical

Office). The situation of the Polish economy is gamed to economies of other EU countries
or the average values for the EU economy. Additlgnthe simple statistics are being used.

The research period for the data collected covery¢ars 2000-2014.

4. RESULTSAND DISCUSSION

In the years 2003-2013 GDP in Poland raised fro;i®88In PLN (192.3 bin EUR) to 1 656.3
bin PLN (394.6 bin EUR). Its dynamics in constantes fluctuated from 103.6% to 101.3%
coming up to its maximum in 2007 that is to theeleof 107%. At the same time a gross
saving rate in relation to GDP varied from 14.4%183% whit is highest values in 2004,
2007 and 2011 as presented in Figure 1. Furthesnsorce 2008 one can observe a declining
trend in consumption growth whose dynamics in thary 2012-2013 was lower than 1%.
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axis)
Consumption dynamics (constant prices, prev. year
=100, left axis)

Figure 1: GDP dynamics and gross saving rate in relatic®@® in Poland

Source:www.stat.gov.pl (STRATEG)
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However, as the main part of saving comes from élooisls, the saving rate depends not only
on GDP but primarily on disposable income. Themftine gross investment and gross saving
rates of households would be worth analysing.

The paper aims to compare these rates both fom&othe EU and the Euro area. The
research findings are presented in Figures 2 andl i8.clear that there is a downturn in

household gross saving rate in all these threestigated areas. From 2004 to 2008 it was
systematically decreasing to go up in 2009, jusrdhe crisis outbreak, and then again went
down slowly. The Polish gross household saving isatgproximately half the size of the EU

one. Its decrease in the years 2004-2009 cannaicbeunted for the negative changes in
disposable income as this was going up by 1.2490@5, and then between 4.47% and
5.79% in the years 2006-20009.

The linear trend for Poland can be presented \wihfallowing equation:
= - 0.4773X+6.8482; 0.7267

where : Y — gross household saving rate,
X —time.
For the European Union the equation is:

Y =-0.0789X+11,743; &0.1228,
and for the Euro area it is:
Y =-0.147X+14.08; R=0.444
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Figure2 The gross saving rate of households (including-Roofit Institutions Serving
Households, in relation to gross disposable income)

Source: own calculations on the basis of Eurostat datp;/idt.europa.eu/eurostat/tgm/
table.do?tab=table&init=1&plugin=1&language=en&pestisdec240, access 19.09.2016.

In addition, the Pearson correlation coefficienesavcalculated for such pairs as: Poland and
the EU, Poland and the Euro area. Their values Wef@8381 and 0.650943 respectively,
which means that there is a strong positive reéaretween gross household saving in Poland
and the EU.
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Figure3 The gross investment rate of households (incudian-Profit Institutions Serving
Households, in relation to gross disposable income)

Source: own calculations on the basis of Eurostat data,
http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/tgm/table.do?tab=&ahike-1&plugin=1&language=en&pcode=t
ec00098, access 19.09.2016.

In turn, the linear trend for households gross stivent rate in Poland is growing contrary to
its equivalents in the EU and in the Euro areairTéguations are as follows:

Y = 0.0203X+7.4329; R-0.0497 (Poland),
=-0.02709X+10.714; £0.7618 (the EU),
Y = - 0.2932X+11.585; &0.7582 (the Euro area).

The Pearson correlation coefficient for this rateFoland and the EU is slightly negative and
accounts for - 0.02991, while for Poland and theoEarea it is - 0.01115.

The data presented above indicate that househwiidgsia the EU was decreasing in relation
to household disposable income which can be vieaged negative forecast for the future
economic growth. The same holds true for househaoldsstments in the EU and in the Euro
area. Yet, for Polish households their investmat# is raising marginally.

An essential part of the household saving are Hmids financial assets. Table 1 presents the
dynamics of their growth in Poland, and Figure dspnts their structure in the years 2003-
2015. As presented, in this period there was omlg gear when these assets lost in their
value. In 2008 there was a drop by 8.67% in corsparto 2007.

The main component of household financial assetBdland are currency and deposits in
banks as well as parabanks. According to the Pdishtral Bank statistics, about half of
household deposits are current or short-term oRes.next component are shares and other
equities and other one are pension funds (Figuré 4)gnificant fall in the share of the least
ones in 2014 was brought about by the reform inctvlsome part of their funds were
transferred from OFEs (Open Pension Funds) to Zth® Gocial Security Institution).
According to Eurostat database in 2012 in the E8 d@untries) and in the Euro area (18
countries) in 2012 the share of currency and dépashousehold financial assets was 33.7%
and 35.8% respectively, while shares and othertiegui21.46% and 22.81%.
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Table 1 The dynamics of household financial assets inibla

Dynamics of household financial assets
Period (previous year = 100)
2004 110.70
2005 114.09
2006 116.25
2007 116.87
2008 91.37
2009 114.56
2010 111.52
2011 103.16
2012 115.06
2013 111.56
2014 105.77
2015 105.25

Source: own calculations on the basis of: OECD 20167

In contrast to countries with higher developed fiicial markets, such as Germany or the
United Kingdom, Polish households seem less intiegles using insurance instruments as
means to locate their assets. Taking into condiderghe EU it can be stated that insurance
instruments take the biggest part in householdnhire assets. By Eurostat their share was
more than 36.8% in 2012. At the same time thisqreage for the Euro area was 31.74% and
it was lower than currency and deposits only.
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Source: own calculations on the basis of: OECD 2016

Similarly, there is a noticeably low share of s&@s in household portfolios in Poland
amounting to less than 1%, whereas in 2012 in theitBvas 5.07% and in the Euro area
6.6%.
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5. CONCLUSION

The research presented above implies that Polistseimld saving rises faster than GDP,
therefore, it can be a reliable factor of econogrmwth. More so, its rise trend allows to assume
that the goal intended by the Polish governmen®4q2@ the year 2030) can be achieved.
Although, if saving in relation to disposable ina®@re research, one can observe that saving rate
is lowering and its trend is positively correlateih the situation in the EU as well as in the Euro
area. Fortunately, for the Polish economy the hooiseinvestment trend is positive in opposition
to the European area.

But primarily, the structure of household savingdld be taken into consideration. Actually, the
short-term financial assets hold prevailing sharéhousehold portfolio. This is not a positive
development given that these assets should beassadource of financing long-term investment
activities. Taking into account the impact of laiegm saving on economy, the Polish government
is in need to prepare and implement programs aludi@as to change the private saving structure.
Some of them are actually in realization such as:relieves or extending the offer of treasury
bond to make them more attractive for the ownerdkd& and IKZE accounts Although,
according to the data published by the Polish Far@iSupervising Authority only about a quarter
of IKZE accounts and about half of IKEs are actwves.

In view of the recent crisis and the resulting Hertproblems in the financial markets the trust of
households in financial institutions is lower thamst in business (Korzeniowska A., 2015). That
and the trends presented above impose improvingriraotion of saving in financial institution
through education and information.
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GERMAN ECONOMIC MODEL - ITS INTELLECTUAL ORIGINS AND
CONTEMPORARY CHARACTERISTICS

Vladan Ivanovié

Abstract: Since of the outbreak of the financial crisis, the importance and influence of German
economy, both because of its distinctive economic performances and its influence on the other EU
national economies, especially members of EMU, became particularly evident. We are highlighting
the essential characteristics contributing to specific efficiency of German economy. It will be done
both analysing its theoretical foundations dating back in period between two World wars and after
Second World War, as well as contemporary evidence on economic policy. It should contribute to
better understanding of the place and importance of German economy in global world as well as its
implications on other European national economies - accessing or already part of E(M)U.

Keywords: Social Market Economy, Germany, Economic Policy, Institutions

1. INTRODUCTION

It was fewer examples in history with such an extraordinary economic performance as it was
the case with the German after World War Il (WWII). Figures regarding the economic
growth, counting for real average growth rates of 8.2 % during the 1950s (Hagemann, 2013,
37) as well as quickly reached full employment inspite of more then 12 million of refugees
(Tietmeyer, 1999, 24), are illustrating remarkably the outstanding economic outcome known
as Wirtschaftswunder (economic miracle). An important part of explanation lies in its specific
institutional structure built right after the WWII ended. Namely, after the more than the
decade of extensive state presence in economy and broad regulation of almost every aspect of
economic life during the reign of National Socialists, the foundations of liberal market
economy were established and democratic political system were introduced. This political and
economic institutions facilitated not only the economic performance, then also made the
system more resistant to the shocks and uncertainties coming from the external environment.

There are several reasons why is understanding the German economy important for the Serbia
as well as other European countries, especially those which were almost a half of the century
under socialist economic and political order. First, the long-run results of German economic
system as well as its proven sustainability could be an useful benchmark and the source of
finding solutions for the many other former socialist countries with the chronic problems
within their economies. Second, this solutions are even more interesting, bearing in mind the
German economy was functioning in highely centralised economic and political system prior
to the reforms introduced after WWII. In some degree there are similarities between
institutional legacies of Germany and other former socialist countries. Third, the fundamental
features of institutional structure in EU and EMU are closely related or even inspired by those
in Germany. This is the most obvious in the domain of European Central Bank (ECB) and its
strong institutional independency. It has very important implications for the process of
European integration as well as the proces of functioning within the single European market.
And forth, for the large number of former socialist countries Germany is an important export
as well as import market. In the case of close economic tights between different countries or
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regions, the economic results will be maximized and more balanced when strong
complementarity in institutional framework exists. So, knowing the origins of German
economy and the characteristics of contemporary economic order could bring useful solutions
for the further institutional transformation and existing deficiencies within the majority of
former socialist countries.

The paper is organized as fallows. First part covers theoretical origins of German economic
model after WWII and main ideas coming from so called Social Market Economy (SME).
The second part addresses the characteristics of contemporary economic policy from a
specific perspective. It analyses the academic background and research interests of key expert
figure in Ministry of Finance (Finanzministerium) and German Council of Experts
(Sachverstindigenrat) staff academic research profiles. The both institutions are having the
strong influences on strategic decisions made in the domain of economic policy as well as
present direction of economic policy. In concluding section, we summarize main findings and
point out a strong intellectual connection between contemporary economic policy and its main
ideas after the WWII.

2. INTELLECTUAL ANCESTRY OF GERMAN ECONOMIC MODEL

Already with the outbreak of Great Depression in 1930s and disturbing political changes, the
group of German economists was starting to outline the main ideas on which the system
should be built in order to escape sharp decline (in case of Germany there were several crisis
episodes already during the 1920s) and which would be able to offer sustainable solutions for
deep economic and social crunch. Ruling economic thought embodied predominantly in
historical school was not capable to make needed proposals. Economic disaster and disorder
paved the way to the political one in 1933. On the other side, a group of academics started the
work on the new model which entered into the force after the WWII was finished. The main
representatives of this school of thought, leter known as fathers of SME, refer to Walter
Eucken, Alfred Miillar-Armack, Alexander Riistow, Franz Bohm, Ludwig Erhard and
Wilhelm Ropke. Although the circle of persons is much more comprehensive, the academic
work of all of them and, later after the WWII was finished, active role in political life and
strategic decision making regarding the way German economic system and its main
institutions should look like, are the key points in understanding the fundamentals of
economic system established in West Germany. The specificity of this system lies in the fact
that the role of government was pushed back not only compared with the regulation during
the war time, then also compared to previous peace-time period of 1930s. There is almost no
such example recorded in history, with the exception of Italy, but with the much bigger
presence of government in economy (Huchinson, 1979, 431).

The core idea within SME refers to the requirement that one system, in order to achieve
efficiency, have to be shaped according to the constitutive principles (Figure 1). The
institutional structure has to embody all of this principles inseparably, because every
deviation from it will prevent the smooth and efficient operationg of market economy. But if
it would happen, it would produce divergences from efficient path simply because all of them
are interdependent and the absence of fulfilment in one aspect will eventually lead to
distortions in others.

The productive behaviour of economic agents is dependant on every single principle in
numerous ways. But the full efficiency of economy and thus the main precondition of
achieving it is competitive market structure. All of the principles should warranty the highest
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possible freedom in meeting decisions by market participants and in the same time protect
every economic agent from predatory behaviour of other agents or the state.

FLEXIBLE PRICES

PRIMACY OF OPEN MARKET
MONETARY ACCESS

STABILITY

CONSITUTIVE
PRINCIPLES OF,
FREEDOM TO

CONTRACT SME

PRIVATE CONSISTENCY

PROPERTY OF ECONOMIC
poLicy

Figure 1 Constitutive principles of SME

Source: Ivanovi¢, 2015, 9-10

In order to achieve freedom of economic transactions, every decision has to be bound over
liablity, i.e. economic agents have have to be fully responsible for their decisions and
completely carry over the consequences of them. The socialisation and externalisation is not
allowed. Only undivided relationship between freedom and responsability are incentivising
productive behaviour and restraining irresponsible one (Schleussner, 1953, 79-80). Efficient
transacting is taking a place on market where the prices are free and stabile with open markets
and within private property regime. When this preconditions are met and under the
preservation of accountable and consistent economic policy and warranted free choice of
contracting parties, economy will be on its production-possibility frontier.

On the other hand, free operation of the market forces inevitably leads to unwanted outcomes
in economic order as well as in other social suborders. From that reason is demended a
corrective role of state. But it has to follow strictly a set of the regulative principles. They
refer on broad range of policies in three domains: social policy, state regulation of market
structures and structural policies (Ivanovic, 2016, 77). Particularly, Eucken divided regulative
principles in four broad categories: regulation of monopolies, accountability, income
distribution and erratic shifts in supply (e.g. Eucken, 1952, 291-304). The social policy issues
took a large part of academic debate (Riistow, 1956; Briefs, 1957; Erhard, 1961; Nawroth,
1961). The function of regulative principles is to neutralise negative consequences of free
market, but also to make constitutive principles sustainable in the long run. The need for
regulative principles is motivated by the fact that there is a strong dependancy not only
between different parts of economic order then also between economic and all other ,life
orders* (Eucken, 1952, 14). If a free market economy produces negative effects, e.g. in social
sphera by rising inequality, it will eventual undermine itself. The conjunction between
constitutive and regulative principles is based on scientific-objective insights into material
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economic nexuses (Reuter, 2010, 76) and not derived from abstract theoretical ideals or
models.

3. CONTEMPORARY CHARACTERISTICS OF GERMAN ECONOMIC
ORDER - MINISTRY OF FINANCE AND ,,WEISER RAT*

In this part we try to adress the main academic ideas and research interests of those persons
importantly influencing strategic decisions regarding German economic system. Although it
encompasses a broad range of people, in our approach it is related to the key economic expert
in Ministry of Finance (MF) as well as the members of Council of Experts (CoE). We try to
access through that not only the specificity of leading contemporary economic ideas than also
the range of continuity between its present day character and featurs of its origines right after
WWIL.

We elaborate the academic profile of the key expert figure in MF, not aiming to analyse the
position of Finance Minister - Wolfgang Schauble, although it would perfectly match with the
story of early days of West Germany. Coming from conservative and thrifty province of
Baden-Wiirttemberg, his leadership perfectly reflects the strong continuity, adjusted for the
political role, with the ideas of SME. He alone was the student of Freiburger professor Fritz
Rittner, finding himself under the strong influence of the ideas of Ordoliberalismus, but also
liberal intelectuals such was Fridrich von Hayek. Much more interesting and to the subject of
this paper is the work of Ludgar Schucknet, main economist in MF and one of the few in MF
with economic background. Namely, majority of the staff are layers pronouncing indirectly
the importance and dominance of ,,rule* based character of economic policy and subordinated
role of discretionary policy (Schieritz, 2015).

One of Schucknet’s latest works addresses an influence of large financial investors on
inflation and requirs their strong monitoring (Gattini et al, 2012, 23), which is directly in line
with core ideas within SME, i.e. functional system of relative prices and regulation of
monopolies. Further, in analysing problems with the fiscal domain in EMU area, he points out
on the key challenges of fiscal policies and proposes more concentration and coordination on
supra-national level of fiscal policy. On the other hand, responsibility for financial obligations
as well as decisions about composition of expenditures have to remain on national level
(Schuknecht et al, 2011, 17). The look on the austerity of fiscal policie is also clear: the role
of ambitious public expenditures retrenchment tends to lead to improvements in fiscal and
growth prospects of national economies (Hauptmeier et al, 2007). In case of supersized
budgets and high public debts it is the first best solution which preserves the fundamentals of
market economy.

The members of CoE are also following very closely the line of reasoning and the main ideas
of SME. CoE was formally established in 1963. Its main goals are to facilitate the process of
decision making within all public entities as well as to inform public about the issues
important for quality and sustainability of German economy (Uber uns/Aufgaben und
Organisation, 2016). The link with intelectual origins of SME is twofold. First, the main ideas
of SME were under the strong influence of Catholic social teaching, especially those of O.v.
Nell-Breuning. He looked on the idea of CoE as an important tool for objectification of
economic policy (Nell-Breuning, 1963). The part of political elite, especially chancellor
Konrad Adenauer, was, on the other hand, very sceptical about its role, but not the key figure
in economic issues and one of the founders of SME - L. Erhard (Tietmeyer, 2011). Second,
the high academic profile of the protagonists of SME and CoE as well as high visibility and
influence in public are additional common feature. The current members of CoE are
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Christoph M. Schmidt, Peter Bofinger, Lars P. Feld, Isabel Schnabel and V. Wieland. The
look on their academic work contributes to an understanding of the characteristics of
contemporary economic policy, at least the strategic dimensions of it.

Stability of legal framework is understood as a cornerstone of economic and social order by
all members of CoE. The importance of strong and independent judiciary is, in concreto,
crucial for economic growth (Voigt et al 2015, Feld and Voigt, 2003), which is closely related
to property rights protection, efficient contracting and minimizing transaction costs as well as
to the key institutional pillar within SME - private property.

The urgent issues were and are shaping the direction of academic debate in the past and in
present days. Namely, as it was the case with social policy within SME, the problems of
public debt and imbalances in public finances are dominantly determining the academic
dabate within CoE. Rule based fiscal policy with strong orientation on stability and balanced
expenditures should contribute escaping the risks of government default (Bofinger, 2010). It
does not exclude the need for smaller countries to have more ,,room* for fiscal policy which
should enable them to cope with the risks of external shocks (Bofinger, 2002). Sound fiscal
positions are the best warranted within the appropriate decentralised institutional
infrastructure (Feld, 2016), which better promotes the sustainability of public finances (Feld,
2015). In context of current euro crisis, the Keynesian multiplier is also questioned (Cwik and
Wieland, 2011), returning the focal point to the constitutive principles and Ordnung as an
solution for the economic problems in euro area countries.

Although the regulatory work of of monetary authorities is crucial in combating ,,financial
bubles®, there are also the risks of state capturing on the part of financial sector (Hanekes and
Schnabel, 2014a) as well as potentially incentive wrecking impact of regulation (Hanekes and
Schnabel, 2014b).

The risks of further centralisation in EU, the lack of democratic legitimacy as well as the
problems of enforcement of more centralised rules are pointed out (Dullien et al., 2015),
implaying evolutive and cautious approach to firmer institutional transformation and
centralisation in the EU.

The concentration on acute problems of economic policy in the EU as a whole and in member
states particulary made some other issues less pronounced, but not completely. The EU
structure is even observed by some members of CoE (see more: Boefinger, 2016) as a
framework for solving the social issues. Thus, the importance of EU as a community
overreaches simply economic character of it and it is in line with the views within SME (see
further: Miiller-Armack, 1966).

4. CONSLUSION

Two main conclusions could be made. There are strong correspondences between after WWII
and contemporary economic ideas in Germany. In a way in which the social question played
an important role in after war period, the fiscal policy in after-crisis period plays the role in
work of members of CoE today. Both past and present ideas pronaunce the importance of
postitive and less normative aproach to analysis, although there are strong consistancy in
normative positions between observed academicians and periods.

131



REFERENCES

Asatryan, Z., Feld, P. L. & B. Geys (2015). Partial fiscal decentralization and sub-national government
fiscal discipline: Empirical evidence from OECD countries. Public Choice, 163(3-4), 307-320.

Bofinger, P. (2016). Europa ist kein Shopping-Mall. Die Zeit, Nr. 31/2016.

Bofinger, P. & S. Ried (2010). A new framework for fiscal policy consolidation in Europe.
Intereconomics — Review of European Economic Policy, 45(4), 203-211.

Bofinger, P. (2002). The EMU after three years: Lessons and challenges. Working Paper No. 33.
University of Wiirzburg, Chair for Monetary Policy and International Economics.

Briefs, G. (1967). Von der sozialen Phrase zur Wahrheit der Dinge. In: A. Miiller-Armack und H. B.
Schmid (Hrsgs.) Wirtschafts- und Finanzpolitik im Zeichen der Sozialen Marktwirtschaft.
Festschrift Franz Etzel. Stuttgart-Degerloch: Seewald Verlag, pp. 231-242.

Cwik, T., & Wieland, V. (2011). Keynesian government spending multipliers and spillovers in the
euro area. Economic Policy, 26(67), 493-549.

Dullien, S. et al. (2015). Europdische Union—Vertiefung moglich und nétig?. Wirtschaftsdienst, 95(9),
583-602.

Erhard, L. (1961). Soziale Ordnung schafft Wohlstand unf Sicherheit: Rede vor dem Bundesparteitag
der CDU am 26. April 1961 in Koéln. In: Deutsche Wirtschaftspolitik — Der Weg der Sozialen
Marktwirtschaft, Econ-Knap, 1962, Diisseldorf, S. 567-587.

Eucken, R. W. (1952). Grundsdtze der Wirtschafispolitik. Tibingen: J.C.B. Mohr (Paul Siebeck).

Hagemann, H. (2013). Ordoliberalism, the Social Market Economy and Keynesianism in Germany
1945-1974. History of Economic Thought and Policy, 15, 37-51.

Hakenes, H. & |. Schnabel (2014a). Bank bonuses and bailouts. Journal of Money, Credit and
Banking, 46(s1), 259-288.

Hakenes, H. & I. Schnabel (2014b). Regulatory Capture by Sophistication. CEPR Discussion Papers
No. 10100.

Hauptmeier, S., Heipertz, M., & Schuknecht, L. (2007). Expenditure Reform in Industrialised
Countries: A Case-Study Approach. Fiscal Studies, 28(3), 293-342.

Heiko, T. B., Feld, P. L. & E. A. Kohler (2016). (Un-)Sustainability of public finances in German
leander: A Panel time series approach. Economic Modelling, 53(3), 254-265.

Gattini, L., Pill, H. & L. Schuknecht (2012). A Global Perspective on Inflation and Propagation
Channels. ECB Working Paper, No. 1462.

Huchinson, T. W. (1979). Notes on the Effects of Economic Ideas on Policy: the Example of the
German Social Market Economy. Zeitschrift fiir die gesamte Staatswissenschaft/Journal of
Institutional and Theoretical Economics, 135(4), pp. 426-441.

Ivanovi¢, V. (2016). Institucionalne pretpostavke socijalno-trzisne privrede kao modela transformacije
privrede Srbije. U: V. Lekovi¢ (Izd.) Institucionalne promene kao determinanta privrednog
razvoja Republike Srbije. Kragujevac: Ekonomski fakultet Univerziteta u Kragujevcu, 71-89.

Michaelis, H. et al. (2015). Keine Notwendigkeit einer Reform des Gesetzes zur Férderung der
Stabilitdt und des Wachstums der Wirtschaft. Arbeitspapier, Sachverstindigenrat zur
Begutachtung der Gesamtwirtschaftlichen Entwicklung, No. 02/2015.

Miiller-Armack, A. (1966). Wirtschaftsordnung und Wirtschaftspolitik — Studien und Konzepte zur
Sozialen Marktwirtschaft und zur Europdischen Integration. Freiburg im Breisgau: Verlag
Rombach & Co GmbH.

Nawroth, E. E. (1961). Die Sozial- und Wirtschaftsphilosophie des Neoliberalismus. Heidelberg: F. H.
Kerle Verlag.

Nell-Breuning, v.O. (1963). Versachlichung und Sachverstidndigenrat. In: K. Nemitz und R. Becker
(Hrsgs.) Gewerkschaft, Wirtschaft, Gesellschaft: Beitrdge zu wirtschaftlichen und sozialen
Gegenwartsfragen. K6ln: Bund-Verlag, S. 3-54.

Reuter, H-R. (2010). Die Religion der Sozialen Marktwirtschaft - zur ordoliberalen Weltanschauung
bei Walter Eucken und Aleksander Riistow. In: H. Bedford-Strohm (Hrsg.) Zauberformel Soziale
Marktwirtschaft?. Jahrbuch Sozialer Protenstatismus, Band 4. Giitersloh : Giitersloher Verl.-
Haus, 46-76.

132



Riistow, A. (1956). Wohlfahrtsstaat oder Selbstverantwortung. Wirtschaftspolitische Mitteilungen:
Wirtschaftsforederung, 12, Gesellschaft zur Ford, Ziirich.

Schieritz, M. (2015). Was denkt dieser Mann? Auf der Spur von Wolfgang Schdubles dkonomischen
Weltbild: Ein Grundkurs in Schdublenomics. Die Zeit, Nr. 41.

Schleussner, A. C. (1953). Fibel der Sozialen Marktwirtschaft. Diisseldorf: Econ Verlag GmbH.

Schuknecht, L., Moutot, P., Rother, P. and J. Stark (2011). The Stability and Growth Pact: Crisis and
Reform. ECB Occasional Paper Series, No. 129.

Tietmayer, H. (2011). Der deutsche Sachverstindigenrat und sein Einfluss auf die Wirtschafts-,
Finanz- und Wahrungspolitik. Virtelsjahrhefte zur Wirtshaftsordnung, 80(1), 35-43.

Tietmeyer, H. (1999). The Social Market Economy and Monetary Stability. London: Economica.

Voigt, S., Gutmann, J. & L.P. Feld (2015). Economic growth and judicial independence, a dozen years
on: Cross-country evidence using an updated set of indicators. European Journal of Political
Economy, 38(3), 197-211.

Feld, L. P. & S. Voigt (2003). Economic growth and judicial independence: cross-country evidence
using a new set of indicators. European Journal of Political Economy, 19(3), 497-527.

Uber uns/Aufgaben und Organisation, 2015. http://www.sachverstaendigenrat-
wirtschaft.de/ziele.html, accessed 29/08/2016, 13:27.

133






THE IMPACT OF PUBLIC SECTOR ON FUNCTIONING CONDITIONS
OF SMESIN SELECTED COUNTRIESOF THE EU

Ada Domanska®
Robert Zajkowski?

Abstract: The purpose of this paper is to show to what extentstate interference in the economy

affects the conditions of functioning for small anddium-sized enterprises in selected EU countries.
Countries selected for the analysis are economi¢iseoformer Eastern bloc which have already gone
through the accession process. The data on SMiatisin were taken from the Fact Sheets of the EU
program Small Business Act. Due to the fact thattariables proposed to describe the business
environment differ significantly it was necessarystandardize them. The zero unitarization method
was applied to rank countries correctly. Specidéation in this paper is devoted to Poland and the
situation of businesses operating in this countiye research has identified some areas requiring
urgent changes. It is crucial to improve the sitoatso that companies could play its role in the

economy. It has also been marked out which cowtrld be an example of good solutions that

support business development.

Keywords:SMEs, Small Business Act, formemr Eastern Bloc
JEL Classification: L26, O57, P20

1. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this paper is to show to what extieatstate interference in the economy
affects the conditions of functioning for small amdedium-sized enterprises (SMES)
operating in the former Eastern bloc countries,clvimow belong to the European Union. The
SME sector plays a special role in developmennhdividual economies. They are considered
to be stimulants for a country's economic situatidheir operation is a sign of fair
competition and reflects society's entrepreneur@imatiuk, 2011).

The companies that have been prepared to take topgas offered by globalization and
acceleration of technological change are signiticelements for further improvement of
competitiveness and dynamic development of the &dnemy, allowing creation of new jobs
and ensuring a higher level of social cohesion. dlikty to exploit the potential of small and
medium-sized enterprises will be decisive for thaufe prosperity of the European Union
(European Commission [EC], 2008a).

Because of the important role of the SME sectotherfurther development of the EU, it was
positioned in the center of the Lisbon Strategy goowth and jobs through the use of
partnership approach (European Commission, 2008)erfity of environment in which

individual economic entities operate makes it vienportant to create the right program to
support SMEs - program which would take into actdhe diversity. Thus, in June 2008 the
European Commission presented an initiative whiauld further strengthen sustainable
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growth and competitiveness of SMEs, called the &iBakiness Act (SBA) for Europe
(European Commission, 2008b).

The fundamental assumption of the SBA was an ideathe most important thing to achieve
success is to change the perception of entrepremewsociety. Positive perception of aspects
concerning the SMEs functioning, in the form of reesed employment and economic
prosperity, should encourage people to start ankssi It is a pivotal point, crucial for
creation of a business friendly environment, thatiy the culture of entrepreneurship and the
associated willingness to take risk should be stpddy political leaders, the media, and the
authorities.

The program aims to create a new policy framewooksolidating already operating support
instruments for businesses. Its implementation astdke place through the political
partnership between the EU and Member Stateseabpects the principles of subsidiarity and
proportionality. A comprehensive policy framewosk hased on 10 principles employed to
guide the development and implementation of pdi@ethe EU and Member States level.
These principles are essential to contribute addéde, ensure equal conditions for SMEs
and improve the legal and administrative environim#mmoughout the European Union
(European Commission, 2008b).

2.LITERATURE REVIEW

Research shows that due to the fact that formeteEh&c economies were operating under
the ideology of communism and later went through Bt accession process, there may be
noticed a number of similarities between them (Geeka, 2007).

For this reason many researchers bring up the dulgé functioning conditions of
entrepreneurship in these countries. The final sledusiness environment in each country
is tied to historical and cultural issues. Thisaiion led to development of solutions which
appeared not to be efficient enough in post-satiabuntries (Estrin, Mickiewicz, 2012). The
strong attachment of post-socialist countries eogast (path dependency) is referred to in the
Douglass North'stheory (North, 1990). Other studiesfirm that historical burden in these
countries enhances tendency towards corruption¢twis intensified by weak institutions,
bureaucracy and inefficient law (Tonoyan, et. @010). Furthermore, there is a lower
acceptance for entrepreneurial activities (Manol&uanni, Gyoshev, 2008).

Moreover, it is pointed out in literature on theus of entrepreneurship in countries of the
former Eastern bloc, that the transition econori@ge lower rates of entrepreneurship than
are observed in other economies (Estrin, Mickiew10). Some other studies also confirm
this state of affairs (McMilllan and Woodruff, 200Estrin, Meyer and Bytchkova, 2006;
Aidis and Mickiewicz, 2006). There are also sigrafit differences that occur among the
countries. The development of entrepreneurshipdivan country corresponds to its level of
economic development. Innovation-driven economasgehhigher institutional and individual
level of development than similarly developed eéincy-driven economies (Trumbull, Szerb,
2016). It is important to recognise the reasongHisr differentiation.

Literature indicates that a large public sector hasegative impact on the functioning
conditions of enterprises, both due to high taxes lsigh state spending (Henrekson, 2005;
Minniti, 2008). High public debt can lead to lintitn of funds available to private entities
for financing their spending, i.e. the phenomenoin "orowding out" (Markiewicz,
Mitaszewicz, 2006).0n this basis, it was decidetbtoulate a hypothesis (H1), that a state's
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considerable participation in the economy has atieg effect on the functioning conditions
of enterprises.

On the other hand, business support programs daotg¢ by the state have a significant
impact on improvement of the functioning conditiomsd development of enterprises. A
study conducted in Argentina showed that the supgignificantly influenced the level of
employment in enterprises, level of wages and taiofity of export (Castillo, et. al., 2010).
The positive impact of public programs on the leMetmployment was also noted in Sweden
(Norrman, Bager-Sjogren, 2010). The impact of ldoélatives, launched by the Enterprise
Insight, on the newly formed enterprises and salpleyment rates was examined in the
Great Britain and turned out to be positive (Both&@12). The second hypothesis (H2)
assumes that business support programs carriehyotlie State have a positive effect on
functioning conditions of enterprises.

3.METHODOLOGY

As a part of the paper there was an analysis choue on small and medium-sized enterprises
in countries of the former Eastern bloc which acevrmembers of the European Union.

Relying on the literature, 11 countries were selédor a detailed analysis of the functioning

conditions of enterprises, such as:Bulgaria, Cagafizech Republic, Estonia, Lithuania,

Latvia, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Hupgdhe countries of the former Eastern

bloc also include the states of former Yugoslavia.

The information used in this article come from Heet Sheets of individual countries on the
degree of implementation of the Programme of thealBBusiness Act in 2015. The
advantages of employing this source are: statistcadibility, completeness of contained
data, and high comparability. A significant drawkaan the other hand, are emerging delays
in publishing parts of information by certain coues or total lack of them.

As a part of the Small Business Act program, défgrareas concerning the functioning of
small and medium-sized enterprises are presentaddordance with its 10 principles. They
include:

* Entrepreneurship

* "Second chance"

e "Think small first"

» “Responsive administration”

» State aid and public procurement

» Access to finance

* Single Market

» Skills and innovation

* Environment

* Internationalisation

Because of a large extent of these analyses, aspeetented in the article focus only on
flexibility of administration and availability oirfancing for SMEs. These areas were selected
because of their importance for functioning anafation of business entities.

Due to the fact that the variables proposed to rdescahe business environment differ
significantly it was necessary to standardize th€he zero unitarization method was applied
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to rank countries correctly. This method is apflieawith both quantitative and qualitative
variables and its simplicity leads to easy intetgdtien of gained results. Moreover, this
method fulfil three important criteria:

» After normalisation lengths of intervals of varitlyifor all features are the same.

* The lower and upper limits of intervals of varidyilfor all features are the same:
[0,1].
» Features which have a zero value can be also needgKukuta, 2012).

In the case of boosters (their growth causes thathrin the level of analysed phenomena)
there was used the distance indicator which dividdszidual countries from the best result
(including the EU average). The following formul& siandardization is used then in the
form:

XKk — XKmin

Tok Xkmax — XKmin
where:
Xs k— value of a normalized variable x for a given doyn
Xk — value of a raw variable x for a given country,
Xkmin, Xkmax — value of indicator in the weakest and the beahtry for a variable x.
In the case of inhibitors (if it increases, theweabf analysed phenomena decreases) opposite
scaling formula for standardizing was appliedotik the form of:

XKk — XKmin

Xkmax — XKmin

By using this type of standardization data can dmamared and aggregated. In addition, the
diversification of scaling for boosters and inhilog allow to determine the correct direction
and strength of an occurring phenomenon.

Data concerning the participation of state in tben®my and business support programs were
taken from the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (Bgl Singer, Herrington,
2016).Spearman's rank correlation coefficient whisha nonparametric measure of rank
correlation, was employed to verify presented higpses (Lieberson, 1964).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The formation of the SME sector and its impact ba tunctioning of economies proceed

differently in individual countries. Its specifigitdepends on a level of development and
socio-political system achieved by a given stateerbf there is a great similarity of operating

conditions, the role of small and medium-sized guiges will be different, and the degree of
development will be differentiated (Ignatiuk, 2011)

When analyzing the proportion of the number of $raal medium-sized enterprises in the
total number of economic entities it must be malgarcthat it stood at a similar level in
selected countries of the European Union (they wteal for more than 99.5% of all
companies in all analyzed economies), so the irdition was not the subject of deeper
inquiry. However, presentation of data concernimgtipipation of people emloyed in the
SME sector in relation to the total number of engpks in enterprises and share in the added
value of the various types of entities should hegimore attention (table 1).

Small and medium-sized enterprises employed fro¥ 6@ almost 79% of all company
employees in 2015, so this share was significadifferent in different countries analyzed.
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The smallest percentage in this respect was noticé&tbmania, Poland and Croatia (about
68%). Nonetheless, it should be mentioned thatdtribt differ significantly from the EU
average and even surpassed it. The largest nunitengoyed in the SME sector was in
Latvia and also where such companies generated thgiher than the EU average)
percentage of the added value. This may be dueetalinost equal dispersion of employment
between the micro, small and medium enterprises.highest share in the added value area,
however, belonged to SMEs operating in Estoniar(@&6). The main asset in favour of
such a high level seems to be a large percentagengbanies irthe information technology
and communicationsector. Moreover, the public sector of this coyntrontributed
significantly to the development of innovation.

Table1l The share of employed in the micro, small andiomadenterprises in the total
number of employees in enterprises and share iadted value of individual entities in
selected EU countries

Micro Small Medium - sized SME
Country
Employed | Value added | Employed | Value added | Employed | Value added | Employed | Value added

Poland 35,80% 15,00% 13,90% 13,90% 18,20% 21,60% 67,80% 50,50%
Bulgaria 30,20% 19,30% 23,80% 20,60% 22,10% 22,10% 76,10% 62,00%
Croatia 30,30% 18,70% 19,10% 17,50% 18,10% 19,00% 67,40% 55,20%
Rc(e:;icbr:ic 32,60% 19,20% 18,10% 15,30% 18,90% 21,00% 69,60% 55,50%
Estonia 30,90% 25,20% 24,20% 23,70% 23,00% 26,60% 78,00% 75,60%
Lithuania 26,60% 15,40% 25,70% 24,10% 24,30% 29,20% 76,70% 68,50%

Latvia 29,40% 18,60% 25,70% 23,40% 23,60% 26,90% 78,60% 68,80%
Romania 22,20% 13,50% 23,30% 16,10% 21,70% 20,00% 67,20% 49,60%
Slovakia 39,00% 27,10% 15,80% 17,70% 15,90% 16,50% 70,70% 61,20%
Slovenia 35,10% 21,70% 18,20% 19,10% 19,40% 22,30% 72,70% 63,10%
Hungary 34,60% 18,70% 18,60% 16,10% 16,30% 18,80% 69,90% 53,60%

UE-28 29,20% 21,10% 20,40% 18,20% 17,30% 18,50% 66,90% 57,80%

Source:Author’'s own elaboration based on 2015 SBA Faceghe

The lowest added value in relation to SMEs froneottountries was created by the sector in
Romania. The problems to which attention was dravimarily were the lack of a national
tourism strategy as well as underdeveloped and mpettive hotel infrastructure. Low
participation in this regard was also presentedshyall and medium-sized enterprises
operating in Poland. It was probably due to a hpgbportion of people employed in the
smallest entities - micro (over 35%), as well as gbctoral structure of enterprises itself (low
share of companies the business requiring professional expertise)

Subsequently, the impact of the SME sector, expte#gough the percentage of created jobs
and created added value, on the economies of edldot the analysis European Union

countries, did not differ significantly from the Eaverage. It should be noted, however, that
the situation in northern countries (Lithuania, \iatand Estonia) was much better than in
other countries. They can therefore be a role mémlebther economies, such as Poland,
where the SME sector's share in generated added igaétill quite low.

Responsive administration is an important elemeatuated in the framework of the Small
Business Act which determines the degree of puddtor's capacity to respond to the needs
of SMEs (table 2). It should be stressed thathis tegard the northern countries like
Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia perform the best. @hthorities in these countries try to create

139



a friendly business environment. Therefore, difiérgolutions are implemented such as the
Latvian single customer service network, which gnédes services of seven national
institutions, considerably reducing administrativeden. It may be accordingly assumed that
creating favourable conditions for the developmefhtthe SME sector by the public
authorities conduces to subsequent high added galuerated by these entities.

Table2 Responsive Administration in the selected EU toes (normalized data, marking:
BG - Bulgaria, PL - Poland, CZ - Czech Republic, E¥B&tonia, H - Hungary, HR - Croatia,
LV - Latvia, LT - Lithuania, R - Romania, SK - Slakia, SLO — Slovenia)

Aspects PL | BG| CZ |EW | H HR | LV LT R SK | SLO | UE
Time to start a business 1,00(0,67|0,780,72|0,89]0,78|0,89)]0,67|0,89|0,00]0,79 | 0,72
Cost of starting a business 0,701 0,90 | 0,00 | 0,54 | 0,40 [ 0,04 | 0,91 | 0,66 | 0,75 | 0,40 | 1,00 | 0,22
Paid-in-minimum capital 0,77 | 1,00 | 1,00 | 0,66 | 0,00 | 0,51 | 1,00 | 1,00 | 0,99 | 0,64 | 0,18 | 0,79
Time required to transfer property 0,711093|0,8010,8|087]035]0,86|1,00]|0,851|0,87]|0,00]0,78
Cost required to transfer property 0,94 0,42 ]10,20| 0,92 | 0,00 | 0,00 | 0,60 |0,84|0,70]| 1,00 | 0,60 0,11
Number of taxpayments per year 0,140,550 1,00]093|0,64]007]093|0,64]0,43]0,00]|0,64]0,59
Time it takes to pay taxes 045|000]011|100)|0471]0,66|070]|0,75|0,79]0,66|0,52]0,71
Cost of enforcing contracts 0,671045|0,00]055|089]095]0,49|0,46] 0,20 0,15 1,00 | 0,56

Fast-changing legislation and policies are a
problem for doing business
The complexity of administrative procedures is a
problem for doing business

SMEs interacting online with public authorities | 0,74 10,53 | 0,83 10,89 | 0,55 | 0,81 | 0,80 | 1,00 | 0,00 | 0,80 | 0,81 | 0,66

0,341045(0,20]1,00]0,09]|0,06|0,38|0,57]|0,00]|0,08]0,25] 0,28

0,340,011(0,22]1,00]0,22|0,10 0,59 | 0,66 | 0,00 | 0,12 | 0,10 | 0,28

Licenses and permit systems 0,55|0,08]1,001|0,78]|0,53]0,00]|0,60]0,27|0,15]|0,44]0,01]0,34
Burden of government regulations 0,671]057|0811]0001|081]100]043|0,62]0,52|090|0,86]0,51
Sum 8,02 16,50 |6951]983]6,36|5,32|9,17|9,14 6,27 | 6,06 | 6,77 | 6,57

Source:Author’'s own estimations based on 2015 SBA Factfhe

It is also worth paying attention to the fact ttieg indicators calculated for Poland are high as
well. We can be proud of a short time necessaryhi®restablishment of an enterprise and low
cost of such process. Problems occur in the tatesysespecially in a large number of and
much time spent on making tax payments. Enterpatseshave to face high volatility in legal
provisions and state policy, as well as compleaftgdministrative procedures.

The biggest challenges, however, await the compahi& operate in Croatia and Slovakia.
The most important issues there are a consideridde of stability of the law and
complicated administrative practices. The high adsttarting own business and time needed
for it also seem to be problematic issues.

The analysis of access to financing for SMEs inglected EU countries was hampered due
to the lack of partial data from some of the coiestrHowever, on the basis of the available
information, it should be noted that companies apeg in Estonia have to struggle with the
least problems in this area (table 3). Problemsahg caused by high losses from bad debts.
Other aspects such as the total time of gettind pabanks' willingness to lend do not cause
significant difficulties to economic entities.

There are also no major impediments in the acae$isancing for small and medium-sized
enterprises in Poland. Nonetheless, the area #wdsnsome repair indeed is the amount of
venture capital investment in relation to GDP. Hbgld be highlighted though, that this
problem exists in most countries, the only excephlieing previously mentioned Estonia.
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The biggest problems in terms of acquiring capi@aidure the companies operating in
Slovakia. The country has the lowest level of asdespublic financial support including
guarantees, and low willingness of banks to lendrddver, the indicator of strength of legal
regulations reached the lowest value in relationh#® other countries. It is a measure that
indicates whether legal provisions protect thetsghf lenders and how it affects the ease of
access to credit. The higher its value, the easisr to obtain this form of financing (M.
Zalewska, W. Zalewski, 2012).

Table 3 Access to financing for SMEs in the selected Buntries (normalized data,
marking: BG - Bulgaria, PL - Poland, CZ - Czech &, EW - Estonia, H - Hungary, HR -
Croatia, LV - Latvia, LT - Lithuania, R - RomaniaK - Slovakia, SLO — Slovenia)

Aspects PL|BG| CZ |EW| H |HR | LV | LT R SK | SLO | UE

Rejected loan applications and unacceptable loan offers | 0,64 | 0,46 | 1,00 | 0,87 | 0,44 | 0,68 | 0,27 | 0,00| 0,65 | 0,70 0,41] 0,72
Access to public financial support including guarantees |0,81]0,51]0,91|0,61]0,78]0,54|0,95]1,00|0,79|0,89|0,00]0,57
Willingness of banks to provide a loan 0,86|0,89|1,00]0,76|0,61|0,67]0,73|0,88]|0,75]0,81]0,00] 0,48

Cost of borrowing for small loans relative to large loans | 0,98 | 1,00 | 0,40 0,64 ]0,57|0,39]0,46 10,49 0,73 0,00|0,60 | 0,44
Total amount of time it takes to get paid 0,51]0,45]0,46|1,00]0,42|0,00]|0,64]0,38]0,57|0,39]0,04]0,17

Bad debt loss 0,9810,84(1,00|0,00|0,96]0,70(0,92|1,00(0,88]0,97|0,88]0,97

Venture capital investments 0,0010,00]0,00|1,00]0,01]| ND | ND | ND |0,00| ND | ND | 0,01

Strength of legal rights index 0,57)0,8610,57|0,57]1,00|0,29]|0,86|0,43]|1,00|0,57]0,00]0,39

Sum 5,35(5,01]5,34|5,44|4,79]3,27|4,81|4,17]5,36 | 4,34 1,93 ] 3,75

Description: ND - no data available

Source:Author’'s own estimations based on 2015 SBA Factfhe

In order to verify the presented hypotheses thea®p&n's rank correlation coefficient was
calculated between the functioning conditions oftegrises in respect of flexible
administration, access to financing and publict@elinted in relation to GDP, assessment of
state policy in terms of taxes andbureaucracy i@grout by the Global Entrepreneurship
Monitor [GEM]), claims on central government inagbn to GDP, assessment of state policy
in terms of support and relevance (GEM), as welltlas assessment of government
entrepreneurshipprograms.

Table4 Spearman's rank correlation coefficient betweemened characteristics.

Features Responsive administration Access to finance
Public debt counted in relation to GDP -0,591 -0,755**
Government policies: taxes and bereaucracy 0,583 0,833**
Claims on central government in relation to GDP -0,745** -0,518
Government policies: support and relevance 0,667* 0,200
Government entrepreneurship programs 0,788* 0,520

*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level, **Cefation is significant at the 0.01 level

Source:Own estimations based on Small Business Act Fae¢tStand Global Entrepreneurship
Monitor

Calculated Spearman's rank correlation coefficigtable 4) show that the functioning
conditions of enterprises are strongly negativediated with the level of public debt
expressed in GDP (in relation to GDP) and claimsentral government to GDP. They are
however strongly positively correlated with the eppiate state policy on taxes
andbureaucracy. This confirms the first hypothesssuming that a considerable state's
participation in the economy has a negative effent the functioning conditions of
enterprises.
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State policy in the field of support and relevanag,well as government business support
programs are strongly positively correlated withhdtioning conditions of enterprises, what
confirms the second hypothesis.

5. CONCLUSION

There is a significant difference in the conditiamsler which businesses in the selected for
the analysis EU countries operate. The cause efditiiation is a different level of state's

participation in individual economies, as well adiferent effectiveness of business support
programmes.An example of a state which to a largené supports the development of

entrepreneurship and creates conditions for aldaitausiness environment can be Estonia.
Lithuania and Latvia stand out as well in comparismthe other economies. Poland fell quite
average however.

In order to improve the functioning conditions ofterprises, the government must introduce
business support programs. It has to be stresssdvieo, that an increase in taxes cannot be
the source of their funding because it is relatedhe limitation of income in the private
sector. It is crucial to maintain public spendinighee appropriate level so as not to trigger a
budget deficit, which would lead to an increaséhia public debt for it negatively affects the
business environment. It is therefore importankdep a correct balance between the state's
participation in the economy, expressed in pubéibtdthe amount of taxes, bureaucracy and
government business support programmes.

REFERENCES

Aidis, R., Mickiewicz, T.(2006). Entrepreneurs, Expations and Business Expansion: Lessons from
LithuaniaEurope-Asia Studie$8, p. 855-880.

R. Botham R. (2012). Evaluating Policy InitiativéBhe Case of Enterprise Insight's Local Youth
Enterprise Campaigns. InGovernment, SMEs and Entrepreneurship Developmialicy,
Practice and Challenge®f.A. Blackburn, M.T. Schaper (eds.), Gower, pi-250.

Castillo, V.,Maffioli, A., Monsalvo, A., Rojo, S.Stucchi, R. (2010). Can SME Policies Improve Firm
Performance? Evidence from an Impact Evaluatiodrigentina, OVE Working Papers 0710
Inter-American Development Bank, Washington.

Czarnecka, A. (2007).Droga fmw bylego Bloku Wschodniego do akcesji do Unii
EuropejskieZeszyty Naukowe Zaktadu Europeistyki¥¥gj Szkoty Informatyki i Zajdzania w
RzeszowieNumer 1/2007 (3), p. 223 — 230.

European Commission (2008Bhink Small First, a Small Business Act for EuroRetrieved from
http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_|IP-08-1008trar(10.03.2016).

European Commission(200Bhplementing the community Lisbon programmemodita Solicy for
growth and employment  Retrieved from: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52005DC0551(15.03.2016)

European Commission(2008Ietrieved fromhttp://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-conteRt/TXT/?uri=
URISERV%3Aet0001 (12.03.2016).

Estrin, S., Meyer, K., Bytchkova, M. (2006). Entrepeurship in TransitionEconomies. In: M. Casson
(ed).The Oxford Handbook of Entrepreneurshixford: Oxford University Press, p.693-723.
Estrin, S., Mickiewicz T. (2010). Entrepreneursimptransition economies: The role of institutions

and generational chand@A Discussion PapeiN0.4805.

Estrin S., Mickiewicz T. (2012). Shadow economy amirepreneurial entryReview of Development
EconomicsVol. 16, Iss. 4, p. 511-680.

Fact SheetsSmall Business Acf2015). Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/growtig's/business-
friendly-environment/performance-review/index_em#iannual-report (03.03.2016).

142



Henrekson, M. (2005). Entrepreneurship: A Weak Limkhe Welfare Staténdustrial and Corporate
Change 14 (3), p. 437-467.

Ignatiuk, S. (2011). Wplyw przeddiiorstw z sektora MSP na rozwoj gospodarczy poétnecn
wschodniego regionu krajiekonomia i Zargdzanie Tom 3 Nr 2, p. 7 - 20.

Kelley, D., Singer, S., Herrington, M. (2018015/16 Global ReportGlobal Entrepreneurship
Monitor.

Kukuta, K. (2012).Propozycja budowy rankingu obéktz wykorzystaniem cech #oiowych oraz
jakaosciowychMetody llgiciowe w Badaniach Ekonomicznydom XIII/1, p. 5-16.

Lieberson, S. (1964).imitations in the Application of Non-Parametric €ficients of Correlation,
American Sociological Reviewol. 29, No. 5, p. 744-746.

Manolova, T., Eunni, R., Gyoshev, B. (2008). Ingignal environments for entrepreneurship:
evidence from emerging economies in Eastern EurmBpgepreneurship Theory and Practjce
Vol. 32, Iss. 1, p. 203-218.

Markiewicz, 1., Mitaszewicz, D. (2006). Politykaskalna a maiwosci rozwojowe gospodarki.
In: Regulacyjna rola péstwa we wspotczesnej gospodanel. D. Kopyaiska (ed.), Printgroup,
Szczecin.

McMillan, J., Woodruff, C. (1999). Interfirm Relatiships and Informal Credit inVietnaQuarterly
Journal of Economigsl14 (4), p.1285-1320.

Minniti, M. (2005). Entrepreneurship and Networkt&xalities,Journal ofEconomic Behavior and
Organization,28 (2-3), p. 1-27.

Norrman, C., Bager-Sjogren L. (2010), Entrepresieipr Policy to Support New Innovative Ventures:
Is it Effective?International Small Business Journ&lol. 28 (6), p. 602-619.

North,D. (1990)nstitutions, Institutional changes and economid@enance Cambridge University
Press, Cambridge.

Tonoyan, V., Strohmeyer, R., Habib, M., Perlitz, (2010). Corruption and entrepreneurship: how
formal and informal institutions shape small firnehawvior in transition and mature market
economicsEntrepreneurship Theory and Practjdéol. 34, Iss. 5, p. 803-830.

Szerb, L., Trumbull, W. (2016). The DevelopmentEgsftrepreneurship in the European Transition
Countries: Is Transition Complete&trategic Change25 p. 109-129.

Zalewska, M., Zalewski, W. (2012). Zastosowanieaodgtdrzewa decyzyjnego w analizie probleméw
makroekonomicznych, Ekonomia iZargdzanie Tom 4 Nr 4, p. 58-69.

143






ASSESSMENT OF THE POSSIBILITIES OF HUMAN POTENTIAL
FOR ECONOMIC GROWTH

Tatyana Ivanova'
Alfiya Gafurova?
Snezana Zivkovi®

Abstract: There are increasingly more contemporary econ@rastd sociologists who believe that
economic growth should be assessed through humasogenent, based on the potential possibilities
of an individual, accumulation of the human potaintand its utilization to accelerate economic
growth. A great number of studies deal with theaidé human development in relation to resolving
socio-economic issues, but little has been accamgdi with regard to its empirical measurement. In
the contemporary stage of understanding the phenomef human potential, it is necessary to assess
the quality of social life and current economic ditions significant for the formation and realizati

of people’s possibilities in their activities. Tipaper provides a general review of the resultsrof
empirical research, which focuses not only on teeeasment of accumulated human potential, but
also on the analysis of an entire group of factbt influence the formation of personality.

Keywords: Human potential, Quality of life, Economic growth
JEL Classfication: F 43, O 15

1. INTRODUCTION

Numerous studies on the human potential and itssasgent have revealed the following: the
main difficulty in assessing the given categoryhiat the majority of significant indicators of
the state and development of human potential aaditgtive indicators, which means that
they are difficult to interpret from the standpowft managerial decisions. We believe that
there are not enough comprehensive studies ofiarfe human potential assessment for the
purpose of understanding the weak and strong aspédtuman potential development, and
finding and realizing the way to increase the leafdhuman potential.

2. METHODOLOGY

To confirm the above hypothesis, a public opiniarvey was conducted by an expert group,
whereby the respondents were divided into the Wolig age categories: 23-29, 30-39, and 40
and over

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In our opinion, it is the assessment of human p@tem its basic form that constitutes a
highly complex task, not the attempt to replacewith the concept of human capital
assessment or quality of life assessment, whiclonditonally affects the development of
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2 Ulyanovsk State University, Ulyanovsk, Russia, @inalfijal304@yandex.ru
® Faculty of occupational safety in Ni§, Serbia, @insnezana.zivkovic@znrfak.ni.ac.rs



human potential. The assessment of the qualityooiat life and of the current economic
conditions for the formation and realization of lampotential in work or in any other
socially acknowledged activity is doubtless impottia order to understand the phenomenon
of human potential within the contemporary stageesiearch. If such conditions exist, the
human potential can be realized as human capitaéprsesenting a source of income for its
holder. Nevertheless, the presence of specific ibond is no guarantee that the human
potential will be fully realized. The value of humaotential cannot be expressed solely in
terms of value indicators. Generally, it cannotrbduced to mere quantitative assessment,
since there are no methods for direct measurement.

By highlighting a similar hypothesis on the contand assessment of human potential, we
will attempt to present the assessment criteria. pAdgose the following classification of
indicators that could constitute criteria for hunpamential assessment:

» Attitude towards oneself as the holder of potentiabling with health, emotions;
* Work activities;

» Tendency towards improvement and acquisition of keewledge;

» Activity, life energy.

We will analyze the obtained results and explainndmnch level the inner human potential
lies, how much people take care of their own he@idrsonal physiological potential), how
willing they are to self-improve (professional paial), what the level of people’s life
activity is, and their tendency to study the newl aot be afraid of the unknown (creative
potential).

The first group of criteria is based on people’s attitude towards their hesith believe that
this aspect is significant as a person’s physioadaion is primarily the basis of their living
activity. The results revealed that 67% of the oesients regularly take measures to maintain
and improve their health, 60% of whom are engagethdividual physical exercising to
maintain their muscle tone. It is noticeable thHa¢ tespondents aged 30 to 39 are more
responsible towards their health, as opposed teetlaged 23-29, who appear to be careless
about their health: 23% do not spend any time oysiphl exercise, and 46% do not care
about preserving or improving their health. Regagditheir mental state, the young
respondents said that they are able to controf #rabtions (100%). At the same time, one
third of the respondents from age group 30 to 39 dwoubtful as to the calmness of their
nerves, just as one fifth of the age group 40 @rare (20%). This suggests that there are
sufficiently strong indicators of expressing caoe bneself and one’s own health, both
physical and mental. However, there is also a tecylef modern young people to give little
attention to their health, with their expressingnpdete confidence about having ‘steel
nerves'.

The second group of criteria includes interest in the work and tendency towards
professional development. To form an opinion acomydo these criteria, we analyzed the
responses to the following questiom0 you strive towards professional self-improvement
and do you like your work? Do you think some ofryidaas might significantly accelerate
progress in your field of work&nd the like. The results are shown in FigurenXadr opinion,
the results are somewhat puzzling due to theigitlal connection. For instance, 93% of the
respondents claimed that they like their work amat they strive towards professional self-
improvement, whereby the response was given by 100#te age group 40 and over, while
the youngest age group 23 to 29 expressed somatigiastion with their professional
activity. Regardless of the high percentage of éheko are interested in their work, only
13% of the respondents said they were willing edrprofessional literature during their free
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time, while 10% of all respondents and as many586 &f the 23 to 29 age group did not g
freetime reading any thought at all. Concerning wotkisiperhaps worth mentioning tl
possible strategic capabilities, which are mang@sthrough searching for one or sevi
alternatives of solving a set task. In this calse,tendency is similar for all three age gro
of respondents, whereby an averag: 77% claim that it is necessary to have sev
alternatives for a solution.

93%
0.9
08 77%
0.7
0.6
0.5 43%
0.4
03
02 13%
0 |
0.0

Tendency towards ~ Opting for reading ~ Search for several Contribution to
professional self-  professional literature  possible ways to  significant progress

improvement and solve set tasks  in the field of activity
interest in one’s own in which one
work participates

Figure 1 Results according to the second group of critendfiman potential assessn
Source:Own source

The results of how much the respondents acknowlddge own significance in the
professional sphere are fairly interesting (FigRje Forty-three per cent of all responde
believe their ideas can only partially affect thurse of events, wherebhis indicator of
‘doubt’ is even higher among the youngest age g&8ip 29 (54%), which suggests that
younger generation is unsure of their own strenligitks ambition, and regards work only
a source of income, not as a means of realizinig potential or actualizing their ideas in t
professional sphere. The mature generation (40caed), taught by experience, are 6
certain that their ideas could be sought and aedelpy the professional community, witt
slight caveat includedfavoralle conditions.

Do you think your ideas can contribute significantly
in your field of activity?

= Age Group 23 10 29
= Age Group 30 10 39
Age Group over 40

yes yes, with favorable  to a certain degree
conditions

Figure 2 Results of the survey on how respondents experig@ieown significance in the
professional field

Source:Own source

This leads to a conclusion that people who arerasted in their professional s
improvement are pron@® contribute to the professional sphere one wagnmther. Yet, thi
interest is by no means unconditional. Since amp@plishment in modern times requi
hard work and persistent effort, people are lethviitle time out of their working hours !
individually study the issues professional chanactéich was confirmed by the survey
the favorite literary genre. Unfortunately, negatitendencies were observed among
younger generations, who are supposed to be theesngf succes
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The third group of criteria is oriented towards the human tendency towards-
improvement and acquisition of new knowledge asegguisite for the manifestation a
realization of their potential. Most respondent8% understand that achieving a result t
expect is a form of success, and they are convihegcknow in which direction they shot
be heading in order to achieve a desired resuis. indicator is high in the age group 30 to
(over 60%), but decreases in the age group 40 emd(40%). Thiry-eight per cent from th
youngest group desire to be sought after and ssitdesvhich makes one think about 1
material aspect of such an opinion. In our opiniiis tendency is manifested through
desire to work in a prestigious position (if pible, a management position), to receive a |
salary with a minimum effort; interestingly enougimly one respondent from the young
age group holds a managerial position. Young géinardoes not think about creating va
for other people and hovineir work might be beneficial for the society. lontrast, amon
the more mature generation, which recognized kfeies, 2-30% are willing to create valt
for other people through their favorite wc

It is obvious that success requires more than wishing. It is necessary to expend the ef
into selfimprovement and both personal and professional ldereent. A half of al
respondents are willing to acquire new informatma knowledge, but only if it is absolute
necessary. In addition, 33% all respondents are willing to discover their ovapabilities
and possibilities through acquiring new knowledgat of which only 10% are from tf
youngest age group. In the age group 40 and ogspondents showed much less initia
with only 3% respnding affirmatively

Respondents over the age of 40 are already profedsiin their line of work and posst
considerable knowledge and experier

Responses to the question whether people are gviltiracquire additional knowledge at tF
own expese are shown in Figure 3. Knowing their possileitirecognizing the demands
society makes, and accepting modern tendenciegwlabment and the necessity of r
information, the respondents from age group 30%@i& willing to invest in themsees for
their own development (50% from the age group). Ybenger generation is only slight
behind concerning this indicator (46%), admittifge tknowledge they already have
insufficient for them to achieve their desired teswand ambitions. Theris a noticeable
declining tendency of the willingness to «improve from the youngest age group towe
the oldest (15-120% from each respective group do not wish to mvastheir own
development), whereby the 15% of the youngest ag@pgshould bconsidered a fairly hig
value for the indicator. The percentage of thosgeaided on this issue is also high (33%
60%).

Willingness to acquire additional knowledge at one’s own
expense

70%
60%
60%

40%

©w
=)
2
X

20%

10%

<
3

0

Age Group 23 to 29 Age Group 30 to 39 Age Group over 40

0%
Hyes HMno Mnotsure

Figure 3 Results of the survey on whether respondents diiagvio acquire additione
knowledge at their own expense

Source:Own source
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It makes sense to study the respondents’ opiniowlather they are willing to continue th
education on the foundation of their previous etioogFigure 4)

Do you plan to continue with your education?

= Yes, I am doing that right
now /I am preparing for
that

m Yes, butI don’thave the
means (time, money, etc.)

No, the education I
already have is sufficient

50%

® [’m not sure

Figure 4 Results of the survey on whether respondents dliegvio get furtler education as
a continuation of their current educat

Source:Own source

A half of all respondents said they did not feel areed for additional education. TI
indicator can be partially connected to the dadanfiFigure 3 with strong negatiindicators
of acquiring new information at one’s own expensel @ high share of undecidedne
Twenty per cent said they were interested in furéducation and development but ti
lacked the means. Only 7% (for which the creditsgte the younger grgp) are currently
involved in getting new educatic

The respondents’ motivation for acquiring new kneage is particularly interesting (FigL

5).
K 22%
500 - 15%
"8
0% L — T

Figure 5 Results of the survey on what motivates respontself-development
Source:Own source

Thirty-four per cent of all respondents are willing todaten their horizons and develop r
competences by receiving additional education, allnethis tendency increases from one
group to another: 57% of the older generation akested in broadening tir horizons
through additional education as opposed to only bf¥%e younger generation. Among |
motivating factors for additional education, salangrease is ranked second with 2¢
However, this factor is more prominent among thenger (31%) tharamong the older
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generation (17%). Professional advancement, asvaimn for additional education, is
relevant interest to the age groups 23 to 29 (189d)30 to 39 (15%) (Figure:-8).

Age Group23to 29

= Acquiring additional
professional knowledge

= Taking exams / receiving
certificates

= Broadening one’s
horizons / developing
new competences

m Salary increase

= Professional advancement

Figure 6 Results of the survey on what motivates respontself-development
(Age Group 23 to 29)

Source:Own source

Age Group 30 to 39

= Acquiring additional
professional knowledge

= Taking exams / receiving
certificates

= Broadening one’s
horizons / developing
new competences

= Salary increase

= Professional advancement

Figure 7 Results of the survey on what motivates respontself-development
(Age Group 30 to 39)

Source:Own source

Age Group 40 and over

= Acquiring additional
professional knowledge

= Taking exams / receiving
certificates

= Broadening one’s
horizons / developing
new competences

® Salary increase

= Professional advancement

Figure 8 Results of the survey on what motivates respontself-development
(Age Group 40 and over)

Source:Own source

Therefore, the respondents are certain about teetotin they need to take in order to achi
desired results and they have high ambii. It should be noted, however, that they cons
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acquiring new knowledge and information only ifsihecessary. A half of the respondent:
not consider getting additional education in thturfe, but salary increase is still given &
motivating facbr. This implies that their claims about willingse® accomplish goals do r
correlate strongly with the willingness to work dremselves by acquiring theoretical ¢
practical knowledge.

The fourth group of criteria is oriented towards understandimgw much people are actr
and interested in the various phenomena surrourttielg, and how and in which directi
the life energy moves them.

In order to manifest the potential present in evpeyson, it is necessary to strive
development and new kwledge, to adopt a proactive attitude to life, em@ursue set goal
It would be interesting to learn how developed akeenturous spirit is in modern peor
the engines of progress. Sixty per cent of allrédspondents said that they would thitbout
an idea that preoccupied them regardless of whadewdsth whom they were, with the a
group 40 and over prevailing with 80%. In case sameedismisses their idea, 60% said t
would abandon it provided they are presented wotivimcing argument

One of the survey questiorf$yould you be willing to do a job with which youeacompletel
unfamiliar?”, was aimed at understanding the aspiration antingiless people manife
when attempting to extract at least a portion @ifrthidden potentialThe obtained resul
suggest that the level of adventurousness increagspite all logic, from the younge
towards the older age groups.

Would you be willing to do a job with which you are
completely unfamiliar?

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%

m Yes, the unknown attracts
you

m Depends on the job

Age Group 23 to Age Group 30 to Age Group over
29 39 40

Figure 9 Results of the survey on respondents’ willingnessa a job with which they al
completely unfamiliar

Source:Own source

The survey revealed that 77% of the respondent® welling to take initiative at th
beginning of any activity, with an interesting tendy observed: 69% from the youngest
group, 75% from the middle age group, and 100% ftbenddest age group are willing
take initiative. We must stress that one fifthlof age group 23 to 29 had difficulty answet
the question about taking initiative. Likewise, 5486 the young respondents would |
answer the questioiAre you convincedhat your work will be successful stating the type
of work as the reason. As few as 3% of all respotgleften believe they will not be able
complete the set task and all 3% belong to the gesinage group. However, if they were
begin work and faiat it, 60% of all respondents claimed they wocddtinue with the work
even when it was apparent the obstacles are difficwvercome, which shows persistenci
dealing with set tasks.
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In our opinion, manifestation of the human potdngaimpossible without additional effort

and new ideas. Since both companies, which operaeompetitive surrounding, and people
are quicker to understand the necessity of selforgment under the circumstances that
require personal development. A portion of the oesients said they felt comfortable in an
atmosphere of confrontation, competition, and radilbn of one’s thoughts. Accomplishment
of set goals is by all means impossible withoutemaspiration. The human potential is
manifested through willingness to show initiatitle;ough confidence in one’s own strengths,
and through the ability to stoically endure failared move forward with one’s development.

4. CONCLUSION

The conducted survey was an attempt to learn wieatespondents think about the notion of
‘human potential’. Similar to the literature on ttegic, most respondents spoke of human
‘possibilities’ and ‘capabilities’, which again drms that there is no qualitative definition
that could serve as a basis for further investigatf human potential. Thirty per cent of the
respondents had difficulty answering this questidde find the following definition
noteworthy: “human capital is a set of the biggasn-manifested human capabilities,
possibilities, and qualities which, under favoratdaditions for their development, transition
from the state of potential into a state of exis&&nas it is the closest to our hypothesis.
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INFORMAL EMPLOYMENT IN THE WESTERN BALKANS

Gorana Krsti¢!

Ardiana Gashi?

Abstract: Despite being a wide-spread phenomenon, there is limited research on labour informality in
the Western Balkans. The main reason for lack of research has been related to lack of appropriate
data. This paper attempts to enrich our understanding of informal employment in this region. This is
first done by assessing informal employment definitions applied in Western Balkan countries and then
by examining the most vulnerable groups towards informality. We find that the incidence of informal
employment depends on the definition used and, consequently, that measures of informality are not
fully comparable between countries. Profile of workers most likely to be informal appears roughly the
same across countries. Men, oldest and youngest workers, those with the lowest level of education,
and employed in agricultural sector are most exposed to informality, although some caution is needed,
given different definitions applied in defining informal employment.

Keywords: informal employment, operational definitions, vulnerable groups, Western Balkan
countries

JEL Classification: J46, J82, J78,057

1. INTRODUCTION

Labour markets in Western Balkan countries are characterized by low labour force
participation, high unemployment and low employment rates. In 2012, on average, half of the
working age population was inactive, the highest rate being in Bosnia and Herzegovina (56%)
and lowest found in Macedonia (43%). The unemployment rate in Western Balkan countries
remains high, averaging almost 25 percent in 2015 (World Bank, 2016). The highest rate of
unemployment is found in Bosnhia and Herzegovina with 27.7 percent and the lowest rate
recorded in Albania at 17.1 percent. About one quarter of youth in the five Western Balkan
countries are neither in employment, education, or training (NEET). Unemployment rates of
youth and women are higher and a vast majority of unemployed are jobless for prolonged
periods (World Bank, 2016).

The presence of an informal sector in the economy may pose unfair competition to formal
firms; it deprives governments of potential tax revenue and diminishes a government's
capacity for regulatory oversight. According to the World Bank Enterprise Survey of 2013,
on average, 49.2 percent of firms in Western Balkan countries (Albania, Bosnia and
Herzegovina, Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia) competed against unregistered or informal
firms, compared to the average of 39.1 percent of enterprises in South east Europe and Central
Asia. The lowest share of firms declared to have competed against unregistered firms is found
in Serbia with 38 percent of such firms. The informal sector is found to be a serious
development constraint, since 26 percent of firms in the above noted countries identified
practices of competitors in the informal sector as a major constraint, while the average in
South east Europe and Central Asia is recorded to be 21 percent.’

! Faculty of Economics, University of Belgrade, e-mail: gkrstic@ekof.bg.ac.rs
2 Faculty of Economics, University of Prishtina, e-mail: ardianag@gmail.com
% http://www.enterprisesurveys.org/data/exploretopics/informality#all-countries



Although different and imperfect definitions are applied in depicting informal employment in
covered countries, it is certain that a significant share of employees work informally, ranging
from 20 to 30 percent of the workforce (Table 1). Working informally, employees do not
contribute to pension funds and as such they become a burden for future generations’; they
cannot benefit form legal rights as defined by laws; and usually these employees are paid less
than their peers who work formally. On the other hand, the burden of safeguarding social
development rests on registered employees who have to contribute more to make up for the
unregistered employees and the unemployed workforce.

By not declaring employees businesses and the employees prioritise personal short-term cash
solutions rather than long term social benefits, thereby stifling economic growth and
prosperity*. Despite being a wide-spread phenomenon, there is limited research on labour
informality in Western Balkan countries. The main reason for lack of research has been
related to lack of appropriate data. Given that informal employees represent a sizable segment
of the workforce and the negative impact to businesses, employees and the country as a
whole, this paper focuses on informal employment.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 provides a literature review on informal
employment in Western Balkans; Section 3 outlines methodology; Section 4 presents main
findings and Section 5 outlines concluding remarks and recommendations.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This section first presents regional studies focusing on informal employment in Western
Balkan countries, and then a literature review for each country.

Informal labour markets have not been studied intensively in these countries, although
informal employment is wide-spread in this region. The three regional ILO reports provided
an overview of informal employment in some of these countries. ILO (2011) study presents
comparative overview of the nature and extent of informal employment in Albania, Bosnia
and Herzegovina, and Montenegro. The study reports that on average at least 30% of all
employees are employed informally. Women, youth, elderly and less educated and low skilled
labour are more prone to informal employment. The other ILO report (2012) compiled
statistics on non-agricultural employment in informal economy in 47 countries covering two
countries from the Western Balkans region, Serbia and Macedonia.” The lowest level of
informal employment (as a percent of non-agricultural employment) is recorded in the
countries of Central and Eastern Europe; Serbia (6.1%) and Macedonia (12.6%) are the best
positioned among them.

According to the ILO report Global Employment trends in 2013 (ILO 2013), high and
increasing informal employment remains one of the major challenges in most of the countries
of Central and Eastern Europe, despite improvements in other labour market indicators. All
Western Balkan countries recorded an increase in the informal employment rate between
2000 and 2010. The study also shows that Serbia and Montenegro had the lowest incidence of
informal employment in 2010 (19 percent), while Albania the highest (around 30 percent).

* http://ebrd-beeps.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/BEEPSV-complete.pdf
5 Both ILO studies used new concept of informality adopted by the International Conference of Labour
Statisticians (ICLS, 2003).
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2.1. The Republic of Serbia

A number of studies on informal employment have been conducted in Serbia. Several studies
found that the informal sector is a significant source of labour mobility in Serbia, providing
more job opportunities for the unemployed and inactive, but also having more job closures
than the formal sector (World Bank 2004, Krsti¢ 2012, Arandarenko 2011). Koettle (2013)
found that high labour taxes for low wage workers and benefit design provided incentives for
informal employment. Krsti¢ and Sanfey (2011) also pointed to the regressiveness of the
wage taxation system as a possible reason for the significant rise in informal employment
between 2002 and 2007 based on the LSMS data. The authors showed that informal
employees earned significantly less than those in the formal sector, even when controlled for a
range of other characteristics, and that informality played an important role in explaining
earnings inequality. Blunch (2015) also found a large formal-informal earnings gap, favouring
the formal sector, using the LFS data for 2008 and 2009. Similarly, using 2013 LFS data,
Radvansky and Stefanik (2016) reported that informal employees are more likely to be at the
lower end of wage distribution and that there is only a 20% likelihood of middle income
groups being informally employed.

Krsti¢ and Schneider eds. (2015) developed policy measures to enhance the formalization of
the shadow economy in Serbia. The authors estimate the shadow economy in Serbia to be
from 21% to 30.5% of GDP using three different approaches based on available macro data
and on a special survey of registered business entities in Serbia. A recent study by
Arandarenko (2016) argues the need to reform the tax benefit system and to lower labour
taxation in general, by reducing the labour tax wedge for low wage labour, and partially
compensating for the revenue loss by introducing direct progressivity of income tax.

2.2. Montenegro

Several studies on informal employment have been conducted in Montenegro. The Institute
for Strategic Studies and Prognoses (2007) analysed informal employment based on the
survey of households conducted in 2007. The authors estimated that 36.9 percent of all
employed individuals aged 15-64 years were informal workers, and provided a profile of
these workers. The other study ‘Strengthening of Social Dialog in Montenegro — Reducing
Undeclared Labour and the Grey Economy through Social Partnership’ focused on undeclared
work, which amounted to between 15 percent and 20 percent of total employment in
Montenegro in 2009. According to the study prepared by the Faculty of Economics (2013),
informal employment constituted 29.3 percent of total employment, based on surveys on
businesses and households conducted in 2013. Key causes of informal employment were
examined in the report prepared by the Union of Employers of Montenegro (2014).

Informal work was a special topic of the 2016 National Human Development Report (UNDP,
2016), which provided a comprehensive analysis of the causes and consequences of the
informal economy, and strategies for its formalization. The report shows a very high informal
employment rate of 32.7 percent based on surveys of households and businesses.

2.3. Bosnia and Herzegovina

The World Bank (2005), using the LSMS data, found that informal employment accounted
for 37 percent of total employment in 2001 and 42 percent in 2004, and that it is heavily
concentrated in the agricultural sector. Similarly, the European Training Foundation (2006)
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confirmed that increased overall employment between 2001 and 2004 was largely facilitated
by the growth in informal employment. The report also found that the mobility of the labour
force in Bosnia and Herzegovina was much higher than in other transitional countries, mainly
due to high informal employment and large inflows into and outflows from informal
employment. Krsti¢ and Sanfey (2007) analysed informal employment, poverty and mobility
using the LSMS data for 2001 and 2004. The authors confirm that the informal sector is a
significant source of labour mobility, providing more job opportunities for the unemployed
and inactive but also having more job closures than the formal sector; the pattern is similar to
that observed in Serbia. The Economics Institute of Sarajevo (2015) and Oru¢ (2016)
provided an overview of the labour market, with a focus on infomal employment using the
LFS data. The authors showed that informal employment constituted between 25 percent and
29 percent of overall employment in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and that it is mostly
concentrated in rural areas.

2.4. Albania

Focusing on informal employment in rural areas, Mece (2016) claims out that the high level
of unemployment in rural areas may shadow under employment or informal employment. The
study also highlights that women and youngsters in rural areas are particularly those engaged
in unpaid labor, which in Albania artificially increase labor force participation and
employment statistics while underestimating the rate of unemployment. Mara and Narazani
(2013), using data from the Albanian LSMS for 2005 and 2008 found that the 10 percent flat
tax introduced in 2007 has not contributed to the reduction of labour informality but the
impact has been driven by increases in formal sector wages, which have motivated individuals
to move to this sector. Additionally, the study found that compared to fines, controls and
audits were more efficient mechanisms in pushing employees to move from informal to
formal labour market. Authors conclude that a kind of progressivity should be back in the
taxation.

2.5. Macedonia

Given lack of accurate measures of informal employment, Garvanlieva et al. (2012) estimated
the shadow employment based on a simple approximation using the shadow rate as
percentage of the GDP applying the energy consumption method. Using a simplified
estimation, authors calculated that in 2010 the recalculated unemployment rate is 24%,
compared to the official 31%, by reducing the total number of official unemployed by almost
71,000 officially unemployed. Dzhekova et al. (2014) using LFS data, found that women
were mainly informally involved as unpaid workers in agriculture, whereas men as self-
employed or employers in unregistered firms. To measure informal employment, Garvanlieva
et al. (2012) estimate discrepancies between data on registered employment from the LFS and
data on salary payments processed by the Bureau of Payments Operations. Related to the
accuracy of informal employment, Mojsoska-Blazevski et al., (2009) claim that the provision
of health insurance is a factor inflating registered unemployment and supporting informal
employment and inactivity since these persons have access to health insurance (pp.112).

Evidence suggests that informal workers in Macedonia hold temporary contracts, are paid low
wages and hence more prone to be poor (Novkovska, 2008; Mojsoska-Blazevski et al., 2013).
Main factors pushing workers to work informally in Macedonia are considered to be the
social benefit system and the high labour taxation (Mojsoska-Blazevski et al., 2009).
Moreover, this study also claims that the provision of health insurance is a factor inflating
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registered unemployment and supporting informal employment and inactivity since these
persons have access to health insurance (pp.112).

3. METHODOLOGY

This section reviews available data sources and operational definitions for measuring informal
employment in the Western Balkans region. The LFS and the LSMS data have been used so
far for measuring the informal employment in five Western Balkan countries. The LFS is used
in most of the countries considered, while the LSMS is used to explore informal employment
in Serbia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Albania. The Survey of Income and Living
Conditions (SILC) has been conducted in Serbia, Montenegro and Macedonia.

Although the LFS exists in all considered countries in the region, in most countries it does not
contain all information necessary for defining informal employment according to the
methodology proposed by the ILO (ICLS, 2003). For these countries, for the purposes of this
research, we will use other proxies for informal employment based on the LFS, or rely on
unofficial data sources. Special ad hoc national representative population surveys focusing on
informal employment were conducted in Serbia, Montenegro, Macedonia and Albania.

Estimates of the informal employment rate in Western Balkan countries and operational
definitions of informal employment based on data provided by official LFS reports are
presented in Table 1. For some countries, we include alternative definitions of informal
employment. They are based either on expert estimates using the LFS data or on unofficial
data sources which provide better coverage of informal employment.

Before providing estimates of informal employment that will be used in this study, we
examine what information can be obtained from the official LFS reports for each country.

Information on informal employment in Serbia has regularly been published since 2008 based
on the LFS. The LFS questionnaire contains most of the specific questions necessary for
measuring informal employment according to the ILO (2013). The SORS definition of
informal employment covers: (a) workers in unregistered firms; (b) workers in registered
firms but with no written contract and with no health or pension insurance paid; and (c)
unpaid family workers. Besides the LFS, the Survey of Income and Living Conditions (SILC)
can be also used for measuring and analyzing informal employment in Serbia, as it collects all
information required for a proper definition of informal employment. It has been conducted
on a regular basis since 2013.

The LFS is regular official survey in Montenegro based on which some components of
informal employment can be continually tracked. It allows partial estimates of informal
employment, given that only two components of informal employment can be estimated, i.e.,
employees without a contract and unpaid family workers. They constituted only 6.4% of total
employment in 2015 (MONSTAT, 2014).

Given these constraints in the LFS data, for the purpose of this research we will use the
Montenegrin household survey on working conditions which was conducted by the IPSOS
Strategic marketing agency in 2014. The survey was designed to encompass the concept of
informality in the best possible way. Thus, informal employment covers: (a) employers, self-
employed and employees in unregistered firms; (b) employees in registered firms but with no
written contract and with no health or pension insurance paid; (c) employees with a contract
who receive an envelope wage (part of their salary is not taxed nor are social contributions
paid). This definition is broader than the one used in Serbia as it also includes employees
with a contract but with only partially paid contributions. However, due to comparability
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issues we will use the same definition as applied in Serbia. The survey was carried out on a
representative sample of 1,273 household members, aged 15 and above, who had a job, or
were seeking one in the week preceding the interview.

Similar to Montenegro, official estimates of informal employment for Bosnia and
Herzegovina based on the LFS data are not available. However, the LFS collects information
on health and pension insurance paid, which can serve as a good proxy for informal
employment. We use the definition of informal employment provided by Oru¢ (2016), which
covers employees with pension insurance paid based on the LFS data.

For Macedonia LFS survey contains information on employed persons who are not registered
(in their main job) in the Pension Fund, the Health Fund and/or an Employment Agency,
which is used to measure informal employment. Using this definition, the regular LFS annual
report explicitly provides data on informality.

Table 1 Informal employment rate in the Western Balkans region

Country & Data Informal
source employment Operational definitions of informal employment
rate (%)

Serbia

Workers in unregistered firm; workers in registered firm but
LFS report, 2015 20.4 with no written contract and with no health or pension
insurance paid; unpaid family workers.

Montenegro

LFS report, 2015 6.4 Employees without written contract or with oral agreement;
family workers

Survey of Employers, self-employed and employees in unregistered

households, IPSOS, 22.3 firm; employees in registered firm but with no written

2014 contract and with no health or pension insurance paid.
Employers, self-employed and employees in unregistered

Survey of 32.7 firm; employees in registered firm but with no written

households, IPSOS, contract and with no health or pension insurance paid,;

2014 employees who receive an envelope wage (part of their

salary is not taxed nor is social contributions paid).

Bosnia and Herzegovina

LFS report, 2015 59 Unpaid family workers
LFS, 2014 29.1 Employees with no pension insurance paid (Oru¢ 2016).
Macedonia

Employed persons who are not registered (in their main
LFS report, 2015 19.9 job) in the Pension Fund, the Health Fund and/or an
Employment Agency.

Albania
LFS report, 2015 30.0 Contributing family workers

Source: LFS reports for each country

For Albania, LFS survey gathers information on self-employed without employees and unpaid
family workers. In the 2015 LFS report, in defining informality a reference is made to the ILO
definition, based on which informal employment accounts only for unpaid family workers but
does not include self-employed without employees. Besides the LFS, for Albania, the LSMS
survey can be used as a data source to measure informality, as indicated in previous section.
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The LSMS questionnaire includes a question on whether employed persons are entitled to
benefits of social security which can be used as an approximation for informality. However,
the survey is not done on a regular basis and so far, four rounds have been undertaken (in
2002, 2005, 2008 and 2012).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This section provides evidence for labour informality in Western Balkan countries and
presents groups of workers that are more prone to informality.

Based on assessment in the previous section, we derive three conclusions related to incidence
of informal employment. First, the operational definition of informal employment differs
between countries depending on data availability, from the most exhaustive provided for
Serbia and Montenegro to the narrowest one for Albania, where it includes only contributing
family workers. Second, different measures of informality have different quantitative
implications which can be observed within a single country and/or between countries. While
the lowest incidence of informal employment for Montenegro is given by employees without
a written contract or family workers based on the LFS (6.4%), the highest number emerges if
we use Montenegrin household survey on working conditions and a definition based on
envelope wages (32.4%). A similar situation is detected for Bosnia and Herzegovina, given
that incidence of informal employment varies from 5.9% to 29.1% depending on the
definition used. Third, measures of informality are not fully comparable between countries.
Comparability is achieved for Serbia and Montenegro, as both countries use the same set of
questions for distinguishing informal from formal work. Broad comparability appears for
Bosnia and Herzegovina and Macedonia, given their similar measures of informality based on
payment of social security contribution.

4.1. Informal employment by gender

In Serbia, more men than women are informally employed (55% vs. 45%), but women are
more likely to be in informal employment as compared to men, given that the informal
employment rate of women is higher than that of men (21.3% vs. 19.6%). This is explained
by the higher share of men in total employment than in informal employment.

In Montenegro, men are more likely to be involved in informal employment than women,
which is in line with the low level of employment in agriculture (8.7%), where women
dominate as unpaid family workers.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, typical informal workers are men, as they account for about two
thirds of the informally employed. The difference between the informal employment rate of
men and women is 3.4 percentage points, which confirms that men are also more likely to be
engaged in informal employment. This is due to the higher share of men engaged in
agriculture, than women, which is the sector in which informal employment dominates.

Based on 2015 LFS, men in Macedonia constitute nearly two thirds of informally employed
persons and compared to women they are also more likely to be informally employed: the
informality rate of men is 21.1 percent compared to 18.2 percent for women.

In Albania, informality rates are almost identical for women and men. However, men seem
more likely to be self-employed without employees while women are more likely to be
engaged in unpaid family work.
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Figure 1 Informal employment rate by gender, latest available year

Source: 2015 LFS for Albania, Macedonia, Serbia; 2014 LFS for Bosnia and Herzegovina; 2014
HSWC for Montenegro.

4.2. Informal employment by age

In Serbia, workers who are most likely to be informally employed are those who are at the
margin of the labour market, namely the oldest ones, who are about to leave the labour
market, and the youngest, who have just entered it. Thus, the informal employment rate is
highest for the oldest and the youngest age groups (57% and 39% respectively), although
these two age categories have the lowest share in informal employment (11% and 10%).

In Montenegro, the informal employment rate decreases up to the age of 35-45, and then it
increases. This is in contrast to the employment rate which increases up to 35-45 and then
decreases (MONSTAT, 2014). Although most informal workers are aged 35-60 (59.9%), the
informal employment rate is the highest for the oldest age group (73% for those aged 65 and
above) and for the youngest (34% for those aged 15-24).

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, the oldest workers are also most exposed to informal employment
with the informal employment rate amounting to 86%. However, this group does not have a
large share in informal employment. The next age categories with the highest exposure to
informal employment are the youth and those aged between 55 and 64. These two age groups
have informal employment rates of about 36%.

In Macedonia, among the working age population, the informality rate is higher among youth
(aged 15-24 years) as nearly 40 percent are informally employed compared to the country
average of 19.9 percent. The informality rate among youth is higher for men than women. The
second age group which is most at risk of working informally is the age group 55-64 years
old. The vast majority of those aged over 65 years are informally employed.

In Serbia, the majority of informal workers have primary education or less (55%). Workers
with a low level of education are most likely to be engaged in informal employment. The
informal employment rate for workers with primary education or less is around 50%, while it
is only around 14% for those with secondary education and 3% for those with higher
education.

In Montenegro, as in Serbia, the higher the education level, the lower the informal
employment rate. While around 70% of workers with no education and 50% of workers with
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primary education work informally, this is the case with only around 8% of those with high
school and 5% of those with university education.
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Figure 2 Informal employment rate by age groups, latest available year
Source: 2014 LFS for Bosnia and Herzegovina; 2015 LFS for Macedonia; 2013 LFS for Serbia; 2014
HSWC for Montenegro.

4.3. Informal employment by level of education

In Boshia and Herzegovina, informal employment rates by level of education appear similar
to that of Montenegro, where around 86% of workers with no education work informally,
while this is the case for only 8% of those with higher education.
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Figure 3 Informal employment rate by level of education, latest available year

Source: 2014 LFS for Bosnia and Herzegovina; 2014 HSWC for Montenegro; 2015 LFS for Serbia.
4.4. Informal employment by sectors of economic activity

In Serbia, informal employment is most prevalent in agriculture, which is confirmed by very
high informality rate in this sector. Informal workers accounted for 62% of all workers in
agriculture, since unpaid family workers, who are by definition informal, are mostly
concentrated in this sector. Informal employment rates in industry and services are less than
10%.
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Figure 4 Informal employment rate in agriculture, latest available year

Source: 2014 LFS for Bosnia and Herzegovina; 2013 LFS for Serbia; 2014 HSWC for Montenegro;
LFS 2015 for Albania.

In Montenegro and in Bosnia and Herzegovina, informal employment in agriculture is even
more pronounced than in Serbia, since the informal employment rates in agriculture are 87%
and 90% respectively. In Montenegro, informal workers also dominated in households as
employers (91%) and in construction (36%). In Bosnia and Herzegovina, construction has the
largest share of informal workers (35%), after agriculture. In Albania, two thirds of informal
employment was present in the agriculture sector.

In summary, we can conclude that the profile of workers most likely to be informal across
countries is roughly the same, although some caution is needed when making comparisons,
given the different definitions of informal employment. Men are more likely to be involved in
informal employment in Montenegro and Macedonia, women are more likely to be informally
employed in Serbia, while no gender difference appears for Albania. The oldest and youngest
workers are most likely to be informally employed in all countries examined for which data is
available (Serbia, Montenegro, Macedonia, Bosnia and Herzegovina). Workers with primary
or lower education and those employed in agriculture are more exposed to informal
employment (Serbia, Montenegro, Bosnia and Herzegovina). In Albania, agricultural workers
are also most exposed to informality.

5. CONCLUSION

Although informal employment is wide-spread in Western Balkan countries, informal labour
markets have not been studied intensively in this region, and our knowledge of this
phenomenon is relatively limited. This paper takes stock of most relevant literature discussing
some important issues and provides evidence of the incidence and profile of these workers.

We demonstrate that the incidence of informal employment depends on the definition used
and, consequently, that measures of informality are not fully comparable between countries.
Comparability of measures can be achieved between Serbia and Montenegro, as both
countries use the same set of questions for distinguishing informal from formal work, as well
as between Bosnia and Herzegovina and Macedonia. The profile of workers most likely to be
informal appears roughly the same across countries, although some caution is needed, given
different definitions of informal employment. Men, oldest and youngest workers, those with
the lowest level of education, and employed in the agricultural sector are most exposed to
informality.
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We also identify the potential avenues for data collection and for further research. Regarding
data, the main recommendation for official statistics of most Western Balkan countries is the
collection of additional information in the LFS (and in SILC) required for the adequate
measurement of informal employment according to the ILO guidelines. From the policy
prospective, we identified two potential research areas: 1) determinants of informal
employment, mobility analysis, linkages with poverty and social protection; 2) assessment of
policies and mechanisms in combating informal employment in these countries and in
countries that managed to reduce informal employment.
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DEVELOPMENT OF INDUSTRIAL CLUSTERS - THE SPECIFICIT IES AND
FEATURESOF IT CLUSTERS

Slavoljub Milovanovié*
Zivorad Gligorijevi ¢
Ivana Kostadinovi¢?

Abstract: In modern conditions, increasingly important trésdinking small and medium enterprises
(SMEs) into industrial clusters.Permanent changesuaing in the global market, increased
competition and changes in the operations of mamgpanies have encouraged the SMEs to join the
clusters, and thus to be competitors to large gmises.Clusters are increasingly important because
they affect the progress and prosperity of smadl amedium-sized enterprises in every respect.lt is
easier for these SMEs to face the changes tha¢wadent in today's changing environment.Likewise,
it is easier for enterprises that join togethercinsters to face the competition, because theagdint
venture, cooperation and support of local instibag.Except joint ventures and cooperation, therothe
factors influencing development of the clustersemenmon interests of the members related to the
procurement, sales, labor and technology.The spetipe of industrial clusters are Information
Technology (IT) clusters and investment in thig tgpclusters can cause positive impact on economic
development. This paper pays special attentionpatificities, characteristics, types of IT clusters
and resources important for its development as.well

Keywords: Features of industrial clusters, specificitiesldfclusters, development of IT clusters
JEL classification:L86, M15, 014

1. INTRODUCTION

In the economic literature, clusters mentionedesib@90 when Porter (1990) emphasized the
importance of clusters to increase the competiosition of companies in the domestic and
international markets. He defines them as a gebgraponcentration of interconnected
companies, specialized suppliers, service provideras in related industries, and relevant
institutions (e.g. universities, standardizatioerages, tourism and trade associations), which
in certain areas compete with each other, but@sperate.(Porter, 1998)

On the basis of this concept is cooperation, asra pperation of at least two companies, in
order to increase business performance, and tHeaian of synergy effect - when the

combined effect is greater than the sum of theviddal effects. A strong competitive

advantage in the global economy lie mainly in lotadtors - knowledge, relationships,
motivation. These factors make differences that petitors can not easily copy, which can
best be developed through clusters. (Boskdostadinowt, 2011)

Clusters, therefore, arise primarily because ofrbeessity of survival of small and medium-
sized enterprises. Through their union, these compasimulate the operation of large
enterprises, while retaining legal and businesspeddence (BoskayiJovanow, 2009) .In

addition, the clusters are drivers of innovatiord @atonomic development (Porter, 1990).
Clusters represent one of the possible answeltsetprocess of globalization and the uneven
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regional development. Pooling of companies can tomgerating costs through unified
procurement, joint delivery, public performance,amihg training costs, transportation,
marketing and the likebordevi¢ et al, 2010)

Experience in the development of clusters in theopean Union (EU) and the world indicate
that the concept of clusters is an important parthe policy instrument of the local and
regional economic development, development of snaall medium-sized enterprises
(SMEs), stimulating competitiveness and innovafidiaksimovic, Micic, 2015). The aim of
this paper is to explain specificities of IT clust@and how these specific characteristics and
particular types of IT clusters influence developinprocess and success of IT clusters.
Before explanation of the specificities of IT clerst development, characteristics, types
advantages, establishment, development and strafeggustrial clusters are presented.

2. FEATURES, TYPES AND ADVANTAGES OF INDUSTRIAL CLU STERS

The cluster, which is developing at a locationtaiaty depends on the business environment.
Since this term is very broad, Porter in 1990 itied the "diamond" as an analytical tool to
explain the business environment. Overall, the di@ninvolves four elements: (1) the

production factors (physical infrastructure, skilletc.), (2) demand conditions (the

sophistication of local consumers, production amdsamer regulation), (3) strategy and
competitiveness (tax structure, laws on competitess, strategies of competitiveness of local
companies) and (4) the presence of appropriatepostipe industry.These elements are
interconnected and impact on the companies andectusThe diamond can be used to
analyze the quality of the business environmentthet regional and national level.

(Kostadinové, Petrové-Ranielovi¢, 2013)

As a basic cluster features stand out: high infeddency of all members of the

cluster;entering into strategic partnerships witistomers and suppliers in order to achieve
synergetic effect; clusters have a life cycle csinsy of several stages (embryonic, growth
phase, maturity phase, the phase of the dissojutidaster development is under the

influence of certain characteristics of the regi@emographic, cultural, economic);the

number of clusters increases with the level of eaun development, as well as improving

the competitiveness of the industry;cluster memlagesnot competitors to each other, but
together try to meet the needs of different pastner

Companies and institutions that are connected ustets have some significant common
features (Ketels, Orjan, 2006).0One important feataetates to the proximity of the location,

which means that all participants in the clustersmbe close enough in space.Another
important feature is the interconnection, which nsedhat their activities must have a
common goal, and the next characteristic is theramtion, which means that all the
participants are close, and their active interact®orequired.The fourth characteristic is the
critical mass that is necessary or a sufficient lneimof participants, which will have a

significant impact on the overall operations of toenpany.

Clusters are identified as the most relevant mmvoemic factor affecting the development
of a region and economic development of the regiorthe EU is associated with a power
level of the cluster. Around 38% of employees ia BU work in companies that are members
of a cluster, which makes it an indispensable peconomic reality in the EU (CEC, 2008).
The most important benefits of the associationoohganies in the clusters are: the increase in
production volume; improve product quality; increasxports; cost savings; companies
associating in clusters strengthen human resousckgher level of specialization; diffusion
of knowledge; greater flexibility (easier managemehchanges in the environment); better
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environment for innovative activities, developmantl collaboration (cooperation); it's easier
to solve the problems in business and make a smnasions in making some important
decisions through better information exchange.ighet al, 2012)

Therefore, clusters produce positive effects, whndluence the companies that are in it, and
the whole region where they are located, by engblih) increasing the number of jobs; (2)
skilled workforce; (3) a greater variety of processproducts and work; (4) the diffusion
technology; (5) decrease in inventories of materaald components; (6) a lower purchase
costs; (7) specialized services; (8) expansion afkets and opportunities for new business
connections; (9) management of large investmenjegi® in the region, and the like.
Depending on the characteristics of the entergaé@cipants and regions, clusters set their
priorities, namely, using the resources of thegioe and establish formal links that enable
the achievement of common goals. (BoSkpiostadinowvt, 2011)

In addition to these advantages, there are sontectiems and barriers that have a negative
impact on business clusters. As perhaps the mgsbriant obstacle to successful business
cluster highlights the lack of funding for coop@évat then the lack of confidence in the
cooperation partners, that is, in any kind of coapen with other institutions, lack of
knowledge and expertise of potential partners, elf & too many unrealistic expectations.
(Arsic, et al, 2012)

There are different classifications of clusterg, liere we present only the most basic types of
clusters that are generally accepted.

The clusters are characterized by two-dimensionthensense that present: (1) functionally
defined systems of interconnected activities arfjdsgiatially defined systems of similar and
related activities.Accordingly, one of the possiblassification makes difference between
clusters of functionally related system known agustrial clusters, and spatial groupings of
similar and related businesses and industries, kresvregional or local clusters (BoSkgvi
Kostadinové, 2011).

Industrial clusters usually composed of particisardctivities and resources, which are
connected for joint development, production aneésalf products and services.The fact is
that they are not limited to urban areas, but arended to encompass a broader scope, thus
covering the entire country or nation.The aim ofesth clusters is to strengthen
competitiveness in different sectors.Industriaktdus increase the productivity of companies
and groups in its structure, and thus influencectleation of added value.

Regional or local clusters represent the spatiglosgeration of companies and other entities
that perform the same or similar economic activitgating a base that effectively stimulates
spreading knowledge and creating different formdeafning and adapting.Unlike regional
clusters, there are clusters that are spatiallyjtdonand that are more oriented to technical
progress and innovation. (Micic, 2010)

In addition to industrial and regional clusterserth are also innovative clusters. These are
clusters that are constantly evolving and adaptmghanges in the environment. These
clusters are exploring opportunities outside itsent boundaries, combining inner strength,
flexibility, stability and sense of management. bl§uthey are established to create new
enterprises and increasing technological divewtifon. (Nordfors, 2003)

The simplest classification of the cluster is tb} Korizontal clusters - partners at the same
level in the chain of creating additional valuetthae a common market, technology, natural
resources, and labor; (2) vertical clusters - connempanies from some industry and many
industries in the chain of value creation; (3) oegil clusters - the regional partners from the
industrial sector; (4) clusters in the industry artpers in specific area of operations; (5)
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entrepreneurial clusters - partners of SMEs anceprégneurship and (6) international clusters
- overlapping networks of industrial clusters. (Hmgkon, 2003)

In modern conditions,creative clusters are morerance actual. In fact, they are one of the
forms of support to development of entrepreneursbgsed on connecting different entities
that operate in the field of creative industriegha local level and that create an adequate
environment that stimulates creative activity andeativity. (Kostadinow, Petrové-
Randelovi¢, 2013)

3. DEVELOPMENT AND STRATEGY OF INDUSTRIAL CLUSTERS

In establishing the clusters, it is necessary gpeet the different procedures and strategies
that are basic prerequisites for achieving the etgueobjectives of the clusters. Each country
has a different approach to cluster developmeriterdnt strategies and policies for the
development of clusters, but regardless of thag rtecessary to make other conditions that
are necessary for their development: the existemicean entrepreneurial culture and
environment, and unconditional support of large pames, political support in the
environment, existence of a strong scientific haseniversities and other scientific research
institutions, the ability of cluster members toratt professional and skilled labor force, the
existence of the necessary office space, infrastreicand production halls.

The key issue in the establishing and developmidusters is to define common goals.Only
if you define measurable and achievable goals,emphtation tasks of cluster development
can be planned and all necessary actions and nesasam be taken.It should be noted that the
definition of objectives is a strategic task of mgement.In this regard, some general goals of
the establishment and development of clustersagestablishment, development and use of
common network to facilitate communication, excharg information, and achieve the
accessibility of the database;b) development dfimt jstrategy related to staff training and
education, as well as the impact on political deos essential to the operation of the
cluster;v) facilitate the process of introductiondadevelopment of innovations and new
technologies and d) expansion of the cluster oirnttreduction of new companies, as well as
connect with similar clusters.(Volarev, 2010)

When the goals are precisely defined, the stratégyuster can be formulated.It is of crucial
importance, since it is determined by the necess@gsures, as well as the way to achieve
goals.For the strategy to be successful, that wgiviel good results, all companies within the
cluster should participate in its formulation. Téeare differences in its formulation and
implementation, and they directly depend on théedihces in the level of development of
the region, as well as the level of involvementldf state in the development of small and
medium-sized enterprises.

In principle, the strategy of the cluster must eamtthe following sections, or chapters: 1)
analysis of the competitive situation in certaigtees; 2) structural SWOT analysis (macro-
level, middle level and micro level); 3) analysié teends (markets and technology); 4)
international benchmarking; 5) analysis of the pb& of the cluster; 6) the vision of the
cluster; 7) the objectives of the cluster; 8) thefirdtion of cluster activities; 9) the

organizational structure; 10) by-step implementastrategy; 11) monitoring and evaluation;
12) action plan. (Scheer, Zallinger, 2008)

In order to develop the strategy of clusters follaywsteps are recommended: 1) determine the
representatives of enterprises ("clusterpreneu®"ymplement strategic workshop with all
companies and partners; 3) establishing a core /ve@king group for the development
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strategy; 4) development of strategy; 5) implemismtaof further strategic workshops with
all cluster members (feedback); 6) creation of fihal version of the cluster strategy; 7)
adoptionof the final cluster strategy by all comipar(Gligorijevi, Kostadinow, 2012)

Since the strategy of clusters identified, it mbst converted into concrete measures and
activities. A useful instrument for the implemerdatof the strategy is an action plan that is
base for operationalization of the objectives anehsures which were formulated in the
strategy. The action plan is created when speafditvities are derived from the objectives of
the strategy. Then the activities are assignedptxiBc individuals responsible for their
implementation. (I, 2004)

In the recent literature, special attention is p@dthe cluster as the growth strategies of
regional economies.Usually the following strategies a combination of them are
recommended: the original cluster strategies, plansedstrategies of foreign companies and
hybrid strategies.Each of these strategies hamditantages and disadvantages. (Lagendijak,
Charles, 1999)

Original strategies require economic base, capablalepth and breadth, to promote the
development of the identified clusters by: inforraatsupport, increased interaction among
local firms, adapting infrastructure and the depeient of necessary labor and human
resources potential. Transplanted cluster stradeayie based on the use of the experience and
support of foreign companies and major supplierd ather companies in the business
environment.These strategies often use the combaféztts of foreign investors and
domestic local companies.A hybrid strategiesaredas a combination of the previous two
types of strategies, on the successful use of xpereence and financial support of foreign
investors and the advantages of local potentiats lanal firms.Successful gathering of
foreign and domestic partners, often forms thesbaiscluster development.

4. SPECIFICITIES OF IT CLUSTERS

An IT cluster encompasssmall, medium (SME) anddagterprises in a region that produce
IT products and services. These enterprises aegetelwith each other and with public
institutions, like educational institutions. IT shers are a significant type of technology
clusters that represents most of the successfaterhion the global bases. For example, the
IT clusters have a 0.8% share in United Statesmérca's employment (Porter, 2008). Also
the two IT clusters in India (Bangalore and Hydexhbare composed of over 3000
companies. (Leleur, 2009)

Intensive use and implementation of many infororattechnology services and
products causes the success of IT clusters. Thé&emaf these products and services
requiresbetter hardware devices and software sokitiThe specificity of manufacturing
processof IT products and services are:

the production process of software products is ldgueg software solution and
creating copies of the solution with near zero £astis production process is different
than production process in classic industries.

the production process of IT devices is similarthe production processin classic
industries, but the costs are very small becauséetrel of technology and the extent
of producers is very high.

IT clusters produce IT knowledge as patents anduations, services and products, mostly
software. Criteria for IT clusters classificatiore dheir products and main activities, so there
are IT clusters that generate low-value IT servares IT clusters that generate high-value IT
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activities. The first type of IT clusters such aanBalore IT Cluster creates low-value IT
services (D’ Costa, 2003). Enterprises in this tgelT cluster are mainly outsourcing

activities for large firms because they offer pesienals at relatively low costs. IT clusters
that organize high-value IT activities such asc8ili Valley, Cambridge Technology Cluster
etc. produce innovative products and new technefogi

IT clusters haveintensive relations to researchuamaersity centers. Resources such as a raw
material, workforce or market are not so significas for an classic industrial cluster. The
most important resources for a high value IT clustensists ofthe innovative idea, the
knowhow or the technology (good example is Googied the financial assetsrequired to
invest in the IT firms in order to generate revenue

Knowledge and research are significant resourcesriondustry based on technology. The
following model (Etzkowitz, 2008) represents thedements significant for an IT cluster:

1. the educational system particularly universitiesegating high-skilled human resources;
2. the research centers, public and private, develppaw technologies;

3. the government promoting and creating conditiomdTacluster development (improving
the infrastructure and making appropriate fiscal administrative policy).

The IT industry has some specificities that detaemihe success of IT clusters. In the IT
industry the essential resource is the technologg knowledge (the knowhow). The

resources could be acquired so the technology g#pelen members of a cluster can be
decreased. The high skilled professionals requmedevelop new technologies also could be
acquired from the cluster members. In order to drapetitive, enterprises from IT clusters
have two solutions: 1) to achieve a high levelrofavation and to be leader in developing
new technologies; 2) to specialize in producingcgfeproducts and services and to be the
leader in that market segment through continuonigvation.

From this perspective, Silicon Valley and Bostorcliisters consists of well known IT firms
that produce the specialized products. Howevergthee low value IT clusters like the ones
in India or China that consists of firms which atecessful in reducing production costs and
improving quality of their products and servicebe$e IT clusters provide external services
to other large enterprises that control its develept.

5. FEATURES AND RESOURCES OF IT CLUSTERS DEVELOPMENT

Characteristics and specificities of IT clusterpated on features of IT cluster business
processes and products. The main resources cordnmtt€ cluster business processes are: 1)
a highly skilled IT specialists generated by a bigbducation system; 2) a good financial
regulations and conditions created by governmentyeBiture capital invested by large IT

enterprises extending or relocating their produrct{®’ Costa, 2002)

The development and success of an IT cluster dependinnovation. The comparative
analysis (Saxenian, 1994) between the two IT dsste USA shows this dependence.
California’s Silicon Valley and the Route 128 cdor near Boston had the same conditions
considering strong research and university centpuhlic military projects funded by
government and many entrepreneurial initiativesweler after some period of time, Route
128 stagnated and Silicon Valley increased innowatand continued to grow.

Another significant factor influencing the succe$s&n IT cluster is the level of collaboration
and sharing information between IT cluster memb@&re transfer of information is made
directly through collaboration or by buying techmgy. Collaboration and information
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transfer can be achieved by: 1) analyzing competigroducts and services and replicating
them (a technology solution can be protected byyieght laws but the idea behind it
becomes public information); 2) allowing free mowathof professionals between enterprises
enabling the transfer of technical knowledge, slkalhd experience).

As we mentioned previously, IT clusters are basedechnology and innovation and require
highly skilled and qualified specialists that hakeowledge to develop and use the
technology. Strong university and research centars obtain these conditions and human
resources. All three most successful IT clusteils;od Valley, Boston Route 128 and Indian

IT cluster are placed around university centers $kanford, MIT and Bangalore.

High-education and research organizations obtaghlyiskilled professionals, develop new
technologies and create entrepreneurial initiatiieéscept just obtaining highly skilled
professionals, the university and research centenge a crucial role on establishing
technology spin-offs. The spin-offs are the sigmuifit factors for creating an IT cluster
initiative and for reinventing it.

The cost of hiring high qualified specialists frather regions is not so high comparing it
with reached high levels of innovation and busingmgormance. This is the case of Silicon
Valley and the Boston IT cluster, having human wveses policy to attract high qualified
professionals.

Material resources are not so important factor dor IT cluster success. For example

transportation costs are so low considering soffwaroducts. IT cluster For hardware

products or devices, the IT cluster has componprdducers and enterprises that assemble
the final product. In that case, all members otldster have benefits from the proximity.

Members of an IT cluster can provide technologyepis, ideas on following ways: own
development in R&D department, partnerships wigeaech centers. Success of IT cluster is
based on its innovative capability. Low-services dllisters have the outsourcing as the
crucial activity and financial factors, such as twst of labor significantly influence the
cluster development and success.

IT clusters must innovate in order to be in trenthwew technologies and to maintain its
development. This is particularly true in case mfhhkvalue IT clusters. On the other hand,
low-value IT clusters have to reduce costs anddskiked IT professionals in order to provide
outsourcing agreement from large firms. Therefagsources significant for different types of
IT clusters are:

- Main resource for high-value IT clusters is the wiemlge in form of a patent or high-
skilled professionals developing hardware devicebsftware solution;

« Main factor for low-value IT clusters is the cgs#yticularly cost of labor;

The low-value IT cluster can be transformed inthigh value IT cluster if it acquire four
factors entrepreneurs, software engineering talamgilability of capital and access to
markets. (Kela 2009)

Whereas knowledge is crucial resource in the I'Btely the aggregation of enterprises in the
cluster results in knowledge spillover. The simensfer of professionals does not always
means acquiring appropriate knowledge. IT profesds gain knowledge, experience and
improve the innovation process. By transfer to heoenterprisein the cluster, they bring this
knowledge with them. Therefore development IT distlepends on the knowledge spillover

Another criteria for classification of IT clusteis connection with market elements. IT
clusters do not depend on their location in contéxdloseness to the customer. However the
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most IT development processes or services areattd particular geographic location and
market. IT clusters are not “local industries” immy cases. IT clusters are mainly horizontal
clusters because there is not entirely verticalrcbé production on a regional level and the
market is located in different geographic locatiolrs addition enterprises that create IT
clusters very often specialize in different markegments. For example, the most firms in
Silicon Valley that create technologies and IT fohs are specialized in specific types of
products and services. Enterprises that createvldue IT clusters try to get more
outsourcing contracts or to improve the relatiothwheir clients and business partners such
as larger IT firms. IT clusters are horizontal eture because the market for IT products is
not localized in a particular region.

Using accepted (Marcuse, 1996) industrial clustatsegorization, IT clusters can be divided
in following types:

« Hub-and-spoke IT clusters where one large entergrés many small suppliers (the
example of this type of IT cluster is the Seattlaster where Microsoft makes
business with small enterprises providing IT sesic

- Satellite IT clusters where multinational IT comgamove their production in low-
value IT clusters in India and China to minimizeithcosts. High-value IT clusters
belong to this category and they are located nigamifisant research and university
centers. Central or local government may make ¢mmdi for creation of this type of
clusters through technology parks. Typical cas¢h category of IT cluster is the
Cambridge Technology Cluster.

. State-centered or state-anchored, IT clusters arndf around governmental
institutions, like military research labs or stat@versities, that receive large budgets
for research and development.

6. CONCLUSION

In the current turbulent global environment, itifficult to provide a competitive advantage,
and even survive in such conditions.The most comaoth best answer to this question
provides a process of connection, association dllsand medium-sized enterprises in
clusters. What clusters can provide to small andliome enterprises, which is of great
importance to them is: the capital, which is neagsdor investment; product quality and
innovation; speed, which is necessary for adaptatiochanges in the market; flexibility,
enabling them longer survival in an increasinglyndeding market. Also, clusters provide
them great support and enable them to enter tleenetional market, where they can offer
their products and achieve significant results, cvhindependently would not be able to
achieve.

The specific type of industrial clusters are ITstars. Investment in IT industry is increasing
because of intensive use of IT in economic, scam public activities. The development of
technology and the integration of IT solutions ao®omic and life activities gives incentives

to IT cluster implementation. Successfully creatédclusters have positive influence on

economic development of every the country. Thi$ faeans that governments should define
macroeconomic strategies and politicsthat will txesppropriate conditions for IT clusters

development.

172



REFERENCES

Arsi¢, LJ., Cvetkowt, K., J. Premov (2012). Klasteri klju¢ konkurentnosti malih i srednjih
preduzéa, Medunarodna natna konferencija, MenadZment 2012, Mladenovac38tr.

Boja, C. (2011). IT Clusters as a Special Typenoluktrial Clusterdnformatica Economig vol. 15,
no. 2, pp. /184-193.

BoSkovi, G., A. Jovanov (2009). Uticaj klastera na konkurentnost i regibnaazvoj industrije,
Ekonomske tem&7 (1), Ni§, str. 107-119.

Boskovi, G., |. Kostadinowi (2011). Klasteri malih i srednjih preddze— kljui ekonomskog razvoja,
Savremeni trendovi u Evropskoj uniji: implikacija &rbiju Tematski zbornik — Novi Sad:
Visoka poslovna Skola strukovnih studija, str. ®4-6

CEC-Commission of the European communities, (200B% concept of clusters and cluster policies
and their role for competitiveness and innovatiblain statistical results and lessons learned,
Commission Staff Working Document, Brussels.

D’Costa, A.P. (2002). Export Growth and Path-Depame: the Locking-in of Innovations in the
Software IndustryScience Technology & SocigWol. 7, No. 1, pp. 51-89.

D’Costa, A.P. (2003). Uneven and Combined Developgmednderstanding India’s Software Exports,
World Development/ol. 31 No. 1, pp. 211-226.

bordevi¢, D., UroSewt, S., J. Cvijanow (2010). Uloga klastera u unapeivanju konkuretnosti
tekstilne i odevne industrije u Republici Srhlijfidustrija, Ekonomski institut, Beograd.

Etzkowitz, H. (2008).The Triple Helix: University-Industry-Government gction Routledge,
London

Gligorijevi¢, Z., 1. Kostadinow (2012). Industrijski klasteri: vaZna poluga mekam za unaptenje
konkurentnosti industrijg\lauka+praksebr. 15, GAF, Ni§, str. 5-13.

Hopkinskon, L. (2003). Inovacioni klasteri, Nondimcial Assistance to SMEs in Serbia, prema:
Mici¢, V., (2010), Klasteri — faktor unapienja konkurentnosti industrije Srbij&konomski
horizonti12 (2), str. 62.

lli¢, M. (2004).Strategija regionalnog razvoja Srbjjekonomski fakultet u Kragujevcu, Kragujevac.

Kela, A. (2009). Our Own Silicon Valleydusinessworldissue 20-26, Jan 2009.

Ketels, C., S. Orjan (2006LIlusters in the EU-10 New Member Countri€ockholm: Center for
Strategy and Competitiveness.

Kostadinowe, 1., M. Petrové-Randelovi¢ (2013). Industrijski klasteri kao razvojna Sanskustvo
Srbije i zemalja u okruzZenju, &ntikrizne politike i postkrizni procesi: izazoWamomske nauke
Ekonomski fakultet, NiS, str. 393-412.

Lagendijak, A., D. Charles (1999).Clustering as ewNGrowth Strategy for Regional Economics
Local Partnership, Clusters and SME Globalisat®BCD, prema: Gligorijevi Z., G. Boskov
(2014).Industrijski menadZmenhis, str. 143.

Leleur, R. (2009)Cluster diversification - A study of innovation pesses in the Bangalore IT
cluster, A master thesis, Copenhagen Business School.

Maksimovi, LJ., V. Mici¢ (2015). Poslovni klasteri kao & za podsticanje ekonomske delatnosti —
primeri u lokalnoj privredi grada Kragujevca, $tanje i perspektive ekonomskog razvoja grada
Kragujevca Ekonomski fakultet Univerziteta u Kragujevcu, 4169.

Markusen, A. (1996). Sticky places in slippery spaa typology ofindustrial districtdEconomic
Geographyvol. 72, pp. 293-313.

Mici¢, V. (2010). Klasteri — faktor unagtenja konkurentnosti industrije Srbijekonomski horizonti
12 (2), str. 65.

Nordfors, D. (2003)The Competitiveness Institut® Global Conference: Innovative Clusters — A
New ChallengeGothenburg, Sweden.

Porter, M. (1990)The Competitive Advantage of Natiphew York, Free Press.

Porter, M. (1998)Clusters and the New Economics of Competitidaw York, Harvard Business
Review, pp. 77-78.

Porter, M. (2008).Cluster Mapping Projectinstitute for Strategy and Competitiveness, Hafva
Business School.

173



Saxenian, A. (1994Regional Advantage: Culture and Competition inceii Valley and Route 128
Harvard Univ. Press, Cambridge.

Scheer, G., L. Zallinger (2008Klaster menadzment A prirucnik, izratien u okviru ,Programa
podsticaja razvoja klastera u Srbiji“, Ministarstggonomije i regionalnog razvoja Republike
Srbije i DeutscheGesellschaftfurTechnischeZusamnbeits GTZ) GmbH, Beograd, str. 20.

Volarev, T. (2010)Prirucnik za osnivanje klastera u Republici Srbeograd, str. 10.

174



LABOR PRODUCTIVITY AND ECONOMIC GROWTH IN SELECTED SEE
COUNTRIESAFTER THE GREAT RECESSION OF 2008

Predrag Trpeski'
Marijana Cvetanoska’

Abstract: The aim of this paper is to analyze the labourdpiciivity and economic growth in countries
from South Eastern Europe in the period after thedab Recession of 2008 and to examine the
interdependence between labor productivity and egva growth. Labor productivity is one of the
factors that determinate the economic growth and ohthe reasons for differences in economic
development among countries. For that purposelaeur productivity in selected SEE countries will
be calculated. Boosting employment and productasiéyamong the key objectives for policymakers in
the countries. Economic recovery strongly depemdgroductivity increase during the crisis and after
a period of time it results in economic growth. Thsults show that the relation between the labour
productivity and economic growth is not stable.vigegn 2000 and 2008 labour productivity provided
solid support for growth. Since the global finanaesis broke, labour productivity growth has fetl.

Keywords: labor productivity, economic growth, South EastBurope
JEL Classification: J 21, J 24

1. INTRODUCTION

Economists argue that there are only two avenuesHigh states can increase their level of
economic output: either through more labor effoppleed in the production process
(specifically, more jobs) or through increasesha productivity of the workforce. As labor
force growth slows and unemployment remains atively low levels, states increasingly
must look to productivity enhancements in ordemtaintain the high rates of output and
income growth that have become commonplace ovemp#st few decade®lthough the
reasons for differences in the level of economigetigoment among countries are numerous,
generally, we can start from the assumption théréinces in economic development are due
to differences in productivity and factors that at determine it: physical capital, human
capital, natural resources and technological kndgée Labour productivity and economic
growth are key factors in any economy. Productiyityvides a simple, but powerful
indicator of the ability of a country, sector omgeany to optimally use its resources to drive
growth. In the long run, the only way to increaseremic growth and raise living standards
Is through increased productivity. Labor produdyivs one of the indicators that show how
efficiently labor force is performing. A productivabor force possesses obligatory as well as
additional dexterity and has the ability to improtee overall the economic growth of a
nation.

Economists recognize the importance of the diffeeeim productivity growth rate of 1% or
2% very well, while the non economists, even pedpen the business sphere may seem
these rates approximately as same. How importattteigate of productivity growth can be
seen from the famoumathematical rule 70According to this rule, if the number 70 is
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divided by the productivity growth rate, it will baerived years needed for real output per
worker to be doubled. Hence, if the productivitpwth rate is 1%, it would take 70 years for
real output and, hence, real income per workeotbte. If the rate of productivity growth is
2%, then the required period halves at 35 yearsvatida growth rate of 3%, the period is
23.3 years.

Economic recovery strongly depends on productiintyease during the crisis and after a
period of time it results in economic growth. Ietlkevel of productivity stagnates or declines
during the crisis, it results in a longer and deepisis and slower recovery. From a broader
perspective, increased productivity increases thmwvep of an economy through
driving economic growth and satisfying more humaeeds with the same resources.
Increased gross domestic product (GDP) and owverathiomic outputs will drive economic
growth, improving the economy and the participantsithin the economy.
The significance and importance of a high growthahbor productivity is enhanced by a
number of key processes and with the phenomenaroeuo development. Current economic
studies see labor productivity as a central problefunderstanding the economic
development. By definition, labor productivity isratio of real GDP and the number of
employed persons (or the number of worked hoursendd, the growth in
productivity is also driven by the only macroecomowariable — real GDP per capita or the
change in the specific age population (Kitov antbii 2008).

Labour productivity and economic growth are stratdgctors in any economy nowadays. It
is related to the fact that labour productivity eiegs on the availability and quality of labour
resources and applied technologies. Hence, laboadtuptivity is highly correlated with
entrepreneurship and economic activity in the eopnospecialization, unemployment,
competitive advantage etc.

The question whether there is a strong relationvéet labour productivity and economic
growth is unclear. Hence, the goal of the papetoisnalyse the recent trends of labour
productivity and economic growth in post-crisisipdrin comparison with the trends in pre-
crisis and crisis periods. The paper is focuseghtwer the research questions: do both labour
productivity and economic growth rate increase ecrdase in post-crisis and have these
indicators a strong relationship between them.

2.LITERATURE REVIEW

The studies and problems related to the labourymtodty in various phases of economic
cycle (for example, in the post-crisis period) aedatively uncovered topic in economic
literature and it can be mostly noticed when specibuntries are investigated regarding these
issues. According to Krugman (1990) the three nsagtificant elements for the economy
overall are productivity, income distribution angemployment.

Topel (1999) reviews recent developments in groagbnomics, with a particular focus on
labor market and human capital issues in ordenterést labor economists in problems of
economic growth, and especially to motivate emairfesearch. He provides a simple model
that incorporates many of the stylized facts adabbur markets during periods of rapid
economic growth.

Landmann (2004) analyses the links between emplognpeoductivity and output growth
and traces the changing nature of these links diferent time frames.

An elevated rate of the growth in labor productivit the 1990s was considered by Blinder
and Yellen (2002) as the driving force of the ebazdleconomic performance. For the link to
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the growth in real GDP per capita, Campbell (19843 Pakko (2002) reported that a
decrease in the growth rate of productivity ratsults in increasing in employment and
output.

By definition, labor productivity is a ratio of le@DP and the number of employed persons.
Hence, Kitov and Kitov (2008) found that the evadatof labor force participation rate is
controlled by real GDP per capita as the only dgwviorce.

Rudolf and Zurlinder (2009) examine the sourcesoainomic growth in Switzerland over the
period 1991-2005. They decomposed the growth iputwgnd the growth in average labour
productivity and found that the results for Switaad are similar to those for most other
European countries.

Auzina-Emsina (2014) found that the economic reppg&ongly depends on the productivity
increase during the crisis and after a certainopleoif time (transition period) it results in an
economic growth. If the level of productivity stages or declines during the crisis, it results
in a longer and deeper crisis and slower recovéhgerefore the existence of the lagged
(transition) effect should be taken into consideraivhen labour productivity and economic
growth relations are analysed.

3.METHODOLOGY

One of the basic issues in the examination of &hegionship between economic growth and
productivity is setting the methodological concepproductivity. Therefore, for the purposes
of labor, there will be distinguished several didfiet concepts of productivity, such as: 1.
partial vs. total factor productivity; 2. outputrpgorker vs. output per working hour; 3. the
level of productivity vs. productivity growth ratesd 4. cyclical behavior of productivity.

Essential for this paper is to make a differencievben partial productivity and total factor
productivity. Partial productivity refers to the opluctivity of the individual factors of
production, or it is defined as the ratio betweernpat that is obtained by engaging the
appropriate factor of production and the amounnwblved units of that factor. Best known
partial measure of productivity is labour produityiv Total factor productivity known as
'Solow residual’ refers to the increase in outpat tan not be explained by the increase in
factors of production, capital and labor, i.e. st the increase in output as a result of
technological progress. Total factor productivitgrimarily depends on technological
improvements in the production of goods and sesviage well as improving the skills of
workers, but also by other factors - investmenthie commercialization of new products,
reduction in prices for some important inputs, @&t 2009, p. 133-136).

The aim of this paper is analyzing the partial piitVity, i.e. the labour productivity.

Labour as an input to the production of goods ardises can be measured in two ways: as
the average annual number of employees or as thkertomber of working hours per year.
The second way of expressing labour as an inpthanproduction process is more suitable
for determining the labor productivity. But in tlealculation of productivity it should be
clearly define how the labor as an input is measkuiteis important because growth rates in
output per worker and per working hour can be qgdiféerent depending on how many
overtime hours are there in the economy. Hence,ctimparison of labor productivity in
international frameworks should be done very cdisefand should be always taken with
some degree of reserve because there are largeedifes in the number of hours that an
employee realizes annually among the countriefienwiorld. For example, a worker in the
United States realize annually more hours than arsrkn any European country. Hence, in
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the United States measurement of productivity basedoutput per worker expresses
productivity in a better way than measuring proolist through the relevant measure -
output per worked hour. For example, in Norway 002, GDP per employee amounted
81.5% of GDP per employee in the US, but 110.6%DP per employee, calculated on the
basis of a working hour. The difference is 29.1%. the Netherlands, differences in
productivity calculated by the two measures aratgamd amounts 28.4%, i.e. 73.4% of the
level of productivity in the United States measuoedthe basis of output per worker, up to
101.8% of the productivity in the United Statesedetined by working hours (Sharpe 2002,
p. 34-35).

For the purposes of this paper, the output per arorkll be taken as an input for calculating
the labour productivity and that is for two reasons

First, it is simple to calculate the productivityrfa longer period of time, which is quite
important because for our research longer seriesowement in labour productivity are used;

Second, the overtime work or overtime working hourghe past period, for example in
Macedonia are quite rarely and incompletely regeste

It is also very important to make a difference bedw the level of productivity and
productivity growth rateThe level of productivity shows how much GDP perrkav is
accomplished in an appropriate year, while the ¢mowtes of productivity show the change
in two different periods.

For this study, the countries that are most apjetgrare selected, exact time periods or
phases of economic cycles for the selected cosn{pee-crisis, crisis, and post-crisis) are
defined and the trends of labour productivity amdr®mic growth in various phases of
economic cycle are analyzed. The following indicatare used in the study: 1. labour
productivity per person employed; 2. labour produigt (% change in comparison with the

previous year); 4) real GDP (% change in compansibim the previous year).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

During the last ten years, South-Eastern Europe haen going through major
transformations. The region has attained imporfamgress in economic development,
regional cooperation and integration in the glaibakkets. However, the financial crisis that
affected the western markets in the second half06f7 made it clear that the region would
face a major economic slump (Sanfey, 2010). Thg®rehas also been negatively affected by
the crisis. The reason why these countries areyzalin the paper is the fact that the
economies of the SEE region have been seriousictafl by the global recession, in fact
more than other regions in the world. As expedteel economic crisis led to a decrease in the
level of employment in the area, too (Vass and /@012, p.38).

Following figures are presenting the annual changegSDP and labour productivity in four
selected countries in SEE (Macedonia, Serbia, M@y and Albanf by using the chain
index.

The dynamics of the countries’ real GDP show thatlargest economic activity and largest
annual real GDP was in 2008 2015, all these countries had smaller real ecoes in
comparison with 2008 when the crises occurred. rldmnomies continued to recover in 2015
whereas Serbia had the smallest growth (Table 1).

8 There are not official data for GDP for 2015
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Figurel Annual change of GDP (official currencies) andbdar productivity from
2004-2015 in selected SEE countries

Source: National Bank of the Republic of Macedonia; NatioBank of Serbia; Central Bank of
Montengro; Bank of Albania*; Institut of Statistias Republic of Albania*

Before the crisis, growth rates of capital accurmotahad been supported by large capital
inflows, domestic credit expansion and low inteneges, and moderated as these inflows
declined in the post-crisis period. Labor, measupgdthe broad proxy of working age
population, has played a minor but steady role (&Bank, 2016).

Productivity dynamics have deteriorated signifitasince the global financial crisis (Figure
1).

Table 1 shows the annual dynamics of the indicadelscted (labour productivity and GDP)
in four selected countries. The data show thaingdutie economic growth period (2004-2007)
the labour productivity follows the dynamic of teeonomic growth, i.e. both had a positive
trend. Only in Macedonia in 2005 and 2006 the labproductivity growth had been
negatively (the GDP growth is smaller than growttmumber of employees), but beside that
it had a positive trend (Table 1)

Table 1l Labour productivity and GDP dynamic in the pre-stisrisis, and post-crisis period

Labour productivity | ;00 | 2006 | 2007 | 2008 | 2000 | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015
annual change

Macedonia -5.6 -0.2 8.1 0.2 0.2 -2.8 3.3 -1.9 -0.5 4.3 4.3
Serbia 1.9 7.4 7.8 1.1 0 5.9 4 -2.6 34 -1.1 -0.8
Montenegro 6.6 14.1 20.3 8.3 -7.8 12.9 3.6 -4.6 2.6 1.6 2.8
Albania* 8.9 8.2 10.2 7.9 14.7 6.2 -17.1 6.5 10.5 2 /

GDP annual change 2005 | 2006 | 2007 | 2008 | 2009 | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015

Macedonia -1.4 2.3 9.9 1.6 1.2 -1.8 3.5 -1.6 0.8 4.6 3.9
Serbia 21 4.7 6.3 0.9 -4.7 1.5 21 -2.7 33 -2.1 1.2
Montenegro 8.7 18.4 | 247 15.1 -3.4 4.8 4.5 -2.6 5.7 2.8 4
Albania* 9 8.5 10.6 11.9 5.9 8.4 4.9 25 1.3 33

Source:Authors' calculations
179



In the crisis period Macedonian growth rates wexgidly interrupted towards the end of
2008, and GDP even fell in 2010, before recovern®011 and then slightly falling again in
2012. The economy of Serbia in 2009 recorded ativeggrowth of GDP of 4.7 percentage
points, and in 2010 there was a slight recoverysefbian economy. GDP growth slowed
down for Montenegro, too and in 2009 turned ne@gativut Albania remained positive.
During the crisis period the level of labour protility is relatively unstable.

In the post crisis period labour productivity falls the dynamic of GDP growth. The level of
labour productivity is higher then its level in sig and pre-crises period, but the growth
during the post crises period is smaller from oearyo another then the previous periods.

The highest increases in labour productivity canfdaend in the pre-crisis period. If the
dynamic of the level of GDP is analysed it can bectuded that the highest positive changes
are found in the pre-crises period,too.

The results argue that the relation between theulalproductivity and economic growth

significantly differs and it is not a constant dalde relation over the periods of time. The
analyses show that there are weak relations betweetabour productivity and economic
growth in the crisis period and the post-crisisiguer It argues that economic crisis heavily
influenced productivity.

5. CONCLUSION

During the last ten years, South-Eastern Europe haen going through major
transformations. Even though the banking systemmweaglirectly exposed to “toxic assets”,
the crisis has been transmitted through indireenakels (Bartlett and Monastiriotis, 2010).
The economic crisis led to a decrease in the lefvemployment in the area, too.

The economic growth is positive in 2011 and theraye growth of the whole region is on a
positive trend in 2015. In fact, when an economyasiing out of recession productivity
tends to rise more rapidly because labour gets usweé effectively and when an economy
slows, productivity declines or grows more slowlhe Great financial and economic crisis
has influence on these relatiohdainstream economics sees labor productivity ascdntral
problem for the understanding of economic evoluti@ne may also conclude that all
attempts to place labor productivity in the cerdgéiconventional theories of real economic
growth are practically worthless. Productivity istran independent variable, which can be
influenced and controlled by any other means, nbt by demography.

The results show that the relation between theuapooductivity and economic growth over
the three periods is not a constant or stable. Laharkets dynamics and human capital
accumulation seem to have contributed little taaeal growth in the past 15 years. Between
2000 and 2008 labour productivity, i.e. how effidlg inputs of labor are used in production,
provided solid support for growth. Since the globaancial crisis broke, across the region
labour productivity growth has fallen, often sultiag from growth.

However, the increase of the labour productivityiry the crisis is a significant driver of the
economy after a period of timAs labor force growth slows and unemployment resan
relatively low levels, states increasingly mustkdo productivity enhancements in order to
maintain the high rates of output. Then, how taeah productivity gains?

The most frequently answer is to provide bettethetogy to employees so that job
operations become more efficient. But, some rebearbave shown that the labor force, as a
whole, has not adapted to the changes, resultingvinskilled workers. Therefore, some
recommendations for productivity gains are: stategst create a unified workforce
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development system; workforce development muskebegnized as a core economic growth
strategy; government leaders should also investigathods to promote workforce training,
either through improved education or through sglidhanaged, unified workforce
development systems; since it benefits both busireesd government to have a more
productive workforce, partnerships between the tmast be established to determine the
most effective ways to increase productivity; efiating disincentives and barriers to formal
employment; deepening regional and global integnatimproving the business climate and
governance, etc. Either through skills partnerstappport of technological advancements, or
through other means, policy makers must turn thiéémtion to increasing the productivity of
countries’ labor force.
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THE EFFECT OF GLOBALIZATION ON CAPITAL MOBILITY:
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Abstract: This paper attempts to address the effect of globalization on capital mobility with special
reference to emerging markets. We decided for these countries, because the emerging countries are
highly integrated into the global markets, and play very important role in the capital flows. Classical
econometric approach, such as cross-sectional OLS regression analysis has been used in order to
determine potential relationship between the rate of domestic savings and the rate of domestic
investment. The empirical findings indicate that, in 2014 this relation is weaker than in 1980. Our
result is in line with the premise that, as a result of globalization, capital mobility tends to increase by
the time.

Keywords: globalization, capital mobility, emerging markets, OLS regression
JEL Classification: F 41, F62, E 22

1. INTRODUCTION

With the collapse of the Bretton Woods system of fixed exchange rate, countries were able to
open themselves towards higher capital mobility. Deregulation, privatization and advanced
technology have made foreign direct investments extremely attractive. A boom in foreign
direct investments and flows of securities has been also present in emerging markets.
Financial globalization allows capital flow to developing countries. In addition, the financial
integration of developing countries serves as an important catalyst for numerous indirect
benefits which include: the development of a domestic financial sector, improved operations
of institutions and more adequate macroeconomic policy. On the other hand, financial
globalization brings certain risks. These hazards occur when countries open themselves and
when there is a risk that financial globalization and crisis would interfere. It should be noted
that there is no a strong correlation between the globalization and financial crises, because the
crises occurred simultaneously with economic integration and economic disintegration.

The primary aim of this paper is to examine the effects of the financial globalization through
adequate theoretical analysis by observing the importance of the foreign direct investments in
the structure of capital flows. Also, the aim of this paper is to examine the effects of the
globalization process on capital mobility in emerging market through empirical analysis.
Consequently, this paper will test the following hypothesis:

H: Under the influence of the globalization process capital mobility is becoming more present
in emerging markets.

As an adequate methodological framework, the index of capital mobility levels introduced by
Feldstein and Horioka (1980) has been used. The paper, in addition to this introduction, also
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includes the following chapters: Literature review, in which the directions of foreign direct
investments and the tendencies in capital flow during global crisis are explained, Data and
methodology, where the variables and adequate methodology for this analysis is presented,
Results and discussion, which reveals the most significant results concerning estimated
coefficients of regression analysis, and Conclusions and recommendations, where results are
summarized and discussed from the perspective of global implications.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

During the period after the World War 11, the majority of governments in capitalist economies
decided on strict control of capital and only after that the capital began to flow between the
countries. The control of capital flow was exercised through the introduction of taxes,
administrative limitations and permanent bans. Recently, these countries opened their capital
accounts. The measurement of capital mobility level is a very controversial issue. There have
been the suggestions that the level of effective integration of a capital market should be
measured with a convergence of private rate of return on capital between countries
(Harberger, 1980). On the other hand, Feldstein and Horioka (1980), Frankel (1989), Montiel
(1994), observed the behavior of savings and investments in individual national economies
(will be explained in more detail in the sequel). Monetary regimes and regimes of exchange
rate were chosen as adequate framework for the evaluation of capital mobility rate (Alessina
et al, 1994, Rodrik, 1998, Klein and Olivei, 1999). The biggest step forward was made by
Quinn (1997) whose index allows us to test connectivity liberalization of capital accounts and
economic performance.

In real environment, the investors who invest their funds in small open economies require
international interest rates and also additional income called risk premiums. There are several
reasons for the introduction of risk premium such as for example: wars, bankruptcies,
nationalizations. For example, during economic crisis in southeastern Asia 1997-1998, the
capital flow towards ‘Asian tigers’ Indonesia, Malaysia, South Korea and Thailand was
suddenly stopped causing significant shift in domestic consumption and investments in these
countries. They were no longer able to finance their current account deficits. After these
events, investors lost confidence and trust and the risk premiums increased significantly.

Global crisis has determined capital flow trends to a great extent. After they reached record
level in 2007, the capital flow suddenly stopped and the capital started to move back to the
countries which make the core of global finances and where the epicenter of the crisis actually
was. The composition of reserve currency in the world changed. The share of American dollar
and euro in reserve currencies was reduced while the share of other currencies increased.
Temporary recovery started in the second half of 2009 and was followed by the support of
key central banks in the developed countries. But instability remained high and new problems
emerged in the second half of 2010. This time the problems were concentrated in the
European countries which use euro as currency. The developing countries had another wave
of capital inflow from the second half of 2009 and after that there was another turnaround
during 2011 when European debt crisis increased. Global finances have been still following
sudden changes.

The significant global imbalances in trade and capital flow had preceded financial crisis of
2007. This applies especially to the USA where not only the “origins” of the crisis were but it
was also one of the economies which relies on the capital inflow to finance increasing trade
deficit most. Many experts had claimed, before the crisis, that eventually the countries with
deficit, like the USA, would face reduced capital inflows and that foreign exchange rates and
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assets prices would decrease during the adjustment period. However, the crisis turned out to
be quite different with capital inflow from both domestic and foreign investors towards the
USA from 2008-2009 especially after the collapse of Lehman Brothers. The impressive fact
about the crisis is not only its global range but also the high heterogeneity which had an
influence on different countries in both developed and emerging economies. Some emerging
economies experienced massive inflows of portfolio capital from 2009-2011. On the other
hand, there was a growing concern about the sustainability and the potential effects on
national economies, exchange rates and capital market. Policy makers in emerging economies
have emphasized the importance of “pushing” monetary and fiscal policies in developed
countries which were to blame for waves occurring in capital flows. On the other hand, some
have emphasized the factors of “withdrawal” such as real differences between emerging
economies and developed economies which are main carriers of the current patterns in capital
flow. In fact, this controversis has become one of the key issues for discussion at the
international forums (Fratzscher, 2012).

Capital concentration under the influence of global crisis will be observed from the
perspective of capital flow during the period from January, the 1%, 2007 to January, the 1%,
2011 with special emphasis on four key dates in this period. Figure 1 shows the dynamics of
capital flow during the crisis in the developed and emerging economies. Four key events
which had important effects on capital flow are:

« The beginning of the liquidity crisis from August, the 7" 2007 when the markets
experienced liquidity problems for the first time,

« the collapse of Bear Stearns on March, the 15", 2008,
. the collapse of Lehman Brothers on September, the 15", 2008, and

« and increased debt crisis in Europe on March, the 15", 2010 (the exact date is hard to
determine).
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Figure 1 Capital flow during the crisis
Source: Fratzscher, M. (2011)

The Figure 1 reveals several striking facts. First, there is a complete difference in capital flow
between the developed and emerging economies. Overall, in the developed economies there
was a constant net capital outflow from the beginning of the crisis. Net portfolio outflows
slowed down after the collapse of Lehman Brothers. On the other hand, the beginning of the
crisis had negative consequences on net inflows of capital in the developing countries because
net inflows had been positive until July, 2008 and then they had fallen significantly before the
collapse of Lehman Brothers. From this we may conclude that the global crisis has influenced
the increase in capital concentrations in the world, i.e. under the influence of the crisis the
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capital began to return towards the developed economies and the developing countries were
significantly affected because they were dependent on foreign capital flows. The remainder of
the paper emphasizes some general guidelines in capital flow which are the consequences of
the globalization process.

The globalization, defined as growing interdependence between economies, has been
confirmed by growing intensity of capital flows on international level, especially when
private capital flows towards developing countries which intensified during the 90s are
observed. The tendency of change in the structure of private investments where dominant
position is taken by foreign direct investments at the cost of portfolio investments and bank
loans is also noticeable (Milovanovic & Veselinovic 2009). Foreign direct investments occur
in the form of mutual investments or full ownership. Foreign direct investments (FDI) are a
component of a financial account of each country. They represent investments of foreign
means into domestic structure, equipment and organization. FDI does not include foreign
investments on domestic stocks. FDI has been regarded more useful for a country than capital
investments because capital investments can mean “hot money” which leaves the country at
the first sign of danger (OECD, 2013). It is clear that big role in their placement is played by
multinational companies which represent leading entities in forming world domestic product
and whose power is reflected in enormous economic power and activities of global ranges,
internationalization of activities from research to immediate placement. The advantage of FDI
is reflected in the fact that investors bring new technologies, know-how together with capital
which they invest. Since they involve technology transfer and they are usually carried out by
multinational companies, they are of special interest. Their significance has been growing
recently which can be seen in the Table 1.

Table 1 International investments in selected years

1970 2014
FDI/GDP Inward Outward Inward Outward
World 0.39 0.42 1.69 1.85
Developing economies 0.67 0.01 2.61 1.86
Transition economies 0.00 0.00 1.84 2.53
Developed economies 0.40 0.60 1.09 1.80

Source: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, UNCTAD Stat

At the global level, FDI has been constantly growing during the last 30 years of the 20"
century, with occasional drops at the beginning of the 80s and 90s. After the very dramatic
increase of FDI during 1999 and 2000, there was a dramatic fall in FDI flow during 2001-
2002. The reasons for a drop in FDI in this period are seen in low rates of economic growth,
disturbances in financial markets and speed decreases in privatization in many countries.
During the period from 2000-2002, there was a decrease in “departure” of FDI from national
economies by 9% which meant the realization of 647 billions of dollars of FDI. This decrease
does not apply only to countries of Central and Eastern Europe where the growth of 20% was
detected in terms of FDI “departure”. In the period from 2007-2012 there was a fall in FDI
flow under the influence of the crisis by about 32%. Here we have a tendency of growth in
FDI flow towards the developing countries by 20% and a fall in the developed countries by
over 50%. In terms of sources and destinations of FDI, the data clearly indicate the variety
and geographical inequality (Table 2). The most important sources of FDI were the USA with
over 328 billion dollars which was over 2% of their GDP. The USA was followed by
Germany, France, and Switzerland. Of non-European countries, there were China, Canada
and Russia. Thus, two countries of the BRICS were at the list of top ten FDI sources.
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Table 2 Sources and destination of FDIs - in billions of dollars and percentage
of GDP in 2010

Country FDI inflow %GDP FDI outflow % GDP
China 105.74 1.80 68 1.16
China,Hong Kong 68.90 30.42 76.08 33.59
Brazil 48.44 2.35 17.14 0.8
Singapore 38.64 17.96 25.29 10.7
Saudi Arabia 28.11 6.46 3.69 0.7
India 24.64 1.52 15.38 0.9
Mexico 18.68 1.82 14.72 1.4
Chile 15.09 7.32 9.35 4.3
Indonesia 13.30 1.88 2.89 0.4
Turkey 9.07 1.21 1.46 0.2

Source: Worlda Bank, World Development Indicators (2015)

The most important destination of FDI among developing countries was China with 105
billion dollars (China had a surplus in terms of inflow an outflow of FDI of above 37 billion
U.S. dollars). Three countries of BRICS were at the list of the top FDI destinations (China,
Brazil and India). The amount of FDI in Singapore was 17.96% of its GDP. In Brazil,
Singapore and Mexico, the reduced inflow of FDI was detected with respect to 2000. In terms
of capital flows and globalization, we can say that the capital was concentrated in the world
leading economies. Still, we have to indicate the changes in capital flows, i.e. on the
occurrence of new FDI sources and destinations such as transitory countries and countries of
Eastern Asia, including China as potential leading economic force of the 21 century.

3. DATA AND METHODOLOGY

Under the influence of the globalization process, the degree of international economic
integration has changed to a great extent. The Figure 2 has shown trade integration during the
period 1980-2013 on the global level and in the developing countries. Trade openness is
normally seen as a sum of total import and export in respect to GDP. It is observable that
there has been a significant degree of trade integration on the global level, where trade
openness is almost doubled while the degree of trade integration in the economies in
transition is even more emphasized and is now five times higher than in 1982.

In an open economy where international capital mobility is present, domestic savings S; can
be used to increase domestic capital stock K;, or is used to increase foreign sources F;, through
foreign direct and portfolio investments. Consequently, according to Sorensen and Whitt-
Jacobsen (2005), intertemporal budget limitations of domestic consumption can be presented
as:

Fiy1 —F + Ky — K + 6K, = 5, 1)

where S; is gross domestic savings in the time period t, K,,; — K; + 6K, = I, are gross
domestic investments in the given time period while F,,; — F; is the growth of stock net
sources abroad in the time period from t to t+1. Capital import is thus the difference between
gross domestic savings and investments. This equation can be positive or negative. Positive
equation means that additional savings are invested abroad while lack implies that domestic
investments are financed through capital import from abroad. One of the ways to measure
degree of international capital mobility is the examination of dependency of national saving
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rates and national investment rates between countries. The examination is performed through
regression curve, where coefficients ap u a5 can be evaluated. Exponent I in the equation
refers to a country:

D' = + @@’ 2)
100
80
60 —
40 —
=
0 T T T )

1980 1990 2000 2013

Figure 2 The degree of international economic integration

Source: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, UNCTAD Stat

In a closed economy, total investments are equal to total savings I;= S;, which means that o,p=
0, a;= 1. In an open economy where capital mobility is present, investments and savings can
mutually oscillate presenting in this way capital import and export. If a part of domestic
savings is placed abroad then the evaluated coefficient a; is less than 1 (a3<1). The reason for
this is that an increase in domestic savings reduces the level of domestic real interest rate and
the supply of capital also increases. Consequently, savers invest rather in foreign than in
domestic economy. A higher integration of domestic and foreign capital markets increases the
tendency for domestic savings to move towards foreign economies as a reply to a fall in
domestic interest rate which reduces eventually the value of as. In a country, where the level
of savings is higher than investment rates, there is a surplus in current account while in the
opposite case there is a deficit. In order to conduct empirical analysis this paper uses gross
capital formation (% of GDP) as an indicator. The paper uses gross savings (% of GDP) as an
indicator of savings. The data about the trends of both indicators are obtained from the official
website of the World Bank (WDI, 2015). The countries under analysis are the countries which
Montiel (2011) selected as the emerging markets: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia,
Egypt, India, Indonesia, Israel, Jordan, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, Morocco, Pakistan, Peru,
Philippines, Singapore, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, Venezuela.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In order to examine the effects of international capital mobility, Feldstein and Horioka (1980)
examined the dependency between saving rate and investments in 16 OECD countries in
different time periods. In the first period of observation ranging from 1960-1974, a high value
of oy was determined which indicates a low level of international capital mobility. This kind
of result meaning that savers have significant inclinations towards investing into domestic
economy is known as Feldstein-Horioka puzzle. The explanation for this phenomenon is
found in current attempt of the governments to sustain the stability of current accounts
(reduction in significant deficits) in order to sustain fixed exchange rates. This study uses
emerging markets to examine this concept. The application of regression analysis (OLS)
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examines the dependency of investments and savings where investments are seen as a
dependent variable and savings as an independent variable. Time framework covers two years
(1982 and 2014) in order to show the effects of globalization on international capital flow.
Based on the Figure 3, it is clear that regression curve has a positive slope. The evaluated
regression curve can be presented in the following form:

I/Yt = 15.02 + 0'58(5/1/1:)’ R?=0.45, t-value 3.24

The value of a coefficient which stands with an independent variable amounts to 0.58 which
indicates a significant dependency of investments and savings. Econometrically observed,
quantitative dependency of variable is at a significant level. This indicates that determinacy
coefficient is 45%. Statistical significance of this relation, and to some extent of this model,
has been confirmed with the t-value which is, based on the table values, extremely high. It
should also be mentioned that there is neither heteroskedasticity nor autocorrelations of the
residuals and that the residuals follow a normal distribution. These are necessary conditions
for regression analysis. The confidence interval is shaded in the Figure 3 and it is indicative
that a large number of countries is within this interval.

The Figure 4 presents the results of the examination for the data from 2014. The regression
curve can be presented as follows:

I/Yt =14.07 + 0.42 (S/Yt)’ R?=0.39, t-value 4.20

The value of the coefficient which stands with the independent variable equals to 0.42.
Quantitative dependency of the variable is on the lower level but statistical significance is still
present which is indicated by t-value. This model does not have heteroskedasticity,
autocorrelation and normal distribution of residuals is present. The comparison of Figure 3
and 4 reveals that relations are weakening over time. Regression curve is flatter in the second
case. The estimation of both models and the comparison of values obtained for a; reveal that
this coefficient for 2014 was about 70% of the same value obtained for 1982. This shows that
international capital mobility has been increasing with the reduction of the links between
national savings and investments.
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Figure 3 The relations between savings and investments in selected emerging
markets in 1982

Source: Authors’ calculations
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Figure 4 The relations between savings and investments in selected emerging markets in
2015

Source: Authors’ calculations
5. CONCLUSION

The empirical analysis conducted in this study has revealed that under the influence of the
globalization capital mobility has been increasing. This has confirmed the basic hypothesis of
this study. Even though the analysis is primarily preliminary, the results indicate the
significant positive effect of the globalization process on capital mobility in the emerging
economies. The fact that these countries are deeply integrated into the global economy makes
this study even more important.

The debate about the influence of the globalization process on capital flow and real effect is
increasingly crucial. It is clear that capital mobility brings long-term advantages and also
potential risks. The market openness enables countries to raise the level of the national wealth
and income. On the other hand, national economies are becoming more sensitive to changes
in the international environment (behavior of foreign investors). The loss of trust can cause
significant disturbances in terms of recession or depression in national economies. It may be a
reason why certain developing countries with more emphasized tendencies towards changing
loan conditions in comparison to developed countries sustain some form of capital control
while the developed ones favor liberalization of international capital flows.

In terms of capital flow and globalization, it can be said that the capital is concentrated in the
leading world economies, but that there are also certain changes in capital flow. Namely, there
are new sources and destinations of foreign direct investments such as transitory countries and
countries in East Asia including China as potential leading economic power of the 21°
century. Finally, it can be said that higher capital mobility in the developing countries creates
conditions for increasing their share in global production and trade. An increasing number of
the developing economies liberalize and partly open their financial systems. The capital
inflow into those countries has become stronger since the 90s of the previous century and they
have increased their participation into economic activities. The problems can occur if
economic crises cause outflow of the capital and its return to the domestic economies. In
order to prevent this, firm macroeconomic and financial bases are needed and they represent
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key elements in the prevention of the emergence and spread of economic crises. In that case,
countries could obtain various benefits which financial globalization offers.
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HUMAN DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC GROWTH IN WESTERN BALKAN
COUNTRIES

Ljiljana K ontié*

Abstract: The main aim of this study is to investigate datien between human development and
economic growth. The economic growth can initiatenan development. This approach assumes that
economic growth requires first of all investmenthmeman development. Based on United Nation
statistical report about human development, thiglgttested relationship between the indicators of
human development and gross national income peita&caBample of the research were Western
Balkans (Serbia, Montenegro, Croatia, Bosnia andzdgovina, FYR of Macedonia, Albania). The
study revealed significant correlation between hardavelopment and economic growth. Investment
in human development is pre condition for econagniovth. The institution and institutional politics
were essential for process of economic growth. @hections for future studies and research
limitations were presented too.

Keywords: Human Development, Investment, Economic growtistéffeBalkans
JEL Classfication: O15, R11

1. INTRODUCTION

The gross national income (GNI) can be very diffiersom basic development indicators
(e.g. Noorbakhsh, 1996; Costantini and Monni, 20aBj)e of the first author who pointed the
significance of an index of socio-economic develepmwhich consists of three indicators,
i.e. infant mortality, life expectancy and literasyas Morris (1979). The United Nations were
always focus on socio-economic development of thentries members.

In 1990 the United Nation Development Program mhblits first Human Development
Report where an index of human development wasdatted. The main idea was to verify
empirical evidence shows that some countries halaively high GNI per capita but very
low indicators such as literacy, infant mortalityeducation. One of the reason is unequally
distribution of wealth.

The Human Development Index is a composite inddxchvconsists of three compoments.
The first one is infant mortality. The second osesducational level and literacy rate. The
third component is GNI index which presents incopee capita measured in Purchasing
Pover Parity in US dollars (UNDP, 1990).

The United Nation Development Programme defines drumlevelopment as a process of
enlarging people choices. The main propositiorha pproach is that investment in human
resources is a core of economic development. Adsonomic development can initiate
human development. The increase of national incperecapita is not a final goal, but
wealthfare and human development.

Based on statistical data from United Nation Hurisvelopment Reports we explore the
correlation between two non-income dimensions @& Human development index (i.e.
education and life expectancy) and national incqree capita. The sample of research is
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Western Balkan countries (i.e. Serbia, Montenedfopatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
Macedonia and Albania).

The paper is structured into three sections. Tis¢ $iection is devoted to literature review in
relation to the main empirical studies; the second is devoted to the methodology. In third
section the results of the research are presentwlbwéd by conclusions and
recommendations.

2.LITERATURE REVIEW

In 1990 the United Nation Development Programmelighieéd its first Human Development
Report where an index of human development wasdotted. During the period 1990 to
2015 twenty four reports have been published. Eyesay central theme was different. During
the period 2006-2015 central themes were, in chogimal order: Pover, poverty and the
global water crisis; Human solidarity in the divddevorld, Human mobility and
development; Pathways to human development; A bkitere for all; Human progress in a
diverse world; Reducing vulnerabilities and buldingsinstance and Work for human
development.

The debate about the elements of the Human Developmdex is quite vivid. Some authors
argued that the correlation between Human Developnmdex and income depends on
components of HD considered and of the countriedyaad (e.g. Desai, 1991; Ranis et al.
2003; Ram, 2009).

Regarding the components of the Human Developnmetexl, one study found that the health
related components are unreliable and should bleigea from calculation of the HDI (e.g.
Engineer, 2010).

The results of one study showed that inequalityniany countries did not reflect on the
human development (e.g. Grimm et al. 2009). Itesisoncerns about using income related
factors to calculate Human Development Index.

Some studies devoted to investigation of educaltiom@aponent of the Human Development
Index (e.g. Srinivasan, 1994). The results revdited education has a more significant effect
on Human Development Index than income relateafact

Based on results of empirical study which includ@&® countries, main recommenation for
policy makers is to focus their efforts on promgtgender equality to increase their HDI (e.qg.
Grzech et al. 2016).

3. METHODOLOGY

Data was collected from UNDP Human Development Re(®915). The main aim of the
Human Development Report is to start discussionualimman development policy at
national, regional and global level. For betterensthnding data it is important to present the
definitions of the term and main data sources {sdse 1).

| used simple linear regression that allowed usutmmarize and study relationships between
two variables. To avoid an auto-correlation probleme used educational index and life

expectancy index as dependent variables for hunevelopment and GNI index as a

independent variable.
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Table1l Definitions of terms and main data sources

Term Definition Data Sources
Human A composite index measuring average | UNDESA (2015), UNESCO Institute for
Development | achievement in three basic dimensions of | Statistics
Index (HDI) | human development - a long and healthy life, | (2015), United Nations Statistics
knowledge and a decent standard of living. Division (2015),
World Bank (2015), Barro and Lee
(2014) and IMF
(2015).
Life Number of years a newborn infant could expect UNDESA (2015)
expectancy | to live if prevailing patterns of age-specific
at birth mortality rates at the time of birth stay the
same throughout the infant’s life.
Expecting Number of years of schooling that a child of UNESCO Institute for Statistics (2015)
years of school entrance age can expect to receive if
schooling prevailing patterns of age-specific enrolment
rates persist throughout the child’s life.
Main years | Average number of years of education received | UNESCO Institute for Statistics (2015),
of schooling | by people ages 25 and older, converted from | Barro and Lee (2014), UNICEF Multiple
education attainment levels using official | Indicator
durations of each level. Cluster Surveys and ICF Macro
Demographic and Health Surveys.
Gross Aggregate income of an economy generated by | World Bank (2015), IMF (2015) and
national its production and its ownership of factors of | United Nations Statistics Division
income per | production, less the incomes paid for the use of | (2015).
capita factors of production owned by the rest of the
world, converted to international dollars using
PPP rates, divided by midyear population.

Source:UNDP (2015):211

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Regarding the value of the Human Development In@géix\Western Balkan countries were
classified into the group of countries with highhian development. The human development
level in Western Balkan countries is relatively higue to previous investments made by

previous regimes (before 1990). Table 2 preseatsstal data for Western Balkans.

Table2 Human Development Index in Western Balkans

GNI per

. . Gross .

Human Life Expecting . . capita

Main years national
Country Development expectancy years of of schoolin income per rank
Index (HDI) at birth schooling & . P minus HDI
capita

rank
Serbia 0.771 74.9 14.4 10.5 12,190 20
Montenegro 0.802 76.2 15.2 11.2 14,558 27
Croatia 0.818 77.3 14.8 11.0 19,409 11
Macedonia 0.747 75.4 13.4 9.3 11,780 9
Albania 0.733 77.8 11.8 9.3 9,943 14
Bosnia and 0.733 76.5 13.6 8.3 9,638 19

Herzegovina

Source:UNDP (2015).
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Among two simple linear regressions, life expectaiad the lower R-square value of
2.6351%, while the R-square value of education sigaificantly higher 51.6869%. This
goes in line with previous studies (e.g. Engin&fr10; Srinivasan, 1994). The level of
education would have the largest impact on econa®w@lopment of the Western Balkans.
At the same time, health component would not efbectountries development.

Table 3 Regression Statistics

Variable Multiple R R Square Adjusted R | Standard Observations
Square Error
Life expectance 0.16233 0.026351 -0.21706 1.214027 6
Education 0.718936 0.516869 0.396087 0.932542 6

Source:Authors' calculation

The results showed that to reach development intékfeBalkans, these three goals are
essential (e.g. Grzech et al. 2016): 1) to mamdgcial conflicts, 2) to reduce inequality

and 3) to exploit economic opportunities. To redbbse aims an important role have
institutions. The main sources of growth are betfevernance as well as the quality of
institutions measured by following variables: leeélcorruption, international country risk,

quality of bureaucracy, risk of expropriation (e@lson et al. 1998). The standardized
behavioral patterns, determined by system of prarekpenalties, shape actions which effect
development.

For Western Balkan countries it is important to rpote institutional change. Concrete,
structural adjustment are very expensive projedt,nbore important is to change values and
rules which inhibit growth.

Development policies in Western Balkans should implemented along with adequate
institutional policies.

5. CONCLUSION

The human development is a process of widening Ipedmices. The main proposition of

this approach is that investment in human resouscascore of economic development. The
Human Development Index is a composite index, whimhsists of three compoments: infant
mortality, educational level and GNI index whichepents income per capita measured in
Purchasing Pover Parity in US dollars. The debdieut correlation between Human

Development Index and economic growth is still diviMany authors argued that the

correlation between Human Development Index andnre depends on components of HD
considered and of the countries analysed (e.g.iDE3@1; Ranis et al. 2003; Ram, 2009).

Regarding the value of the Human Development In@éixX\Western Balkan countries were
classified into the group of countries with highhian development. The human development
level in Western Balkan countries is relatively hhigue to previous investments made by
previous regimes (before 1990).

Results of the linear reggresion revailed corretatibetween education index and
development. This is consistent with the resultdhef other studies (e.g. Engineer, 2010;
Srinivasan, 1994).

The role of the govermental policies in WesternkBal countries is to create educational
system, the health system and mobility in job miarkéiich will promote human
development. The results of this research supposesting in human development to
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increase the rate of economic development. Humaeloil@ment is precondition for economic
growth.

Future study will include more specific and detad@alysis of this important issue.
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BALANCE OF TRADE AND EXTERNAL DEBT OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Danijela Durkali¢'
Marko Saviéevié®

Milo§ Dimitrijevié®

Abstract: For the years back the Republic of Serbia is characterized by the existence and continual
rising in trade deficit and public debt. Also, there is a high import dependence of economy. In
addition, expressed import dependence is not adequately compensated by exports, and that precludes
regular servicing of external debt, having in mind that the Republic of Serbia is one of the countries
that are highly indebted. The basic macroeconomic ratios (for the period 2009-2015) will be analyzed
in the paper. It will determine the macroeconomic and international position of Serbia, as well as their
mutual relationship. Multiannual problems and systemic constraints that Serbian economy is facing
are preventing the implementation of a development model based on export orientation and fixing the
foreign trade position of the Republic of Serbia.

Keywords: trade balance, external debt, import, export.
JEL Classification: F41, F43, O11

1. INTRODUCTION

Contemporary theories of international trade, since Smith and Ricardo were based on the
liberalization of foreign trade and those theories have shown that international trade brings
benefits to all partners in the trade. Countries may on the basis of their comparative
advantages have the benefit of international trade exchange and specialization, which will
lead to their better competitive position.

Today, small and unwell developed economies are increasingly involved in international
trade, in order to become more competitive. In this sense, we can say that economic relations
with foreign countries especially for these countries, such as Serbia, are extremely important.
Individual state of the world economy countries is different, and no national economy can
profiting equally because they differ from each other. The differences between them are
many, and from them mainly arises a question of measuring the openness of these economies
in the context of competitiveness.

What is to distinguish in the context of the trade balance of the Republic of Serbia and
competitiveness refers precisely to the benefits that result from the openness of small
economies in achieving competitiveness. In this regard, it is necessary to explore the
relationship between economic openness, trade balance and the status of the foreign debt.
Considering these basic relations, the subject of research is to identify the relationship of
foreign trade balance with key macroeconomic indicators, as well as status and view of the
external position of the Republic of Serbia. In this context, the main objective of the work will
focus on identifying the basic restrictions on exports and the best ways to use the export
options.
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In accordance with the object and aim of this research the basic assumption in this paper is:

H: If the Republic of Serbia is seen as a small open economy that depends on foreign trade,
which recorded a high external debt and balance of payments deficit, then such a country
should turn to strategy of export orientation.

2. THE RELATION BETWEEN TRADE DEFICIT AND CURRENT

ACCOUNT DEFICIT

Trade relations with other countries have contributed to Serbia recorded export growth in
recent years. Opening the Serbian economy and participation in international trade
organizations has led to significant growth of trade, especially in the observed years.

Besides the growth of exports, there has been a positive growth in gross domestic product.
However, export growth and gross domestic product growth was not enough to cover imports,
and because of that situation in Serbian economy the current account recorded a deficit.

Table 1 Export, GDP and current account balance in Republic of Serbia

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Exports (in EUR million) 8043,00 | 951500 | 11145,00 | 11469,00 | 13937,00 | 14451,00 | 15631,00
GDP (in EUR million) 30655,00 | 29766,30 | 33423,30 | 31683,10 | 34262,90 | 33319,00 | 33491,00
Current account balance -2.031,8 | -2.036,7 -3.656,0 -3.671,4 | -2.098,3 -1.984,7 -1.347,2
Export (% GDP) 26,24% | 31,97% | 33,34% | 36,0% | 40,68% | 43,37% | 46,67%
Current account 663% | -684% | -1094% | -11,50% | -612% | -596% | -4,02%
balance/GDP

Source: National Bank of Serbia, (2016), Statistical Bulletin, National Bank of Serbia, (2016),

Based on Table 1, it can be concluded that exports of the Republic of Serbia in the observed
period increased from 8,043 million euros in 2009 to 15.631 million in 2015. During this
period, except to the export activities, GDP increase for 2.836 million euros. However, the
current account is still negative and that deficit was much milder in 2015 compared to 2009.
Export as a share of GDP have increased in 2015 almost double compared to 2009 and now
recorded 46.67% of the total value of GDP. Considering that current account deficit during
observed period decreases, that situation illustrates participation of current account deficit in
reduction of GDP. In 2015 the share of current account deficit amounted to -4.02% of GDP.

Based on the data from Table 2 it can be seen that the total external debt of the Republic of
Serbia in 2015 amounted to 26.294 million and its share in GDP amounted to 79%. Also, in
the same year external debt accounted for 168% of the value of exports. According to the
indicator of indebtedness, Serbia is a highly indebted country, since the foreign debt is almost
two times higher than exports. The ratio coverage of imports by foreign exchange reserves of
the National Bank of Serbia also decreased by almost 30% so it is 55% (in 2015). Repayment
of debt also points to the unfavorable external position of Republic of Serbia. This indicator
also decreases, both in relation to GDP and to export. This points to another important task
that the macroeconomic policy of the Republic of Serbia - the problem of debt repayment.

So, over the past 7 years can be seen scenario of high external debt of the Republic of Serbia
with the inability of its regular servicing. The situation is even more drastic when taking into
account that the external debt accounts almost 80% of GDP and that is twice higher than
exports. This situation in literature is known as the "twin deficits” (Jankovi¢, 2015).
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Table 2 Export and external position in Republic of Serbia

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Exports (in EUR million) 8.043,00 | 9.515,00 | 11.145,00 | 11.469,00 | 13.937,00 | 14.451,00 | 15.631,00
External debt 22.272,36 | 23.508,69 | 24.123,45 | 25.645,33 | 25.644,29 | 25.679,40 | 26.293,52
GDP (in EUR million) 30.655,00 | 29.766,30 | 33.423,30 | 31.683,10 | 34.262,90 | 33.319,00 | 33.491,00
External debt (%GDP) 73% 79% 72% 81% 75% 77% 79%
External debt (%Export) 277% 247% 216% 224% 184% 178% 168%
Forelgn eXChange reSerVeS/ 81% 70% 73% 64% 63% 559% 55%
Import
Debt repayment/GDP (%) 12,8% 12,0% 12,4% 13,0% 13,4% 14,2% 11,9%
Debt repayment/exportsof | 0 00 | 37 160 | 3727% | 3607% | 32,59% | 32.65% | 2536%
goods and services (%)

Source: National Bank of Serbia, (2016), Statistical Bulletin, National Bank of Serbia, (2016),
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Figure 1 Trade balance and current account balance in Republic of Serbia

Source: UNCTADstat

The high level of deficit defined as a chronic problem of the Serbian economy (Veselinovic,
2014). The main characteristic of macroeconomic developments in Serbia after 2008 refers to
the high foreign trade deficit and it recorded the highest value in 2012. That unstable situation
threatened to undermine macroeconomic stability, balance of payments and also affect the
competitiveness of the Serbian economy.

3. RESTRICTIONS ON THE EXPORT GROWTH OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

The growth of export of goods and services would enable to Serbia an improvement of its
liquid position for a long term. In this way, the trade balance and the current account balance
would be directly improved. At the same time, it is necessary to stimulate the impact of
foreign direct investments, and to take action to gain more favorable borrowing in abroad, in
order to avoid upper limit of debts. (Mirkovi¢ & Knezevi¢, 2012). From the view of the
economic growth, the most important are the investments which enable higher productivity
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and technological progress, especially within exchangeable goods, as they contribute to the
competitiveness growth and export (Pordevi¢, 2009).

Serbia necessarily depends on international trade, because of lack of natural energy and
impossibility to settle domestic demand with available supply. That is the reason of the
presence of high deficit in external trade. The external trade has become extremely important
for Serbia after applying a new model of economic growth and development, which is based
on increase of export (export- oriented model of growth). Its position concerning the external
trade is absolutely clear - in spite of efforts made towards export orientation, Serbian
economy is still import - dependent (Pordevi¢ & Stoiljkovi¢, 2012). The increase of export of
goods and services is necessarily, in order to maintain the foreign exchange incomes which
should be sufficient for regularly debt payments in abroad and import. However, there are
number of problems which domestic exporters face with.

First, high interest rates at the domestic market force undertakers to incur for their needs. The
restrictive monetary-credit policy (because of the inflation pressure) reduces credit potential
of the banks, which retains credit rates at high level (Kovacevi¢, 2006).

Second, Serbian economy is not sufficiently export competitive. As the matter of fact, the
Serbian enterprises are very slow with their activities, even the absence of the innovation
ones, while their technological level of Serbian exporters is not up to very sharp world
competition.

Third, unfavorable climate of investments affects the business costs directly, having the
consequences on the competiveness of the Serbian firms. The interests of foreign investors are
determined by risks that have huge influence to decisions within investments. Serbia is for a
long time qualified as a country of political instability, unfinished privatization process, high
corruption level, and ineffectiveness of justice, inadequate access to the financial sources,
rigid job market, and high tax rates. Therefore, the business ambient is not attractive for more
intensive income of foreign capital, yet.

Fourth, the process of market liberalization of Southeast Europe had the target to enable better
and more intensive trade of industrial and agriculture products, that is, to establish the unique
trade rules for the entire region. Unfortunately, insufficient use of the export opportunities
within the free zone of trade in south-east Europe disables business performances of Serbian
economy.

For fundamental changes of economy structure, it is necessary to increase the investment
level significantly in near future. Obviously that Serbia findings in a deep economic crisis.
The export deficit is the result of an economy based on domestic demand. It is necessary to
create a new growth model, as soon as possible, based on strategy of export-orientation.
Export-oriented countries have achieved very good results and were very successful in their
economies. (Savic, 2010).

4. USE OF EXPORT OPPORTUNITIES IN THE FREE TRADE ZONE
IN SOUTHEAST EUROPE

Raising the competitiveness of the Serbian economy, through the intensification of export
activity, involves significantly improving the general competitiveness factors, such as
macroeconomic stability and economic growth, the quality of economic policy, incentive
business environment for enterprises, development of financial market institutions, quality
management. Serbia should make additional investments to encourage export oriented
industries in which competitiveness can be achieved by a wide range of products and services,
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and increase foreign exchange inflows on the basis of price and technological competitiveness
(Bosnjak, 2005). Export focus of the Republic of Serbia should be a regional market place or
the countries from the immediate environment, which signed FTAs declaration.

Primary objectives of macroeconomic policy - the revitalization and growth of production
should be based on export expansion, which consider to not realistic to expect significant
growth in domestic demand in the coming period. Therefore, the market integration of the
SEE (Southeast Europe) countries and intensive cooperation in terms of trade is significant
export opportunity for Serbia.

Reports of the World Bank in recent years show the improvement of the business
environment in the region of Southeast Europe. Unfortunately, this region in recent years is
not attractive for foreign investors. This is indicated by the fall of FDI (Foreign Direct
Investments) inflows in recent years. Expected FDI inflow in real sector has not been
achieved, that consider to foreign capital was primarily directed at banks, insurance
companies, monopoly enterprises and excise goods (Maksimovié, 2012). Notwithstanding the
significant benefits offered to foreign investors, which is primarily the relatively cheap labor
costs and easier access to the market in our country after the global economic crisis, there was
a significant reduction in FDI inflows.

Export-oriented industries must have a leading role, taking fact that high and positive
correlation of long-term, dynamic and sustainable economic growth and exports. This would
be ensured realization of most socio-economic goals - macroeconomic stability, increasing
employment, reducing the high trade deficit, the growth of labor productivity and
international competitiveness, dynamic development of other economic activities. These
trends would create the necessary conditions for a stable, balanced and long-term sustainable
economic development (Mici¢, 2011).

5. CONCLUSION

Chronic deficits of foreign trade balance and enormous public debt constantly override
domestic economy. Additional limitations are the lack of competitiveness of Serbian products
on the international market and expressed the technological obsolescence of production
capacity. In addition, Serbia expresses import dependence for capital goods, while export
structure mainly consists of labor-intensive products.

The basic premise of reducing the foreign trade deficit and external debt of the Republic of
Serbia, through the long-term increase in the share value of merchandise exports to GDP, is
certainly a restructuring of the real sector. In recent decades, the national economy is
characterized by dramatically lag behind the highly developed countries in technological
terms, which represents a fundamental barrier to the growth of export competitiveness of the
Serbian economy. Renovation and production growth are priority objectives of
macroeconomic policy in the future to be achieved through the implementation of high-tech
solutions. The inflow of foreign direct investment has not led to the expected influx of foreign
technology that would allow the achievement of objectives. Liberalization of the market of
Southeast Europe and the signing of the Free Trade Agreement, Serbia would efficiently
utilize export opportunities in the region.

In this work, based on long-term chronic problems shown clearly that the new model should
be oriented towards the development of an export strategy, and this would be a major shift in
economic policy of the Republic of Serbia, since export growth can provide a high rate of
economic growth. In the forthcoming period it is necessary to implement the macro-
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economic policy that will aim to build economic system based on the concept of accelerated
growth through intensification of export and investment activities. Modernization of
production through foreign direct investment and the use of the possibilities of free trade in
the region, should facilitate macroeconomic healing based on export orientation. This
hypothesis which is set to the beginning of this paper now has been confirmed.

This paper represents good theoretically, but also practical framework in the implementation
of the macroeconomic policy of the Republic of Serbia toward the future. Restrictions are
reflected in an inadequate analysis of the detailed structure of the external debt, which could
indicate the key problems in its repayment. Therefore, as a recommendation for future
research imposed by correlation analysis of the foreign trade balance and external debt of the
Republic of Serbia, and other countries in transition, in order to adequately comprehend the
position of each country.
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COOPERATIVE AUDIT IN SERBIA AFTER THE ADOPTION OF THE NEW LAW
ON COOPERATIVES
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Abstract: The paper gives an overview of the importance and the impressive results of the cooperative
sector in the developed countries of Europe, which has over one hundred million members and tens of
millions of employees. On the other hand, this sector in Serbia is underdeveloped and burdened with
many problems. Reaffirmation of the cooperative movement will be an important factor in the future
economic development of Serbia. The new Law on Cooperatives, adopted at the end of 2015, brings
certain novelties. An important issue for cooperative business is cooperative audit. Appropriate
control of cooperativesis an extremely important factor in the development of the cooperative sector,
which is primarily related to the prevention of potential abuse and manipulation. Restoring confidence
in cooperatives, largely lost during the second half of the 20th century, can not be achieved without a
reliable and standardized system of cooperative audit. New Law on Cooperatives provides only
general guidelines regarding cooperative audit. In this regard, of particular importance is the
establishment of a general or national cooperative union, which will bring a unique Regulation on
cooperative audit. In compiling of this Regulation should be involved all relevant cooperative
associations, relevant ministries, as well as local and foreign experts in this field. One of the most
important objectives of this Regulation should be the adoption of national standards of cooperative
audit, which would define: object and objectives of the cooperative auditing, licensing of cooperative
auditors, compiling reports on cooperative audit, control of cooperative auditors etc.

Keywords. cooperatives, the law on cooperatives, cooper ative audit.
JEL Classification: P13, M42

1. INTRODUCTION

In addition to private and public sector, co-opeegt make up the third basic form of
business.A co-operative is an autonomous assatiafigpersons united voluntarily to meet
their common economic, social, and cultural neaus$ a@spirations through a jointly-owned
and democratically-controlled enterprise. Co-opeestare businesses owned and run by and
for their members. Whether the members are th@mest, employees or residents they have
an equal say in what the business does and a ishidwe profits.

Co-operatives are based on taues of self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality,
equity and solidarity. In the tradition of their founders, co-operativembers believe in the
ethical values of honesty, openness, social redpbtysand caring for others.

The co-operative principles are guidelines by which co-operatives put theilues into
ractice.
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* Voluntary and Open Membership. Co-operatives are voluntary organisations, open t
all persons able to use their services and williagaccept the responsibilities of
membership, without gender, social, racial, pditiar religious discrimination.

» Democratic Member Control. Co-operatives are democratic organisations chedo
by their members, who actively participate in seftitheir policies and making
decisions. Men and women serving as elected repses are accountable to the
membership. In primary co-operatives members hageale voting rights ¢ne
member, one vote) and co-operatives at other levels are also osgdnn a democratic
manner.

* Member Economic Participation. Members contribute equitably to, and
democratically control, the capital of their co-oqteve. At least part of that capital is
usually the common property of the co-operative.myders usually receive limited
compensation, if any, on capital subscribed asmaliton of membership. Members
allocate surpluses for any or all of the followipgrposes: developing their co-
operative, possibly by setting up reserves, pawhith at least would be indivisible;
benefiting members in proportion to their transati with the co-operative; and
supporting other activities approved by the menthbprs

» Autonomy and Independence. Co-operatives are autonomous, self-help organisatio
controlled by their members. If they enter intoesgnents with other organisations,
including governments, or raise capital from exaégources, they do so on terms that
ensure democratic control by their members and taiaintheir co-operative
autonomy.

* Education, Training and Information. Co-operatives provide education and training
for their members, elected representatives, masagerd employees so they can
contribute effectively to the development of thewo-operatives. They inform the
general public - particularly young people and apineaders - about the nature and
benefits of co-operation.

» Co-operation among Co-operatives. Co-operatives serve their members most
effectively and strengthen the co-operative movenignworking together through
local, national, regional and international struetu

e Concern for Community. Co-operatives work for the sustainable develogroétheir
communities through policies approved by their merab

Cooperatives have a long history of business,istaftom the half of the 19th century. The

industrial revolution during this period, despite tsignificant progress, led to layoffs and
increasing poverty. Some workers then realized tmy together can achieve a certain
prosperity. Among them are the Rochdale weaversy wwh1844 lost their jobs after an

unsuccessful strike. In order to form their own pe@tive, twenty-eight weavers invested
one pound each as a share. The cooperative haategperuccessfully since the beginning.
This has provided an employment of cooperative negmb which later increased

considerably. Rochdale co-operative in this way teome a pioneer in the development of
the cooperative movement in the world and is retzaghas the first real cooperative.

In the mid-19th century French workers organizeslftist successful workers and producers
cooperatives, which by the end of century spreaoutfhout many countries of Europe and
America. At the end of the 19th century, farmersrfaheir producer cooperatives across
Europe, especially in Denmark, Germany and the Diing the 20th century and early 21st
century cooperatives experienced a remarkable dewent on a global scale.
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The paper will initially show the status of the peocative movement in countries worldwide,
and subsequently in Serbia.

2. COOPERATIVE SECTOR IN DIFFERENT COUNTRIES

In developed countries, but also in developing toes, cooperatives operate in almost all
economic fields: banking, agriculture, insurancetait, health care, construction, etc.

Cooperatives may consist only a few members who together and form a cooperative to
achieve their goals. On the other hand, there aoperative enterprises that have over a
million members, generating revenues amounting etas tof billions of euros and are

essentially similar to corporations: Crédit Agriedbroup, Zen-Noh (National Federation of
Agricultural Co-operatives), Migros, Friesland Canapetc.

The country with the largest number of individuaémbers indirectly represented by the
Alliance is the United States with 256 million mesnf There are nearly 30,000 co-
operatives in the US. The next countries are inaAsndia with 93.7 million individual
members and Japan with 77 million individual memsbeFhe fourth largest number of
members is in Iran with 36.9 million individual mbaers. Italy is the Alliance's first European
country with 22.5 million individual co-operativeambers, represented by the Alliance and
through their organizations.

Co-operatives are extremely important in creating enaintaining employment. In France,
21,000 co-operatives provide over 1 million jobpresenting 3.5% of the active working
population.. In Kenya, 50% of the population dertheir livelihoods from co-operatives.
Approximately 250,000 Kenyans are employed or gaiost of their income from co-
operatives. In Colombia, the co-operative movenmovides 137,888 jobs through direct
employment and an additionab59,118 jobs as worker-owners in workers co-opezati
providing 3.65% of all jobs in the country. In Intesia, co-operatives provide jobs to
288,589 individuals. In the United States, 30,00peratives provide more than 2 million
jobs.

Also, large segments of the population are membérso-operatives. In Canada, four of
every ten Canadians are members of at least onpam@tive. In Quebec, approximately 70%
of the population are co-op members. In Malaysi@8 6nillion people or 27% of the total
population are members of co-operatives. In Noraatyof a population of 4.8 million
people, 2 million are members of co-operativesPémaguay, 783,000 people or 18% of the
population are members of 1,047 co-operatives.pair§ in 2008 15% of the population or
6.7 million people are members of a co-operative.

In Europe cooperative sector includes over one tathohillion members and tens of millions
of employees. These results were achieved, amohgrspt with the support of public
institutions. This support is usually directed there they can achieve the following effects:
competition in the market, the potential for cregtinew jobs and new forms of
entrepreneurship. In relation to encouraging theeldgpment of Coop sector in EU member
states, it should be pointed out that the governsneinthese countries in particular encourage
cooperatives that are the backbone to achievinigldoenefits within the community.

3. COOPERATIVE SECTOR IN SERBIA

Just two years after the establishment of Rochdaleperative - first recognized cooperatives
in the world, in 1846 Slovak Stefan Homola founté&adzdovsky Spolok" in Backi Petrovac -
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the first credit cooperative in the territory of wedays Serbia. The first co-operative
organizations among Serbs in Vojvodina occur inaarlareas among the artisans, but the
greatest significance had agricultural cooperatives

Cooperative Movement in Serbia during the 20th wgnpassed various stages. Until the
Second World War there was significant growth aadetbpment. In the period after World
War |IlI, the cooperative sector has been signifigardegraded through different
"experimentation” in the former economic systenthsas the establishment of the General
Agricultural Cooperatives and Peasant Producer €atdpes. (Nikok, 2009, 144-145)

The 1953 Constitutional law and further economitomas in 1965 weakened substantially the
position of the cooperativesPétkovt et all, 2016) Their property became “nobody’s” and
“everybody’s” socially-owned property. It was detagsg period for the cooperative system in Serbia
and the question of cooperatives assets and pyoisestill largely unsolved.Despite the fact that
social property was abolished, most cooperativgpgmty is today still registered as social

property.

Unfortunately, transition period did not bring therspective of the cooperative sector. The
new Law on Cooperatives was adopted in 1996, buadt many flaws. During 21st century,
draft Laws on Cooperatives were repeatedly consdjdasut the final adoption of legislation
was enterupted many times by the elections folN&gonal Assembly of Serbia. Finally, the
new Law on Cooperatives was adopted at the endD5.2The Law was passed just a few
months before the elections for the National AsdgrabSerbia, and a general impression is
that because of the tight deadlines certain thiagsined incomplete.

It can be expected that the future developmenboperatives in Serbia, at least initially, will
be present primarily in forms of agricultural armhsumer cooperatives.

New agricultural cooperatives would provide sigrafitly better business conditions for
farmers. The farmers' associations is of particulaportance for increasing the
competitiveness of Serbian agriculture, considetivad the average area that farm processes
(according to the last census of agriculture in2)d4 only 5.4 ha, while it consists of more
than three divided plot.

New consumer cooperatives could be establisheleirii¢ld of retail trade (especially food),
which would give the possibility to customers toyldirectly from the manufacturer. This
would lead to a reduction in trade within the framwek of the so-called. the informal
economy

4. COOPERATIVE AUDIT IN SERBIA

Very important factor in the development of the pe@tive sector is the control of
cooperatives, especially in terms of preventingows abuses and manipulations. Restoring
confidence in the cooperative, which is largelyt ioghe aftermath of the Second World War,
can not be achieved without a reliable and stamzizgldsystem of cooperative audit (Zgki
Kovacevi¢, 2015).

The previous Law on Cooperatives, adopted in 198/isaged the existence of the
obligations of the cooperative audit. AccordingAidicle 75 of this Law ,cooperative audit is
the examination of the application of cooperativin@ples in the cooperative, cooperative
business with the cooperative members and thirdiggarproperty rights and relations
operatives and employees, as well as the applicatio general and cooperative rules
regarding the establishment, organization and divawainess cooperatives”.
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Acording to new Law on Cooperatives (Article 80)the cooperative audit control
compliance, administration and organization of @apives with the provisions of this law,
cooperative principles and cooperative values.dditeon to control functions, cooperative
audit has preventive and instructive function tmtect the interests of cooperatives,
cooperative members and improvement of cooperatives

This article points out the essence of cooperatuit, which involves periodic testing of the
application of the basic cooperative principles arues in the operations of each
cooperative. The development of the cooperativéosét Serbia is significantly determined
by using appropriate cooperative audit, which pnévbe disregard of basic cooperative
principles and values, the establishment of ,baghaperatives” and so on.

The law on cooperatives makes a distinction betveeeperative audit and audit of financial
statements. According to Article 57, the coopermkigep business books, draw up and submit
financial statements in a manner and under comditiprescribed by the law governing
accounting. The audit of the financial statementsth® cooperative is performed in
accordance with the law governing the audit.

Cooperative audit is compulsory for all cooperativaad may be regular and extraordinary.
Regular cooperative audit is conducted at the re&tqofethe cooperative, every two years. An
extraordinary cooperative audit done if necessAariidle 82).

Like the previous law, the new Law on Cooperatioedy superficially include field of
cooperative audit, probably with the expectatioat ttertain specific regulations will precise
guidelines

In this regard, Article 83 provides the authoriaatiissued by the ministry responsible for
cooperatives) of the individual cooperative federato perform audit. According to the Law,
a cooperative federation on is a legal entity distiaédd by cooperatives or other cooperative
associations. Cooperative federations are estaiolisty the type of cooperatives, or for a
specific territory (at least ten cooperatives cdolun federation).

The possibility that different cooperative fedesas bring their Regulation on cooperative
audit existed in the previous law on cooperativearing the 1990s there were several
Regulations, adopted by the Cooperative Associatfo¥iugoslavia and the Union of youth

and student cooperatives of Yugoslavia Besides ssimdarities, regulations had some

substantially different articles. For example, thgquirements for appointment to the position
of auditor in one ordinance required a universiggree, while in the second was enough
secondary education.

These two examples indicate the absence of unifari@s of cooperative audit, which
significantly influenced the fact that in the pasbperative audit was almost non-existent, or
was done inappropriately. The same problems caexpected in the future, given that the
new Law on Cooperatives does not imply the adoppioaniform regulations on cooperative
audit.

The draft law on cooperatives (published just fewnths before adoption) foresaw
establishment of the General Cooperative Alliandach is the representative association of
the cooperative sector and brings together all emdjve federations registered in the
Republic of Serbia (Article 79). It was designatediake over all the assets of the former
Cooperative Association of Yugoslavia (Article 114)

The draft law included the subsequent adoptiorhef@rdinance on cooperative audit by the
General Cooperative Alliance of Serbia. Unfortuhatehe provisions of the General
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Cooperative Union and a single Ordinance on codiperaudit were removed from the final
version.

5. CONCLUSION

The paper gives an overview of the importance aedrmpressive results of the cooperative
sector worldwide, which has hundreds of million nbems and employees. On the other hand,
the cooperative sector in Serbia was devastattdteiaftermath of the Second World War.

For further development of the cooperative seatdBerbia it is necessary to establish a legal
framework that will allow easy establishment of pemtive business with minimal costs,
clear and stimulating property relations, resoluing issue of "old cooperative property" etc.

Appropriate control of cooperatives is an extremetportant factor in the development of
the cooperative sector, which is primarily relatedthe prevention of potential abuse and
manipulation. Restoring confidence in the coopeesti which is largely lost during the
second half of the 20th century, can not be achlievghout a reliable and standardized
system of cooperative audit.

By analyzing the new Law on cooperatives, it carcdrecluded that it does not tend to detalil
the area of cooperative audit, which is complefeistified. In this regard, of particular
importance is the establishment of a General catper alliance or other "umbrella”
cooperative union, which will bring a unique Ordica on cooperative audit. In compiling
this Ordinance shall involve all relevant coopemtassociations, relevant ministries, as well
as local and foreign experts in this field.

One of the most important objectives of this Retjoiashould be the adoption of National
standards of cooperative audit, which would reguldetermination of the objectives of the
cooperative auditing, licensing cooperative audit@ompiling reports on cooperative audit,
the issue of control of auditors etc.
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MEASURING THE POSSIBILITY OF IMPROVING SEGMENT REPORTING

lvana M edved*
Suné&ica Milutinovié?
Jelena Tadié®

Abstract: Segment reporting provides a greater chance toqadeely evaluate the nature and
financial effects of the business activities of diperating segments and corporations as a whole by
users of financial statements. The purpose andaaiar of segment reporting have been recognized
in the international accounting theory and practies evidenced by the development of professional
accounting regulations in the field of segment répg. The intention of this paper is to highlight,
recognize and promote the importance of externdliaternal segment reporting for companies in the
Republic of Serbia. Through the prism of the infmion to be disclosed to external and internal
segment reporting, the work provides a proposaldetermining the importance of this information
for managers, investors and potential investorssuf\eed marks of importance for each disclosed
information about operating segment are used fdtirge the regression model in which can be
measured, above all, the connection between impgothie external and internal segment reporting
with disclosed information on operating segmentse Tesults of research in this paper show low
application of segment reporting in the RepublicSafrbia. Companies in the domestic economic
practice have low indicators of improving segmesparting, and the purpose of this paper is to
identify the reasons for that negative conditions.

Keywords. Segment reporting, operating segment, disclosiedriration
JEL Classification: M 41

1. INTRODUCTION

Segment reporting includes planning, accountingpsoaf business transactions, control of
execution, determination of results and the resmithponents in narrow organisational parts
of entities. It presumes an adequate accountingndtion system that integrates financial
and management accounting with costing in the fanaif decentralised financial reporting.

Segment reporting must be of good quality and ieffi; because it provides a greater chance
to adequately evaluate the nature and the finamffatts of the business activities of the
business segments and corporations as a wholbghysers of financial statements. Segment
reporting, due to its importance, requires constangrovement of accounting theory and
practice, as well as the same qualitative feattirasare expected from a high-quality official
financial reporting.

Objectives of segment reporting are in the funcbbthe fulfillment of information needs of
the external and internal users of accounting médron about operating segments through:

* determination of business (in)efficacy of segmeantsl their contribution to the
success (failure) of the entire entity;

» planning and control of costs, revenues, resuit®ther words monitoring, primarily,

! University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Economics, ie@ef.uns.ac.rs
2 University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Economics, sisa@ef.uns.ac.rs
% Tadex Advisory, ajelena83@gmail.com



of the efficiency and profitability of segments;

* motivating managers and employees to achieve emlfijectives through the
achievement of segment objectives;

» fulfillment of requirements related to informing cartcommunication between the
segments and / or segments and the entity’s topgesmnent;

* monitoring the execution and incurred deviationstf@ purposes of determination of
liability for success (failure) in business segnseetc.

Organisation and function of external and intesement reporting are chosen according to:

 The determinants, instruments and elements of thandial and management
accounting organisation,

» Segment costing in the corporation,

 The type and status of the identified business setgnand reporting segments
associated with the type of organisational strectfrthe corporation

* Requirements and guidelines of the regulatory fraank of financial reporting and

» Information requirements of the external and irakusers of accounting information
because the objectives of segment reporting aciassd with external and internal
informational requirements.

External segment reporting is particularly impottln investors, creditors and the state. For
the investment analysis it is necessary to know amderstand how different parts of the
corporation - identified as operating segments,ratpe economically. Without dividing
corporation into operating segments (investmentecsrand profit centers are assumed here),
there is no adequate way to predict the total diyatime, or the risk of future cash flows of
the whole corporation.

The internal segment reporting is aimed, primardy,managers, because the corporation
managing is separated from the corporation owiiggormance measurement of corporation
parts is important for the operating segments mansadt is used for measuring the operating
segments performance in the function of achievirgggdet goals. Beside the investment and
profit centers, the cost, revenue and centers dfgéied expenditures are also assumed here.
Finally, it would reflect on the corporation growdind development and the achievement and
sustenance of competitive advantages, and in #gsrd related motivational effects on
employees and especially on operating segments gaeiaBecause of this, segment
reporting is an important factor in the developmemd efficiency of corporate management.

Segment reporting in the modern business envirohngan and should be constantly
reviewed and improved, among other things, throtigh improvement of performance
measurement, improvement of costing systems arlthitgpees, improvement of legislation
and implementation of a general-purpose finan@pbrting and improvement of ethics and
education of the accountants and managers of apgrsggments and the whole corporation.
The professional accounting legislation has the kele in the segment reporting
improvement.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Segment reporting has been the subject of theatetiod practical studies since the mid-
twentieth century. For the purposes of more aceumesentation and interpretation of
financial statements, operating segments informatioan entity are extracted and disclosed
from the consolidated financial reports (Barr, 1P6lhe reason for such crucial changes to
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information requirements which are expected fromarficial reporting, was a significant
increase in the number of mergers, acquisitions diversification of the organisations, the
emergence of conglomerates, etc, which indicateeak informational basis in the existing
consolidated financial statements.

From the official segment reporting in the Uniteshg@dom in 1965 (Doupnik et al. 2012) via
mandatory ones in the USA in 1969 (Nobes et al.0Qa the international professional
accounting regulations for segment reporting indlghties of the last century, a significant
progress in the development of segment reportasgdeen made (Crawford et al. 2010).

The harmonisation and convergence of segment regaat the international level is being
specially researched. In this regard, the keyfmlsegment reporting has the development of
professional accounting regulations. These arerat®nal Financial Reporting Standard 8 -
Operating segments (IFRS 8) and the US Financiabiating Standard 131 — Disclosures
about Entity Segments and Related Information (SHA3). Reviewing (Crawford et al.
2012; Li, 2013), evaluation (IASB, 2013) and impgawent of professional regulations of
segment reporting are continuous processes (Nigtads. 2012; Kang et al. 2014) and are
important for the segment reporting improvement.

3.METHODOLOGY

A larger number of disclosed information about dperating segments can have a greater
effect on the segment reporting improvement, andhenimprovement of its informative
significance. Segment information which are releéyvdroth, for the investors and the
managers are descriptive (qualitative) and findr{gaantitative).

Disclosures of financial information about opergtisegments, numerically expressed, are
conditioned by costing operation for the operaseagments (Medved, 2014). In this regard, it
IS necessary to measure the importance of the odisdl information about operating
segments, in order to improve the segment repgring to measure the impact of costing
and especially the impact of modern costing systemtfie disclosed segment information.

The general regression model of the impact of dggad information about the operating
segments on the segment reporting improvement is:

Yai =Po+ 1 X1+ L1 X2+ f1 Xaz+ 1 Xuat+ f1 Xis+ 1 X6
2 X1+ P2 Xoo+ B2 Xoz+ [2X2a+ f2Xos5+ 2 X026
3 X3+ f3Xa+ €1
Where:
Y = the dependent variable for segment reportingravement, where Y £(X);

Bo = constantf,= 0 because the starting premise of segment regariprovement is that
there are no information disclosed about operaegments

B1=0.475 (the slope of independent variable faemal segment reporting)
B2=0.475 (the slope of independent variable fagrimal segment reporting)

B3 = 0.05 (the slope of control variable) (The isxafethe fixed value assigned to the
parametergl, 2 andB3 is the biggest unknown in the set regressionah@® equals 5%
because the percentage is considered an accepabtainting error (Twér¢é, 2012).)
Parametergl andf2 are assigned with the same values within the atmmfl0.95.
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>.pi=1 pB,=0475 pB,=0475 p;=0,05

¢l = random error (the amount to be neglected imtbdel)

a) The independent variables that are binary spdcifhat is — they either appear (having the

value of 1) or do not appear (having the value)off@o groups of independent variables are

made - external variables (the investor’s aspew)iaternal variables (the manager’s aspect):
« External independent variables (the investor’s e3pe

Xq11 = the presence of information on the factors deiteing the reportable operating
segments;

X12 = the presence of information on major productsises on the basis of which the
reporting segment generates revenues;

X13 = the presence of information on the profit oslasd total assets of operating segments;

X14 = the presence of information on accounting b&misdransactions between reportable
segments;

X15 = the presence of information about major custemer
X16 = the presence of information about geographicds
* Internal independent variables (the manager’s &spec

X21 = the presence of information on the managemeamroagh implementation;
X22 = the presence of information on the profit (lc&s)l operating segment incomes;
Xo3 = the presence of information about the assetdialnidities of the operating segments;

X4 = the presence of information on the criteria édsmemberment or aggregating of
operating segments;

X325 = the presence of information about the compliasfagperating segments disclosure with
total amounts in the financial reports;

X26 = the presence of information for determining theous segment performance measures;
» Control variables (independent variables):

X31 = the application of modern costing systems and

X32 = the application of traditional costing systems.

In order to express the segment reporting improvemaisclosure of information about

operating segments must be evaluated and the ismmie of each disclosed information

about the operating segments must be assessedurigathe approximate contribution of

each disclosed information about the operating segento the overall informative power of

segment reporting is simplified while determininge tsignificance weights of disclosed

information about operating segments. The tablevbgiresents the assumed significance
weights of the information about operating segmé€Ffable. 1).

The table with assumed significance weights of edishlosed information about operating
segments, if necessary, may expand and/or addpéetexpectations of managers, as well as
investors, for every business entity that was okeskrThe assumed significance weights of
each disclosed information about operating segnmametsecessary for the purposes of setting
the regression model that can measure, abovédaltdnnection between the improvement of
the external and the internal segment reportindy wiformation on operating segments,
which are being disclosed.
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Table1l Assumed significance weights of respective infation for external and internal
segment reporting

External segment reporting

Information significance expressed by weight Overall

INVESTOR’S ASPECT information
Information significance

Investment . Expense

Profit centre expressed by
centre centre .
weight

Factors determining the reportable operating 10 3 0 18
segments
Information on major products / services on the
basis of which the reporting segment generates 10 9 0 19
revenues
Inform.atlon on the profit or loss and total assets of 10 10 0 20
operating segments
Information on accounting basis for transactions 10 7 0 17
between reportable segments
Information about the major customers 10 9 0 19
Information about geographical areas 10 7 0 17
Overall. information stgmflcanf:e accor:img to the 60 50 0 110
operating segments from the investor’s aspect

Internal segment reporting

Information significance expressed by weight Overall

MANAGER'’S ASPECT information
Information significance

Investment . Expense

Profit centre expressed by
centre centre .
weight

Management approach implementation 10 9 7 26
InformatlF)n on the profit (loss) and operating 10 10 5 25
segment incomes
Informétlon about the assets and liabilities of the 10 10 5 25
operating segments
Information on the criteria for dismemberment or 10 9 5 24

aggregating of operating segments

Information about the compliance of operating
segments disclosure with total amounts in the 10 9 5 24
financial reports

Information for determining the various segment
performance measures

Overall information significance according to the
operating segments from the manager’s aspect

Source:Turéi¢, M. 2012.

10 9 6 25

60 56 33 149

By acknowledging the assigned significance weigbftseach independent variable, the
construction of the influence model of the disctbggormation about operating segments on
segment reporting improvement may be expressed as:

6
'=X' 211 21

X
Y;=0,475 * 110/159 %1‘ +0,475 * 149/159 + 0,052 -3 f=1 X1

1+X3,
odnosno:

ozomL‘ S +02732627‘ L 2‘+005 (=1 Xt
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4. RESULTSAND DISCUSSION

The selected business entities from domestic ecmnpractices (business entities 1 and 2)
and international economic practices (businesstientB and 4) were tested for the set
regression model of segment reporting improvemamisented in Table 2):

Table2 Testing of segment reporting improvement regogssiodel

External segment reporting
INVESTOR’S ASPECT
Information Business Business Business Business
entity 1 entity 2 entity 3 entity 4
X1 - Factors determining the reportable operating
segments 1 1 1 1
X1, - Information on major products/services on the basis
of which the reporting segment generates revenues 1 1 1 1
Xi3- Information on the profit or loss and total assets of
operating segments 1 1 1 1
X14- Information on accounting basis for transactions
between reportable segments 0 0 0 1
Xi5- Information about major customers 0 0 1 1
X46- Information about geographical areas 0 1 1 1
Total of disclosed information from investor’s aspect 3 4 5 6
Internal segment reporting
MANAGER'’S ASPECT
Information Business Business Business Business
entity 1 entity 2 entity 3 entity 4

X,1 - Management approach implementation 1 0 1 1
X5, - Information on the profit (loss) and operating segment
incomes 1 1 1 1
X,3 - Information about the assets and liabilities of the
operating segments 1 1 1 1
X,4 - Information on the criteria for dismemberment or
aggregating of operating segments 0 0 0 1
X5 -Information about the compliance of operating
segments disclosure with total amounts in the financial
reports 1 0 1 1
X,6 -Information for determining the various segment
performance measures 1 0 1 1
Total of disclosed information from manager’s aspect 5 2
Control X31 - Application of modern costing systems 0 0 1 1
variables X3, - Application of traditional costing

systems 1 1 0 0
Result Y - Segment reporting improvement 0,35359 0,25058 0,44584 0,525

Source Author’s calculations

The results obtained by set regression model itelithat, in relation to international
corporations tested by model, which apply modersting systems and disclose more
information on operating segments, business orghdors from our domestic economic
practices have lower indicators of segment repgitimprovement.

Applied regression model in the specific case sidias two key limitations. Firstly, the
determined weights of the information significarficen investor’s and manager’s aspects are
subject to change depending on the assumptionaobf iedividual manager. Essentially this
means that, the weights of the information sigatifice on operating segments are subjective.
This limitation includes one advantage - it implasstant reviewing of the starting model
assumptions, due to changed preferences and néeasnagers over a period of time. The
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other limitation of the established model is theassity of testing its applicability to a greater
number of business entities that would ultimatelgicate whether the model is generally
acceptable for testing segment reporting improvemaccording to disclosed information
about operating segments from investors' and masiagspects in terms of application of
modern costing systems.

Finally, regardless of the limitations, the regr@ssmodel application should highlight the
importance of greater disclosure of information whthe operating segments. Segment
reporting improvement is contributed, in accordamath the requirements of IFRS 8 and
SFAS 131, by the disclosure of each operating sagmirmation for external purposes (for
the needs of investors, creditors, potential inusstgovernment and other external users of
accounting information) and for internal purposés the needs of managers and other
employees). It also encourages the implementafionoalern approaches in management and
costing and thus enables the improvement of segrapotting.

From the aspect of investors, potential investargditors and financial analysts, it is
necessary to point out the importance of profitgbiinformation (Berger et al., 2007).
Profitability provides long-term basis for the amlement of other objectives related to
growth and development of entities. Therefore, bgsidering the disclosed information on
operating segments it is possible to determineda relevant for prediction of future
activities related to the growth and developmenemtities. The provision of such data and
information is a very important indicator of futuearning possibilities and the entity stock
price movements, which is ultimately crucial fovéstors and creditors of the entity, and also
future investors. As the entity, seen as a whaoleaimplified terms, represents the sum of its
operating segments, it means that the businesaabf @erating segment in the past, as well
as its business and financial perspectives forftihere, can be very significant for the
predictions of investors, creditors and analystedived et al. 2012 ). Disclosure of data
important for prediction of the future activitieslated to the growth and development of the
entities, on the other hand, could be of crucighontance for achievement and maintenance
of competitive advantages. Therefore, managerdaetaliely disclose such information in
order not to jeopardise the future competitive pasiand reveal valuable information to their
rivals. The aforementioned explains the reasons, wggnerally, it is considered that
managerial approach embedded in IFRS 8 and SFASIH, 3 a sense, a greater information
obstacle of disclosed operating segments informatio

The acceptable number of companies for an empirgsaarch on this issue cannot be found
within the sample of 50 large business organisatiarSerbia which were observed, because
of the two business organisations that discloserimétion about the operating segments.
Also, in economic practice of the Republic of Sarkihe traditional costing systems are
applied, and it is, mostly, a developed form ofiattost allocation.

The segment reporting is influenced by two key dext First of all, general economic
conditions, reflected in the significant presentéaaye legal entities that are state-owned or
owned by foreign corporations in the Republic ofbs®e An equally important factor is the
overall level of organisation, competence, imparéarand professionalism of accounting
regulations and accounting profession.

Regarding the accounting regulations and accoumpioéession in the Republic of Serbia, a
fairly satisfactory level of professionalism andoertise has been achieved, and it presents a
good starting point for the implementation of cogtand segment reporting. However, the
objective factor that cannot be influenced by aotig regulations and profession is the
ownership and organisational structure of busireganisations in the Republic of Serbia.
Such economic circumstances have contributed tpdbe development and representation of
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contemporary approaches to costing in the busieesgies in the Republic of Serbia.
Perhaps, the influx of foreign capital into busses entities is a chance to strengthen the
informative importance of adequately set costinghi@ Republic of Serbia. Therefore, one
should not ignore the importance of competence,erige, knowledge and skills of
accountants, but also the managers, in order totifdethe possibilities and purpose of
modern costing systems application for the need@ahcial reporting of the general kind,
and ultimately, the segment reporting.

5. CONCLUSION

The set regression analysis model indicates thah ealditional disclosure of operating
segment information affects the improvement of rimfative strength and segment reporting
importance. In terms of domestic economic practiaesording to the observed sample, a low
representation of segment reporting has been detedm

The effects of segment reporting improvement cambasured by general regression model.
In order to measure the effects it is necessagntiyse (for a longer period of time) and to
include the business entities that apply segmegmirtieg even outside the territory of the
Republic of Serbia. With certain limitations of tmeodel application, especially on the
territory of the Republic of Serbia, the advantafjghe model is that the significance weights
of each operating segment information can be adapethe needs and requirements of
managers, and also investors. However, by appliivegmodel onto the business entities
outside the Republic of Serbia, which use modestitg systems, the significant segment
reporting improvement is noticed. Accordingly, fromhe viewpoint of development
possibilities and suggestions for segment reporimgrovement in terms of domestic
economic practices, it could be concluded that:

» With the influx of foreign capital and the desicedchieve the best possible results, the
improvement of costing and segment reporting canexjgected. The interest of
foreign investors is to obtain high-quality and ¢igninformation through appropriate
performance indicators. Among other things, for thepose of efficient business
decision-making, it can contribute to the needwdldy segment reporting;

» ldentifying opportunities and informative capaldg of costing, by the management
structure, should contribute to the necessity trimal and external segment reporting;

» Referring to the importance and the informative atality of segment reporting
should be directed towards achieving and sustaitiiagcompetitive advantage of the
whole corporation and its parts.
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THE INFLUENCE OF COMPANY LEGAL FORM AND SIZE ON ACCOUNTING
POLICIES DISCLOSURES

Vladimir Obradovié!

Nemanja K ar apavlovié?

Abstract: The aim of the research in this paper is to fiotd whether legal form and size of a company
influence its willingness to disclose important @aating policies. The disclosure of the basis for
measurement of property, plant and equipment, tethaad of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, and the method of inventory accountmghe notes to financial statements of 400
companies in the Republic of Serbia applying IFRSabserved. The research shows that both legal
form and size have some influence on willingnesofpanies to disclose their accounting policies.
The willingness to disclose the basis for measunémé property, plant and equipment and the
depreciation method are influenced by the compaeg; svhile the willingness to disclose the method
of inventory accounting is influenced by the conydagal form.

Keywords. accounting policies, disclosure, International &ntial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
property, plant and equipment, inventories

JEL Classfication: M 41, M 48

1. INTRODUCTION

According to IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes Argcounting Estimates and Errors
(paragraph 5), accounting policies are "the spe@ifinciples, bases, conventions, rules and
practices applied by an entity in preparing ands@néng financial statements”. Alexander
and Nobes (2010, 451) define accounting policie4las detailed methods of valuation and
measurement that a particular company has chosem tinose generally accepted by law,
accounting standards or commercial practice”. T¢tegss that companies have to use these
policies consistently for similar items and ovendi Glautier and Underdown (2001, 57)
perceive accounting policies as "specified accogniiases judged by business enterprises to
be most appropriate to their circumstances”.

The above definitions, when viewed together, indi¢hat accounting policies are:

internal regulation of financial reporting, i.ehet regulation created or chosen by a
reporting entity (company, enterprise) itself,

limited by external regulation (such as laws ondtads), which defines the space for
making accounting choices, and

aligned with the needs and circumstances of indalidompanies.

Jones (2014, 367) points out that different acaagnpolicies result in different figures in
financial statements. Because of the great poteinfilaence of accounting policies on the
presented financial position and performance, ivaesy important for users of financial
statements to be informed about accounting politiasa company uses when preparing its
financial statements. Deegan and Ward (2013, 6®sstthat knowledge of accounting
policies is necessary for a meaningful comparisbfinancial position and performance of
different companies. Therefore, companies are imghdbe obligation to disclose, in their
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notes to financial statements, the accounting galithat are used in preparation of financial
statements.

However, companies are not always ready to comiily financial reporting regulation for
various reasons. Some companies depart from fiaargporting regulation unintentionally,
because of insufficient knowledge, carelessnessednical errors, while some of them
intentionally present wrong or incomplete financsthtements in order to mislead their
stakeholders. In this paper, we have examinedellationship between the legal form and the
size of companies and their willingness to discl@ounting policies. The research
hypotheses are formulated as follows:

H1: The size of a company influences its readim@shsclose its accounting policies.
H2: The legal form of a company influences its ieass to disclose its accounting policies.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Many companies in the Republic of Serbia applyrimtional Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS) when preparing their general-purpose fin@nstatements. Some companies are
required or allowed to use full IFRS, some compaaie required or allowed to use IFRS for
Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMESs),ileelsome companies (micro entities),

have an option to use special legislation, i.e,@ndinance of the Minister of Finance (which

is, in effect, a national standard) instead of IFRBe results of many studies (KPMG and

von Keitz 2006; Kvaal and Nobes 2010; Kvaal and &0B012; Nobes and Parker 2010)
indicate that IFRS are flexible financial reportisgandards because they allow accounting
policies to vary. It means that different entitez use different accounting policies for the
similar business transactions.

Property, plant and equipment, as well as inveasprare very important kinds of assets for
many companies, because of their significant shratetal assets. On the other hand, those
items of statement of financial position are stignigfluenced by the accounting policies
choices. Open options, as one of the importanufeatof IFRS in general, are pronounced
exactly in financial reporting for property, plaahd equipment as well as for inventories.
When creating accounting policies for measureméat ¢he initial recognition of the items
of property, plant and equipment, companies caroshdetween the historical cost model
and the revaluation (fair value) model. In addifi@iepreciation of those items of assets
inevitably involves judgements, especially withaetjto depreciation method, useful life and
residual value. When creating accounting policesttie items of inventories (raw materials,
semi-products, finished products, commodity), congsm can choose between the FIFO
method and the average cost method (Obr&d@0i14, 233-235).

Evans (2003, 334) defines disclosure as "supplynfigrmation in the financial statements,
including the statements themselves, the noteshd@ostatements and the supplementary
disclosures associated with the statements”, amdisders disclosure as "final stage of
accounting”. IFRS require all the important infotina on accounting policies to be disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements, includhgyinformation on measurement basis used
for property, plant and equipment after initial agnition (IAS 16, paragraph 73; IFRS for
SMEs 2015, paragraph 17.31), and the method useeasuring end inventories and costs of
inventories disposed (IAS 2, paragraph 36; IFRSSWIESs 2015, paragraph 13.22). Because
the notes to the financial statements should irecloéntioned information, as well as other
text and numerical information, this componentha set of financial statements "should not
be interpreted by the reader as secondary or umtargo In fact, notes often occupy more
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page space than statements themselves and ina@uoglénportant information that would not
be available if the reader were limited to the infation that can be contained in the financial
statements themselves" (Williams, 2007;150. In other words, "the notes to the financial
statements can paint a more complete picture of drowntity operates and offer a context in
which to understand the numerical amounts” (Kraegc2011, 80) presented in the statement
of financial position, the statement of comprehemsncome, the statement of changes in
equity and the statement of cash flows.

However, the results of studies conducted by Artaraset al. (2013) and Prather-Kinsey and
Waller Shelton (2005) show that IFRS are not alwayglied strictly. Alou and Albu (2012:
350) point out to the importance of national retpisand auditors for IFRS implementation
in emerging economies stressing that mere intraoluaif IFRS into a national regulatory
framework does not automatically result in highaelgy financial statements. Some studies
conducted in the Republic of Serbia reveal that mames are not always sufficiently
motivated or forced to apply IFRS strictly. The uks of research on the related party
disclosure practice conducted by Jak&010) indicate that companies in the Republic of
Serbia do not fully respect the provisions of théharitative standard (IAS 24). Obrado
Karapavlové (2014) analyze the practices of financial repagrtion property, plant and
equipment and reveal that some companies do ndbdesmeasurement basis or depreciation
method. Obradovi & Karapavlovt (2016) find that segment information disclosedthe
notes to financial statements of the companieshan Republic of Serbia is not always
consistent with the provisions of the authoritatstandard (IFRS 8). Spéas& Denci¢-
Mihajlov (2014) point out that mandatory disclasyaractices of Serbian companies appear
to be limited. According to them, main reasonstfos situation are: (1) ineffectivenes in the
functions of internal and external auditors, (2pipoorporate governance and (3) relatively
small number of companies that are subjects aftsind direct supervision of the regulatory
bodies. Mij¢ et al. (2011) find that quality of financial refiog on biological assets in the
Republic of Serbia is not satisfactory because @y % of the companies in their sample
disclose all the information required by IAS 41.eTélbovementioned results of studies show
that preparers and auditors of financial statemientise Republic of Serbia do not devote full
attention to information disclosed in the notesfitmncial statements. Therefore, users of
financial statements are deprived of informatioattmight be very important for proper
assessment of financial position and performanamoipanies.

3. RESEARCH SAMPLE AND METHODOLOGY

The research is conducted on the sample of 400 aoiep of different size and legal form in

the Republic of Serbia. The analysis is based erfittancial statements for 2014 published
on the official internet site of the Serbian Bussdregisters Agency. The structure of the
sample is shown in Table 1.

The relationships between the company size and fega, on one hand, and the disclosure
of accounting policies, on the other hand, are emadhon the examples of (a) the basis for
measurement of property, plant and equipmenth@pepreciation method for those types of
assets, and (c) the inventory accounting method.r&éason for choosing the abovementioned
examples stems from (1) the explained importanceprafperty, plant, equipment and
inventories, and (2) the space for accounting pditeft by IFRS regarding these types of
assets. The non-parametric chi-square tests opemtkence are used in order to test the
research hypotheses. We have used the signifitenelof 0.05.
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Tablel Sample structure

Number Percentage share
Size'
micro 2 0.50
small 54 13.50
medium-sized 108 27.00
large 236 59.00
Legal form
stock company 119 29.75
limited liability company 201 50.25
public utility company 75 18.75
social enterprise 3 0.75
cooperative 2 0.50
" Classification is based on the 2013 Accounting Law.

Source:Author's calculation
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Property, plant, equipment and inventories are vergortant items of the statement of

financial position (balance sheet) of the samplmganies. The average share of property,
plant and equipment in total assets is 43.22%, entlie average share of inventories of
material, semi-product, finished product and comityoth total assets is 13.99%. The

expenditures in income statement directly relatethe items of inventories (cost of goods
sold and cost of material consumed) are also veortant, making 56.84% of the total

operating expenses in average, while depreciatimtscmake 5.55% of the total operating
expenses in average.

An analysis of the notes to financial statemenwshthat 47 (11.75%) companies in the
sample do not clearly disclose the basis for mesasent of property, plant and equipment
(PPE) although IFRS require disclosure of thatrimfation. The number of companies that do
not clearly disclose the depreciation method isshme. The number of companies that do
not explicitly disclose the method of inventory agoting is 53 (13.25%). These results
indicate that the number of companies in the Republ Serbia that intentionally or
unintentionally fail to disclose some importantamhation on their accounting policies is not
negligible.

The analysis presented in Table 2 reveals thatl¥2.6f stock companies, 9.45% of limited
liability companies, and 16.00% of public utilitormpanies do not disclose the basis for
measurement of PPE. The results of chi-squareofestdependence, presented in Table 3,
show that the difference between companies of reiffe legal form in terms of their
willingness to disclose the basis for measuremé&émRE is not statistically significant (p >
0.05). The Phi coefficient of 0.078 denotes a mmdeffect size according to the Cohen's
criteria (Pallant, 2011, 222). It can be concludkdt legal form does not influence the
willingness of companies do disclose the basisrfeasurement of PPE.

According to Table 4, 10.92% of stock companies43% of limited liability companies, and

16.00% of public utility companies do not discldee depreciation method. The results of
chi-square test of independence, presented in Tabkhow that the difference between
companies of a different legal form in terms ofithvellingness to disclose the depreciation
method is not statistically significant (p > 0.0%he Phi coefficient of 0.066 denotes a small
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effect size. It can be concluded that legal formesdmot influence the willingness of
companies do disclose the depreciation method.

Table2 Disclosure of measurement basis for PPE by legal

Disclose Do not disclose Total
stock company 104 15 119
limited liability company 182 19 201
public utility company 63 12 75
total 349 46 395

Note: Social enterprises and cooperatives are excluded from the analysis because of the small
number of such companies in the sample.

Source Author's calculation

Table3 Chi-square test of independence for the relatipnisetween legal form and
disclosure of basis for measurement of PPE

Asymp. Sig.
Value df (;I-siZed)g
Pearson Chi-Square 2.428° 2 0.297
Likelihood Ratio 2.356 2 0.308
Linear-by-Linear Association 0.231 1 0.631
N of Valid Cases 395

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 8.73.

Source:Author's calculation

Table4 Disclosure of depreciation for PPE by legal form

Disclose Do not disclose Total
stock company 106 13 119
limited liability company 180 21 201
public utility company 63 12 75
Total 349 46 395

Note: Social enterprises and cooperatives are excluded from the analysis because of a small
number of such companies in the sample.

Source:Author's calculation

Table5 Chi-square test of independence for the relatipnisetween legal form and
disclosure of the depreciation method for PPE

Value df A(s;_rzzezl)g
Pearson Chi-Square 1.723° 2 0.423
Likelihood Ratio 1.606 2 0.448
Linear-by-Linear Association 0.872 1 0.350
N of Valid Cases 395

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 8.73.

Source:Author's calculation
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Table 6 reveals that 11.76% of stock companiegl128.of limited liability companies, and
5.33% of public utility companies do not discloge tinventory accounting method. The
results of chi-square test of independence, predeimt Table 7, show that the difference
between companies of different legal form in teraistheir willingness to disclose the
inventory accounting method is statistically siggaht (p < 0.05). The Phi coefficient of
0.136 denotes a medium effect size. It can be aded that legal form influences the
willingness of companies to disclose their inveptaccounting method.

Table6 Disclosure of the inventory accounting methoddgal form

Disclose Do not disclose Total
stock company 105 14 119
limited liability company 166 35 201
public utility company 71 4 75
Total 342 53 395

Note: Social enterprises and cooperatives are excluded from the analysis because of a small
number of such companies in the sample.

Source:Author's calculation

Table7 Chi-square test of independence for the relatipnisetween legal form and
disclosure of the inventory accounting method

Asymp. Sig.
Value df (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square 7.261° 2 0.027
Likelihood Ratio 8.146 2 0.017
Linear-by-Linear Association 0.762 1 0.383
N of Valid Cases 395

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 10.06.

Source:Author's calculation

Table 8 reveals that 21.43% of micro and small comgs (those categories of companies are
analyzed together because of the small number @onsompanies in the sample), 15.74% of
medium-sized companies observed, and 7.63% of lemgganies do not disclose the basis
for measurement of PPE. The results of chi-squestedf independence, presented in Table 9,
show that the difference between companies of rdiffiesize in terms of their willingness to
disclose the basis for measurement of PPE is tatatlg significant (p < 0.05). The Phi
coefficient of 0.163 denotes a medium effect sizean be concluded that size influences the
willingness of companies to disclose the basisnfmasurement of PPE. The willingness
grows with the growth of company.

Table8 Disclosure of the basis for measurement of PP&izey

Disclose Do not disclose Total
micro and small 44 12 56
medium-sized 91 17 108
large 218 18 236
Total 353 47 400

Source:Author's calculation
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Table 10 reveals that 21.43% of micro and small games, 13.89% of medium-sized
companies observed, and 8.67% of large companiemnatodisclose the method of
depreciation of PPE. The results of chi-square déshdependence, presented in Table 11,
show that the difference between companies of rdiffiesize in terms of their willingness to
disclose the method of depreciation of PPE is sttadilly significant (p < 0.05). The Phi
coefficient of 0.141 denotes a medium effect sizean be concluded that the size influences
the willingness of companies to disclose the metbbdlepreciation of PPE. Again, the
willingness grows with the growth of company.

Table9 Chi-square test of independence for the relatipnisétween the size and the
disclosure of the basis for measurement of PPE

Value df Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square 10.586° 2 0.005
Likelihood Ratio 10.068 2 0.007
Linear-by-Linear Association 10.464 1 0.001
N of Valid Cases 400

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 6.58.

Source:Author's calculation

Table 10 Disclosure of the method of depreciation of PREike

Disclose Do not disclose Total
micro and small 44 12 56
medium-sized 93 15 108
large 216 20 236
Total 353 47 400

Source:Author's calculation

Table11 Chi-square test of independence for the relahigpnisetween the size and the
disclosure of the method of depreciation of PPE

Value df Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square 7.977° 2 0.019
Likelihood Ratio 7.324 2 0.026
Linear-by-Linear Association 7.884 1 0.005
N of Valid Cases 400

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 6.58.

Source:Author's calculation

Table 12 reveals that 17.86% of micro and small games, 10.19% of medium-sized
companies observed, and 13.56% of large compabiestddisclose the inventory accounting
method. The results of chi-square test of indepecelepresented in Table 13, show that the
difference between companies of different sizeemms of their willingness to disclose the
inventory accounting method is not statisticallygrsiicant (p > 0.05). The Phi coefficient of
0.070 denotes a medium effect size. It can be aded that the size does not influence the
willingness of companies to disclose their inveptaccounting method. Contrary to the
previous results, a higher percentage of large emmeg fail to disclose the information in
comparison to medium-sized companies.
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Table 12 Disclosure of the inventory accounting methodizg

Disclose Do not disclose Total
micro and small 46 10 56
medium-sized 97 11 108
large 204 32 236
Total 347 53 400

Source:Author's calculation

Table 13 Chi-square test of independence for the relatignisetween the size and the
disclosure of the inventory accounting method

Value df Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square 1.936° 2 0.380
Likelihood Ratio 1.915 2 0.384
Linear-by-Linear Association 0.141 1 0.708
N of Valid Cases 400

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 7.42.
Source:Author's calculation
The summary of the previous results presented loheTB4 show that both legal form and size

have some influence on the disclosure of accourgoigies. The research hypotheses have
been partially confirmed.

Table 14 Summary of chi-square tests of independence lestvegal form and size and
willingness to disclose accounting policies

Type of information Statistical significance of the influence of
(dependent variable) legal form size
basis for measurement of PPE no yes
method of depreciation of PPE no yes
inventory accounting method yes no

Source:Author's calculation
5. CONCLUSION

The research has shown that legal form influendkngmess of companies to disclose the
inventory accounting method, wherein limited ligtlgicompanies show the least readiness to
disclose. It can be explained by the fact that tige of companies has the least public
accountability comparing to stock companies andlipultilities. On the other hand, the
research has revealed that the size influencesmgniéss of companies to disclose the basis
for measurement of property, plant and equipmedttae method of depreciation of those
items of the statement of financial position (bakarsheet). In general, bigger companies
show more willingness to disclose the abovementiomecounting policies regarding
property, plant and equipment than smaller comganWe conclude that the research
hypotheses can be partially accepted. Legal forchsire influence the disclosure of some,
but not all, information on accounting policies. dddition, the research has confirmed that
companies in the Republic of Serbia generally dofuldy comply with IFRS. Auditors and
regulators of financial reporting should pay motraion to the disclosures on accounting
policies in the notes to financial statements.
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INFLUENCE OF LEVERAGE ON PROFITABILITY OF COMPANIES IN THE
REPUBLIC OF SERBIA

Marina Jankovi é*
Dejan Jovanovi®

Abstract: The constant tendency of companies towards gengrtte highest possible value for all
stakeholders, in addition to careful selectionrofastment, also requires correct decisions abaeit th
funding. More specifically, the choice of an apptafe financial structure of the company is one of
the most difficult, but also the most important isien in the process of generating value.
Accordingly, the main objective of this researchtas investigate the influence of leverage on
profitability of companies in Serbia. Taking intecaunt the results of the previous research, the
multiple ordinary least squares regression is usethe paper for drawing conclusions. The research
was conducted on a sample of 117 companies fror@ #80@012. The results of the research show
that there is a statistically significant negatiradationship between leverage and profitability,ieth

is in accordance with the conclusions of most redea developing countries.

Keywords: Leverage,Capital Structure, Profitability, EmergiBgonomy
JEL Classification: G32, L25, L21

1. INTRODUCTION

The company has, according to origin, two typesafrces of financing: own and borrowed
capital. When selecting the optimal capital strustut is necessary to know the advantages
and disadvantages of financing through the issuequfity securities and through debt.
Financing through debt should cause, on the ond,htar savings and increased discipline
when making investment decisions, and, on the ollaerd, may face the company with
bankruptcy costs, agency costs, and loss of futumancial flexibility. For this reason,
financing via debt in profitable companies can gateegreater net present value due to tax
savings, and, consequently, create added valueowarers, while in companies with
profitability problems, the situation can be rewsts

Management of the company is striving to make th@pany’s operations as successful as
possible, and to, through a different combinatiéragsets structure and financial structure,
achieve the best possible business results andbthancrease overall value of the company.
Due to its advantages, debt can be one of the tmolsnprove company profitability.
However, efficiency of its use may vary from compan company, so that the management
quality can best be confirmed by its ability to ukabt to increase profitability. Of course, in
addition to debt, company profitability is undeetimfluence of other internal and external
factors as well, such as company size, operatidealsions, sector specifics, as well as
macroeconomic factors.

The aim of this study is to investigate the effeicteverage on the profitability of companies
in the emerging Serbian economy. The testing walldonducted using a linear regression
model, based on the data on 117 large companiteeiperiod 2008-2010. Leverage will be
considered as a share of debt (short-term, long;tand total) in total assets, and profitability
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as return on total assets. While it is clear thaetage directly affects the cost of capital and
capital investment, it is difficult to say at thedmning what the impact of leverage on
profitability is, without prior theoretical discuss on the capital structure and empirical
studies that examine the relationship between égeeand profitability.

2. CAPITAL STRUCTURE - THEORETICAL DISCUSSION

Irrelevance theory of capital structure or MM the@vodigliani and Miller, 1958) is the first
comprehensive model of the impact of financial tage on the cost of capital and the value
of the company under conditions of uncertainty. &dag to this theory, in perfect market
conditions and with the absence of taxatiawo companies, the same in all respects, except
in the capital structure, must have the same maket and the cost of capital. If this is not
the case, arbitrage, as a key element in the thadliyensure that the two companies have the
same market value. MM theory was, in addition t® great importance, subjected to
considerable criticism (Stiglitz, 1969), which migimelated to the unsustainability of the
assumptions in the real world. Aware of the meotssome criticism, the authors of the
irrelevance theory tried to make appropriate adjesits and include real market phenomenon
to modernize theory. Theory included the effect$ashtion and the possible bankruptcy of
the company.

When it comes to tax effects, policy of taxatios Bpecial impact on the design of the capital
structure, bearing in mind that interest costs cediax base (Modigliani and Miller, 1963).
Given the effect of tax savings (tax shield), tbenpany value would vary with a change in
the share of debt and would reach its maximum atrg high level of debt in the capital
structure. Specifically, profitable companies wolld able to realize tax savings, which
would lead to lower cost of capital and increase ¢bmpany value. Reasonable use of debt
can reduce tax liability of the company, which iBiaction of the amount of interest that the
company pays and marginal tax rates (Opler et37), and increase free cash flow after
payment of taxes (Barclay and Smith, 1999). Aceggdo Gitman (Gitman, 2003), the value
of the company reaches its maximum at the momeenvdost of capital is minimal, while
Damodaran (Damodaran, 2001) considers that theevaflithe company will not be at the
maximum level in point representing a minimal dbstee cash flow is not maximized.

In addition to its main advantages, the use of @gfdb has some disadvantages that are
reflected in an increase in the probability of acence of bankruptcy and agency costs
(Gitman, 2003). When using debt, one must take actmunt the company liquidity, or the
ability of a company to, within the set deadlineset its due obligations arising from regular
cash inflow from operating activities. After a @art level of leverage, any further increase in
debt leads to the reduction of the company value,td the growing influence of the present
value of bankruptcy costs, which do not represerin@ar function of leverage, as this
possibility increases at a growing rate after aaterthreshold level (Van Horne, 2002).
Agency costs are costs that occur as a resulicohdlict of interest, and may be the result of
conflicts between owners (shareholders) and masager well as between creditors and
owners (Harris and Raviv, 1991). By including agenosts in the theoretical discussion, it
was noted that they behave similarly to bankrugtusts, meaning that they increase cost of
capital and thus reduce the value of the compagysgh and Mackling, 1976). Accordingly,

3Assumptions of MM theory: 1) market is perfect,tB® expected value of the probability of achievinwre
operating income is the same for all participaatthough they may differ in their subjective vievd, all
companies can be classified into homogenous “lisgses”, in which companies are perfect substitdfeao
taxation (this assumption was later removed) (Vamid, 2002).
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simultaneous analysis of benefits and costs of,detmtwn in literature as Trade-off theory,
indicates that equality of marginal benefit and givaal cost of debt provides maximum value
of the company (Martin et al., 1988; Fama and Hre26005).

Starting from asymmetric information, by observprgferences of companies in the selection
of sources of funding, Myers and Majluf (1984) etithed Pecking order theory. According

to Pecking order theory, companies do not havesaigely defined debt/equity relationship,

but see the share of debt as a reflection of cumal@aompany needs for financing for a

longer period (Myers, 1984). It was noted that cames, according to Pecking order theory,
use internally generated resources (retained eggnimefore debt, while issuance of shares
represents the ultimate solution to be used “undeess”, or when investment requires the
use of additional debt that would lead the comptngxcessive indebtedness (Fama and
French, 2005). Donaldson (1961) points out that gamg management favors internally

generated funds to the level of exclusion of exdefimancing, except in situations where the
need for sources of funding is significantly abtive levels of internally generated funds.

It can be seen that the basic theories of capitattsire vary according to position on the
level of debt in the capital structure, but alsopredicting profitability. According to the
modified MM theory, profitable companies have ahhigvel of debt, thus using tax savings.
In addition to tax savings, debt can also leachtweased management discipline, which will
result in a reduction of agency costs. Furthermprefitable companies are exposed to a
lesser probability of bankruptcy, and, based ordé@+aff theory, one can expect the existence
of a positive relationship between leverage anditpinlity. In contrast, Pecking order theory
favors retained earnings as the primary sourcein@nting, and suggests that profitable
companies have a higher amount of retained earramglsthus a smaller share of debt,
pointing to the existence of a negative relatiopdtetween leverage and profitability. That
means that companies with high profit margin, tame in all other respects, will have a
smaller share of debt because they will be ablgetwerate higher internal sources (Titman
and Wessels, 1988; Barton et al. 1989). Howeveenwih comes to empirical research, the
results are different, although the ones suppoRiecking order theory prevail.

3. LEVERAGE AND PROFITABILITY — EMPIRICAL RESEARCH

Numerous studies have examined the impact of diffelevels of debt on the profitability of
the company. In some studies, the emphasis wagplaslely on long-term debt (capital
structure), while some extended that influencentwrtsterm sources, as well as total debts. As
for the developed countries, Nissim and Penman3R@fund the existence of an adverse
effect of leverage on profitability. They noticdeht portfolios with lower financial leverage
are more profitable than those with high leveragel that there is a negative effect of total
leverage on future profit. Dimitrov and Jain (20@8%0 noted the existence of a negative
effect of leverage on profitability. Kayhan andriién (2007) observed a negative relationship
between debt levels and profitability, pointing dbat the relationship is relatively weak.
Research by Fama and French (2002), as well as1Rad Zingales (1995), indicates the
existence of strong negative correlation betweererbge and profitability with the US
companies.

Roden and Lewellen (1995) examined different capsteucture of companies acquired
through leveraged buyout transactions, and indicéite existence of significant positive
relationship between profitability and share ofatodebt. Gill et al. (2011) observed the
existence of a significant positive impact of skherin and total debt on the profitability of
service companies, but also a significant positmpact of short-term, long-term, and total
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debt on profitability of production companies. hetstudy conducted by Hammes and Chan
(2005), based on a sample of companies from el&urapean countries, it was found that

factors (share of fixed in total assets, size, agel sectoral affiliation of companies) that

affect profitability are the same in all countriesyd that the strength of this influence is
different and depends on economic conditions ammh@uic cycle of each country. They

found significant positive relationship betweendege and profitability. The exceptions are
Sweden, where a significant negative impact of ig@ge on profitability was observed, and

Greece, where there was no statistically signiticeelationship between leverage and

profitability.

Al Fu (1997) tested MM theory about the indepeneeot.the company value from capital
structure and examined the impact of capital stingcton profitability of companies in
Malaysia. The study results indicate the existentesignificant negative link between
profitability and capital structure. Most other dies conducted, based on samples of
companies from emerging economies, show a significeegative relationship between
leverage and profitability (for example, Nigeria @gbulu and Emen, 2012; India in
Ramachandran and Candasamy, 2011; Sri Lanka inlatlimasan and Valeriu, 2010; China in
Yuanxin et al., 2009). A statistically significaniegative relation between leverage and
profitability was observed with transition coungrie- Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia,
Hungary, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, lagténd Lithuania (Haas and Peeters,
2004).

It is evident that empirical studies indicate thastnce of a strong relationship between
leverage and profitability, with this connectionirige mostly negative when it comes to
developing countries. The reason for this can bendoin the undeveloped corporate
governance, underdeveloped or undeveloped capadgtan(Green et al. 2002), high rate of
inflation and low rate of GDP (Booth et al. 200Akcordingly, the research hypothesis is set
as follows:

HO: Leverage has a statistically significant negatimpact on the profitability of the
company.

It is to expect that the results of the researdhimdicate the statistical and economic nature
of the impact of leverage on profitability of conmpes in Serbia, as well as compliance with
some of the attitudes of capital structure theories

4. SAMPLE AND METHODOLOGY

Sampling was carried out according to the Economagazine TOP 300 edition, where the
companies in Serbia are ranked by the amount dit pealized in 2010. 120 companies were
taken from this list, whose financial statements tfee period 2008-2010 were subject to
further analysis. The database, which was the subferesearch, consisted of 351 financial
statements, i.e. 117 Serbian companifesthe period 2008-2010. All companies covered by
the study, according to the criteria of the Law Aectounting and Auditing, belong to the
group of large companies. The complete study iedam the carrying values of items
important for the study on the date of financia@tsients. The financial statements for the
reporting period were collected from the databdsheSerbian Business Registers Ageéncy

* Research started with 360 observations, but 9re@iens (three companies), in which the leveloték debt
was 1 and which had losses in excess of capitak @xcluded from further analysis.
® Www.apr.gov.rs
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The study aims to examine the impact of leveragprofitability of companies in Serbia. The
study applies research methodology similar to tlethodology used by Fama and French
(2002), Rajan and Zingales (1995), and Gill et(2D11). Profitability, as a dependent
variable, is measured by return on assets (ROAgimmdd as a ratio between earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortizationITBB\) to total assets. EBITDA is used to
more accurately assess the operational performaht¢kee company, and it is also a key
measure of financial health, which allows for thmmparison of companies with different
capital structures and different geographical locet It is for these reasons that a series of
scientific papers obtained ROA by dividing EBITDA lotal assets (Jensen et al., 2010;
Barclay et al. 2012). The independent variabledtageshare of short-term debt in total assets
(SDA), the share of long-term debt in total as¢e3A), and the share of total debt in total
assets (TDA).

Control variables in the study are sales growth fanndl size. Sales growth (SG) is a control
variable, because different sales growth rates lif#erent effects on the current but also
future profitability of the company. Its value igpgessed by the ratio of difference between
sales (sales revenue) in the current and previetedand sales in the previous period. Firm
size (SIZE) is approximated by the natural loganittof sales revenue, because the
classification of companies, taking into accourg triteria, may vary between countries.
More specifically, there is a problem of selectitige size criteria, so that the specific
characteristics of individual companies (and thhesrtsize) are taken into consideration, as
well as the problem of setting threshold valuethefselected criteria.

On the basis of such variables, the following medel multiple ordinary least squares
regression are formed:

ROAI:,t = bO + blsDAi,t + bZSGi,t + b3SIZEl,t + Si,t (1)
ROAl"t = bO + blLDAi’t + bZSGi,t + b3SIZEl"t + gi,t (2)
ROAi,t = bo + blTDAi,t + bZSGi,t + b3SIZEl,t + gi,t (3)

where b, is the constant in the regression mode]js the regression coefficient with
independent variables, SDA, LDA, and TDA, respea{iyin models 1, 2, and 3, is the
regression coefficient with S@j; is the regression coefficient with SIZE;, is the error in
the regression model. These regression models ditowhe analysis of the impact of
independent and control variables on ROA of firat timet.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
5.1. Descriptive analysis

Based on the results of descriptive analysis (Tahblevhen it comes to profitability, one can
see that the sample includes a wide range of comgainom those that operate at a loss to
those who do business with different levels of prethich reduces average profitability to a
level of 7.9%. Bearing in mind the maximum and mmom value of logarithmic sales
revenue (SIZE), one can conclude that, despitefabe that all the observed companies,
according to the classification in Serbia, belongatgroup of large companies, there is a
significant difference in the amount of income withich they do business. The rate of sales
growth is 14.0% on average, although it should b&edh that the sample also includes
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companies with a drop in sales, as well as thosle sales growth of as much as 313.5%.
Detailed analysis reveals that 4.2% of companies ales growth of over 100%.

Table 1 Descriptive statistics of the observed varialfles 2008 to 2010

Variables Mean Median Std. Dev. Min. Max.
SDA 0.424 0.445 0.242 0.026 0.988
LDA 0.133 0.171 0.178 0.000 0.903
TDA 0.667 0.614 0.253 0.030 0.988
SG 0.140 0.268 0.453 -0.185 3.135
SIZE 16.121 16.198 1.110 7.208 19.004
ROA 0.079 0.090 0.104 -0.210 0.575

Regarding the leverage of companies, one can abacthat the sample encompasses
companies with a very low level of debt, as welttasse that obtain almost the entire capital

from borrowed sources. Apparently, from the aspédebt structure, companies prefer short-

term borrowing, as the share of short-term delbtal debt is 42.4%, while the share of long-

term debt is 13.3%. Evidently, half of the compart@ave a share of total debt above 61.4%
and are, according to the “golden rule of risk ¢igation”, in the zone of reduced certainty.

Series of studies, based on samples of comparoes dieveloped and transition countries,
show that developed countries have lower leveldewérage in relation to the transition
countries (Rajan and Zingales, 1995, Cornelli et1l8B6). Given that Serbia belongs to the
group of countries in transition, high level of éegge is to be expected. However, given the
research conducted in the countries of the Europson (Huizinga et al. 2006), on the basis
of which it was observed that the average sharalaiit in total assets of Europ&an
multinational companies was 62%, one can say tietdverage of companies in Serbia is
close to the European level.

5.2. Correlation and regression analysis

The nature of links between leverage and profitgbdf companies in Serbia is mostly
evident in results of the conducted correlationlysis, presented in Table 2. The values of
Spearman’s coefficient indicate a negative relatgm between leverage and profitability,
with different levels of significance for short+terand total debts. The values of Pearson’s
coefficient also indicate the existence of a negatcorrelation between leverage and
profitability. If one looks at control variablesn® will notice that there is a statistically
significant negative correlation between sales ginorate and profitability, which indicates
the existence of significant business problemsmmganies in Serbia, while the link between
firm size and profitability is not at a statistilgasignificant level.

Multiple ordinary least squares regression obtawades of regression coefficients for all
three set regression models represented by fornfli)ag2), and (3). It is evident that the
results confirm the results of correlation analysnsthe presence of a negative correlation

® The research covered European (Austria, Belgiumgdia, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark,
Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hundegjand, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxemirg,
Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, RamaRussia, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Swede
Switzerland, Turkey, United Kingdom) multinationebmpanies and their subsidiaries, whose accounting
information is contained in the Amadeus database.
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between leverage and profitability in companiesSerbia. Values of regression coefficients
and significance levels are given in Table 3.

Table 2 Spearman and Pearson correlation coefficient

Variable ROA SDA LDA DA SG SIZE
ROA -0.183*%*  -0.198**  -0.314* -0.185%*  -0.004
SDA -0.186** -0.300* 0.733* 0.135 -0.035
LDA -0.128 -0.257* 0.422* 0.095 -0.058
TDA -0.356* 0.713* 0.328* 0.191** -0.076
SG -0.166 0.369* 0.073 0.438* -0.543*
SIZE -0.071 -0.063 -0.073 -0.136 -0.431*

Notes: Pearson correlations above the diagonal, Spearman correlations below the diagonal. *, **
Denotes statistical significance at the 1 percent, and 5 percent level, respectively.

Table 3The impact of leverage, growth rate, and firm simerofitability

Model 1 Model 2 Model 3
Constant 0,347** 0,351** 0,383**
(2,081) (2,117) (2,360)
-0,155%**
SDA (-1,714)
-0,183**
LDA (-2,035)
-0,285%*
TDA (-3,212)
G -0,240%** -0,249** -0,205
(-2,224) (-2,336) (-1,948)
SIZE -0,140 -0,150 -0,137
(-1,305) (-1,408) (-1,321)
R2 0,049 0,059 0,105
F 3,038** 3,461** 5,626*

Notes: *, **, *¥** Denotes statistical significance at the 1 percent,
5 percent and 10% level, respectively.

Serbian economy in the reporting period faced g dnooperating income of around 7%,
doubling of losses to around 45 billion dinars, andreasing leverage. Furthermore, the
estimated value of investment decreased by 6.1%i¢Pand lli¢, 2011), and borrowed
resources were directed to financing of workingitsdpand the maintenance of current
operations. It is certain that increase of debtldowt be a problem if it was accompanied by
the growth of the volume of activity and income,iethwas not the case with the Serbian
economy in the reporting period. The negative dati@ between short-term debts and
profitability was expected, because the observapenod was characterized by a high
demand of companies for loans for liquidity, to gansate lack of funds and finance fixed
assets from short-term sources.

Statistically significant negative correlation wasserved between the ratio of long-term debt
and profitability, which is probably the result ektremely expensive long-term loans.
Disadvantages of long-term loans are confirmed rbynarease in total interest expenses in
2010, compared to 2009, by 105.8 billion dinarsniRai¢, 2011), and the fact that these
loans are usually linked to euro, whose value @nrgporting period increased significantly,
compared to dinar. The middle exchange rate ofN@eonal Bank of Serbia at the end of
2008 was 1 euro = 88.5 dinars, and in late 2010rd & 105.5 dinars. Increase in the share of
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expensive long-term debts in the capital structucesases the cost of capital and reduces the
value of the company, which is in line with theuks of research conducted by Rankovi
(2011), indicating that the increase in long-teronrbwing is accompanied by the increase in
loss.

One can also notice a negative statistically siggiit relationship between total debt and
profitability, which points to the fact that anyfiaer increase in borrowing leads to erosion of
profitability. The reasons for the negative relatinetween leverage and profitability should
be sought in a large increase in interest costgative exchange rate differences, as well as
poor investment choices, i.e. lack of efficient usferesources. The observed negative
correlation between sales growth rate and profitgbtan be explained by degression of
operating income in the observed time period. Desjom of operating income can also arise
from negative effects of the global economic craisthe Serbian economy. In this regard, it
is worth mentioning that companies in the reporgpegiod had a problem with liquidity,
linked with prolongation of time to collect receblas to 128 days (Eurostat), which made the
collection of receivables uncertain.

Given the results of the research, one can saytltbaget hypothesis is accepted. In addition,
given the previously mentioned theoretical discussand empirical research, the study
results are consistent with the Pecking order themrd empirical research in developing
countries, characterized by a negative relationsbtpreen leverage and profitability.

6. CONCLUSION

Numerous theoretical discussions point to the rsige®f knowing the advantages and
disadvantages of different sources of funding wtesigning the capital structure, but also
the fact that it is impossible to establish a ueignd given relationship between debt and
own capital that would imply minimal cost of capitaad maximum value of the company.
This is supported by the view held by Myers (2008sed on which there is no universal
theory of capital structure, and there is no reasoexpect that such a theory will be set.
Series of theoretical discussions have no unifieditmn on the impact of leverage on
profitability. If one looks at the results of empal studies, the conclusion is the same, except
that, in developing countries, negative relatiopshetween leverage and profitability is
dominant.

Looking at the results of analysis carried out, ocaa see significantly high share of short-
term debt in total assets. In some companies, lheesof short-term debt is almost at one
hundred percent (98.8%). When it comes to long-téetnts, their share ranges from 0% to a
maximum of 90.3%, with half of the companies haviags than 17.1%. However, if one

considers the average share of total debt in cormpan Serbia, which amounts to 66.7%,
and recent research in the European Union, indigathat the leverage of European

multinational companies is at the level of 62%, aam say that debt approximates the
European level. However, given the “golden ruleisk equalization”, the companies are in

the zone of reduced certainty.

The results of correlation and regression analysgsal statistically significant negative
correlation between: a) shot-term debt and prdfitghb) long-term debt and profitability,
and c) total debt and profitability. Accordinglfetresearch hypothesis cannot be rejected and
the results are in accordance with Pecking ord=srihand the results of studies conducted in
developing countries. The results can be explamedhe high share of debt, high interest
expenses (which increased significantly in the repg period), unfavorable euro exchange
rate, fall in operating income, reduced or pooestbn of investment opportunities, as well
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as negative effects of the global economic criSigdently, leverage does not contribute to

increase in profitability and it would be desirabidereduce it, use cheaper sources of funding,
and/or find profitable investment, as well as grfewards better maturity harmonization of

assets and sources of funding.

In addition to the importance of the informationtathed, certain limitations of the study

should be pointed out, which can be an incentivduture research. The study included only
financial reports of companies in the TOP 300disthe Economist magazine, sorted by the
amount of income, so the study automatically exetufinancial statements of companies that
were not in this list. What is more, the study westricted to a period of three years, i.e.
observed only financial reports from 2008 to 20Mbjch can be an incentive for a more

comprehensive analysis in the future.
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MISUSES OF ELECTRONIC PAYMENT SYSTEMS
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Abstract: Security is the biggest problem for individual users of electronic payment systems. In recent
decades, owners of these payment systems have devoted much attention to this problem, with intention
to create a sense of trust for customers and to eliminate the fear of loss. At the systemic level, the
security problem encompasses a broader context. Certain groups of customers misuse the advantages
of electronic payment systems to perform illegal financial transactions. These transactions can be
used for laundering money acquired in illegal business activities, gambling, financing other illegal
activities or terrorism. In situations in which the electronic payment systems provide user anonymity,
as in the case of the most electronic money systems, there is a real risk of flow of large sums of money
impossible to trace and to prove its origin. The subject of the paper is to review the problem of
misuses that are produced by electronic payment systems. The focus of the research is on the problems
of money laundering, online gambling and on criminal activities and terrorism financing.

Keywords: electronic payment systems, anonymity, money laundering, terrorism financing, Bitcoin
JEL Classification: G23, G28

1. INTRODUCTION

The first works in the field of electronic payment systems (ESP) are linked to the creation of
the blind signature concept (Chaum, 1983), which was supposed to enable the creation of e-
cash as a counterpart to the traditional cash. Although the initial considerations were related
to the cards as a medium for e-cash, software electronic money has come in the focus of
interest with the commercial use of the internet. Thanks to the benefits of the Internet,
electronic money can be transferred quickly and economically over long distances. The basic
working principle of both concepts was to preserve the user anonymity, as the ultimate
objective (Chaum, 1992, Lynch & Lundquist, 1996). The achievement of anonymity was
justified by the desire to provide the same working conditions for e-cash, as for physical cash,
and to protect customers’ privacy. However, this has created space for numerous illegal
activities such as the use of electronic money for paying illicit goods on the "dark web".

Commercial failures of early electronic money systems have given impetus to the creation of
a new class of ESP. Unlike electronic money, these systems have not created a new form of
assets, but they represent mechanisms which operate under the existing payment
infrastructure. Therefore, using these systems leaves a trace in the financial organizations
accounting, and de facto they are not anonymous. Nevertheless, the possibility of a quick
funds transfer over long distances, including cross-border transactions and low transaction
costs, has made these systems attractive for certain types of illegal activities.
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EPS enable the transmission of large amounts of funds in a short period of time. The transfer
could be executed without a problem, not only across borders but also between users from
different continents, which further complicates the ability to monitor the movement of funds.
Certain illicit activities, for whose implementation a lot of skills were required earlier, are
now available to a wider circle of unscrupulous users. The question of damages created by the
misuse of ESP rises more and more frequently. The difference between misuses and frauds is
that the misuses are carried out in full accordance with the rules of the system. There is no
shattered party, no one's privacy or funds have been compromised.

The subject of the paper is to review the problems of misuses of electronic payment systems.
The aim is to link certain payment systems and techniques for their use with certain aspects of
misuse. In this way, one can acquire a clearer image of the problem and approach to the
prevention and detection of fraud strategically.

In the first part of the paper, the subject of analysis is the money laundering process and
changes in the approach to this illegal activity due to the ESP use. The second part of this
paper analyzes the misuse of online betting and gambling. The third part covers the principles
and examples of criminal activities and terrorism financing. Finally, in the conclusion, the
measures for misuses detection and prevention are proposed.

2. MONEY LAUNDERING

Money laundering involves the process of moving funds acquired through illegal activities
into legal channels (Levi & Reuter, 2011). Criminal activities such as drugs and weapons
trafficking, smuggling oil, alcohol and cigarettes, slavery, extortion and racketeering generate
a large amount of money, which is typically in the form of cash. The problem for the owners
of thus acquired money is that the cash is impractical to handle. Transporting large amounts
of cash requires shipping costs, attracts the attention of the authorities and other criminal
groups, and thus creates the risk of loss. This is why the owners of dirty money try not to
accumulate cash, but to invest it in certain types of assets so that it becomes part of the legal
flows. Dirty money can come from legal activities too, as a result of tax evasion, staging
business activity, flat-rate charging for consulting and marketing services, etc. Reuter and
Truman (2004 pp.4) call these activities white-collar crime.

Collection of dirty Money

3. INTEGRATION
1. PLACEMENT =

.

=

4

2. LAYERING

= > Purchase of Luxury Assets

3 ﬁ;‘
= Financial Investments
Dirty Money Integrates ]'Tl‘ §
into the financial System [} ANK Commercial / Industrial Investments

i ‘ .‘4‘ AN
Transfer R ANK

Transfer funds between various
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Figure 1 Stages of money laundering

Source: http://kycmap.com/what-is-money-laundering
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The process of money laundering takes place through three key stages: placement, layering
and integration (as on Diagram 1). Stage of placement is the initial phase of introduction of
dirty money into legal businesses, usually through breaking the sum that should be laundered
into several smaller amounts which are then deposited on bank accounts. In the layering stage
the goal is to blur the movement of funds through a network of transactions between related
entities, members of organized groups or their associates. Integration represents the
reunification of significant financial resources in one place with a seemingly legal origine,
ready to be invested in legal businesses (OECD, 2009).

The simplest form of money laundering is its physical transport across the border. There are
numerous examples of criminal groups that organized money transfer to neighbouring
countries, and often in distant countries, with the aim to remove trace of illegal funds flow
from the place of criminal acts. Ping (2005) cites two examples of criminal groups. The first
was arrested at the airport in Miami in 1988 in an attempt to transfer 30 million $ by the
plane, hidden in cosmetics, food, clothes, electronics and even tennis balls. The second was
exposed in 2001 in Hong Kong, when trying to transfer 10 million HKD by the plane.
Subsequent investigations revealed that this was only one action of the group that over the
years managed in the same way to transports up to 850 billion HKD, and to deposit them to
1300 different accounts. In order to prevent such activities, national legislation introduced
maximal amount of money that an individual can poses when crossing the border, while the
larger amounts must be reported to the border police. An alternative to this process is the
purchase of high-valued assets such as precious metals, precious stones, paintings, expensive
cars, or designers’ wardrobes. Such assets are more easily transported across the border, or
later resold which would launder the money. Besides, for almost all mentioned types of assets
exists a developed black market. The third form of the classic money laundering is direct
investing in legitimate businesses. Criminal groups mostly invest in bars and restaurants,
whose trading volume is more difficult to monitor and to prove the flaws in business, but also
to other service companies, whose trading volume and prices may be feigned.

By creating ESP, the faster transfer of funds over the great distances is enabled, which is
especially suitable to money laundering activities. Organized groups don’t need to physically
move money across the border anymore, because the ESP transfer is not only faster, but also
safer. Electronic money, operational from the mid-nineties, through the concept of anonymity
gave opportunities not only for the transfer of illegal funds, but also for financing illegal
activities. Wearden (2001) mentions the situation when a gang of Russian hackers used the
stolen credit card data to invest funds in electronic money Flooze. Spending funds from the
cards to purchase products would bring into doubt the recipient of payment or delivery
address, while with investing in electronic money this funds were practically laundered.

The use of electronic money for laundering illegal funds has a critical moment only on the
first purchase of electronic money, especially when investing funds. Since number of
electronic money systems requires payment via an intermediary, that is, via bank accounts,
the purchase leaves a written trace. In essence, this trail itself is not enough, because payment
can be made with fake documents, and e-money account can be held in the name of the
person whose identity has been stolen. However, frequent payments addressed on the same
person, especially if amounts are large, can be suspicious and it is a basis for an investigation.
Some systems allow the direct purchase of electronic money for cash, thus avoiding even this
initial problem. Once funds are paid, they can be transferred between the customers
anonymously, so the recipient, who could be in another country, but also the same person
under different name, can legally receive e-cash and exchange it for convertible currency. In
doing so, the recipient can register online store as a cover, which would justify the huge
inflows of electronic money in the future. By selling e-cash and depositing convertible
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currency to a current account, illegal funds become legal. Straub (2002, pp. 521) states that
traditional methods, which are based on accounting track have no effect on the fight against
the electronic money laundering. US authorities, using the Patriotic Act, downed site of
electronic money Liberty Reserve, on suspicion that it was a cover for laundering money from
tax havens (Zetter, 2013).

Another large group of ESP, which relies on existing payment infrastructure, offers greater
possibilities for preventing misuses. By the fact that these systems are based on traditional
infrastructure, their operation relies on intermediaries and current accounts, and there is a
written record of the transactions carried out. PayPal and similar systems require personal
data during registration, as well as information on payment instruments and confirmation of
ownership of the instruments. In this way, all payments are easy to track by amounts and
participants, which is not a problem in itself, but at a later stage can be used as an evidence.

While the known mass-used systems are under the supervision of the public and the
authorities, there are a number of lesser-known systems, whose business can be characterized
as more flexible. These institutions are often registered as banks, for example Payoneer and
Skrill, and allow users to apply for their payment cards. The procedure for obtaining a debit
card is much less rigorous than at traditional banks, so users can apply online, without the
need to personally prove that they are really who they claim to be. The cards are delivered to
home address with free shipping, and from that moment the funds paid on the account that is
connected to the card can be freely used. Since those cards are branded by top brands such as
MasterCard or Visa, they are accepted at almost all POS and ATM terminals. Particularly,
one customer can pay the money into account in one country and the other customer in
another country has those funds available for spending almost simultaneously. Thus, issuer
companies earn based on a commission for spending/raising money.

It should be added that recently cards that allow connection with Bitcoin accounts emerged,
wherein the user can raise convertible currency at ATMs or pay at retail based on the
exchange rate conversion of Bitcoin to that currency. The website WeUseCoins has analyzed
the available debit cards and identified three currently dominant in terms of price and
availability for use. Visa card issued by the Bitcoin payments processor, the company BitPay,
can perform as any other card in terms of raising money, paying in retail and over the
Internet. In combination with the level 99% of anonymity that Bitcoin offers, these funds are
almost impossible to track. The same user may purchase Bitcoin, send it through 2 or 3 own
accounts which are hard to connect, and then to use those funds from one of these accounts
via credit card.

3. ONLINE BETTING AND GAMBLING

The problem of online betting and gambling is closely related to money laundering and tax
evasion (McMillen, 2003). Since the beginning of commercial use of the Internet, various
forms of online gambling and betting have been available to users. On the one hand, the
traditional casinos have increased their reach by introducing the possibility of betting over the
Internet and they enrich the offer with live bets. On the other hand, there are brand new online
sportsbetts and casinos that operate without physical branches. Often, they are located in the
so-called tax havens, offshore centres in Caribbean archipelago. Agar (2009) states that the
best example are Antigua and Barbuda, which starting from 1994 grant licenses for
registration of online casinos. In this way, not only that paying taxes to those countries whose
customers are targeted is avoided, but also the ownership structure remains unclear.
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Table 1 Number of online casinos registered in Dutch Antilles

1996 1997 1999 2002 2012
15 200 650 1800 2300

Source: Schwartz, D.G. 2006; Banks, J. 2012

Online casinos offer great opportunities for money laundering (Hugel & Kelly, 2003, Brooks,
2012). The origin of the funds invested by the user is not audited, nor there is an obligation to
use all invested funds. In practice, this means that users can pay a large sum for gambling
from one account, play a few rounds with the use of a small part of the available funds, and
then request payment of winnings. All available funds, even those that were not used for
games, are then paid on account which user requests. In this way the payment of dirty money
is legalized. A casino benefits from this activity because it charges a commission, maintains
the number of players and it is constantly available, so players often return. McMullan and
Rege (2010) cite three examples of organized crime groups that via systems of fictive users
account for betting and gambling performed money laundering and tax evasion: Giordano,
Uvari and Corozzo groups.

In order to prevent these types of money laundering the government of US repeatedly initiated
the adoption of regulation on online casinos. Adoption of the regulation was repeatedly
postponed due to lack of consensus in Congress. Schopper (2002, pp. 307) analyzed the drafts
of these laws and concluded that they all had serious shortcomings, comparing them with
Prohibition. The same author notes the evolution of the subject of regulation of these laws: the
first proposal (Senator Kyle), in the mid-nineties of the twentieth century, sought to punish an
individual for taking part in online gambling. Subsequent proposal (senator Goodlatte), at the
turn of the millennium, had for the subject of regulations casinos that were located in offshore
centres. However, in May 2000, the Committee for Banking and Finance proposed to ban
payments to the accounts of well-known casinos via wire transfer or credit cards. The idea of
this regulation was to block funding sources in order to prevent money laundering and its
forward to illegal activities. The proposal was rejected, but after the terrorist attacks of 11
September 2001 it was suggested again as a package of anti-terrorist measures to President
George Bush. Schopper (pp. 311) has pointed out the absurdity of this law. While it would be
illegal for customer to use his/her credit card to fund his/her account at the casino, it would be
perfectly legal to use the same credit card for purchasing electronic money, which can later be
used for funding his account at the casino. Risk from electronic money as an intermediary
would stultify the adoption of law, so it was finally expelled from the proposed legislative
package.

Online betting has become a frequent problem in recent years. In Serbia, especially popular is
online betting on horse racing, which takes place several times a day. Users can place bets
during the day, before the race and during the race. As the access to online betting companies
that offer these services is restrictive, users have found a way to invest funds and to charge
winnings via alternative payment systems. This is primarily Skrill, which, since it has been
registered as a bank, offers the possibility for user to open own accounts, and obtain a debit
card linked with this account. Since these are the cards branded by MasterCard or Visa, they
are accepted at almost all POS and ATM terminals. In this way, users who achieve income
spend their money directly, without withdrawal to local banks. Skrill makes profits on the
exchange rate difference and the commission, and users avoid paying taxes.
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4. CRIMINAL ACTIVITIES AND TERRORISM FINANCING

Although terrorism financing is basically connected with money laundering, flow of cash
goes into opposite direction. During money laundering, a criminal group tries to convert funds
acquired in illegal activities into legal properties or money which could be used via account,
without legal problems. During terrorism financing, a criminal group tries to use legal money
(when we talk about donations) for illegal activities such as buying weapons and equipment,
paying membership or action organizing. In other words, it is necessary to channel funds that
often could not be transferred into cash because of the distance or amount of it, through legal
flows so that in the end it could be used for illegal activities.

Quick fund transfer and difficulties in monitoring cash flow enabled by electronic payment
systems, is beneficial for financing of criminal and terroristic activities. Design of electronic
money system which faithfully imitates paying in cash in physical environment contributes to
this as well. Due to this fact, these systems provide anonymity of its users in the transaction,
thus preventing discover of real payers and recipients of the funds, as well as the purpose of
the transaction. The use of other electronic payment systems for these purposes is not suitable
because they leave written traces which can lead to connecting amount with participants.

Recent examples show that the electronic payment systems can be used not only in terms of
criminal activities financing but that this is one of their primarily purposes. At the same time,
criminal financing is tightly connected with money laundering, because while on the one hand
it allows paying for illegal activities and products, on the other hand the electronic money
allows to the final recipient to acquire completely legal funds by selling these money and
saving it on the current account. Bitcoin, the most dominant electronic payment system
nowadays, is addressed several times as “dark side of web”. Almost complete anonymity that
Bitcoin enables, along with the great marketability of this money, have influenced this system
to be the choice for paying whole range of illegal activities. The user manages Bitcoin coins
via a programme named digital wallet. All coins in possession could be located on one
account, or divided on many accounts, but user can access all of these accounts via same
digital wallet (Baxter-Raynolds, 2013). There is no way to connect an individual with the
specific account, as long as somebody does not indirectly identify the owner. However,
because there is a total overall of transactions ever performed (Koss & Koss, 2012), it is
possible to determine frequent transactions between specific pairs of accounts. In the situation
when one of the owners is identified, it is possible to track the owners of other accounts who
has received and sent payments. In that way, in the specific circumstances it is possible to
break the anonymity network.

One can access to dark web using special browsers named TOR (the onion routing) so it is
unavailable to the ordinary users. While the users of conventional internet are easily
recognizable because of their IP addresses (Liska, Sochor & Sochorova, 2011), the users of
dark web hide their location through redirection of the content over whole line of other users.
In that way, the identity of the user who requests the access to the specific content nor the
server on which is the content located in never known. The possibility for hiding identity of
users has stimulated the creation of numerous sites that deal with the trade of illegal goods
and services.

The most famous example is definitely Silk Road, a website which practically represents a
copy of the most famous auction website eBAY, on which one can buy weapons, narcotics,
pornografy, stolen credit cards, fake personal documents and other illegal good (Van Hout &
Bingham 2013). Bitcoin coins are used as the only mean of payment. Because of the rapid
changes of value, users frequently buy and sell Bitcoin as investment mean, so there is a
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developed secondary market, as it is the case with very marketable securities. In this way,
illegal good sellers can rapidly and easily get the convertible money. With this, the cycle of
criminal activities financing and money laundering is closed. On October 2013 FBI arrested
William Ulbricht on charges that he had launched and managed website Silk Road under the
nickname “Dread Pirate Roberts”, and the website was shut down. FBI estimated that the total
turnover of website was over the billion of US dollars, or precise 9,5 million of Bitcoins
(Konrad, 2013). During the trial it was unambiguously proved that the Ulbricht participated in
launching and managing website, but based on the confiscated communications it was found
that the organizer whose alias was “Dread Pirate Roberts” was still free (Greenberg, 2015a).
Ulbricht was found guilty and sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of
parole, which was higher sentence than the prosecuter requested (Greenberg, 2015b).

Based on this example, the possibilities for illegal activities financing are clear. When a legal
entity receives a large amount of money on its current account, it must have proper invoice
for products which it has delivered or services it has provided. Recipient of electronic money
does not need to have an invoice, he even does not need to be registered as a legal entity.
Individual can receive payment in large sum of electronic money without any cover or excuse.
Of course, if in one moment conversion of very high amount of electronic money into
physical money occurs, it can draw attention of government, so the individual can be the
subject of investigation but basically, frequent payment of lower amounts of money, or
transfer of specific amounts from one user to bigger groups are completely unnoticed. Bitcoin
further complicates the situation, because it is a decentralized system with no unique
supervisory authority for transaction monitoring. All previous electronic payment systems
depended on a legal entity which provided all organisational-operating jobs, from issuing,
over transfer, to conversion and preparation of reports, so those legal entities could react when
they noticed illegality. When it comes to decentralized currencies such as Bitcoin, there is no
this control function.

There are two sources of financing terrorist activities — donations and incomes of terrorist
groups’ members. Incomes of terroristic groups are almost by the rule connected to the
criminal activities, like drug and oil smuggling, weapons trafficking, kidnapping, extortions
or robberies. For example, Islamic state pays the biggest part of their activities with illegal
selling of oil confiscated in Irag and Syria (FATF, 2015). On the other hand, donations could
not originate only from illegal activities. Wealthy individuals from many countries support
terroristic groups on the grounds of their ideological and religious orientation (Cooker, 2016).
The money used in terrorism usually is collected by various non-governmental organizations
and nonprofit funds that are registered for charity work or for the promotion of education,
sports or culture in the target areas. Instead of those purposes previously mentioned, the funds
are then used in a terroristic groups training camps or for purchasing of weapons or
equipment, as well as for paying their members. Payments are usually smaller but more
frequent so that it does not draw attention of the authorities.

Electronic payment systems have facilitated the possibility for collecting funds at great
distances. The particular challenge of 21st century is decentralized terrorism financing
because donors have the opportunity to transfer great amount of money quite quickly, and
secretly covering the purpose of fund to which money is paid. There are no complete data
about the use of electronic money for the purpose of terrorism financing. Bearing in mind the
extent of the use of different electronic payment systems for paying other illegal activities and
money laundering, it could be supposed that the scope is significant.
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5. CONCLUSION

It has already been concluded that there is a high risk of misuse of electronic payment
systems. The ability to transfer funds quickly and cross-border payments on the one hand
create the additional value for legal businesses, but also open a wide range of opportunities
for misuse. Besides traditional hackers who usually perform isolated attacks on the ESP,
organized crime groups use the systemic advantages to perform unauthorized transactions.
Also, current regulations and standards for fighting money laundering and tracing flows of
crime and terrorism financing are not suitable to fight against new methods of money transfer.
Existing standards are based on the accountant monitoring of funds, payers and recipients, but
a large part of the ESP offers payment anonymity. With the use of electronic money, it is
almost impossible to identify not only the participants in the transaction, but the amounts of
funds too. Therefore, there is a need for alternative approach to the fight against these
misuses.

At the moment there are more than 30 copies of electronic money Bitcoin. Alphacoin,
Litecoin, Dogecoin are just some of the names of electronic currencies, which are based on
the same decentralized principle. Unlike the website that deals with traffic of illegal products,
Bitcoin is impossible to unilaterally shut down because of the decentralized nature of this
currency. Even if it would be possible, there are previously mentioned group of currencies
that would take its place. The solution is not to ignore this new medium for value
transmission via Internet, but to regulate it. In recent years, authorities of US, EU, China and
Norway have repeatedly refused to accept and regulate Bitcoin. Instead, this money is now
quasi-legal, its users are not protected but are free to misuse it. With Bitcoin regulation the
registration of users could be required, and there could be mandatory to notify every payment
and amount beyond a specific limit. Those limits could cumulatively function on a periodic
basis, so that each user whose payments in a specific period exceed limit could prove its
origin. Another approach is to regulate Bitcoin and similar currencies like financial
instrument, thereby a customer would have a separate account only for electronic currencies
trade with the obligation to pay tax on capital gains.

Besides the limit policy, another important point is insisting on a "know your customer"
policy. It is unacceptable to permit some companies to issue branded payment cards without
authentication of customer's personal data. Using forged documents, individuals can open a
series of accounts at different companies of this type, and create a network of transactions to
hide the flow of illegally acquired funds. All regulations and standards which are based on
accountant monitoring become powerless when accounting records are fictive. Along with
individual companies, a major role in the creation of this non-transparent situation is played
by offshore centres, where exist a large number of shell companies that charge for their
services to related legal entities with the aim for money laundering and tax evasion. This is
not only an international problem, but also a political problem.
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MEASURING THE EFFICIENCY OF ECONOMY OF THE REPUBLIC OF SERBIA
USING DEA METHOD
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Abstract: The paper presents the application of non-pararoetgichniques of Data Envelopment
Analysis - DEA for measuring efficiency of the exoy of the Republic of Serbia. High GDP growth
rate, low rate of inflation, and desirable rate @ihployment are main objectives of a nation’s policy
makers. Based on the selected macroeconomic inplioatput indicators, we apply version of an
output - oriented DEA model and measure the redathacroeconomic performance of Republic of
Serbia for period 2005-2015.

Keywords. Data Envelopment Analysis, Linear Programming,idtal Efficiency, Macroeconomics
Performance

JEL Classification: C67, C82, 010

1. INTRODUCTION

Macroeconomic stability is the primary goal of ecoric policy of each country. It is present
in the national economy which is characterized iy absence of excessive fluctuations or
extreme volatility of macroeconomic indicators.irplies price stability, a high level of
employment and payments deficit balance, with Blstaconomic growth.

The broad objective of macroeconomic policy is émtdbute to economic and social well-
being in an equitable and sustainable manner. Timmapy goal of macroeconomic

stabilization policies should be to achieve stadatenomic growth. Price stability plays an
important role trough impact on investment decisioBecause unemployment is the main
cause of poverty, a critical task is to maintaia #conomy in high level of employment.

To examine the evolution of macroeconomic stabiye look at the behavior of
macroeconomic outcome variables including the dgnoeftgross domestic products (GDP),
the rate of inflation and level of employment. Aglhigrowth rate as indicated by the change
in gross domestic product, GDP, a low rate of tidlaas depicted by the change in consumer
price index (CPI), and a high rate of employmeret main targets or missions of a nation’s
macroeconomic policy maker (Mohamad, Said, 201i)ddcomposition of the GDP, from
the spending point, consumption, investment, gavemt spending and net exports are
present (Blanchard, 2005). Therefore, governmerhdpg generates a strong impact on
other macroeconomic variables.

Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA), variant of lingamogramming, provides the required
weights and then analyzes relative macroeconomimnpeance (Lovell et al. 1995). DEA

was developed by Charnes, Cooper and Rhodes (1®€é8gluate the relative performance of
a collection of similar public sector units whichopides multiple services that are not all
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priced on markets. DEA deals with evaluation of peeformance of Decision Making Units
(DMU) performing a transformation process of selvemguts several outputs (Bouyssou,
1999). It can be concluded that data envelopmealysis is a set of models and methods that
are based on linear programming which provides ansiéor calculating the efficiency of the
units within the group organization. Although DEAasv originally intended for use in
microeconomic environments, it is ideally suitedr fine macroeconomic performance
analysis. DEA is appropriate analytical technigoedvaluating the relative macroeconomic
performance of nations.

The aim of the paper is to review the relevantditiere and to measure efficiency of economy
of Republic of Serbia using DEA method. Inputs auwtputs which are used in the analysis
are the main macroeconomic indicators. The basithfe empirical analysis was found in the
work carried out by (Mohamad, Said, 2011) who uS& to estimate how well the nations
of the Organization of the Islamic Cooperationiziltheir recourses.

The paper is organized as follows. The first secpoovides a review of the literature using
DEA method for measuring efficiency of main macasamic indicators. The second part
presents the methodology of the Data Envelopmeralysis. The third part provides the
description and structure of the problem, after alvhihe corresponding DEA method is
applied. Next steps will be overview of the resatal their interpretation. At the end of the
paper, the conclusions with appropriate guidelinigisbe given.

2.LITERATURE REVIEW

There are a variety of literature that deals with tisage of DEA method for measuring the
efficiency of the national economy. Different comdions of macroeconomic indicators can
be taken as inputs and outputs within DEA method.

Lovel (1995) used matemathical programming techaicplled FDH analysis, a variant of the
more familiar, but more restrictive DEA method. Hsed four indicators to measure the
macroeconomic performance of Taiwanese economy ifblecators were GDP growth, the
employment rate, the disinflation rate and tradirize. Also, Lovel et al. (1995) study
macroeconomics performance of 19 OECD countries dhve period 1970-1990. This
authors developed an alternative DEA model, onelwimcorporates service slacks into the
performance evaluation in an economically meaningfay. Martic et al. (2001) used DEA
method to estimate how well regions in Serbiazsiliheir resources. Based on data for inputs
and outputs they applied an output-oriented CCR Dizlel and it appears that 17 of 30
regions are efficient. Otherwise, Despotis (200&¢rdedhe applicability of the DEA model
with variable returns to scale to estimate thetingdeaefficiency of countries isia and in the
Pacific in converting incomes to human developmelawever, balanced economic growth
has to be accompanied simultaneously by resource esmvironment conservation in a
sustainable world. A high growth rate (as indicadtgdhe change in gross domestic product),
a low rate of inflation, a low rate of unemploymemtd a favorable trade balance are four
main targets or objectives of a nation’s macroeoungoolicy makers. These performance
indexes are referred to literature as the “magiamadind” of OECD (Organisation of
Economic Cooperation and Development) with its faertices synonimizing the four
indicators. The sum of the inflation rate and tilemaployment rate defines the undesirable
Okun’s “misery index” and provides a pessimistic asige of the macroeconomic
performance of a nation. An alternative undesirabkasure is provided by the Calmfor’s
index, defined as the difference between the uneynpént rate and the normalized trade
balance. Several studies on measuring, evaluatimi) @ssessing macroeconomic and
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development performance of regions, cities, proagnand nations have been conducted and
reported in the literature (Mohamad, 200&)so, many developing countries like BRICs
(Brazil, Russia, India and China) are becominguiefitial in the economic growth of the
world, among those nations, China has achievediteest level of economic development
and growth and is endeavoring to attract foreigediinvestments (FDI) to successfully
develop their economy. Data envelopment analysis e@aluate performances of this
economies (Lin et al. 2011). Suzuki et al. (201&asure energy-environment-economic
efficiency with two inputs (energy consumption gmapulation) and two outputs (CO2 and
GDP), including a fixed input factor related to p&agion. Our work is specific in a way that
our idea is to measure the efficiency of the econofithe Republic of Serbia within a period
of 11 years. Every year is one decision making. unit

3. METHODOLOGY

The creators of the DEA, Charnes, Cooper and Rhd@de® proposed a mathematical
approach to calculate the efficiency of which iswparametric techniques, i.e. it does not
require a specific functional form. It is used t@kate the performance of Decision Making
Units (DMU). They have reduced multiple inputs tcsiagle "virtual" input and multiple
outputs reduced to a single "virtual" output usiing weight coefficient (Charnes et al. 1978).
DEA methodology proved to be adequate to evaluawe dffectiveness of non-profit
organizations that operate outside the market, usecan their case performance indicators
such as revenue and profit do not measure effigiena satisfactory manner.

Unlike typical statistical methods, data envelopmemalysis is based on extreme
observations comparing each decision making urnt with the best of DMU. If the unit can
be done then it is relatively ineffective, and dtnit participates in the formation of border
efficiency that is equivalent to the marginal proglon function. General DEA model is
formulated in the following manner (Charreisal, 1978):

s m
matho = zurjo yrjo / z\/iio x] 0
r=1 i=1

Where:

y;j = output value; x= input value

u; = weight coefficient of output,y

vjj = weight coefficient of inputix

r=1, 2, ..., s = number of achieved products
1=1, 2, ..., m=number of used resources
j=1,2,...,n=DMU number

However, DEA method can be expose through sevesdefa. Some of them are DEA model
with constant returns to scale (CCR), dual CCR rhadd DEA model with the variable yield
on the scale (BCC) (Seiford et al. 1998). In thpgrawill use the model with a constant yield
on the scale that can be written as follows: (Ceio&l 2009):

S.t.
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0. =0, =1, 2,....m

Where:hy — relative efficiency ok DMU; n — DMU number that can be comparea -
input numbers — output numben), — weight coefficient for output v — weight coefficient
for inputi.

The above model shows the overall technical efficge which includes pure technical
efficiency and effectiveness, which are a consecgiari the different scope of operations.
The main objective is to maximize valubs by making each DMU assigns a value to a
variablesu, andv; that will present it on a better and more efficiway (Ozdemir, 2013). In
our work new CCR model (output-oriented) was pnes# that calculates the relative
efficiency of the economy of the Republic of SerAihe model is of the non-parametric type
and is based on a linear programming techniquehwings already been shown. The period of
11 years was considered, and each year presenteoisgon making unit (DMU). In order to
obtain reliable results, it is necessary to applyadequate analysis of the efficancy variables
as dependent on the quality of the selected outpupput values. From studied literature can
be seen that there is not quite clear attitude hvldic macroeconomic variables are most
appropriate to describe the problem. In variouslist different combinations of variables
were mentioned. The most commonly used in thealitee are taken for input and outputs in
the work. For the inpuGeneral government final consumption expendii@eof GDP) is
taken, and as for the outpu&DP growth (annual%) Inflation, consumer prices drabor
force participation ratewere taken. Collected data were taken from the aitthe World
Bank, and are shown in Table 1. By applying thiglelpthe evaluation of the relative level of
efficiency for each year of the mentioned period0&-2015.) in relation to the other, will be
carried out.

Tablel Structuring the DEA Model for Evaluating the Eféincy
of the Republic of Serbia Economy

General

EZ::trxr;::iTn fin! GbP growth ::rc‘)fr!nas:;ne'r prices I|c-)a::':)itr:ipation r;ft’::e
DMU . (annual %)

expenditure (% of Output 1 (annual %)

GDP) Output 2 Output 3

Input
2005 19,5 5,54 16,12 50
2006 19,31 9,9 11,72 51
2007 20,18 10,89 6,39 51
2008 19,45 12,37 12,41 51,4
2009 18,83 1,88 8,12 48,9
2010 18,48 5,58 6,14 46,9
2011 18,18 6,4 11,14 46,4
2012 18,56 3,98 7,33 46,7
2013 17,76 7,58 7,69 48,5
2014 17,73 3,17 2,08 48,7
2015 16,95 5,73 1,39 49

Source http://www.worldbank.org/6.10.2016.
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4. RESULTSAND DISCUSSION

Based on the collected data which were analyzetgusie software packadg2EA Frontier

the following results were obtained as shown inl@db The average relative efficiency of
the observed decision units is 0.97, which meaasdhch year 97% of the inputs on average
should be used in order to achieve the same vdltleeaesults and effective functioning of
the Republic of Serbia economy. If we look at edebision unit in particular, on the basis of
the results obtained, it can be concluded thatlatively efficient years have occurred in
2005, 2008 and 2015. Of course, the obtained effay rating depends to great extent on a
selected macroeconomic variables that are the cubjeanalysis. A deeper analysis and
insight into the concrete results can reveal theg tacroeconomic indicators do not
contribute to increasing efficiency.

That is, you can see how much work is requirednicreiase (decrease) a certain input
variables in order to achieve the same level opattif the input variables are used in an
efficient manner. On the other hand, DEA methadefificiency analysis can easily lead to
incorrect conclusions, therefore, only concrete aomous conclusions should be kept.

Table2 Efficiency of the National Economy of the Repaldf Serbia for the Period 2005-
2015, Measured by Applying DEA Method

Output — oriented CCR model

DMU No. DMU Name Efficiency
1 DMU 1 1,0000
2 DMU 2 0,99428
3 DMU 3 0,93832
4 DMU 4 1,00000
5 DMU 5 0,95193
6 DMU 6 0,91696
7 DMU 7 0,96416
8 DMU 8 0,91890
9 DMU 9 0,99844
10 DMU 10 0,95606
11 DMU 11 1,00000

Source:Authors

Table 3 Target Efficiency of Input

DMU No. DMU Name Efficiency Input Target General
government final consumption
expenditure (% of GDP)

1 DMU 1 19,50000

2 DMU 2 19,19958

3 DMU 3 18,93531

4 DMU 4 19,45000

5 DMU 5 17,92480

6 DMU 6 16,94546

7 DMU 7 17,52839

8 DMU 8 17,05470

9 DMU 9 17,73230

10 DMU 10 16,95095

11 DMU 11 16,95000

Source Authors
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Table4 Target Efficiency of Output

DMU Name GDP Growth (annual %) Inflation consumer Labor force participation
prices(annual %) rate
DMU 1 5,54000 16,12000 50,00000
DMU 2 9,90000 11,72000 51,00000
DMU 3 10,89000 9,93039 51,00000
DMU 4 12,37000 12,41000 51,40000
DMU 5 5,57774 8,12000 48,90000
DMU 6 5,58000 6,14000 46,90000
DMU 7 6,40000 11,14000 46,40000
DMU 8 5,33566 7,33000 46,70000
DMU 9 7,58000 7,69000 48,50000
DMU 10 5,68033 2,08000 48,70000
DMU 11 5,73000 1,39000 49,00000
Source Authors

DEA methods measure and target efficiency of inpatd outputs, and their values are shown
in Tables 3 and 4. The target shows that the ecgradrthe Republic of Serbia can be stable
and get the same output value if some input valere lower in the observed period. If we
consider only the input,